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2008 2007

Sales EUR million 1,006.2 719.0

	 Germany EUR million 294.8 337.6

	 International EUR million 711.4 381.4

EBIT EUR million – 212.5 – 213.3

EBIT-Margin in percent – 21.1 – 29.7

Results after tax from continued operations EUR million – 253.5 – 213.0

Total assets EUR million 746.8 1,036.1

Total equity EUR million 196.8 125.2

Equity ratio in percent 26.4 12.1

Cashflow from investing activities1 EUR million – 21.2 – 194.5

Cashflow from operating activities EUR million – 131.8 – 168.5

Earnings per share from continued operations EUR – 3.86 – 6.50

Average number of no-par shares issued (as of 31.12.) in Thsd. 65,339 32,699

Number of employees FTE2 (as of 31.12.) 1,773 2,494

	 Germany 1,050 1,506

	 International 723 988

Key figures

1	 Numbers relate to continued operations and not discontinued operations
2	 Full time equivalents
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Dear Shareholders,

For Conergy, 2008 was a year marked by reorganisation and tough cutbacks. After 

many years of exponential and successful growth, by the end of 2007 Conergy found 

itself, owing to poor business decisions and potential breaches of duty, close to col-

lapse. Without a capital increase at short notice in the fourth quarter of 2007, several 

liquidity injections in 2008, and a radical change of course last year, it would not have 

been possible to rescue the company.

Over the 15 months during which I have been at the helm at Conergy, we have al-

so had three key challenges to solve simultaneously: we have considerably reduced 

the Group’s complexity, we have focused our business on our core competence – 

the integration of solar energy systems – and we have secured a solid basis for our 

financing.

At the same time, we have increased our revenue and market share. In a year in which 

our radical reorientation was accompanied by the most severe financial crisis in many 

years, I regard this as a remarkable achievement, and one for which I am grateful to all 

our employees. This achievement is all the more notable when you take a moment to 

consider the concrete measures which are behind our reorganisation: we have parted 

with almost 40 percent of the workforce, which is around 1,000 employees; we have 

withdrawn from 13 small and unprofitable markets; we have divested a whole range 

of technological segments which are not part of our core business; and we have suc-

cessfully completed two capital increases, one with a volume of EUR 400 million, in 

the midst of the meltdown of the global financial markets.

Where do we stand today? At Conergy we are once again concentrating on what we 

are best at and what has made us great: developing photovoltaic systems right up to 

their turnkey handover, and maintaining these systems, at the request of our custom-

ers, over their entire service life. We offer this service in those markets which promise 

high profitability today and in the future. These include Germany, the USA, and select-

ed Southern European and Asian countries.

Our financing is much more solid than it was twelve months ago. We have significantly 

reduced liabilities, including the interim financing which protected us from an acute 

liquidity shortage, and we have increased our equity capital. At the end of 2008 our 

equity capital ratio stood at more than 26 percent.

In mid-2008, we successfully renegotiated very problematic supply contracts such 

as the one with MEMC to supply materials to our plant in Frankfurt (Oder), and we es-

tablished new, stringent reporting structures and IT processes. We sold off or closed 

down numerous loss-making companies outside of our core area of activity, some of 

which had only been acquired or founded in 2006 and 2007, in some cases at a high 

loss. This was the case for the production activities in the wind sector in particular. 

We reduced the large number of legal entities, replacing them with clear, independent 

business units, whilst at the same time focusing our branding on the Conergy brand, 

thus increasing its impact.
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Despite making massive personnel cuts, we were also able to fill positions, in the first 

and second levels of management in particular, with new and experienced people 

who have precisely the expertise that we will require in the rapidly changing markets 

of the coming years. It is in this context that the Supervisory Board decided to replace 

the entire Management Board.

Despite the massive reorganisation work going on, we did not neglect our operating 

business in photovoltaics last year either. In 2008 we added to our flagship photo-

voltaic projects with our solar parks “El Calaveron”, “Exxelon” and “SinAn”, the largest 

solar park in Asia. Our products and expertise not only convinced important existing 

customers to stick with us, they also helped us to win over a considerable number of 

new customers. With almost 40 percent fewer employees, we managed to increase 

our turnover by 40 percent – and thus attained our turnover target of EUR 1 billion. 

This development, which continued into the third quarter of 2008, strengthened our 

belief that the turnaround would also be reflected positively in other key performance 

indicators. Nevertheless, our year-end result was disappointing.

Why did we fail to achieve some of the financial targets we set ourselves? When the 

global financial crisis dragged the real economy under in the fourth quarter of 2008, 

the solar industry and our company also felt the full brunt. Massive price discounts, 

currency shifts and necessary value adjustments blighted our fourth quarter result. In 

the 2008 financial statements, these year-end effects obscured the achievements we 

had worked so hard for over the first three quarters. It is important to note, however, 

that a large majority of the overall negative results were due to restructuring effects 

and one-off effects which we do not expect to recur on the same scale in 2009. Equal-

ly important is the fact that we substantially reduced certain burdens in 2008, and this 

will be reflected positively in our 2009 figures.

In terms of discontinued operations alone, losses from sales and writedowns of EUR 

50 million will not recur; our previous interest burden of EUR 71 million per year will be 

reduced to around EUR 20– 25 million; and our high legal and consultancy costs due 

to restructuring measures in 2008 will decline drastically in 2009. In 2008, our result 

was influenced by high start-up and idle-time costs due to the very low capacity uti-

lisation at this time and the limited supply of materials in Frankfurt (Oder). In terms of 

currency losses, too, the risks in 2009 will largely by limited to the US dollar. The large 

currency losses of EUR 30 million, which stemmed principally from the South Korean 

won, will not recur. The cost effects of the personnel cuts of around 1,000 employees 

will first become fully effective in 2009.

One essential milestone for 2009 is the dispute regarding the contract with our most 

important supplier, the American company MEMC. This contract, which was conclud-

ed in October 2007 by the former Conergy management, is not only very imbalanced 

but also, in our view, not enforceable in significant parts and partly anti-competitive. 

This is why we initiated talks with MEMC at the end of 2008, in order to find an ami-

cable agreement acceptable to the both parties. If we are not able to reach an ami-

cable agreement – and it looks as if this will be difficult – we will contest the contract 

by legal means. Against this background and as a precautionary measure, we have 

written down the payments already made to MEMC in the 2008 financial statements 

and taken the expected costs of a legal dispute into account as an expense. This has 

burdened our result with an additional one-off, cash-neutral effect of EUR 54 million.
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Our path towards the goal of sustainable profitability has certainly been made longer 

by the turbulence of the market. Nevertheless, we are entering the current year as a 

significantly leaner company, and we have the structure and the stamina required to 

complete this journey. The development of our business in March of this year already 

shows that we are on the right track: after two weak months for the industry as a 

whole at the start of the year, in March we were able to increase our sales volume 

once more. In North America we are already seeing signals which we interpret as 

clearly indicating the changes which will find their way into the climate policies of this 

continent under the Obama presidency. Just a few days ago, Gainesville in Florida be-

came the first US city to decide to introduce an attractive remuneration for solar elec-

tricity based on a feed-in tariff. The entire Canadian state of Ontario has significantly 

increased its feed-in tariffs, and thus now also offers a very attractive market environ-

ment for photovoltaics.

In the coming months we will benefit from the fundamental changes the market is 

currently going through. Whereas the market was previously marked by a surplus of 

demand, now that capacities have been greatly increased, we are looking at a mas-

sive oversupply of silicon, wafers, cells and modules. Furthermore, the overheated 

market has suddenly been reined in by the financial crisis. The transition from a sell-

er’s to a buyer’s market was therefore completed not in a matter of months, but in a 

matter of weeks. We had been expecting this development. However, we – like the 

rest of the industry – were surprised by the speed at which it took hold.

What does this mean for the future? Looking ahead, the decisive factor for market 

participants will not be the availability of the products, but access to the customers. 

This is what we have now oriented our business model around. Thanks to our estab-

lished global distribution network in 15 countries, and thanks to our customers, who 

have remained loyal to us even through the crisis, our access to the market is unique 

in the industry. Furthermore, as system integrators with our own production capaci-

ties, we are virtually unrivalled in our ability to offer customised, tried-and-tested solu-

tions. Although we still have to battle against the fallout of the financial and economic 

crisis at present, I am confident that – as soon as the mist clears – we will face this 

year from a solid starting position, even though the first half of the year promises to 

be tough.

The market for renewable energy sources will continue to grow in the future. It has to 

– for renewable energies are the only answer we have to the energy problems of the 

coming decades. The financial and economic crisis may pose a more acute threat, 

but the energy crisis and climate change represent a more existential threat. It is 

therefore essential that photovoltaics make a substantial contribution to global en-

ergy provision.

With a reorganised Conergy 2.0 and a market that may have gone out of sync tempo-

rarily but still shows enormous fundamental growth potential, we are looking to the fu-

ture with cautious optimism. Due to the turbulence of the market and the low visibility, 

it would be rash to make a forecast for the current year at this point in time. I expect 

we will be able to see more clearly by the second half of the year at the latest, and that 

we will then be able to specify our target for 2009.



77

Foreword  |  Report of the Supervisory Board  |  The Supervisory Board  |  The Management Board  |  Corporate Governance  |  Compensation report  |  Share

My special thanks go to our employees. It was possible to steer Conergy through the 

rough seas of recent months only thanks to their contribution. Their loyalty and com-

mitment were, and still are, the key to a successful turnaround.

In difficult times, good managers strengthen their position, create value with innova-

tive ideas and win over new customers. My wish for our company, and of course for 

you, our shareholders, is that we keep this approach in mind and emerge from the 

crisis stronger than ever.

Yours sincerely,

Dieter Ammer
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Report of the Supervisory 
Board

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Monitoring activities of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board advised the Management Board 

on the Company’s management in the financial year just 

ended, duly and regularly monitoring the Management 

Board’s conduct of business based on written and oral 

Management Board reports and joint meetings. In addi-

tion, both the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and 

the Chairman of the audit committee maintained regular 

contact with the Management Board outside the meet-

ings. The Management Board regularly provided com-

prehensive information to the Supervisory Board about 

the Company’s business policies; the relevant aspects 

of its planning, including its financial, investment and 

personnel planning; the development of business; cur-

rent sales, earnings and liquidity developments; the 

economic situation of both the Company and the Group, 

including their exposure to risk and their risk manage-

ment; intra-group compliance; the Group’s strategic re-

alignment in connection with the restructuring process 

that the Management Board designed and updates; as 

well as the decisions and business transactions pivotal 

to the Company and the Group. The Management Board 

reported to the Supervisory Board both on specific oc-

casions at the request or explicit demand of the Su-

pervisory Board and in regular intervals in accordance 

with the rules of procedure drawn up by the Superviso-

ry Board for the Management Board. The Supervisory 

Board included accounting, controlling, treasury and in-

ternal auditing staff in its deliberations to the extent nec-

essary in the 2008 financial year as well. The Superviso-

ry Board was involved in a timely manner in all decisions 

that were of material significance for the Company. Fur-

thermore, the Supervisory Board was presented with 

transactions requiring its approval, which it approved 

following detailed examinations and discussion with the 

Management Board.

Composition of the Supervisory Board

In accordance with Section 96 para. 1 and Section 101 

para. 1 sent. 1 German Stock Corporation Act (Aktienge-

setz) in conjunction with Article 10 (1) of the Articles of 

Association, the Supervisory Board had six sharehold-

er representatives in the 2008 financial year: Eckhard 

Spoerr (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Alexander 

Rauschenbusch (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board), Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting, Andreas Rüter, 

Oswald Metzger, Hans Johann Baptist Jetter (since 28 

August 2008) and Dieter Ammer (until 31 July 2008). Die-

ter Ammer’s appointment to the Supervisory Board was 

suspended until he resigned his office effective as of 

midnight on 31 July 2008 because he had been appoint-

ed to the Management Board as substitute (successor) 

for Hans-Martin Rüter (the Management Board member 

who had stepped down) pursuant to Section 105 para. 2 

sent. 1 German Stock Corporation Act.

Supervisory Board meetings

In the 2008 financial year, the Supervisory Board held 

a total of ten meetings to carry out its duties, specifi-

cally, on 1 February, 12 March, 5 April, 5 June, 26 June, 

15 July, 28 August, 26 September, 13 November and 

4 December 2008. With the exception of the meetings 

on 1 February and 26 June 2008, all meetings required 

members’ personal attendance; in a few cases, Super-

visory Board members participated in the deliberations 

and resolutions by telephone. In urgent cases, resolu-

tions were also adopted by telephone and in writing out-

side of meetings. With the exception of Mr. Jetter, who 

was not appointed to the Supervisory Board until 28 Au-

gust 2008, all Supervisory Board members participated 

in more than one half of the Supervisory Board’s meet-

ings; the Supervisory Board members Dr. Dr. h. c. An-

dreas J. Büchting and Andreas Rüter were excused on 

one occasion each.

Focal points of the deliberations and reviews of the 

full Supervisory Board

At all meetings, the Management Board briefed the Su-

pervisory Board in detail on current sales, earnings and 

liquidity developments as well as on the Company’s 

short and medium term cash flow projections and par-

ticipated in the Supervisory Board’s subsequent discus-

sions. Monitoring the Company’s ongoing restructuring 

process with a critical eye was one of the priorities of 

the Supervisory Board’s advisory and supervisory ac-

tivities, in particular the closing of a EUR 240 million 

bridge loan in early February 2008; the Company’s li-

quidity and cash flow planning; the renegotiation of 

the contract with MEMC; the disposal of the business 

units previously reported as discontinued operations; 

the continued ramp-up of the solar factory in Frankfurt 

(Oder) including possible strategic or financial partner-

ships and; the preparations for the cash capital increase 

to repay the bridge loan, reviews of alternative recapital-

isation measures and finding new investors. None of this 

gave rise to any doubts with respect to the Management 

Board’s due and proper conduct of business.
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At its extraordinary meeting on 1 February 2008, the Su-

pervisory Board discussed and resolved to approve a 

EUR 240 million bridge loan and adopted a basic reso-

lution regarding the execution of a cash capital increase 

subject to shareholders’ subscription right for the pur-

pose of repaying the loan. In adopting its resolutions, 

the Supervisory Board extensively considered poten-

tial alternative funding tools but came to the conclusion 

based on its deliberations that the bridge loan was the 

best and only realistic solution for the good of the Com-

pany, its shareholders, employees, creditors and part-

ners – given the Company’s urgent need for funding – 

even though it would significantly increase borrowings.

The Supervisory Board meeting on 12 March 2008 

mainly concerned issues related to Management 

Board personnel in connection with the termination of 

Pepyn R. Dinandt’s appointment and the extension of 

Dieter Ammer’s appointment as substitute (successor) 

for Hans-Martin Rüter, the member who had stepped 

down; preparations for the Company’s 2008 General 

Shareholders’ Meeting; improving the management re-

porting system; as well as the current development of 

business in 2008 including strategic issues. Conergy’s 

funding needs were discussed in connection with cash 

flow planning, taking existing credit lines and the impor-

tance of cash inflows from the project business for li-

quidity targets into account. The status of EPURON’s 

project business and the likelihood that major projects 

would be implemented in timely fashion were other criti-

cal issues. Extensive discussions followed the Manage-

ment Board’s reports on the status of the restructuring 

programme as well as both the progress achieved to 

date and improvement potentials.

The annual financial statements of Conergy AG, which 

were audited and confirmed by Deloitte & Touche GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (“Deloitte & Touche”), 

as well as the audited and confirmed consolidated finan-

cial statements along with the respective management 

reports as at 31 December 2007, were the main topics at 

the Supervisory Board meeting on 5 April 2008. The Su-

pervisory Board discussed critical aspects of the annu-

al and consolidated financial statements with both the 

Management Board and Deloitte & Touche based on the 

audit committee’s preliminary reviews and deliberations. 

Both the Management Board and Deloitte & Touche an-

swered all of the Supervisory Board’s relevant questions. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board discussed the res-

olutions to be proposed to the 2008 General Sharehold-

ers’ Meeting, in particular its recommendation regarding 

the election of the auditors for the 2008 annual and con-

solidated financial statements, the formal approval of 

the actions of the members of the Management Board 

and the Supervisory Board as well as the planned cash 

capital increase; the representatives of Deloitte & Tou-

che did not participate in the discussion affecting the 

firm. The Supervisory Board adopted the resolutions to 

be proposed to the General Shareholders’ Meeting. In 

addition, the Management Board reported on the devel-

opment of business to date in 2008 as well as on strate-

gic topics, which were discussed with the Supervisory 

Board in detail. The discussions centred on the contin-

ued expansion of the Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory as 

well as on the possibility of selling it or finding a joint 

venture for it, the MEMC contract, the Conergy Group’s 

future legal structure, the planning for 2008 and the fea-

tures of the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for the Com-

pany’s executives. Finally, the Supervisory Board re-

solved to ask the Management Board and Supervisory 

Board members to reimburse the Company for overpay-

ments in variable compensation, as determined in the 

review of the 2006 annual financial statements by Deut-

sche Prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung (German Financial 

Reporting Enforcement Panel – “DPR”).

At the Supervisory Board meeting on 5 June 2008, the 

Management Board reported in particular on the start 

of negotiations concerning an adjustment of the MEMC 

contract; questions regarding the Management Board’s 

future structure and composition; the current develop-

ment of business; the Company’s liquidity and liquidity 

targets; as well as the updated 2008 forecast along with 

the planning for 2009 and 2010. The Management Board 

answered the Supervisory Board’s related questions in 

detail. The Supervisory Board also kept abreast of the 

preparations for the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

and the planned capital increase, especially the poten-

tial structure of capital increases subject to sharehold-

ers’ subscription right and the related questions. Final-

ly, the Management Board reported on the status of the 

talks regarding a possible joint venture for the Frankfurt 

(Oder) solar factory as well as the progress being made 

in the plant’s continued evolution.

The extraordinary Supervisory Board meeting on 26 

June 2008 mainly concerned the composition of the 

Management Board against the backdrop of the planned 

capital measures.

The Supervisory Board meeting on 15 July 2008 fo-

cused on personnel matters related to the Manage-

ment Board including compensation issues, specifically 

the possible appointment of Dieter Ammer to the Man-

agement Board as a regular member for a period of two 

years (1 August 2008 until 31 July 2010). Following inten-

sive deliberations on the candidates, their strengths and 

weaknesses, the consequences of selecting a particular 
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candidate for the Company’s management as well as 

the reactions of other stakeholders, the Supervisory 

Board resolved unanimously to offer Dieter Ammer a 

contract as a member of the Management Board and at 

the same time to appoint him chairman of the Manage-

ment Board. In that connection, the Supervisory Board 

also resolved key contractual issues (including financial 

terms) in accordance with the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code. The Supervisory Board also resolved 

unanimously to modify the status of the Management 

Board member, Philip von Schmeling, from that of a 

deputy member of the Management Board to that of a 

regular member. Preparations for the Company’s Gen-

eral Shareholders’ Meeting, especially the proposed 

resolution regarding the cash capital increase, were an-

other key topic of discussion at this Supervisory Board 

meeting. The Management Board reported extensive-

ly on the Company’s liquidity situation until the end of 

2008, measures designed to boost liquidity, liquidity tar-

gets for both 2008 and 2009 as well as the status of the 

talks with the banks about lead managing the capital 

measure, particularly the terms of a volume underwrit-

ing agreement. The Supervisory Board asked a host of 

questions, which the Management Board answered in 

detail. They concerned particulars of the Management 

Board’s report as well as the issue of the equity required 

in order to ensure the Company’s funding through the 

end of 2009, the volume of the capital increase and its 

corresponding structure as well as the option of splitting 

the Company’s capital requirements into a capital in-

crease and mezzanine financing. Following intense de-

liberations, the Supervisory Board agreed with the Man-

agement Board’s proposal to execute a cash capital 

increase. Finally, the Supervisory Board resolved both 

the agenda and the resolutions it would propose to the 

General Shareholders’ Meeting on 28 August 2008.

Preparations for the Company’s General Shareholders’ 

Meeting as well as the Management Board’s reports 

on the structure of the capital increase – including the 

status of the talks with the lead managing banks’ in re-

gards to their assuming the price and placement risks 

related to the new shares (so-called volume underwrit-

ing) were the main topic at the Supervisory Board meet-

ing on 28 August 2008. This meeting also focused on 

a consultancy contract with Hans Johann Baptist Jet-

ter, a new Supervisory Board member whose appoint-

ment was pending, in connection with the execution of 

the planned cash capital increase as well as on the sta-

tus of the negotiations with LG Electronics Inc., Seoul, 

South Korea, concerning a possible joint venture related 

to the Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory.

At the Supervisory Board meeting on 26 September 

2008, the status of and preparations for the planned 

cash capital increase once again were first and fore-

most among the issues addressed. The Supervisory 

Board and the Management Board exhaustively dis-

cussed the structure of the planned capital increase 

subject to shareholders’ subscription right, including the 

likely issuing volume, against the backdrop of the mar-

ket’s current climate, ongoing discussions with inves-

tors and the lead managing banks’ requirements. The 

Management Board reported on the status of the settle-

ment talks with those shareholders who had filed objec-

tions to the resolution regarding the capital increase at 

the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 28 August 2008, 

some of whom had also announced that they would file 

actions aimed at rescinding or voiding the resolution on 

the capital increase, among others. The implications of 

this development for both the structure of and the time 

window for the execution of the cash capital increase 

were discussed with the Management Board, which dili-

gently answered the Supervisory Board’s related ques-

tions. Further, the Management Board provided detailed 

reports on both the current and projected development 

of business in the Conergy PV and EPURON divisions 

and the progress achieved to date in the implementa-

tion of the restructuring programme. The Company’s li-

quidity and liquidity projections were also explained in 

detail. The Management Board gave comprehensive an-

swers to the questions the Supervisory Board raised in 

this connection. Management Board personnel issues 

as well as the Supervisory Board’s efficiency review 

were additional topics. The Supervisory Board resolved 

to carry out a scheduled efficiency review of its activity. 

It also received a report on the status of the previous-

ly commissioned legal opinion regarding potential viola-

tions by (former) Management Board members of their 

responsibility to exercise due care in connection with 

the earnings and liquidity crisis that occurred at the end 

of the 2007 financial year.

Resolutions on the details of the execution of the cash 

capital increase took up the entire Supervisory Board 

meeting on 13 November 2008. The Management Board 

reported extensively on the planned details of its imple-

mentation as well as on the Company’s key economic 

data, including liquidity projections, for 2008 and 2009 

and the forecasts for EPURON’s project business. It 

provided comprehensive answers to the questions the 

Supervisory Board raised in this connection. The Su-

pervisory Board approved both the details of the cash 

capital increase as proposed by the Management Board 

and the stock tender agreement with the banking syndi-

cate, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Ltd. and Dresd-

ner Bank Aktiengesellschaft.
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At its meeting on 4 December 2008, the Superviso-

ry Board discussed its future composition against the 

backdrop of the changes in the Group’s sharehold-

er structure. Compensation issues related to the con-

sultancy contract with the Supervisory Board member 

Hans Johann Baptist Jetter were discussed (in his ab-

sence), as were Management Board personnel matters. 

The Supervisory Board resolved furthermore to issue 

the Declaration of Compliance with the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code pursuant to Section 161 German 

Stock Corporation Act and invited Deloitte & Touche 

GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft to present the 

findings of its review of the Group’s interim consolidat-

ed financial statements as at 30 September 2008. Both 

the Management Board and Deloitte & Touche answered 

the Supervisory Board’s relevant questions in detail. 

The meeting was also taken up by presentations on and 

discussions of the Company’s liquidity as well as the 

risk management report for the third quarter of 2008; 

presentations on the planning for financial years 2009 

through 2011, which the Supervisory Board approved 

after detailed discussions with the Management Board; 

the status of the Conergy Group’s restructuring as well 

as the review of the Group’s strategy for the Compo-

nents division.

Report from the committees

The Supervisory Board has established two stand-

ing committees in accordance with the recommenda-

tions of the German Corporate Governance Code with 

the aim of ensuring efficient fulfillment of its responsi-

bilities: a task force charged with preparing the Super-

visory Board’s meetings (chairman’s committee) and an 

audit committee, both of which are staffed by Supervi-

sory Board members. The Supervisory Board has dele-

gated decision-making authority to these committees in 

individual cases, to the extent permissible in law. At Su-

pervisory Board meetings, the committee chairmen re-

ported in detail on the committees’ meetings and work, 

thus facilitating a comprehensive exchange of informa-

tion and good cooperation between the committees and 

the full Supervisory Board.

Eckhard Spoerr (Chairman), Alexander Rauschenbusch 

and Andreas Rüter comprised the chairman’s commit-

tee in the 2008 reporting year, which has also been serv-

ing as a nomination committee since 4 December 2007.

The audit committee was composed of Alexander 

Rauschenbusch (Chairman) as well as Eckhard Spoerr 

and Oswald Metzger in the 2008 reporting year.

In the 2008 financial year, the chairman’s committee 

held a total of nine meetings, specifically, on 26 January, 

11 February, 18 February, 3 March, 13 March, 16 April, 

13 June, 14 July and 3 December 2008. The main topics 

at these meetings were issues relating to the composi-

tion of the Management Board and the internal organi-

sation of the Management Board as well as the explana-

tion of the Company’s economic, financial and strategic 

situation. Recommendations for Supervisory Board res-

olutions were also prepared. On 3 December 2008, the 

chairman’s committee also met in its capacity as nomi-

nation committee, discussing issues related to the fu-

ture composition of the Supervisor Board. All committee 

members attended all meetings of the chairman’s com-

mittee.

The tasks of the audit committee, which during the year 

under review met four times for meetings requiring per-

sonal attendance – specifically on 7 March, 12 March, 

5 April and 26 September 2008 – and for three meet-

ings conducted by telephone – specifically on 29 April, 

5 August and 7 November 2008 – included the prepara-

tion of the audit of the annual and consolidated financial 

statements together and the associated management 

reports, the engagement of the auditor of the annual 

and consolidated financial statements and the associat-

ed management reports, including deciding on the focal 

points of the audit, the auditor’s fee and the independ-

ence of the auditor, questions on and the audit of the 

accounting, questions on and the audit of risk manage-

ment, issues relating to compliance and the conducting 

of internal auditing as well as the audit and establish-

ment of the principles of the short-, medium-, and long-

term financial strategy.

At its meeting on 7 March 2008, the audit commit-

tee and the Management Board discussed the status 

of the review by Deutsche Prüfstelle für Rechnungsle-

gung (German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel 

– “DPR”) of the consolidated financial statements and 

the Group management report as at 31 December 2006 

as well as of the interim report as at 30 June 2007 – in-

cluding the review’s ramifications in terms of schedul-

ing and substance notably for the process of increasing 

the Company’s capital. Preparations for the Supervisory 

Board’s proposal to the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

concerning the election of the auditors and the need to 

obtain their declaration of independence as well as reg-

ular audits of the Company’s quarterly financial state-

ments were additional important topics. The extensive 

discussions also centred on the Company’s current li-

quidity and liquidity targets, taking any risks in relation 

to liquidity targets from its project business and ques-

tions of intra-group compliance into account.
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The audit committee meeting on 12 March 2008 en-

gaged in a detailed discussion – in the presence of the 

auditors, Deloitte & Touche – of the preliminary annual 

and consolidated financial statements for 2007 as well 

as the preliminary management and Group manage-

ment report as at 31 December 2007; the audit com-

mittee asked the auditors to report on their audits and 

the relevant findings as well as on the status of both the 

groupwide implementation of risk management policies 

and the proceedings of the German Financial Reporting 

Enforcement Panel. Detailed discussions also focused 

on the deficiencies that the Deloitte & Touche auditors 

found in connection with cross-border transactions 

(OTW business), accounting / sales, liquidity and risk 

management as well as the management of associates. 

At this point, the audit committee engaged in an exten-

sive discussion of potential improvements with both the 

Management Board and the auditors. It discussed the 

profitability of EPURON’s projects among other things, 

especially in terms of prefinancing and performance, in 

connection with its report on the outcome of its review 

of key issues. Both the Management Board and the au-

ditors provided detailed answers to the questions the 

Supervisory Board raised in this connection.

On 5 April 2008, in the presence of the Deloitte & Tou-

che auditors, the audit committee – which was aware 

of the auditors’ reports – dealt yet again with the au-

dit of Conergy AG’s annual and consolidated financial 

statements as well as its management and Group man-

agement reports and with supplementary questions, 

to which the auditors provided satisfactory answers. 

Based on its own review of Conergy AG’s annual and 

consolidated financial statements, the management 

and Group management reports, the reports of the 

Deloitte & Touche auditors as well as the supplementary 

information provided by both the auditors and the Man-

agement Board, the audit committee concurred with the 

auditors’ findings and declared unanimously without any 

abstentions that its conclusive review did not give rise to 

any objections. Hence the audit committee resolved to 

propose that the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG ap-

prove the annual financial statements, the consolidat-

ed financial statements as well as the management and 

Group management reports for the 2007 financial year.

Key topics at the audit committee meeting on 29 April 

2008 included the quarterly report as at 31 March 2008, 

taking particular note of the project business in Spain, 

the Conergy Group’s liquidity situation, the financing of 

its project business as well as the status of its recapi-

talisation measures. The Management Board answered 

the audit committee’s relevant questions. The review of 

the risk management system, the improvement of the 

internal control system, the status of the compliance 

system as well as personnel issues were additional im-

portant topics.

At its meeting on 5 August 2008, the audit committee 

discussed the Company’s half-yearly financial state-

ments in the presence of both the Chief Executive Of-

ficer and the Chief Financial Officer and invited both to 

make presentations on the development of the Conergy 

Group’s business in the first six months of 2008. This 

meeting focused especially on the negative cash flow 

in connection with the Conergy Group’s wind activities 

and potential actions that could be taken as well as on 

the Group’s current liquidity situation. The status of the 

preparations for the planned capital increase, current 

intra-group compliance issues, the preparation of the 

business plan for 2009, the status of both the internal 

control system and the risk management system as well 

as the status of DPR’s proceedings were additional top-

ics that were discussed in detail, both among the mem-

bers of the audit committee and with the Management 

Board.

At the meeting on 26 September 2008, the audit com-

mittee’s deliberations concerned the engagement of 

Deloitte & Touche, the auditors elected by the General 

Shareholders’ Meeting, to perform the audit as well as 

the latter’s focal points. The audit committee also asked 

the Management Board to report on the status of the 

disposal of the wind turbine factory as well as on the 

statement of changes in the equity of both the Conergy 

Group and Conergy AG in the quarter of 2008. Improve-

ments of the ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) sys-

tems, the status of the internal control and risk manage-

ment system as well as issues of intra-group compliance 

were also addressed.

At its last meeting on 7 November 2008, the audit com-

mittee discussed the quarterly report as at 30 Septem-

ber 2008 with the Management Board and asked the lat-

ter to report on the development of business both in the 

third quarter and the financial year. The Management 

Board provided exhaustive answers to the questions 

that the audit committee raised in this connection. De-

liberations also focused on the Conergy Group’s liquid-

ity targets in the short and medium term (including the 

status of actions taken to optimise cash flow in connec-

tion with the restructuring), the preparations for the cap-

ital increase, the status of the planning for 2009 as well 

as the status of the internal audit.

All committee members attended all meetings of the au-

dit committee.
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Discussion and audit of the annual and 

consolidated financial statements for 2008

The Company’s General Shareholders’ Meeting appoint-

ed Deloitte & Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsges-

ellschaft to audit the annual and consolidated financial 

statements and the associated management reports as 

at 31 December 2008 of Conergy AG for the 2008 finan-

cial year. The audit committee then negotiated the audit 

engagement and stipulated the focal points of the audit. 

Subsequently, the Supervisory Board awarded the au-

dit engagement contract. It was stipulated that the au-

dit should focus on the following in particular: Measure-

ment of the inventories; consolidation and reconciliation 

with Group companies (receivables / liabilities); provi-

sions for warranties; property, plant and equipment par-

ticularly with regard to the Frankfurt (Oder) factory; and 

the Group companies’ equity situation.

Deloitte & Touche audited the annual financial state-

ments of Conergy AG for 2008, which were prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the German Com-

mercial Code, as well as the management report and 

issued an unrestricted audit opinion for each of them. 

The same applies to the IFRS consolidated financial 

statements that were prepared in accordance with Sec-

tion 315a German Commercial Code (HGB) and sup-

plemented by a Group management report. The audi-

tor also audited the risk early warning system in place 

at Conergy AG in accordance with Section 317 para. 4 

German Commercial Code and found the at the obli-

gations of management in the areas of operations and 

strategy as set out in the German Control and Transpar-

ency in Business Act are addressed.

Both the financial statement documentation and the 

auditors’ reports had been made available to the audit 

committee and the full Supervisory Board in due time. 

They were initially reviewed by the audit committee on 

25 March 2009 and discussed in the presence of the 

auditors. Subsequently, they were examined in detail 

by the full Supervisory Board at the financials meetings 

on 26 March 2009 and 20 April 2009 based on the lat-

ter’s knowledge of the audit committee’s report and duly 

considering the auditors’ report and they were exhaus-

tively discussed in the auditors’ presence. The auditors 

reported on the conduct and material findings of their 

audit of the financial statements pursuant to the focal 

points stipulated with the audit committee for 2008 and 

were available for questions, discussions of the docu-

mentation and supplementary information. Notes by 

the auditor from the audit reports were recorded by the 

Supervisory Board, discussed with the Management 

Board and arrangements made for their consideration.

After its own examination of the annual financial state-

ments of Conergy AG together with the management re-

port and the consolidated financial statements togeth-

er with the Group management report, the Supervisory 

Board determined that following the conclusive findings 

of its examination, no objections needed to be raised. 

The Supervisory Board therefore concurred with the 

recommendation of the audit committee, agreed with 

the result of the auditors’ audit and approved the annu-

al financial statements, the consolidated financial state-

ments as well as the management report and the Group 

management for the 2008 financial year at its financials 

meeting on 20 April 2009. The annual financial state-

ments are hence adopted (Section 172 sent. 1 German 

Stock Corporation Act).

Declaration of Compliance and Corporate 

Governance

The Supervisory Board attaches high priority to issues 

of corporate governance. It reports thereon jointly with 

the Management Board in connection with the corpo-

rate governance report, which is a part of this annual re-

port. Aforesaid report also contains information on as-

pects of the Company’s corporate governance as they 

relate to the Supervisory Board.

On 20 April 2009, the Supervisory Board issued an up-

dated Declaration of Compliance with the German Cor-

porate Governance Code pursuant to Section 161 Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act jointly with the Company’s 

Management Board; it was made available to the public 

on the Company’s website.

The compensation of the Supervisory Board members 

is itemised and broken down into the various compo-

nents in the notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments reproduced in this annual report. There were no 

conflicts of interest in the 2008 reporting period.

At its meeting on 26 September 2008, the Supervisory 

Board resolved to conduct the efficiency review of its 

work as recommended by the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code and subsequently performed the review. 

It was conducted on the basis of the questionnaire de-

veloped by Deutsche Schutzvereinigung für Wertpapier-

besitz (German Association of Private Investors). The 

findings of the analysis of this questionnaire will be inte-

grated into the work of both the Supervisory Board and 

its committees.
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Changes on the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board

Dieter Ammer resigned from the Company’s Superviso-

ry Board effective 31 July 2008. On 28 August 2008, the 

General Shareholders’ Meeting elected Hans Johann 

Baptist Jetter to serve as the shareholders’ representa-

tive on the Supervisory Board.

Pepyn R. Dinandt stepped down from the Management 

Board effective at midnight on 17 March 2008.

Effective 15 July 2008, the status of the Management 

Board member, Philip von Schmeling, was changed 

from that of a deputy member of the Management 

Board to that of a regular member.

Dieter Ammer was appointed both member and Chair-

man of the Company’s Management Board for a period 

of two years effective 1 August 2008, subject to simulta-

neous termination of his delegation to the Management 

Board under Section 105 para. 2 sent. 1 German Stock 

Corporation Act. He is responsible for strategy, commu-

nications, legal affairs and human resources.

Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz was appointed to the Man-

agement Board effective 1 January 2009. He is respon-

sible for production, purchasing and supply chain as 

well as the components division.

Effective 31 January 2009, the Supervisory Board 

members Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting, Alexander 

Rauschenbusch, Hans Johann Baptist Jetter and An-

dreas Rüter resigned their office against the backdrop 

of the successful capital increase and the attendant 

change in the composition of the Group’s shareholder 

structure.

Upon application of the Company and by court or-

der dated 5 February 2009, Klaus-Joachim Wolfgang 

Krauth, Norbert Schmelzle and Carl Ulrich Andreas de 

Maizière were appointed to Conergy AG’s Supervisory 

Board as substitutes for its departed members in ac-

cordance with the German Corporate Governance Code 

until the end of the next General Shareholders’ Meeting 

tasked with reviewing the 2008 financial year.

In a letter dated 14 April 2009, the Company applied for 

the appointment of a further candidate to its Superviso-

ry Board at the relevant local court.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Company’s manage-

ment, the Supervisory Board members who have left 

the Board and all employees for their commitment and 

performance in the 2008 financial year.

Hamburg, Germany, 20 April 2009

The Supervisory Board

Eckhard Spoerr

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board members 
and memberships
(as of 31 December 2008)

The members of the Supervisory Board hold the follow-

ing positions on statutory Supervisory Boards and com-

parable corporate control committees:

Name Member 
since

Positions on statutory Supervisory Boards and  
comparable corporate control committees

Eckhard Spoerr (Chairman)
Self-employed management consultant, 
Chairman of the Management Board of 
freenet AG, Büdelsdorf (until 23 January 
2009)

2005 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of financial advertising AG
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Strato AG
Member of the Supervisory Board of aktiencheck.de AG
(each until 23 January 2009)

Alexander Rauschenbusch
(Deputy Chairman)
Managing Director of Grazia Equity GmbH, 
Stuttgart

2000 Member of the Supervisory Board of WANZL Metallwarenfabrik GmbH
(until 19 December 2007)

Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting
Management consultant

2005 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of KWS SAAT AG, Einbeck

Oswald Metzger
Self-employed publicist and political 
consultant, Member of the Parliament of 
Baden-Wurttemberg (until 8 February 2008)

2005 –

Andreas Rüter
Partner Grazia Equity GmbH, Stuttgart

2000 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Völcker Informatik AG, Berlin
Member of the Supervisory Board of Reldata Inc., Parsippany, NJ, USA
Member of the Board of Directors of United Mobile AG, Schaanwald, Liechtenstein

Hans Johann Baptist Jetter
Self-employed management consultant

2008 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Rodenstock GmbH, Munich
Member of the Supervisory Board of JP Morgan AG, Frankfurt (Main)
(until 15 December 2008)
Non-Executive Member of the Board of Otto Energy Ltd., Perth, Australia

Dieter Ammer
(until 31 July 2008 Membership on the 
Supervisory Board – due to the delegation 
to the Management Board – suspended 
pursuant section 105 para. 2 German Stock 
Corporation Act),
Managing Director AMMER!PARTNERS 
GmbH

2000 Member of the Supervisory Board of Beiersdorf AG (until April 2008 Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board), Hamburg
Member of the Supervisory Board of tesa AG (until April 2008), Hamburg
Member of the Supervisory Board of GEA Group AG, Bochum
Member of the Supervisory Board of IKB Deutsche Industriebank AG, Düsseldorf
Member of the Supervisory Board of Heraeus Holding GmbH, Hanau
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Changes on the Supervisory Board since

1 January 2009

Effective 31 January 2009, the Supervisory Board 

members Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting, Alexander 

Rauschenbusch, Hans Johann Baptist Jetter and An-

dreas Rüter resigned their office against the backdrop 

of the successful capital increase and the attendant 

change in the composition of the Group’s shareholder 

structure. Upon application of the Company and by court 

order dated 5 February 2009, Klaus-Joachim Wolfgang 

Krauth, Norbert Schmelzle and Carl Ulrich Andreas de 

Maizière were appointed to Conergy AG’s Supervisory 

Board as substitutes for its departed members in ac-

cordance with the German Corporate Governance Code 

until the end of the next General Shareholders’ Meeting 

tasked with reviewing the 2008 financial year. They hold 

the following positions on statutory Supervisory Boards 

and comparable corporate control committees:

Name Member 
since

Positions on statutory Supervisory Boards and  
comparable corporate control committees

Klaus-Joachim Wolfgang Krauth
Chief Financial Officer (CFO), ATHOS 
Service GmbH

2009 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Hobnox AG, Munich
Member of the Supervisory Board of InterComponentWare AG (ICW AG), Walldorf
Member of the Supervisory Board of SÜDWESTBANK AG, Stuttgart

Norbert Schmelzle
Self-employed management consultant

2009 Chairman of the Advisory Board of KAEFER Isoliertechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of GBK Beteiligungen AG, Hamburg 
Chairman of the Advisory Board of Bühnen GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen 
Member of the Supervisory Board of J. Müller AG, Brake 
Member of the Supervisory Board of Detlef Hegemann AG, Bremen
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of Stulz Holding GmbH, Hamburg
Member of the Supervisory Board of Gesundheit Nord gGmbH, Bremen

Carl Ulrich Andreas de Maizière
Self-employed management consultant

2009 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Arenberg-Schleiden GmbH, Düsseldorf
Member of the Supervisory Board of Arenberg-Recklinghausen GmbH, Düsseldorf
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Rheinische Bodenverwaltung AG, Düsseldorf
Member of the Supervisory Board of Fürstlich Castell’sche Bank, Credit-Casse AG, 
Würzburg
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Commerzbank (Budapest) Zrt, 
Budapest
Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Commerz Real Spezialfonds-
gesellschaft mbH (CRS), Wiesbaden
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Jerini AG, Berlin
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The Management Board

Dieter Ammer (CEO)

|| Chairman of the Management Board

|| Appointed from 1 August 2008 to  

31 July 2010

|| Responsibilities: Strategy, Commu-

nications, Legal Affairs and Human 

Resources

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter (CFO)

|| Appointed from 1 November 2007 to 

31 October 2010

|| Responsibilities: Controlling,  

Accounting, Treasury, Tax, IR and IT

Nikolaus Krane (CPO)

|| Appointed from 4 August 2000 to  

31 July 2010

|| Responsibility: Project Business

Philip von Schmeling (CSO)

|| Appointed from 1 November 2007 to 

31 October 2010

|| Responsibilities: PV Business, Sales, 

Marketing

Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz (COO)

|| Appointed from 1 January 2009 to 

31 December 2011

|| Responsibilities: Production, Pur-

chasing, Logistics and the Compo-

nents division
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Dieter Ammer (born 1950), graduated in business stud-

ies and is a professional auditor and tax adviser, as well 

as being one of the founding members of Conergy AG. 

After an education with a strong international focus, he 

held a number of key senior management positions in 

German industry. A native of Bremen, he has previous-

ly been the Chairman of Zucker AG and CEO of Brau-

erei Beck & Co, as well as holding the position of Chair-

man of the Management Board of the Hamburg-based 

Tchibo Holding AG.

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter (born 1958), a native of Essen, 

studied law at Bielefeld, Lausanne and Freiburg. Af-

ter acquiring his doctorate in law, subsequent appoint-

ments included work at Hoechst AG and as the head of 

Legal Affairs at Hoechst Schering AgrEvo GmbH. After 

a stint at the Harvard Business School (AMP) he joined 

Schering AG in 1999 to work in finance. In 2002, he was 

appointed to the Management Board of this DAX com-

pany and was responsible for Human Resources, Ac-

counting, Controlling, Finance, IT, Tax and Legal Affairs 

until 2006. Dr. Spiekerkötter’s previous appointment 

was CFO at the Dutch firm Organon Biosciences N.V., 

based in the Netherlands.

Nikolaus Krane (born 1965) is a graduate engineer, who 

worked as a management consultant for Bossard Con-

sultants GmbH for six years after completing his studies 

in metallurgy and materials at the RWTH Aachen. While 

also advising German companies, this work generally 

involved international consulting for companies in Swe-

den, France, South Africa and the US, the focus being 

on business development, strategy development and 

process re-engineering.

Philip von Schmeling (born 1967) studied mechanical 

engineering at TU Munich, and received his MBA from 

INSEAD in Fontainebleau, France. The graduate engi-

neer began his career as a consultant with the Boston 

Consulting Group. Most recently von Schmeling was 

CFO at Dole Fresh Fruit North America in Westlake Vil-

lage (California). Prior to his appointment to the Man-

agement Board, he headed the Conergy Global Tech-

nology „Module“ team. In this capacity, Philip von 

Schmeling was responsible for procuring PV modules 

for the Conergy Group and for establishing the Group’s 

own solar factory at Frankfurt (Oder).

Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz (born 1960) holds a doctor-

ate in electrical engineering. A native of Stuttgart, von 

Zitzewitz began his career in the research & develop-

ment department of Siemens and took over the man-

agement of the memory products division at the age of 

35. Four years later, he was appointed Chief Operating 

Officer (COO) and member of the Management Board of 

Infineon, a listed company manufacturing semiconduc-

tors, where he was responsible for operations.

Pepyn R. Dinandt (COO)

Appointed on 15 November 2007, left the Management 

Board as of 17 March 2008.
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The members of the Management 
Board and their memberships

The members of the Management Board hold the fol-

lowing positions on statutory Supervisory Boards and 

comparable corporate control committees:

Name Member 
since

Positions on statutory Supervisory Boards and  
comparable corporate control committees

Dieter Ammer (Chairman) 2007 Member of the Supervisory Board of Beiersdorf AG (until April 2008 Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board )
Member of the Supervisory Board of tesa AG (until April 2008)
Member of the Supervisory Board of GEA Group AG
Member of the Supervisory Board of IKB Deutsche Industriebank AG
Member of the Supervisory Board of Heraeus Holding GmbH

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter 2007 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of PAION AG

Nikolaus Krane 2000 Member of the Supervisory Board of Innomotive AG

Philip von Schmeling 2007 –

Pepyn R. Dinandt (until 17 March 2008) 2007 Member of the Supervisory Board of KUKA Aktiengesellschaft

Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz 1.1.2009 –
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Corporate Governance

Implementation of the Corporate Governance Code 

at Conergy AG

The term “corporate governance” refers to a system 

of company management that focuses on responsibil-

ity, transparency and sustainable value creation. It en-

compasses the entire management and monitoring sys-

tem of the company, including its organisation, business 

principles and guidelines, as well as internal and exter-

nal control and monitoring mechanisms. For domestic 

and international shareholders, business partners, fi-

nancial markets, employees and the general public, cor-

porate governance inspires trust in the management 

and monitoring systems in place at Conergy AG. Meas-

ures that underpin sound corporate governance include 

an effective, trusted partnership between the Manage-

ment and Supervisory Boards, the respecting of share-

holder interests, and corporate communication that is 

both open and up-to-date. The Management and Su-

pervisory Boards of Conergy AG are committed to the 

principles of good corporate governance and they are 

convinced that it is an essential requirement for the suc-

cess of the Company. Conergy AG reviews and devel-

ops its corporate governance policies on a regular ba-

sis. In the 2008 financial year, Conergy AG has complied 

with the recommendations of the German Corporate 

Governance Code, with exceptions. These exceptions, 

we refer to the Declaration of Compliance which is dis-

closed later in this report (page 23) and has been pub-

lished on the Company’s website at www.conergy.de. In 

there 2009 financial year, Conergy AG intends to com-

ply with the recommendations of the German Corporate 

Governance Code without exception. Both the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG 

report on the implementation of the Corporate Govern-

ance Code at Conergy AG as follows, in accordance 

with Article 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance 

Code (Corporate Governance Report): 

Service and information for shareholders of  

Conergy AG 

Conergy AG uses a financial calendar to inform its share-

holders as well as analysts, shareholders’ associations, 

the media and the interested public on a regular basis. 

This calendar is published in the annual report and in 

interim reports, and is also available on the Company 

website. In preparation for the General Shareholders’ 

Meeting, and to make it easier for them to exercise their 

rights, shareholders are informed comprehensively on 

the past financial year as well as the upcoming agenda 

prior to the meeting by way of the annual report and the 

invitation to the General Shareholders’ Meeting itself. 

All documents and informations referring to the General 

Shareholders’ Meeting are also published on the Com-

pany website, including the Annual Report. To aid in the 

exercising of rights by shareholders who cannot or do 

not wish to exercise their rights in person, Conergy AG 

provides such shareholders with the opportunity to vote 

by proxy at the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

Supervisory Board and Management Board

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 

Conergy AG work in partnership for the benefit of the 

Company. They pursue the same goal, namely to con-

tribute to the sustainable increase in value of the Com-

pany. The Management Board of Conergy AG current-

ly comprises of its Chairman, Mr. Dieter Ammer, and 

Messrs. Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter, Nikolaus Krane, Philip 

von Schmeling and Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz. Dr. An-

dreas von Zitzewitz was appointed to the Management 

Board effective 1 January 2009. He is responsible for 

Production, Purchasing, Supply Chain and the Com-

ponents division. Pepyn R. Dinandt left the Company’s 

Management Board effective at midnight on 17 March 

2008. The Management Board runs the Company and 

is responsible for managing its business. The Manage-

ment Board has briefed the Supervisory Board and its 

committees both orally and in written form on a regu-

lar basis, promptly and extensively, with special refer-

ence to all relevant issues of corporate planning, busi-

ness development, strategic planning and risk, including 

the management of risk. Communications between the 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board – espe-

cially the reporting system as well as the integration of 

the Supervisory Board into the Management Board’s 

decision making – were substantially improved in the 

reporting year. The Supervisory Board consists of six 

shareholder representatives overall. Four members of 

the Company’s Supervisory Board – Hans Johann Bap-

tist Jetter, Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting, Andreas 

Rüter as well as Alexander Rauschenbusch – resigned 

from the Supervisory Board effective 31 January 2009, 

given the successful capital increase and the attendant 

change in the composition of the Group’s shareholder 

structure. Upon application of the Management Board, 

by court order dated 5 February 2009 three new persons 

– Klaus-Joachim Wolfgang Krauth, Norbert Schmelzle 

and Carl Ulrich Andreas de Maizière – were appointed to 

the Company’s Supervisory Board as replacements for 

the departed Supervisory Board members in accord-

ance with the German Corporate Governance Code un-

til the end of the next General Shareholders’ Meeting. 



Conergy AG * Annual Report 2008

2222

In a letter dated 14 April 2009, the Company applied for 

the appointment of a further candidate to its Superviso-

ry Board at the relevant local court.

The tasks of the Supervisory Board include the provi-

sion of support to the Management Board through ad-

vice and discussion, the execution of its duties in ac-

cordance with the law and the Articles of Association, 

and the monitoring of the Company’s management (see 

Supervisory Board Report, on pages 8 – 14). Appropri-

ate to the recommendations of the German Corporate 

Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has estab-

lished a task force to prepare Supervisory Board meet-

ings (chairman’s committee), which also acts as a nomi-

nation committee, as well as an audit committee; both 

of these are staffed by Supervisory Board members. In 

compliance with the recommendations of the Corporate 

Governance Code, Supervisory Board members are se-

lected according to the criteria of their professional ex-

perience and capabilities, as well as their independence. 

No member of the Supervisory Board has previously oc-

cupied a Management Board position within the Com-

pany. Conflicts of interest affecting Management and 

Supervisory Board members are to be reported to the 

Supervisory Board without delay. Such conflicts did not 

occur in the report year. Statutory requirements pertain-

ing to the capital market were also implemented in the 

previous year under review. An ad-hoc committee con-

sisting of representatives from a number of core spe-

cialist departments audits the ad-hoc relevance of insid-

er information, ensuring that it is handled in accordance 

with statutory requirements. All individuals with access 

to insider information as part of their duties were briefed 

on the obligations arising from the law on insider dealing 

and were then entered into an insider list. The positions 

held by members of the Management and Supervisory 

Boards are published on page 15 and 20 of the Annual 

Report, and are also listed on the Company’s website.

General Shareholders’ Meeting

To make participation in a General Shareholders’ Meet-

ing as easy as possible for its shareholders, Conergy AG 

uses the “record date” procedure for the purposes of 

registration and authentication. Eligibility to participate 

in the General Shareholders’ Meeting and to exercise 

voting rights is granted by registration and the verifica-

tion of share ownership; ownership must be entered into 

by the start of the 21st day prior to the meeting, and its 

proof must be submitted no later than the seventh day 

prior to the Company’s General Shareholders’ Meeting.

Accounting and audit of financial statements

The Conergy Group’s accounting is conducted in ac-

cordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS). The single-entity annual financial 

statements of Conergy AG are prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of the German Commercial Code. 

The auditors were appointed by the General Share-

holders’ Meeting in accordance with the regulations 

of the German Stock Corporation Act. Deloitte & Tou-

che GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, 

regional branch Hamburg, were appointed as auditors 

for the 2008 consolidated financial statements and the 

2008 annual financial statements of Conergy AG ac-

cording to the German Commercial Code.

Transparency

The Conergy Group complies with the principle of non-

discrimination. In order to implement this policy, the 

same information must be available at the same time. 

Both institutional investors and private investors can use 

the Conergy website (www.conergy.de) to obtain infor-

mation on significant dates and current corporate devel-

opments (including ad-hoc releases) in a timely manner. 

Relevant corporate news items are also announced by 

means of press releases, which are also published on 

the website. In accordance with Section 15 a of the Ger-

man Securities Trading Act, certain individuals must dis-

close the acquisition and disposal of Company shares 

and of any associated financial instruments. Such indi-

viduals include members of the Management and Su-

pervisory Board for Conergy AG, as well as certain 

members of managerial staff and persons with whom 

they have close relationships. According to information 

provided to Conergy AG, the following acquisitions and 

disposals were recorded in the 2008 financial year:

The Chairman of the Company’s Management Board, 

Dieter Ammer, purchased 1,284,450 shares, sold 

3,789,626 shares, purchased 256,801 stock options 

and sold 3,917,982 stock options during the period from 

13 November 2008 to 1 December 2008. CoCo Beteil-

igungs GmbH & Co. KG, a legal entity closely related 

to a member of the management staff (Dieter Ammer), 

purchased 13,789,632 shares and 1,171,850 stock op-

tions during the period from 25 November 2008 to 1 De-

cember 2008. Grazia Equity GmbH, an entity closely re-

lated to a member of the Supervisory Board (Andreas 

Rüter), purchased 5,484,240 shares and sold 1,751,503 

shares and 3,286,947 stock options during the period 

from 13 November 2008 to 1 December 2008. A & N Boa 

Management GmbH, a legal entity closely related to a 

member of the management staff (Nikolaus Krane), pur-

chased 300,000 shares and sold 321,750 shares and 
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191,750 stock options during the period from 14 Novem-

ber 2008 to 1 December 2008. 5r Private Equity KG, an 

entity closely related to a member of the Supervisory 

Board (Alexander Rauschenbusch), purchased 608,220 

shares, sold 387,099 shares, purchased 60,822 stock 

options and sold 911,568 stock options during the pe-

riod from 13 November 2008 to 1 December 2008. An-

dreas Rüter, who had left the Management Board ef-

fective 31 January 2009, sold 159,784 stock options 

during the period from 18 November 2008 to 28 Novem-

ber 2008. The Board member Philip von Schmeling pur-

chased 10,000 shares in December 2008.

A total of 15,389,113 shares were held by the members 

of the Management Board as of 31 December 2008. 

This equates to 3.87 percent of the shares issued by 

Conergy AG. A total of 8,863,231 shares were held by 

members of the Supervisory Board as of 31 December 

2008. This equates to 2.23 percent of the shares issued 

by Conergy AG. Shares owned by Dieter Ammer have 

been added to the total amount of shares held by the 

Management Board.

Compensation for the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board

The compensation report shows the compensation of 

the Management and Supervisory Boards in compli-

ance with the recommendations of the German Corpo-

rate Governance Code (see pages 24– 29), and is an in-

tegral part of this corporate governance report.

Code of Conduct

The Management Board has enacted a Code of Con-

duct for employees of the Conergy Group. This Code 

provides guidelines for dealing with business partners 

and government institutions, for assuring confidentiality, 

independence and objectivity, and for handling conflicts 

of interest. Compliance with these standards is moni-

tored by a compliance committee organised by the le-

gal department.

Declaration of Compliance as at December 2008

Both the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 

of a company listed on a German stock exchange are re-

quired by law (Section 161 German Stock Corporation 

Act) to declare once a year whether they are in compli-

ance with the German Corporate Governance Code as 

amended and, if this is not the case, which recommen-

dations were not satisfied. Both the Supervisory Board 

and the Management Board of Conergy AG are commit-

ted to corporate governance practices that are aimed at 

creating value in a responsible, transparent and sustain-

able manner. The Management Board and Supervisory 

Board issued the following Declaration of Compliance 

pursuant to Section 161 German Stock Corporation Act 

on 20 April 2009:

“In the business year 2008 Conergy AG was and is in ac-

cordance with all recommendations of the Government 

Commission German Corporate Governance Code in its 

respective effective version of 14 June 2007 and 6 June 

2008 with the following exceptions: 

With regard to the Code recommendation there was de-

viance from figure 7.1.2 sentence 3, 1. case of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code in its version of 14 

June 2007. It was not possible to give public access to 

the annual consolidated financial statements 2007 of 

Conergy AG within the there mentioned 90 day time-lim-

it – the publication took place on 9 April 2008.

The 90 day time-limit could also not be met for the pub-

lication of the Conergy AG annual consolidated financial 

statement 2008. The report will be publicly available in 

April 2009. In this respect there is a deviance from figure 

7.1.2 sentence 3, 1. case of the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code in its version of 6 June 2008.

In deviance from figure 5.4.6 sentence 3 of the German 

Corporate Governance Code in its version of 14 June 

2007 and 6 June 2008 respectively, no separate com-

pensation was defined for the chair in the individual 

committees. 

Even though the recommendation was an will be com-

plied with, the Supervisory Board and the Management 

Board of Conergy AG regard the rule in figure 4.2.3 

clause 3 (sentence 6) of the German Corporate Govern-

ance Code as not adequate. In times of bigger turbu-

lences and insecurities the strict compliance with this 

rule would lead to the situation that the Management 

Board follows certain targets under no longer valid pa-

rameters and assumptions, which are not in the interest 

of the company and its shareholders.“

The current Declaration of Compliance for Conergy AG 

is available on the Company’s website (www.conergy.

de) in the Investor Relations section. The Company also 

intends to adhere to the Code in the future.
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Compensation report for  
the Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board of 
Conergy AG

The following compensation report is part of both the 

Group management report and the corporate govern-

ance report. The report explains the structure and the 

level of compensation applicable to the Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board. The compensation 

report was prepared in accordance with the recommen-

dations of the German Corporate Governance Code 

and contains all disclosures that must be made an in-

tegral part of the notes pursuant to Section 314 para. 1 

no. 6 German Commercial Code and the management 

report pursuant to Section 315 para. 2 no. 4 German 

Commercial Code and the Management Board Com-

pensation Disclosure Act (Gesetz über die Offenlegung 

der Vorstandsvergütung – VorstOG). Information about 

the shareholdings of the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board will also be presented in this com-

pensation report.

Compensation of the Management Board

Pursuant to the recommendations of the German Cor-

porate Governance Code, the total compensation paid 

to the members of the Management Board comprises 

both fixed and variable components. Besides compo-

nents that offer short- and long-term incentives, the 

variable compensation also contains share-based ele-

ments in the form of stock appreciation rights (phantom 

stock options).

The appropriate amount of compensation paid to the in-

dividual members of the Management Board is deter-

mined by the Supervisory Board based on performance 

appraisals, taking all payments from the Group into ac-

count. Criteria for determining the appropriateness of 

compensation are, in particular, the tasks of the respec-

tive member of the Management Board, his person-

al performance, the performance of the Management 

Board as well as the economic situation, the perform-

ance and outlook of the enterprise taking into account 

its peer companies.

The fixed component largely comprises compensa-

tion that is paid monthly as a salary and is not based 

on performance. In addition, all members of the Man-

agement Board receive benefits in the form of non-cash 

compensation such as the option to use company cars 

for private purposes as well as contributions to their re-

tirement plans as well as to insurance and relocation ex-

penses; these benefits are part of their compensation 

and thus taxable. As a rule, all members of the Man-

agement Board are entitled equally to these benefits but 

the amounts vary according to personal needs. Just as 

in previous years, no Management Board member was 

granted loans or advances in the reporting year, nor did 

the Company incur any contingent liabilities on their be-

half.

The variable component of the Management Board’s 

compensation with short- and long-term incentives 

has been made more dependent on the Management 

Board’s performance, the Company’s development 

and its long term increase in value and depends on the 

extent to which fixed corporate targets have been at-

tained. As part of the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 

that was introduced for the Management Board in 

2007, personal goals for each member of the Manage-

ment Board and corporate goals are taken into account 

which are based on sales growth and EVA® (Economic 

Value Added).

The LTIP has two components:

|| a long-term incentive (LTI) component spanning 

three years, which takes the form of a bonus plan 

with an inherent risk element and

|| a short-term incentive (STI) component to be paid 

annually.

The LTIP is fed from a profit-sharing account, which is 

established annually for each individual member of the 

Management Board. The initial value of this annual ac-

count depends primarily on the extent to which finan-

cial targets are attained; it may also be increased or 

decreased depending on the extent to which personal 

targets have been achieved. These financial and per-

sonal goals are fixed by the chairman’s committee be-

fore the commencement of each financial year, while 

also taking into account the Management Board’s oper-

ational planning. Should the financial and personal tar-

gets be attained in full, then a target bonus is paid to 

the individual concerned, equal to the value of the prof-

it-sharing account established for the respective finan-

cial year. Should the financial or personal targets be ex-

ceeded or not met, then the profit-sharing account for 

the respective year is increased or decreased appropri-

ately.

A partial payment from the established profit-shar-

ing account can be paid annually as an STI. Unpaid 

amounts are automatically retained in the profit-sharing 
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account for the respective year. Accordingly, each cal-

endar year sees the creation of a new profit-sharing 

account, whose balance remains in the Company and 

feeds the LTIP.

The profit-sharing account used as an instrument for 

the LTIP develops in relation to the Company’s growth 

over three years (compound annual growth rate, or CA-

GR); the Company’s growth is itself calculated based on 

sales and EBIT multiples using a previously determined 

formula. These multiples can be re-established for each 

LTIP, but are held constant for the lifetime of each profit-

sharing account.

Management Board members Nikolaus Krane, Philip 

von Schmeling and Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter are currently 

participating in the LTIP. Pepyn R. Dinandt also partici-

pated in the LTIP until he resigned from the Management 

Board effective at midnight on 17 March 2008. Pepyn R. 

Dinandt cannot bring any claims under the LTIP since 

his resignation from the Management Board.

The Chairman of the Management Board, Dieter Ammer, 

is not participating in the LTIP at the present time nor did 

he do so for the duration of his appointment to the Man-

agement Board (16 November 2007 until 31 July 2008) 

as substitute (successor) for the departed member, 

Hans-Martin Rüter. Pursuant to a resolution of the Su-

pervisory Board dated 22 November 2007, Dieter Am-

mer was paid monthly fixed compensation of TEUR 27 

(which corresponded to the salary of the previous chair-

man of the Management Board) as well as a discretion-

ary profit-sharing bonus of TEUR 300 that was tied to 

performance-based criteria. In addition, Conergy AG 

reimbursed AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH for certain on-

going costs up to a maximum of TEUR 30 per month 

plus VAT based on verifiable evidence. On the whole, 

AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH was paid TEUR 220 includ-

ing VAT under this agreement.

Following his appointment to the Management Board 

as its regular member and Chairman, effective 1 August 

2008 Dieter Ammer’s fixed gross monthly compensation 

was raised to TEUR 42. Dieter Ammer is also paid an an-

nual performance bonus, the amount of which is contin-

gent on the achievement of goals that the Supervisory 

Board fixes in advance at its discretion. He is entitled to 

an annual performance bonus of TEUR 500 if the goals 

are met in full. His annual performance bonus is raised 

in increments of TEUR 50 for each additional 10 percent 

by which goal achievement surpasses the baseline, up 

to a maximum of TEUR 750; it is reduced in increments 

of TEUR 50 for each 10 percent by which goal achieve-

ment falls short of the baseline.

In addition, Dieter Ammer has also been participating in 

a share-based compensation programme in the form of 

stock appreciation rights with a three-year term start-

ing 1 September 2008. These stock appreciation rights 

were divided into two tranches of 50 percent each. The 

first tranche may be exercised at the earliest upon ex-

piration of a waiting period of six months, and the sec-

ond tranche at the earliest upon expiration of a waiting 

period of one year and six months from 1 September 

2008. Furthermore, the exercisability of stock appreci-

ation rights is also tied to the positive development of 

Conergy AG’s share price. The first tranche may be ex-

ercised only if and as soon as the Company’s share ex-

ceeds a price of EUR 1.27 (which was fixed as the base 

price) by at least 10 percent, on the thirtieth trading day, 

at the earliest, at the Frankfurt (Main) Stock Exchange 

prior to expiration of the waiting period of the stock ap-

preciation rights and no later than prior to the expiration 

of the overall maturity. The second tranche may only be 

exercised if the share price exceeds the base price by 

at least 20 percent under the same conditions. Any ex-

ercise of the stock appreciation rights is ineffective ab-

sent the fulfillment of these performance targets. Stock 

appreciation rights must be exercised no later than 

by the stock’s final maturity; if not, they will be forfeit-

ed outright without compensation. For every stock ap-

preciation right exercised to legal effect, Dieter Ammer 

has a claim against the Company for payment in cash 

of an amount corresponding to the difference between 

the unweighted closing price of Conergy AG’s share in 

Deutsche Börse AG’s, Frankfurt (Main), XETRA trading 

on the last 30 consecutive trading days preceding the 

exercise date of the stock appreciation right (limited to 

a specific maximum price) and the base price. The fair 

value of the share-based payments as at the 31 Decem-

ber 2008 balance sheet date was around TEUR 297.

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter participates in a share-based 

compensation programme entailing stock appreciation 

rights embodied in phantom stock options with a term 

of three years overall. Pepyn R. Dinandt also participat-

ed in this compensation programme but he is not en-

titled to any benefits under the Phantom Stock Option 

Programme for his service on the Management Board of 

Conergy AG because he resigned. These phantom op-

tions are divided into three tranches with terms of one, 

two and three years. Three exercise dates have been 

set; on each date, a third of the Phantom Stock Options 

granted can be exercised. After three years, all of the 

Phantom Stock Options are exercisable. Unexercised 

options may be carried over to the next two tranches. 

At the time the Phantom Stock Options are exercised, 

Conergy AG is obligated to pay the difference between 

the base price that is fixed at the inception of the stock 
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option programme and the volume-weighted average 

share price during the last 85 trading days prior to the 

end of the relevant service period. The difference will be 

increased or decreased by 10 to 20 percent depending 

on the development of Conergy’s share relative to the 

Öko-Dax reference index. The gross amount paid out 

is restricted to a fixed total amount, which may not be 

exceeded, even if the calculation principles used would 

technically have resulted in a higher amount. Expenses 

of TEUR 78 per participant were recognised in the 2007 

financial year for a total of TEUR 156. The costs declined 

by TEUR 148 overall owing to the resignation of Pepyn 

R. Dinandt (TEUR 78) and the development of the Com-

pany’s share price (TEUR – 70).

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter is entitled to be paid a special 

bonus of up to TEUR 500 gross for the 2008 calendar 

year, provided the Company’s finances and liquidity re-

lax in the medium term and its earnings improve in the 

long term. The Supervisory Board decides at its discre-

tion whether or not the aforementioned goals have been 

achieved and whether the special bonus will be paid and 

in what amount.

The contracts with Philip von Schmeling and Dr. Jörg 

Spiekerkötter as Management Board members provide 

for compensation corresponding to no more than the 

severance pay cap specified in item 4.2.3 of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code in case of early ter-

mination of their respective activities as such. In a de-

viation from the foregoing sentence however, maximum 

severance pay corresponding to the higher level under 

item 4.2.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

has been stipulated with Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter if he ter-

minates his contract in the event of a change of con-

trol. With the exception of the aforementioned cases, no 

member of the Management Board was promised addi-

tional payments in the event of termination. Nor did any 

member of the Management Board receive bonus pay-

ments or corresponding commitments from a third par-

ty in the reporting year with respect to their activity as 

Management Board members.

The Company has not made any additional promises 

above and beyond the aforementioned payments with 

respect to corporate contributions toward retirement 

plans.
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Given the findings of the German Financial Reporting 

Enforcement Panel in regards to the 2006 consolidat-

ed financial statements (Group pre-tax profit overstated 

by EUR 51.1 million), all members of the Management 

Board repaid all or at least some of the performance-

based bonuses granted to them for the 2006 financial 

year once settlement agreements were reached with 

them in 2008. A total of around EUR 445 was repaid. The 

agreement with Mr. Krane provides for repayment of the 

amounts he must reimburse to the Company by with-

holding his fixed monthly compensation instead of im-

mediate repayment. His final instalment was paid as at 

the January 2009 payroll date.

TEUR
Dieter 

Ammer1

Pepyn R. 
Dinandt2

Nikolaus 
Krane

Philip von 
Schmeling3

Dr. Jörg 
Spiekerkötter Total

	

Fixed annual compensation 395 200 240 180 500 1.515

Compensation in kind / other  
benefits4 10 2 14 19 11 56

Non-performance-based 
compensation 405 202 254 199 511 1,571

Short-term variable compensation5 300 233 – – 200 733

Directly paid compensation 705 435 254 199 711 2,304

Fair value of newly granted share-
based payment (SAR) 297 – – – – 297

Total compensation according 
to HGB 1,002 435 254 199 711 2,601

Long-term variable compensation 
(benefits vested in the current year) 33 – – – – 33

Change in value of existing benefits – – – – – 70 – 70

Share-based payment 33 – – – – 70 – 37

Total directly paid compensation 705 435 254 199 711 2.304

Long-term variable compensation 
(benefits vested in the current year) 33 – – – – 33

Change in value of existing benefits – – – – – 70 – 70

Total compensation according 
to IFRS 738 435 254 199 641 2,267

1	 On a temporary basis until 31 July 2008; regular Chairman of the Management Board 
since 1 August 2008.

2	 Member of the Management Board until 17 March 2008; left the Board on 30 April 
2008.

3	 Deputy member of the Management Board until 15 July 2008; regular member from 
16 July 2008.

4	 The other compensation components primarily comprise non-cash compensation 
(e. g. company car, insurance, removal costs) and allowances for pension insurance 
(relief fund); the table does not include the assumption of costs under the agreement 
between Conergy AG and AMMER!Partners.

5	 On 15 July 2008, the Supervisory Board resolved to pay a performance-based bonus 
of TEUR 200 to Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter for 2007 and TEUR 300 to Dieter Ammer for the 
time he served on the Management Board in 2007 and 2008. The bonuses were paid 
in the 2008 reporting period.
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Compensation of the Supervisory Board

The policy for the compensation of the Superviso-

ry Board was established by the General Sharehold-

ers’ Meeting in 2004 based on the joint proposals of 

the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. 

The compensation of the Supervisory Board takes into 

consideration the responsibilities and duties of each of 

the Supervisory Board members as well as the Com-

pany’s economic performance. Accordingly, Superviso-

ry Board members have been paid fixed compensation 

of around TEUR 17 per annum since the 2007 financial 

year. They also receive performance-based compo-

nents in addition to this fixed compensation. Members 

of the Supervisory Board are thus paid an additional 

EUR 500 per one-million euro increment of annual net 

income up to a maximum of TEUR 11 in performance-

based compensation. The Chairman of the Superviso-

ry Board is paid two-and-a-half times and the Deputy 

Chairman one-and-a-half times the fixed and variable 

compensation paid to regular members of the Super-

visory Board.

Finally, committee members are paid EUR 500 for each 

day on which the relevant committee meets.

Given the findings of the German Financial Reporting 

Enforcement Panel in regards to the 2006 consolidated 

financial statements (Group pre-tax profit overstated by 

EUR 51.1 million), all members of the Supervisory Board 

in 2008 repaid the performance-based bonuses grant-

ed to them for the 2006 financial year. A total of around 

TEUR 91 was repaid.

1	 Since 28 August 2008.
2	 Until 31 July 2008; the former chairman of the Supervisory Board Dieter Ammer 

waived his entitled Supervisory Board compensation while serving on the Manage-
ment Board.

TEUR
Fixed com-

pensation

Committee 
compensa-

tion
Variable com-

pensation Total

	

Eckhard Spoerr (Chairman) 41 8 – 49

Alexander Rauschenbusch (Deputy Chairman) 25 8 – 33

Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting 17 – – 17

Oswald Metzger 17 4 – 21

Andreas Rüter 17 5 – 22

Hans Johann Baptist Jetter1 6 – – 6

Dieter Ammer2 – – – –

123 25 – 148
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Shareholdings of the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board Members

A total of 15,389,113 shares were held by the members 

of the Management Board as of 31 December 2008. 

This equates to 3.87 percent of the shares issued by 

Conergy AG. A total of 8,863,231 shares were held by 

members of the Supervisory Board as of 31 December 

2008. This equates to 2.23 percent of the shares issued 

by Conergy AG.

Number of shares held as of 
31.12.2008

Management Board 15,389,113

Dieter Ammer 15,074,082

Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter –

Nikolaus Krane 300,000

Philip von Schmeling 15,031

Supervisory Board 8,863,231

Eckhard Spoerr (Chairman) –

Alexander Rauschenbusch
(Deputy Chairman) 8,701,647

Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. 
Büchting –

Oswald Metzger –

Andreas Rüter 161,584

Hans Johann Baptist Jetter –
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The Conergy share

It was hoped at the start of the 2008 financial year that 

the international stock indices would develop along a 

positive trajectory overall. Yet the international crisis of 

the financial markets, which began in the United States 

around that time, and the economic anxiety it caused 

had a significant impact on the world’s stock markets 

in the 2008 financial year. In September 2008, the fi-

nancial crisis reached yet another high when the US in-

vestment bank Lehman Brothers went bankrupt, spark-

ing widespread uncertainty in the financial markets and 

triggering yet more financial difficulties for numerous in-

surance companies and banks. In many cases, finan-

cial institutions could only be saved through state inter-

vention. Worldwide, investors reacted to fresh economic 

data and the looming recession by dumping their hold-

ings in panic sales – triggering tremendous drops at all 

stock exchanges in the autumn of 2008.

Trends of the German stock indices reflect the negative 

developments in the international financial markets. The 

DAX (Germany’s leading stock index) closed the year at 

4,810 points, plunging 40 percent from its opening at the 

start of the year. And the TecDAX, an index of technol-

ogy stocks, closed at 508 points, 48 percent below its 

level in early 2008. Conergy AG’s stock closed the finan-

cial year at EUR 1.00 – down 96 percent compared to its 

opening price at the start of 2008. But this development 

also reflects the impact of the new shares issued and 

the resulting dilution. Based on the Company’s market 

capitalisation (number of shares multiplied by the share 

price), the share price dropped by 55 percent and thus 

in line with general developments.

Key figures for the Conergy share

Capital increase

Conergy AG executed the capital increase it had an-

nounced at the start of 2008 in early December. A total 

of 363,000,000 new shares were issued at a subscrip-

tion price of EUR 1.10 per share. The subscription pe-

riod for the capital increase started on 18 November 

and ended on 2 December 2008. During this period, the 

subscription rights were also traded on the stock ex-

change. The subscription ratio was 1:10, i. e. sharehold-

ers were able to subscribe ten new shares for each ex-

isting share. Total proceeds from the issue were around 

EUR 399.3 million. As a result, Conergy raised its share 

capital from EUR 35,088,928 by EUR 363,000,000 to 

EUR 398,088,928 in return for cash contributions. The 

joint lead managers and bookrunners, Credit Suisse 

und Dresdner Kleinwort, guaranteed that the capital in-

crease would be floated in full. Conergy used the pro-

ceeds to discharge financial liabilities, among them a 

bridge loan that had been granted in the spring of 2008; 

the proceeds will also be used to continue its restructur-

ing and underwrite its future growth.

2008 2007

Number of shares 398,088,928 35,088,928

Share price (31.12.) in EUR1 1.00 25.00

Share price in EUR1

	 High 24.23 68.72

	 Low 0.85 17.53

Market capitalisation (31.12.) 
in EUR million1 398.1 877.2

Daily average trading volume 
(shares)1 846,171 564,657

1	 XETRA

Share: no-par value share

Securities identification number 604002

International Securities Identification 
Number (ISIN) DE0006040025

Reuters symbol CGYG.DE

Bloomberg symbol CGY GR

Stock exchanges Xetra

Frankfurt (Main)

Stuttgart

Düsseldorf

Hamburg

Munich

Hanover

Berlin-Bremen
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Investor relations activities

For Conergy AG, the 2008 financial year was taken up 

by its restructuring, which brought many changes with 

it. We continued to seek an open dialogue with our in-

vestors nonetheless and were always available to an-

swer their questions.

Quarterly, half-yearly and annual reports serve to in-

form our investors and shareholders of the Group’s de-

velopment as well as of the progress of our restructur-

ing. Shareholders can also inspect current information 

pertaining to the Company such as reports, presenta-

tions and share price data on Conergy’s investor rela-

tions website.

This past year, Conergy AG presented itself to nation-

al and international investors and shareholders during 

talks at the Company’s Hamburg headquarters as well 

as through road shows and at trade fairs.

General Shareholders’ Meeting

During the financial year, the General Shareholders’ 

Meeting is the most important platform for discus-

sions with our shareholders. Conergy AG held its Gen-

eral Shareholders’ Meeting in the Hamburg CCH on 28 

August 2008. At the meeting, Conergy’s Management 

Board and Supervisory Board gave shareholders and 

their representatives an account of developments at the 

Company during the 2007 financial year and reported 

on the restructuring measures that had been initiated. 

A total of around 600 shareholders accepted the invi-

tation to attend the meeting in Hamburg, representing 

16,974,031 shares and 48.37 percent of the Company’s 

share capital. All agenda items were adopted with the 

required majorities.

Shareholder structure

The shareholder structure of Conergy AG as at 31 De-

cember 2008 was as follows: Of the 398,088,928 no-par 

shares, Dresdner Bank AG held 38.99 percent, Athos 

Service GmbH held 14.95 percent, Leemaster Ltd. held 

14.13 percent and Dieter Ammer held 3.79 percent of 

the voting rights. The remaining 28.14 percent are clas-

sified as free-floating shares. Leemaster Ltd. retains op-

tions to acquire a further 1.84 percent of the Company’s 

shares from the original shareholders of Conergy AG. 

With these additional shares, Leemaster would hold a 

stake of 15.97 percent in Conergy AG. In addition to the 

shareholders mentioned above, no further shareholders 

are known to control more than 3.0 percent of the capi-

tal of Conergy AG.

Annual Document pursuant to Section 10 of the 

German Securities Prospectus Act

Section 10 of the German Securities Prospectus Act re-

quires Conergy AG to publish an annual document that 

contains or refers to all information which has been pub-

lished by Conergy in the previous 12 months. This doc-

ument is available on our website at www.conergy.de 

in the Investor Relations section. If you are unable to 

download or view the document, we will be happy to 

send you a copy.
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An overview of the Group

Our areas of operation are divided into the Conergy PV and EPURON segments. In 

the Conergy PV segment we produce and distribute photovoltaic products and sys-

tem solutions (using solar energy to generate electricity). Through the EPURON seg-

ment we develop, finance, implement, and operate large projects in the area of renew-

able energy. Effective 1 January 2009 however, EPURON’s PV project business was 

transferred to the Conergy PV segment in order to group all photovoltaics activities in 

this segment.

Conergy PV segment

The Conergy PV segment is divided into two divisions: The Components division de-

velops and manufactures system components such as solar cells, solar modules, 

module frames, and mounting systems, as well as electronic components. In our pro-

duction facility in Frankfurt (Oder), we are entering additional parts of the photovoltaic 

value chain by manufacturing wafers, solar cells and solar modules, which in the past 

had to be purchased from outside suppliers. Conergy develops electronic compo-

nents such as inverters, connection boxes, monitoring systems, and tracking systems 

in Hamburg and Bad Vilbel, and has these built to order by various companies, most 

of them European. Mounting systems are developed and manufactured in Rangsdorf 

near Berlin. The Sales & Systems division sells the products we make (along with pur-

chased components and complete systems) to wholesalers, installers and end cus-

tomers. Our distribution activities also include the construction, planning, and instal-

lation of photovoltaic systems (known as EPC activities: engineering, procurement, 

and construction).

Components

Our Components division encompasses many of the development, production, and 

manufacturing steps in the photovoltaics segment. We manufacture wafers, solar 

cells, solar modules, and module frames; develop electronic components such as in-

verters, connection boxes, monitoring systems, and tracking systems; and develop 

and produce mounting systems.

Conergy AG has erected one of the world’s state-of-the-art production facilities for 

solar modules in Frankfurt (Oder). The plant is currently engaged in volume ramp up. 

At full capacity, it can produce up to 250 MWp of modules per year. The Conergy 

PowerPlus modules that were manufactured in 2008 were delivered to major projects 

in Spain and South Korea among others.

Manufacturing processes are continuously optimised to boost efficiency in parallel 

with the ongoing production of solar wafers, cells and modules. Already at the start of 

the year, TÜV Rheinland (German Certification Organisation) responded enthusiasti-

cally to the properly thought-out production process and the scope of the quality as-

surance when they inspected the plant in connection with TÜV certification.
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Delivery contracts with several suppliers ensure the raw materials supply for the pro-

duction of solar modules. We have also entered into short-term delivery contracts 

for silicon blocks, wafers and cells in addition to the ten-year contract with US wafer 

manufacturer MEMC. Please see the disclosures regarding events after the balance 

sheet date for information on the status of the contractual relationship with MEMC.

In Bad Vilbel and Hamburg, we develop electronic components for photovoltaic sys-

tems, such as inverters, connection boxes, monitoring systems, and tracking sys-

tems, and have them built to order by various companies, most of them European.

 This makes the Company one of the few manufacturers worldwide that offers most 

components for PV systems such as solar modules, inverters, connection boxes, 

monitoring systems and tracking systems from a single source. Customers benefit 

from the advantages of this systems approach in several ways. Their projects’ yield 

overall rises because the coordinated system components deliver maximum sales 

and efficiency. Planning, purchasing and assembly times drop dramatically, and the 

matched components reduce the risk of installation and operating defects.

Conergy’s Electronics segment was spun off into a separate entity, voltwerk electron-

ics GmbH, effective 1 September 2008. Whereas our electronic products were avail-

able solely via the Conergy Group’s sales channels to date, major external customer 

groups can now order directly from the manufacturer. Experience gained in connec-

tion with 500 MW of installed output, products that have garnered numerous awards, 

highest efficiencies and state-of-the-art technologies are but a few of the competitive 

advantages that voltwerk offers its customers.

Conergy Mounting Systems, previously a subdivision of Conergy AG, started operat-

ing as a separate entity named Mounting Systems GmbH on 1 September 2008. This 

will enable it to actively expand its own sales activities, enlarge its customer base sig-

nificantly and continue its profitable growth course. Conergy AG is one of its largest 

customers. Conergy Mounting Systems GmbH delivers high-quality module frames 

for the Conergy PowerPlus modules that are manufactured at the Frankfurt (Oder) 

factory.

This company is now producing module and collector frames besides PV and so-

lar thermal mounting systems and components on 12,000 square meters of produc-

tion and storage space in Rangsdorf. An experienced engineering team is available to 

customers for the development of state-of-the-art products and individual solutions. 

Conergy Mounting Systems GmbH has more than 100 employees overall.

Its manufacturing processes and quality management in Rangsdorf were already cer-

tified pursuant to DIN ISO 9001 back in 2007. A repeat audit in September 2008 con-

firmed this certification, specifically mentioning the performance indicator system 

used in frame manufacturing and consistently high production standards.
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Sales & Systems

The Sales & Systems division of the Conergy PV segment sells the products that we 

manufacture, as well as purchased complete systems and components, to wholesal-

ers, installers and end customers (primarily farmers, private households, and compa-

nies). We offer three different types of service: the sale of individual components, the 

sale of complete systems with coordinated components, and turnkey construction of 

a plant. The services that we offer range from construction planning to component 

procurement, all the way to the construction of photovoltaic plants.

The integration of the SunTechnics end customer brand into the Conergy brand was 

executed as planned in 2008 as part of the Conergy Group’s restructuring. This en-

tailed combining the sales channels of the end customer and partner business that 

had been operated separately to date; as a result, the Group’s entire photovoltaics 

business is now to a large extent conducted under the name Conergy PV. In its capac-

ity both as a dedicated PV provider and worldwide market leader in systems integra-

tion, this segment now maintains separate sales offices in the main markets on four 

continents. Its customers include businesses and investors, utility companies, farm-

ers as well as installers of solar and electrical systems.

Photovoltaics solutions tailored to every need

As leading downstream player in the photovoltaics market, Conergy offers installers 

and wholesalers a broad range of products for the construction of PV units from a va-

riety of manufacturers. The Company also operates one of the industry’s largest in-

ternational sales networks and collaborates worldwide with solar installers and elec-

trical specialists that perform professional on-site installation work for its customers. 

Conergy has always employed the most efficient technologies in systems installation. 

It provides its customers with individual components as well as complete systems 

to that end – always from a single source and fully produced in house upon request.

International state-of-the-art engineering know-how

Conergy PV owes its success in markets with widely differing needs to the expert 

planning and installation experience of Conergy’ employees. Conergy is a global play-

er and as such, it possesses extensive know-how and long-standing market knowl-

edge grounded in more than ten years of work in the industry and the construction 

of more than 70,000 solar energy systems worldwide. The outstanding technical and 

commercial competence of its employees and project partners enable the Company 

to plan and build high-quality solar energy systems for the most diverse needs.
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EPURON segment

In the EPURON segment we develop, finance, implement, and operate major renew-

able energy projects through our subsidiaries in the EPURON. The emphasis in the 

past was on projects in the area of photovoltaics and wind energy. Our range of prod-

ucts and services includes site inspection and development; contracting for, coor-

dinating, and monitoring plant construction; negotiation of project agreements; the 

creation of project-based operating companies; and commercial and technical man-

agement of the plants. EPURON also arranges for debt and equity financing of the 

operating companies and the marketing of equity interests to investors. Customers 

primarily include institutional investors that invest in renewable energy projects. Ef-

fective 1 January 2009 however, EPURON’s PV project business was transferred to 

the Conergy PV segment in order to group all photovoltaics activities in this segment. 

EPURON, which will then focus predominantly on wind energy projects, will also con-

tinue to pursue other renewable energy projects, such as biogas and CSP, if they offer 

attractive margins. The segment is represented in the main markets through branches 

and offices, which has enabled it to leverage significant growth opportunities in rel-

evant markets.

Through the EPURON segment, we are meeting the increasing demand of institu-

tional investors for renewable energy projects. All of the major projects launched by 

EPURON have been placed with financial and strategic investors. The continued de-

bate about climate change, together with the high accuracy of investment forecasts 

based on feed-in tariffs, have in our view made renewable energy projects an attrac-

tive investment. The cash flows from such plant products continue to be secure both 

with regard to input (sun / wind) and output (power / electricity). Sun and wind are es-

sentially available without limitation. Solar radiation can be very accurately predicted 

in specific regions, subject to certain fluctuations; wind is subject to a greater forecast 

risk, but it offers potentially higher margins. The output sides are generally sufficiently 

covered by long-term purchase agreements. This means that investing in the genera-

tion of cash flows based on the operation of photovoltaic systems and wind energy 

plants offers highly reliable forecasts and through a hardly existent correlation form an 

independent asset class to other forms of investment (such as stocks, commodities, 

currency, and real estate).

In addition to its core photovoltaic and wind power technologies, EPURON has con-

tinued to promote the development and financing of individual large-scale projects in 

the field of bioenergy and solar thermal energy systems (concentrated solar power); 

services in the areas of building planning, component procurement, and construction 

(engineering, procurement, construction) are provided by external partners.
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Corporate strategy

Conergy has redefined its corporate strategy in light of the company’s crisis in 2007. 

Since then the strategy concentrates on the downstream segment of the core busi-

ness of photovoltaics, attractive key markets as well as profitable growth. Conergy’s 

strategy in its core PV business entails offering its customers added value through 

manufacturer-independent, high-quality solutions.

Focus on downstream segment of the photovoltaic business

Whereas in the past Conergy’s business policies were aimed at developing as many 

divisions as possible in the field of regenerative energies, during its crisis it found its 

way back to its core competence – photovoltaics business and here focussing on the 

so called downstream segment, the business close to the customer. The Company 

basically serves three customer groups: wholesalers and major B2B installing firms, 

B2C installing partners and investors in major projects.

Conergy enjoys an advantage in its core business over manufacturers that are ex-

panding into the downstream business in that its independence allows it to always 

offer its customers the best high-quality solution for their needs. The Company will 

continue to optimise its portfolio of products and services in order to create real ben-

efits for its customers above and beyond just the hardware. We are convinced that 

Conergy will remain very well positioned among its customers in an evolving market 

given its technical competence and its lengthy track record in designing and con-

structing major solar projects.

Outside its project business, Conergy has mainly completely withdrawn from all 

non-PV areas such as solar thermal, wind turbine production and biomass. The heat 

pumps business has been spun off and is now being operated independently by a 

company called Güstrower Wärmepumpen GmbH. In the future, we intend to concen-

trate all of our financial and human resources on the expansion and optimization of 

earnings in the key business of photovoltaics.

Focus on attractive key markets

Conergy is focusing its international presence on attractive key markets. We do not 

see the international nature of our business as an objective in and of itself, but rather 

as an instrument for tapping mature growth markets. In that respect, we analyse the 

extent to which the individual markets in which we are developing or plan to develop 

our activities can make a sufficient contribution to our long-term success. Within each 

different geographic market, we examine local conditions such as regulatory back-

ground conditions, customer needs, and the competitive situation. On that basis, we 

distinguish among three market categories: established markets, markets with poten-

tial, and markets from which we will withdraw. From the last mentioned category we 

pulled out in the last year.
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Focus on profitable growth

By focusing on our core business, attractive key markets, and the downstream sector, 

there is also a simultaneous focus on profitability. Our future corporate strategy will be 

based on earnings, not mainly on sales growth.
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RESTRUCTURING

Conergy used its earnings and liquidity crisis at the end of 2007 to launch a compre-

hensive restructuring programme that has been largely realised by now and is being 

continued. To ensure a sustainable improvement of earnings, effort has been and will 

be made to reduce the complexity of the previous business model, streamline the 

cost structure, and improve working capital management.

The programme, which began at the end of 2007, included the following key compo-

nents and targets:

|| Concentration on our core photovoltaics business and discontinuation of non-

strategic production operations in the areas of solar thermal energy, heat pumps 

and, in our PV segment, the disposal of wind power plant production operations. 

This goal was partly achieved in the first six months of 2008 when the solar ther-

mal production plants in Belgium, the Netherlands and Austria were sold. But the 

disposal of Conergy GmbH Switzerland – a subsidiary of Conergy AG, whose 

business is focused on the solar thermal segment – could not be completed. The 

same applies to the disposal of Güstrower Wärmepumpen GmbH. Hence these 

companies will remain in the Group. In contrast, the wind turbine production plant 

in Bremerhaven as well as the factory for small wind turbine plants in Bergheim 

have already been sold. The Company has started to retreat from unprofitable 

countries and has already retreated in full from Turkey, Belgium, the Netherlands, 

Portugal, the Philippines, Indonesia, Thailand and South Africa. Its companies in 

Brazil and Mexico are in the process of being closed.

|| Conergy also plans to improve margins in the long term by realigning its distri-

bution policies to focus on high-growth and high-margin market segments. The 

Group’s restructuring the two segments – Conergy PV and EPURON – which took 

effect on 1 January 2008 enables it to focus on high-growth markets and the cre-

ation of a new distribution system. This meant bundling the entire PV business, 

which had previously been offered through three different brands, under a single 

brand – Conergy.

|| An optimised product mix and the expansion of high-margin applications will be 

leveraged to improve the margin potential. This includes increasing the percent-

age of internally-produced solar modules, additional products and higher-margin 

thin film solar modules while reducing large-volume sales.

|| Conergy started initiating personnel and non-personnel cost reductions at the 

end of 2007 via personnel reductions, service consolidation as well as consistent 

cost management and controlling. By 31 December 2008, the Group had reduced 

its staff by approximately 1,000 employees compared to 31 December 2007.

|| The restructuring also aims to improve working capital management in order to 

reduce the amount of tied-up capital. This entails clear allocation of responsibili-

ties in relation to receivables and their management, improvement of collection 

processes as well as reduction of inventories and days’ receivables outstanding 

that remain high and trade receivables which are too high. We succeeded in ma

king significant improvements in these areas in 2008: the working capital fell from 

38.7 percent of sales in 2007 to 25.4 percent of sales in 2008.
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Improved management controls by implementing a unified, efficient IT architecture 

and reducing the complexity of the Group’s corporate structures.

|| In future, major projects shall be executed solely if they possess independent, 

cash-neutral funding, taking into account an internal, fixed prefinancing credit lim-

it of EUR 60 to EUR 70 million that is contained in the general credit lines. All 

cross-subsidisation shall thus be eliminated.

|| Conergy is in the process of implementing groupwide management, controlling 

and incentive systems, new responsibility structures and core performance indi-

cators.

The Company’s restructuring is being tightly controlled by a committee named Meas-

ure Control Office (MCO) that was established specifically for this purpose. Its aim 

is to implement the groupwide management, controlling and incentive systems un-

der the new responsibility structures (segment organisation) and core performance 

indicators (e. g. return on capital employed). The MCO was launched in November 

2007; it supports the Company and its business units in defining and executing spe-

cific measures by reviewing and evaluating the outcome of each and every project. It 

uses a formal procedure to monitor the progress of the restructuring measures that 

have been initiated and reports directly to the Chairman of the Management Board. 

The MCO has contacts in all of the Company’s business units and defines goals for 

them by means of action plans; compliance with these plans is checked on a regular 

basis. It also fixes groupwide targets. This includes for instance groupwide personnel 

reductions; reductions in communications, IT, vehicular and rental costs by reopening 

bids as well as improvements in working capital management. The MCO also moni-

tors the achievement of these objectives. Conergy has repeatedly adjusted and sup-

plemented its restructuring concept against the backdrop of the worldwide economic 

crisis and the fact that it will accelerate the shift from a sellers’ to a buyers’ market. 

With a resolution dated October 2008, the Management Board agreed upon addition-

al measures to improve the parameters determining the demand for liquidity. In addi-

tion to this decision, the Management Board has also established a project team in 

early 2009, which supports the national companies in identifying and implementing 

further measures to enhance earnings and liquidity.
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Employees

The Company’s restructuring and realignment were the main issue in 2008. Adjust-

ments of the personnel structure were central to personnel management. Conergy 

worked hard in connection with its restructuring programme in 2008 to counteract the 

massive personnel increases particularly in the 2007 financial year. These increases 

were due to the expansion, diversification and internationalisation strategy that the 

Company was pursuing at the time. Conergy did its best to design the personnel re-

ductions occasioned by its restructuring as socially responsible as possible. This en-

tailed pursuing agreements that put in place a temporal and financial framework de-

signed to help employees’ transition to new jobs. For example, employees terminated 

for operational reasons in Germany were offered severance pay. In the alternative, 

these employees were offered the option to switch to a transfer company for a period 

of six months. The personnel measures adopted in connection with the restructuring 

programme from end of November 2007 were completed in 2008.

Employee figures

Conergy significantly reduced its staffing levels in its continuing operations in the 

2008 financial year and is thus on the way toward achieving staffing levels that are ap-

propriate to its business. As of 31 December 2008, the Conergy Group had 1,773 em-

ployees (all figures FTE), of which 1,050 were employed in Germany and 723 were em-

ployed by its foreign subsidiaries. This corresponds to 1,954 employees on average in 

2008 (2007: 2,090 employees). At the end of the 2007 financial year, Conergy still had 

2,494 employees worldwide, including 1,506 employees in Germany and 988 employ-

ees abroad. This means that since 31 December 2007, 721 full-time equivalents have 

left the Company. Specifically, the number of employees worldwide in the Conergy PV 

segment decreased from 2,009 employees as at 31 December 2007 by 564 to 1,445 

employees at the end of 2008. The number of employees at the Conergy holding com-

pany dropped from 305 at the end of 2007 by 166 to 139 employees as at 31 Decem-

ber 2008. Of the 1,773 employees in the Conergy Group, 77 percent were salaried em-

ployees and 23 percent were hourly-paid workers as at 31 December 2008. Including 

discontinued operations, a total of 1,779 staff were employed worldwide by Conergy 

as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: 2,756 employees). The employee figures 

reported in this report may deviate from previously published figures as a result of the 

reorganisation of the Group’s segments in 2008 and the realignment of subsidiaries in 

the area of discontinued operations.

Employee development

The dedication, expertise and motivation of the employees in the Conergy Group are 

critical to the Group’s future success. These employee characteristics are supported 

and promoted through a variety of HR instruments.

Conergy employees have the opportunity to contribute to the achievement of the 

Group’s strategic goals and to benefit from them as well. The large majority of em-

ployees at the Group’s German entities participates in a performance-based compen-

sation scheme. Employees are paid a bonus based on the achievement of operational 

earnings and performance goals, which are agreed annually on an individual basis. In 

addition to this, individual goals are set with each employee. Most executives at the 

Group’s foreign entities participate in a performance-based compensation scheme.
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In order to prevent employees from terminating their employment contracts, a reten-

tion programme was launched for members of staff in key positions. The relevant ac-

tivities such as funding off-the-job training and paying special bonuses were individu-

ally stipulated with the relevant staff.

During annual employee development meetings, managers discuss professional and 

personal development with their employees. On the basis of a Group-wide compe-

tence model, employee strengths and weaknesses are defined and measures are 

agreed upon to address them.

The Conergy Group also offers its employees pension plans through deferred com-

pensation, always ensuring that the most flexible solutions are provided.

Code of Conduct

Back in June 2007, Conergy AG introduced a Group-wide Code of Conduct. This 

Code is the ethical foundation of all business activities and describes the values, 

principles and practices of the Conergy Group. The Code of Conduct also outlines 

the fundamental ethical and legal obligations of the employees and boards of the 

Conergy Group.

Establishment of a Works Council at the Hamburg headquarters

The foundations for the establishment of a Works Council were laid in Hamburg in 

February 2008, and elections to the Works Council were held at both Conergy AG and 

Conergy Deutschland GmbH for the first time in June 2008. The Works Councils of 

these two companies constituted themselves in early July 2008. The first ever elec-

tions to the Works Council of voltwerk electronics GmbH were carried out in Decem-

ber 2008.

While the Works Councils of the Conergy Group consider themselves the employees’ 

spokespersons, they also see themselves as contacts for the Management Board in 

view of enhancing employees’ motivation and boosting their confidence in Conergy. 

The Works Councils have held regular office hours and meetings since July 2008 in 

both Hamburg and Zweibrücken.

Thank you

The 2008 financial year, in which the Company continued its restructuring programme, 

proved to be a turbulent and difficult one for the Conergy Group. The Management 

Board would like to thank all of the employees of the Conergy Group for their dedica-

tion in this exceptionally difficult situation. The Management Board is convinced that 

with the continued expertise, commitment and, above all, enthusiasm of every team, 

we can look forward to success in the near future.
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Group management
report

The Conergy Group

Organisational and legal parameters

Conergy is one of the highest-grossing solar companies 

in Europe and one of the world’s leading downstream 

players with a comprehensive presence in Germany – 

a highly significant photovoltaics market – as well as in 

key international markets. Whereas Conergy was ini-

tially aiming for an integrated business model in photo-

voltaics when it built the Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory, 

in future the Company will once again turn its attention 

to its original downstream approach. Conergy offers 

comprehensive systems solutions for the downstream 

B2B and B2C markets, as well as turnkey installations 

in both photovoltaics and wind energy. As a leading 

downstream player with an aggregate installed PV out-

put of more than 800 MWp worldwide, Conergy main-

tains good business relationships with the most impor-

tant suppliers of crystalline and thin film solar modules; 

it also has an established network of industry partners 

and financial investors. Conergy benefits from its strong 

brand as well as from a large distribution network that 

comprises over 100 partners in Germany. The Company 

believes that it is well positioned in its core foreign mar-

kets, given its comprehensive local presence.

Conergy AG is domiciled in Hamburg. This is where the 

corporate departments of both Conergy AG and its sub-

sidiaries are located. The Group also maintains other 

business premises in Germany, among them a Central 

European Warehouse in Zweibrücken (Saarland) and 

the solar module factory in Frankfurt (Oder). Counting 

one additional production site in Rangsdorf (near Berlin) 

and a development site in Bad Vilbel (Hessen) as well as 

numerous regional sales offices, at this time a total of 

1,050 employees (full time equivalents) work for Conergy 

in Germany. The Group is also active worldwide. In ad-

dition to Conergy AG, as the parent, the Conergy Group 

comprises 67 subsidiaries.

Conergy AG is managed by a five-member Management 

Board. The Management Board’s members are Dieter 

Ammer, Dr. Jörg Spiekerkötter, Nikolaus Krane and 

Philip von Schmeling as well as Dr. Andreas von Zitze-

witz (since 1 January 2009).

Conergy possesses highly developed know-how in pho-

tovoltaics (PV), established sales structures and cus-

tomer relationships as well as independent brand worlds 

staffed with people who know precisely what the rele-

vant target groups want. Our staff continuously moni-

tors the development of demand and develop offers that 

are tailored to the relevant customers’ needs. The Com-

pany leverages its growing, bundled knowledge of re-

gionally diverse customer needs with the aim of expand-

ing its photovoltaic product portfolio. It believes that this 

sales and customer-focused strategy puts it in a good 

position to develop new markets with matching prod-

ucts.

Conergy’s areas of operation are divided into the 

Conergy PV and EPURON segments. In the Conergy PV 

segment the Company produces and distributes pho-

tovoltaic products and system solutions. Through the 

EPURON segment it develops, finances, implements, 

and operates large projects in the area of renewable en-

ergy sources.

The Conergy PV segment is divided into two divisions: 

The Components division develops and manufactures 

system components such as solar cells, solar mod-

ules, module frames, and mounting systems, as well 

as electronic components. In its solar facility in Frank-

furt (Oder), Conergy is developing additional parts of the 

photovoltaic value chain by manufacturing solar cells 

and solar modules, which in the past were solely pur-

chased from outside suppliers. Conergy develops elec-

tronic components such as inverters, connection boxes, 

monitoring systems, and tracking systems in Hamburg 

and Bad Vilbel, and has these built to order by various 

companies, most of them European. Mounting systems 

and module frames are developed and manufactured in 

Rangsdorf near Berlin. As of 1 September 2008, electri-

cal components and mounting systems are being devel-

oped, produced and sold by our subsidiaries voltwerk 

electronics GmbH and Mounting Systems GmbH. Both 

of these companies also offer their products to third-

party customers. The Sales & Systems division sells the 

products that Conergy manufactures, as well as pur-

chased complete systems and components, to whole-

salers, installers and end customers (primarily farmers, 

private households, and companies). Our distribution 

activities also include the construction, planning, and 

installation of photovoltaic systems (known as EPC ac-

tivities: engineering, procurement, and construction). 

Conergy offers three different types of service: the sale 

of individual components, the sale of complete systems 

with coordinated components, and turnkey construction 

of a plant. Customers are primarily in Germany, Spain, 

France, Italy, Greece, the United States, Australia, and 
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parts of Asia. The services that we offer range from con-

struction planning to component procurement, all the 

way to the construction of photovoltaic plants.

In the EPURON segment we develop, finance, imple-

ment, and operate major renewable energy projects 

through our subsidiaries within EPURON. The empha-

sis was until now on projects in the area of photovoltaics 

and wind energy. Our range of products and services 

includes site inspection and development; contracting 

for, coordinating, and monitoring plant construction; ne-

gotiation of project agreements; the creation of project-

based operating companies; and commercial and tech-

nical management of the plants. EPURON also arranges 

for debt and equity financing of the operating compa-

nies and the marketing of equity interests to investors. 

Customers of EPURON primarily include institutional 

investors that invest in renewable energy projects. Ef-

fective 1 January 2009 however, EPURON’s PV project 

business was transferred to the Conergy PV segment 

in order to group all photovoltaics activities in this seg-

ment. EPURON, which will then predominantly focus on 

wind energy projects, will also continue to pursue oth-

er renewable energy projects, such as biogas and CSP 

(Concentrated Solar Power), if they offer attractive mar-

gins.

Conergy has decided to discontinue its biomass and 

solar thermal operations. This does not include the so-

lar thermal business of Conergy GmbH in Switzerland 

and the heat pump manufacturing business of Conergy 

Wärmepumpen GmbH in Güstrow, both of which will re-

main in the Conergy PV segment business pursuant to 

a December 2008 resolution of the Management Board 

due to their proximity to the Company’s PV business. 

It also decided in the second quarter of 2008 to cease 

its manufacturing activities in the field of wind energy 

and has by now disposed of its wind turbine factories 

in Bremerhaven and Bergheim. EPURON however will 

continue to focus on wind energy projects.

Key milestones in the 2008 financial year

Conergy AG has made good headway in its restructur-

ing programme in 2008 and will continue to carry this 

forward in 2009. An important milestone along this path 

was the strategic adjustment in the third quarter of 2008 

of the wafer delivery contract concluded with MEMC 

Electronic Materials, Inc. in October 2007. It entailed ad-

justing the contract’s sales volume over its ten-year term 

from USD 7.0 to 8.0 billion to approximately USD 3.5 to 

4.0 billion. This enabled Conergy, as planned, to expand 

the operating and financial latitude it needs for execut-

ing its corporate realignment as a downstream provider 

in the field of photovoltaics. But it also ensured the crea-

tion of an important base for supplying the Group’s so-

lar module factory in Frankfurt (Oder) with raw materi-

al. The first deliveries were made in the third quarter of 

2008. Please see the disclosures regarding events after 

the balance sheet date for information on the status of 

the contractual relationship with MEMC.

As part of Conergy’s restructuring programme, the Man-

agement Board of Conergy AG declared the Company’s 

wind activities in the area of production in the second 

quarter of 2008 to be discontinued operations. This in-

cludes the development and sale of wind power installa-

tions as well as the production site in Bremerhaven. The 

development, financing and implementation of wind en-

ergy projects will be continued in the EPURON segment, 

however. The sale of the business of Conergy Wind 

GmbH agreed and announced on 9 September 2008 by 

Conergy AG and the investor Warburg Pincus was com-

pleted in October 2008. Effective 27 October 2008, War-

burg Pincus took over all operations of Conergy Wind 

GmbH, including the development and sale of the 900-

kw turbine “PowerWind 56” and the production facility 

in Bremerhaven. Originally envisaged to be completed 

in early September, the transaction had been temporar-

ily put on hold after the State of Bremen had rejected 

the transfer to Warburg Pincus of the subsidies of up to 

EUR 3.5 million, which originally had been promised to 

Conergy Wind GmbH and parts of which had already 

been approved. As a result, Warburg Pincus initially was 

no longer bound to the original contract of sale. After 

Conergy had expressed its willingness to Warburg Pin-

cus to make a financial settlement for the discontinued 

subsidies, the sale was completed at the end of October 

2008. This separation has enabled the Company to take 

another major step towards realignment.

In August 2008, the Conergy Group merged its two 

largest German sales companies both in terms of op-

erations and legally. The merger of Conergy Vertriebs 

GmbH & Co. KG into SunTechnics GmbH and the change 

of name to Conergy Deutschland GmbH concluded an 

important stage of the restructuring. The Group’s en-

tire photovoltaics business in Germany is now run ho-

mogeneously as Conergy Deutschland GmbH, in which 

all sales channels for its system and wholesale busi-

ness are consolidated. At the same time, in September 

2008, the mounting systems and inverters production 

areas commenced independent operations on the so-

lar market. The previous divisions of Conergy AG were 

thus spun off into independent entities. The Conergy 

Mounting Systems division, one of the largest produc-

ers of mounting systems for solar applications, will thus 

be run in the future as Mounting Systems GmbH with 
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headquarters in Rangsdorf near Berlin. This compa-

ny’s products range from mounting systems and com-

ponents for photovoltaics and solar thermal energy 

to module frames and collector frames. In the future, 

Mounting Systems GmbH will market its products inde-

pendently. This will enable it to actively expand its own 

sales activities, enlargen its customer base and contin-

ue its profitable growth course. One of Mounting Sys-

tems GmbH’s most important customers is Conergy 

AG, to which it supplies high-quality module frames for 

the Conergy PowerPlus modules produced at the Frank-

furt (Oder) plant.

Following the spin-off, the former Conergy Electron-

ics division is now a separate company called voltwerk 

electronics GmbH. voltwerk electronics GmbH is one of 

a small number of manufacturers worldwide that offer all 

electronic products from tracking systems through in-

telligent terminal boxes, string and central inverters to 

complete supervision and analysis of installations. All 

components are developed in Germany at the sites in 

Hamburg and Bad Vilbel. By setting up a separate enter-

prise, the Company is now better able to make its expe-

rience with over 300 MWp of installed power and prod-

ucts that have received multiple awards available to new 

customer groups.

The capital increase conducted in December 2008 was 

a key component of the Company’s restructuring pro-

gramme. On 17 July 2008, the Management Board of 

Conergy AG resolved with the approval of the Super-

visory Board to execute an extensive capital increase 

aimed at strengthening the Company’s capital base and 

improving the structure of its balance sheet. The share-

holders of Conergy AG approved the planned capital 

increase with an overwhelming majority of the capital 

present at the Company’s General Shareholders’ Meet-

ing on 28 August 2008. The capital increase was com-

pleted in early December despite the turbulent stock 

markets, generating gross proceeds of around EUR 

399.3 million for the Company. A total of 363 million new 

shares were issued at a subscription price of EUR 1.10. 

The new share capital is EUR 398,088,928. The sub-

scription ratio of the capital increase was approximate-

ly 49.5 percent, which corresponds to roughly 179.6 

million new shares. Dresdner Bank took over about 

155 million new shares of the remaining unsubscribed 

shares and of those for which the subscription right had 

been excluded. Other investors, notably Leemaster Ltd. 

and Athos Service GmbH, subscribed the remaining un-

subscribed shares at the subscription price. Conergy 

AG used the proceeds from the capital increase to dis-

charge financial liabilities, in particular the February 

2008 bridge loan for EUR 240.0 million, and will use the 

new equity to continue its restructuring and support fu-

ture growth in both 2009 and 2010.

Companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements

Aside from Conergy AG, a total of 23 domestic and 

44 foreign subsidiaries – the majority of whose voting 

shares are held by Conergy – were included in the con-

solidated financial statements of Conergy AG at the end 

of the reporting period (31 December 2008). 16 com-

panies were no longer included in consolidation in the 

2008 financial year as a result of mergers or disposals.
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Internal control system and 
key performance indicators

The Management Board of Conergy AG has implement-

ed an internal management control system that provides 

for groupwide planning, managing and reporting proc-

esses with the aim of enabling value-orientated control 

and ensuring the development of both the Group and its 

individual companies. Achieving profitable growth, in-

creasing operational efficiency, optimising tied-up capi-

tal and maintaining an healthy capital structure are the 

elements of this management control system. This sys-

tem also helps to coordinate the activities of the Group’s 

subsidiaries, emphasise decentralised accountability 

and thus strengthen operations.

Budgets and forecasts are an integral part of the rele-

vant information systems. The forecasts cover a period 

of three years and are revised annually as part of a com-

prehensive planning process. The groupwide report-

ing system requires all subsidiaries to prepare monthly 

IFRS financial statements that are consolidated for the 

purposes of both management reporting and the Com-

pany’s published quarterly and annual financial state-

ments. Likewise, the subsidiaries provide their own as-

sessments of current business trends and the expected 

profit for the year at regular intervals. Key Performance 

Indicator (KPI) reports assist management in controlling 

segments and regions, individual subsidiaries as well as 

operating processes. Sales and gross profit serve as 

the key performance indicators for determining corpo-

rate success. Conergy also uses the gross profit margin, 

which shows gross profit relative to sales, in addition to 

gross profit to measure performance. The Company’s 

performance is measured based on earnings before in-

terest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 

and earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). Conergy 

uses earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and earn-

ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti-

sation (EBITDA) to measure the success of individu-

al business units. In addition to these two parameters, 

the Group also utilises both the EBITDA and the EBIT 

margin that present these earnings measures as a ratio 

of sales. These relative performance indicators make it 

possible to compare the profitability of profit-oriented 

divisions of various sizes.

The table below shows the KPI that are monitored on a 

continuous basis and constitute the core of the Group’s 

optimisation efforts:

Key performance indicators

The Conergy Group’s controlling system has a par-

ticularly important role to play in that the yearly varia-

ble compensation paid to top management groupwide 

for the 2008 financial year was linked to the aforemen-

tioned earnings-based performance indicators, notably 

EBITDA.

In 2008, Conergy lowered the amount of tied-up cap-

ital through efficient working capital management in 

connection with its restructuring programme. Stream-

lining receivables management, improving collection 

processes as well as reducing inventories, accounts re-

ceivable aging cycles and receivables outstanding were 

substantial factors in this success. Hence the amount 

of capital tied up in receivables, liabilities and invento-

ries was further optimised, as was the contribution that 

projects make to the Group’s earnings. Working capital 

is defined as the total of inventories and trade receiv-

ables less trade payables and presented as a ratio rela-

tive to the sales of the comparative period.

Working capital development

2008 20071

Sales EUR million 1,006.2 719.0

	 Germany EUR million 294.8 337.6

	 Abroad EUR million 711.4 381.4

Gross profit EUR million 126.0 100.9

Gross profit margin in percent 12.5 14.0

EBITDA EUR million – 176.7 – 163.2

EBITDA margin in percent – 17.6 – 22.7

EBIT EUR million – 212.5 – 213.3

EBIT margin in percent – 21.1 – 29.7

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Sales EUR million 1,006.2 719.0

Inventories EUR million 245.6 345.6

Trade receivables EUR million 120.9 214.7

Trade payables EUR million 111.2 282.4

Working capital EUR million 255.3 277.9

Working capital / 
sales in percent 25.4 38.7

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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In addition to bringing about a sustained increase in the 

enterprise value, managing the finances of the Conergy 

Group is also aimed at maintaining an adequate capital 

structure. Gearing thus serves as an additional financial 

ratio in our management control system. It is defined as 

the ratio of net financial liabilities (borrowings less liquid 

funds) to equity. Repaying borrowings as well as boost-

ing the equity base through retained earnings and / or 

capital increases serve as controlling instruments. We 

aim to achieve a gearing of 100.0 percent in the medium 

term, i. e. a 1:1 ratio of equity to net financial liabilities. 

Gearing clearly improved year on year as a result of the 

increase in equity following the capital increase and the 

simultaneous decrease in net financial liabilities. Gear-

ing developed as follows:

Net liabilities to equity

As before, it is our foremost economic goal in the 2009 

financial year to improve the key performance indicators 

EBITDA, EBIT, working capital and gearing.

Global economic conditions

Global economic forecasts for 2008 were still positive 

at the start of the year following the strong expansion 

of the world economy in 2007, yet growth was actual-

ly dampened in 2008, even ending altogether in some 

regions. The fallout worldwide of the financial mar-

ket crisis, which originated in the United States in early 

2008, triggered a powerful downward momentum that 

sent numerous countries into a recession by year’s end. 

While industrialised countries still reported increases in 

domestic output at the start of year, this development 

slowed substantially in the course of the year, among 

other things, due to banks’ tightened lending standards 

which in turn sparked a strong downturn in investing 

activities. The insolvency of the investment bank Leh-

man Brothers in mid-September 2008 put yet another 

damper on the general mood. Massive capital infu-

sions from individual governments were needed in many 

cases to prevent further bankruptcies; in some cases, 

governments even took over shares in financial institu-

tions, leading to their nationalisation. Central banks are 

trying to ward off the crisis by substantially lowering 

prime rates. The US Federal Reserve cut the prime rate 

in 2008 from 4.25 percent to a target between 0 per-

cent and 0.25 percent. While the European Central Bank 

raised its prime rate to 4.25 percent in July, it decided to 

reduce it by a total of 175 basis points to 2.5 percent in 

December 2008. The Bank of England cut its prime rate 

in 2008 from 5.25 percent to 2.0 percent.

Consumer and commodities prices reached their high in 

the summer of 2008 and have fallen substantially since 

then. While the cost of crude oil increased from USD 

127.4 in June to USD 140.2 per barrel it had fallen to un-

der USD 40.0 by December

The US dollar began its slide from one low to the next 

at the start of 2008, falling to 1.60 to the euro in March 

and even below that for a short time in April 2008. It re-

gained its footing relative to the euro toward the end of 

year however, causing the euro to fall from 1.46 to 1.39 

vis-à-vis the US dollar.

Even though the economies of emerging countries con-

tinued to expand substantially until the middle of the fi-

nancial year just ended, they too were unable to escape 

the ramifications of the international financial crisis. Re-

duced capital expenditures as well as declining exports 

caused the relevant economies to cool off.

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Borrowings EUR million 317.2 468.8

Liquid funds EUR million 27.7 62.7

Net liabilities EUR million 289.5 406.1

Equity EUR million 196.8 125.2

Gearing in percent 147.1 324.4
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Development of the industry

Industry environment

Worldwide energy consumption today is still largely de-

rived from fossil fuels such as coal, oil and gas. At the 

same time, renewable energy sources have seen con-

siderable growth in recent years and will continue to 

gain in significance in the future. This is primarily due 

to the finiteness of fossil fuel resources and an increase 

in prices associated with this, the efforts of many coun-

tries to become less dependent on energy imports, and 

the increasing impact of greenhouse gases on climate 

change.

The international energy market is characterised by the 

rising cost of energy for the consumer. Energy experts 

expect this development to continue in the long term, so 

that renewable energy sources will be more and more 

important. The rise in energy prices has been caused 

by decreasing fossil fuel resources combined with an in-

creasing demand for energy. The price of crude oil has 

been rising considerably since the beginning of 2007 

and continued to rise until July 2008. The price of crude 

oil decreased rapidly, however, during the intensified 

credit crisis in the financial markets. At the beginning of 

November 2008, the price of oil was only approximately 

USD 65.0 per barrel, following an increase in the interim 

from less than USD 60.0 at the beginning of 2007 to just 

less than USD 150.0 in mid-July 2008. The Internation-

al Energy Agency (IEA) however expects further world-

wide energy consumption to increase by 50.0 percent 

by 2030.

While fossil fuel costs by trend are rising, renewables 

costs are falling at a steady pace, gradually closing the 

price gap between regenerative and conventional en-

ergies. Climate protection programmes in numerous 

countries have had a positive impact on international 

demand for renewables. Today they are the main growth 

drivers in the renewable energy business. The industry 

aims to lower costs on a continuous basis and hence to 

make electricity from the sun, wind and bioenergy com-

petitive with electricity from fossil fuels (grid parity).

Regulatory environment

In response to the Kyoto Protocol, the European Com-

mission issued a White Book on renewable energy 

sources in 1997, stating the goal of increasing the per-

centage of renewable energy sources to 12.0 percent of 

gross energy consumption in the EU-15 by 2010, with a 

goal of 22.1 percent for the electricity supply. To imple-

ment this goal, the European Parliament and the Euro-

pean Council issued the Directive on the Promotion of 

the Electricity Produced from Renewable Energy Sourc-

es in the Internal Electricity Market in 2001. It requires 

Member States to take appropriate steps to achieve or 

promote the goals defined in the Directive by 2010. But 

the Directive leaves it up to the Member States how to 

achieve those goals. In this connection, many countries 

have opted for an active promotion of renewable ener-

gies and launched effective incentive programmes.

In March 2007, the Council of the European Union de-

cided to commit the European Union to reduce green-

house gas emissions by at least 20.0 percent from 1990 

levels by the year 2020. On 23 January 2008, the Euro-

pean Commission submitted its proposal for a directive 

on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable 

sources. The proposal calls for the market share of re-

newable energy sources to rise from 8.5 percent to 20.0 

percent by 2020. Each country must contribute one half, 

i. e. 5.75 percent. The commission considers the wealth 

of the member states in determining the other half. The 

member states must submit national action plans to the 

European Commission, explaining their strategy. The 

proposal for a directive was submitted to the Europe-

an Parliament and the European Council on January 28, 

2008, and is now under discussion there.

Germany

In Germany, photovoltaics enjoy substantial support 

under the Renewable Energies Act (German acronym: 

EEG). One of the objectives of the Act is to facilitate a 

sustained development of energy supply, to contrib-

ute to the avoidance of conflicts surrounding fossil fuel 

sources, and to further develop technologies for gener-

ating electricity from renewable sources. The German 

renewables market is the world’s largest in terms of in-

stalled total output because the country made a politi-

cal decision early on to promote renewables on a broad 

basis, including solar energy. On the whole, in 2008 all 

renewables accounted for approximately 9.6 percent of 

the primary demand for energy in Germany. Relative to 

the consumption of electricity, they even accounted for 

15.3 percent of all energy consumed, climbing by about 

5.5 percent year on year. Newly installed solar energy 
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output rose above average in Germany. At 1.8 gigawatts, 

the market grew by about 30.0 percent, thus expanding 

its share yet again. This demonstrates that the industry 

is doing fairly well, especially against the backdrop of 

the economic downturn in the year’s second half.

On 6 June 2008, the German parliament amended the 

German Renewable Energy Sources Act, which pro-

vides in particular for a larger degression of the feed-in 

tariff as well as reduced compensation rates for electric-

ity from PV units. The amendments took effect on 1 Jan-

uary 2009.

Spain 

Through an administrative order (Real Decreto), Spain 

promotes photovoltaic power generation along with oth-

er renewable energy sources. The programme expired 

on 29 September 2008 and was amended based on ap-

plicable legal regulations. The successor programme 

calls for a yearly limit on new installations of 133 MWp 

for open space systems and 267 MWp for roof sys-

tems; interim regulations provide for an increase in the 

annual maximum capacity for 2009 and 2010 for open 

space systems of 100 MWp to 233 MWp (2009) and of 

60 MWp to 193 MWp (2010). According to the new pro-

gramme, the feed-in tariff for systems on open space is 

32 cents / kWh and between 32 and 34 cents / kWh for 

roof systems. The new programme has an adverse im-

pact, in particular, on large projects (above 10 MWp), 

since the promotion of systems on open space is limited 

to 10 MWp for each project (2 MWp for roof systems).

This adjustment of the compensation rates, which was 

the subject of lengthy discussions and had been ex-

pected, caused the Spanish market to boom even be-

fore the coming into effect in 2008. Although official fig-

ures regarding the newly installed aggregate PV volume 

in Spain have not been published to date, market ob-

servers assume that the volume reached will be upto 

2.5 gigawatts. This would correspond to a quadrupling 

of the Spanish market over 2007 levels, turning Spain 

into the world’s largest PV market by far. However, the 

newly introduced ceiling of approximately 500 MWp that 

will apply in coming years will trigger a strong decline. 

The country will remain the second largest market in the 

world based on 2008 figures – despite the ceiling that 

was imposed on the promotion of renewables.

United States of America

At growth of roughly 70.0 percent in 2008, the US pho-

tovoltaics market has once again turned out to be one 

of the most dynamic. Many analysts predict that this 

growth trend will continue in coming years. Particular-

ly the election of Barack Obama as the country’s new 

President has given the industry reason to hope. And 

the President’s initial pronouncements since taking of-

fice a few weeks ago make it seem that these hopes are 

not unfounded.

At the national level, the United States of America pro-

motes solar power generation mainly by providing tax 

breaks for private households and companies that build 

photovoltaic systems. On 3 October 2008, the US Con-

gress amended and supplemented its incentive pro-

gramme as part of the Emergency Economic Stabili-

zation Act of 2008. The tax breaks were extended by 

another eight years through 2016 and expanded to in-

clude public utility providers. At the same time, a total 

of 33 states have promulgated additional laws aimed at 

promoting renewables. For example, in California, the 

largest market for solar power in the United States, the 

government has made supporting funds of USD 3.3 bil-

lion available until 2016 for the Million Solar Roofs Pro-

gram. New Jersey, the second largest market for solar 

power in the United States, plans to implement a cer-

tificate system that is intended to produce annual in-

creases in solar power generation of 30 – 70 MWp. Other 

key states such as Pennsylvania, Maryland, Arizona and 

Colorado have already enacted notable incentive pro-

grammes.

Italy

In Europe, the Italian, next to the Greek market, is re-

garded as the most dynamic. An amendment of the 

programme for state support, adopted on 19 February 

2007, has abandoned the former quota system and re-

placed it with a new one. The base tariff for electricity 

from photovoltaic systems, irrespective of their size and 

type, will be between 36 cents and 49 cents per kWh. 

Photovoltaic systems also receive preference in getting 

connected to the public grid. Correspondingly, grid op-

erators must preferentially draw electricity from photo-

voltaic systems. These attractive conditions have result-

ed in a strong expansion of the market in 2008.The total 

installed PV output tripled to 150 MWp compared to the 

previous year.
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France 

One particularity of the French incentive system is that 

an additional mark-up for systems integrated into build-

ings is paid: apart from the guaranteed basis feed- in 

tariff of 30 Cent / kWh the owner of a building integrated 

photovoltaic system in France receives an additional 25 

cent / kWh. The tariff for installations in open space in 

continental France is only 30 cents per kWh. In France 

overseas and Corsica, the tariff for installations in open 

space is 40 cents per kWh. Also here an additional tar-

iff is granted for building integrated systems of 15 cents 

per kWh. The feed-in tariffs are adjusted to the inflation 

rate on a yearly basis. The guaranteed duration of the 

feed-in tariff is twenty years. In addition France grants 

tax incentives for the installation of photovoltaic sys-

tems. Accordingly, an income tax deduction is available 

for up to half of the material costs of solar power sys-

tems up to a maximum amount of EUR 8,000.

Greece

Climatic conditions in Greece are superbly suited for 

PV units, and the country’s renewables promotion pro-

gramme is stable. Nonetheless, at approximately 25 

MWp of newly installed output in 2008, the market has 

been weakly developed to date. Extensive approval 

processes have hampered growth. Given that the Greek 

government wants to push photovoltaics by amending 

the existing renewables law. On 15 January 2009 the 

Greek parliament promulgated a new PV feed-in tariff. 

The new compensation rules guarantee a feed-in tariff 

for solar electricity of between 40 and 50 cents per kilo-

watt hour (kWh) for 20 years. While a degression of the 

fees does not kick in until August 2010, they will actu-

ally remain unchanged until early 2012 because an im-

plementation phase of 18 months will apply after a grid 

connection contract has been entered into.

Assets, liabilities, cash flows 
and profit or loss

Profit or loss

Income statment of the Conergy Group (short version)

Basis of presentation

The derecognition of discontinued operations in con-

nection with the Conergy Group’s realignment result-

ed in an adjustment of previous year’s figures. Dis-

continued operations comprise the solar thermal and 

biomass business units and, as of 30 June 2008, also 

Conergy’s wind activities in the area of production. This 

affects the Bremerhaven site of Conergy Wind GmbH, 

who’s activities were sold on 31 October 2008. As a 

consequence, Conergy Wind GmbH is also reported 

under discontinued operations. Pursuant to the Man-

agement Board resolution of December 2008, both the 

solar thermal business of Conergy GmbH in Switzerland 

and the heat pump manufacturing business of Conergy 

Wärmepumpen GmbH in Güstrow are treated as con-

tinued operations in the Conergy PV segment and no 

longer as discontinued operations. The relevant previ-

ous year’s figures were adjusted to reflect the aforemen-

tioned adjustments during the financial year in regards 

to discontinued operations. Please see the notes for in-

formation on changes in Group companies.

EUR million 2008 20071

Sales 1,006.2 719.0

Gross profit 126.0 100.9

Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) – 176.7 – 163.2

Earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) – 212.5 – 213.3

Net finance income – 67.8 – 21.8

Earnings before taxes (EBT) – 280.3 – 235.1

Income taxes 26.8 22.1

Result after taxes from continued 
operations – 253.5 – 213.0

Result after taxes from discontinued 
operations – 53.1 – 35.1

Result after taxes – 306.6 – 248.1

Thereof

	 to the sharesholders of 
	 Conergy AG – 305.3 – 247.6

	 to minority shareholders – 1.3 – 0.5

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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The disclosures in this Group management report sole-

ly concern continuing operations unless they express-

ly refer to discontinued operations. Discontinued op-

erations are combined in the income statement, the 

balance sheet and the cash flow statement as separate 

line items. The previous year’s figures were adjusted ac-

cordingly. The Conergy Group’s continuing operations 

are divided into the segments Conergy PV, EPURON 

and Holding.

Segment classification for the 2008 financial year was 

changed relative to the previous year’s consolidated fi-

nancial statements due to the Company’s strategic re-

alignment. The Company’s continuing operations are 

managed by means of the two divisions, Components 

and Sales & Systems, which comprise the Conergy PV 

segment, and by the EPURON segment. While the Com-

ponents division covers all production-related activities, 

Sales & Systems brings together the previous activities 

of Conergy and the former SunTechnics entity. Accord-

ingly, the Conergy PV segment develops, produces and 

markets PV system components in the area of photo-

voltaics, i. e. solar cells, modules, module frames and 

mounting systems plus electronic components such 

as inverters and monitoring systems. Conergy sells the 

complete systems and components that it manufac-

tures in-house and buys in to major distributors and 

installers, as well as to end customers. Its sales activ-

ities also comprise the construction, planning and in-

stallation of photovoltaic units. In its EPURON segment, 

Conergy develops, finances, implements, and operates 

large renewables projects, primarily for institutional in-

vestors. The emphasis was up to now on projects in the 

area of photovoltaics and wind energy.

Sales

The Conergy Group posted sales of EUR 1,006.2 mil-

lion for the 2008 financial year in an increasingly diffi-

cult economic environment, thus further significantly ex-

panding its downstream activities in the photovoltaics 

market. At EUR 719.0 million, business in the two seg-

ments improved year on year by EUR 287.2 million or 

39.9 percent. The Conergy PV segment contributed a 

full 73.7 percent to consolidated sales, a positive out-

come. Adjusted for currency effects, which resulted 

largely from the South Korean won and the US dollar, 

sales even rose to EUR 1,044.0 – a growth rate of 45.2 

percent. Sales growth was basically due to the imple-

mentation of major international photovoltaics projects 

in the Conergy PV segment, specifically in Spain and 

South Korea, in the year’s second quarter. But the high 

rate of growth in Spain also arises from one-off effects, 

namely the completion of the EI Calaverón solar power 

plant as well as the general increase in capital expen-

ditures by PV plant operators in Spain ahead of the ex-

piry of attractive Spanish feed-in tariffs on 30 Septem-

ber 2008. For more information on the development of 

sales, please see the section entitled “Business devel-

opment by segment and region”.

Gross profit

In the 2008 financial year, the gross profit of the Conergy 

Group rose by EUR 25.1 million to EUR 126.0 million, up 

from EUR 100.9 the previous year – an increase of 24.9 

percent. The gross profit margin of 12.5 percent was 1.5 

percent under previous year’s level and thus significant-

ly behind expectations. While the gross profit margin 

in the first quarter of 2008 was a healthy 17.6 percent, 

both increases in the cost of materials and decreases in 

margins related to the funding of the Group’s two high-

est-grossing projects in Spain and South Korea for one 

as well as higher start-up costs resulting from foreign 

currency changes related to the South Korean project 

business for another generated a relatively weak gross 

profit margin of 12.4 percent in the second quarter. But 

we succeeded in reversing this trend in the third quarter 

by generating a gross profit margin of 17.5 percent. In 

the fourth quarter, Conergy was exposed to (mounting) 

price pressures for PV products in national and interna-

tional markets alike such that the envisioned improve-

ment in margins was not realised, yielding a negative 

gross profit margin of – 0.2 percent. The main reasons 

for this development reside in the evolution of the glo-

bal PV market from a sellers’ to a buyers’ market as well 

as in the consequences of the current financial mar-

ket crisis and the resulting worldwide economic down-

turn, which has crimped capital spending and tightened 

standards in the finance market. Among other things, 

this led to a one-time write down on inventories by EUR 

27.3 million in the fourth quarter, putting yet more pres-

sure on the gross profit margin. Adjusted for this one-off 

effect, the gross profit margin was 15.4 percent. At the 

same time, gross profit was impacted by the shortfall in 

capacity utilisation in solar cell and module production 

at our own plant in Frankfurt (Oder).

Personnel costs

Conergy worked hard in connection with its restruc-

turing programme in 2008 to counteract the massive 

personnel increases that took place particularly in the 

2007 financial year. These large increases were due 

to the expansion, diversification and internationalisa-

tion strategy that the Company was pursuing at the 

time. Conergy substantially reduced staffing levels dur-

ing the 2008 financial year and thus is on the way to a 
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personnel structure that is adequate for its business. As 

at 31 December 2008, the Conergy Group had a total 

of 1,773 employees (all figures represent full time equiv-

alents); 1,050 of these employees worked in Germany 

and 723 in the Group’s foreign subsidiaries. This corre-

sponds to 1,954 employees on average in 2008 (2007: 

2,090 employees). At the end of the 2007 financial year, 

Conergy still had 2,494 employees worldwide, includ-

ing 1,506 employees in Germany and 988 employees 

abroad. This means that since 31 December 2007 the 

personnel level has been reduced by 721 full-time em-

ployees. Specifically, the number of employees world-

wide in the Conergy PV segment decreased from 2,009 

employees as at 31 December 2007 by 564 to 1,445 em-

ployees at the end of 2008. The number of employees 

at the Conergy holding company dropped from 305 at 

the end of 2007 by 166 to 139 employees as at 31 De-

cember 2008. Of the 1,773 employees in the Conergy 

Group, 77.0 percent were salaried employees and 23.0 

percent were hourly-paid workers as at 31 Decem-

ber 2008. Including discontinued operations, a total of 

1,779 staff were employed worldwide by Conergy as at 

31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: 2,756 employ-

ees). The employee figures reported in this report devi-

ate from previously published figures as a result of the 

reorganisation of the Group’s segments in 2008 and the 

realignment of subsidiaries in the area of discontinued 

operations.

Personnel costs in the 2008 financial year amounted to 

EUR 113.5 million (2007: EUR 112.3 million). This figure 

comprised wages and salaries of EUR 98.7 million (2007: 

EUR 96.0 million) as well as social security contributions 

and other pension costs of EUR 14.8 million (2007: EUR 

16.3 million). A retention programme was launched for 

a select group of executives in 2008 in order to prevent 

departures of staff critical to the Company, which in-

creased following Conergy’s earnings and liquidity cri-

sis. The relevant activities such as funding off-the-job 

training and paying special bonuses were individually 

stipulated with the relevant staff. Since the reduction in 

personnel could only be executed gradually in 2008 and 

because termination benefits had to be paid to some of 

the employees who left the personnel costs increased 

slightly despite the carried out personnel reduction. 

Overall personnel costs were effected by EUR 3.6 mil-

lion in one-off expenses. Yet we succeeded nonetheless 

in reducing the ratio of personnel costs (personnel costs 

as a percentage of sales) by 4.3 percent to 11.3 percent 

in the 2008 financial year (2007: 15.6 percent).

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA)

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and am-

ortisation (EBITDA), a measure of operating income, in 

the reporting period amounted to EUR – 176.7 million 

(2007: EUR – 163.2 million). Despite volume increases, 

the introduction of minimum margins and the cost struc-

ture and efficiency measures initiated in 2008 as part of 

the restructuring programme, earnings were impacted 

by large extraordinary items. Adjusted EBITDA totalled 

EUR – 15.0 million. While other income amounted to EUR 

42.3 million (2007: EUR 27.5 million), other operating ex-

penses amounted to EUR 231.5 million (2007: EUR 179.3 

million.

Other income comprises own work capitalised of EUR 

7.5 million (2007: EUR 11.6 million), which in 2008 main-

ly relates to the expenditures for the start-up for the cell 

manufacture within the scope of the in-house produc-

tion of photovoltaic modules in Frankfurt (Oder), as well 

as other operating income of EUR 34.8 million (2007: 

EUR 15.9 million). The latter essentially comprise EUR 

11.7 million in currency gains (2007: EUR 11.5 million), 

EUR 7.7 million in cash inflows related to receivables 

previously written down (2007: EUR 0.2 million) as well 

as EUR 6.1 million in provision reversals (2007: EUR 4.2 

million). This mainly concerns the reversal of unused 

provisions recognised in the 2007 financial year that had 

been set up in connection with restructuring measures, 

guarantee risks related to the project business and em-

ployee compensation. The remaining other operating in-

come comprises a multitude of individual items, each of 

which by itself is immaterial.

Other operating expenses increased in the 2008 fi-

nancial year by EUR 52.2 million to EUR 231.5 million 

(2007: EUR 179.3 million). In particular, these comprise 

expenses of EUR 54.4 million related to the adjustment 

of doubtful debt allowances on receivables (2007: EUR 

28.2 million); foreign exchange losses of EUR 41.6 mil-

lion (2007: EUR 18.6 million); legal and consulting ex-

penses of EUR 33.3 million (2007: EUR 21.9 million); ex-

penses for rentals and leases as well as maintenance 

costs of EUR 24.8 million (2007: EUR 14.8 million); war-

ranty costs of EUR 10.4 million (2007: EUR 14.6 mil-

lion); selling costs of EUR 9.6 million (2007: EUR 20.3 

million); other personnel costs of EUR 7.2 million (2007: 

EUR 11.1 million); and one-off expenses of EUR 20.2 mil-

lion in connection with the measurement of contracts. 

Here from result one-off effects from service contracts 

in both Germany and Spain as well as potential conven-

tional penalties in connection with the realignment of 

our business activities. The increase in legal and con-

sulting expenses is due in particular to the greater need 
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for counsel in connection with issues related to financ-

es, legal affairs, restructuring, audits and the implemen-

tation of the Group’s restructuring and realignment con-

cept. Other personnel costs relate primarily to expenses 

for contract and temporary workers. The expenses for 

bad debt allowances essentially result from the correc-

tion of a receivable in the amount of EUR 42.1 million 

from MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. Please see the 

disclosures regarding events after the balance sheet 

date for information on the status of the contractual re-

lationship with MEMC. The write-downs of receivables 

mainly arose as a result of the adverse change in the 

market. Especially problems in individual projects as 

well as the general worsening of market conditions to-

gether had a negative impact on the profitability of the 

Conergy Group’s projects.

EBITDA was adjusted for one-off effects in order to ar-

rive at a better assessment of the operating business. 

The expenses enumerated above contain one-off ef-

fects that depressed EBITDA in 2008 by EUR 161.7 mil-

lion overall. These expenses especially comprised net 

foreign exchange losses in the amount of of EUR 29.9 

million, start-up costs of EUR 13.2 million for the solar 

cell and module production in Frankfurt (Oder) as well as 

further restructuring costs of EUR 81.9 million. The latter 

specifically include the correction of other receivables 

in the amount of EUR 42.1 million from MEMC, consult-

ing fees of EUR 20.2 million and termination benefits 

of EUR 3.6 million. In addition, other one-off expenses 

arising from contractual penalties, loss contingencies 

from service contracts, costs for potential litigation with 

suppliers due to quality defects as well as the aforemen-

tioned writedowns of inventories owing to the ramifica-

tions of the financial market crisis and the change in the 

global PV market from a sellers’ to a buyers’ market im-

pacted earnings by a total of EUR 47.5 million. Adjust-

ed for these one-off expenses, EBITDA in the 2008 fi-

nancial year was EUR – 15.0 million. This corresponds to 

an adjusted EBITDA margin (EBITDA as a percentage of 

sales) of – 1.5 percent.

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

We posted negative EBIT of EUR – 212.5 million in the 

2008 financial year, there with remaining on previous 

year’s level of EUR – 213.3 million. In 2008, EBIT was 

depressed by the one-off effects in the amount of EUR 

161.7 million enumerated above (which were incurred 

especially in the Conergy PV segment) as well as EUR 

10.8 million in impairment losses on plant, property 

and equipment (owing largely to the decision to termi-

nate development projects and shut down German and 

foreign business locations). Adjusted for these one-off 

expenses, EBIT in the 2008 financial year was EUR 

– 40.0 million, corresponding to an EBIT margin (EBIT as 

a percentage of sales) of – 4.0 percent adjusted for one-

off effects.

Earnings before taxes

Conergy’s net finance income was especially affected 

by the temporary increase in net liabilities in 2008; it fell 

dramatically to EUR – 67.8 million (2007: EUR – 21.8 mil-

lion) as a result of the substantial increase in finance 

costs. The two-tranche syndicated loan as well as the 

bridge loan for EUR 240.0 million that was additionally 

obtained in early February 2008 had a major factor in 

this outcome. Finance costs of EUR 71.4 million com-

pared with EUR 32.9 million in the previous year largely 

arose from rising interest expense through borrowings, 

which comprise both interest payments and interest ac-

cruals, especially amortisation of transaction costs. Fi-

nance costs were offset by finance income of EUR 3.6 

million (2007: EUR 11.1 million). Taking into account net 

finance loss of EUR 67.8 million (2007: – 21.8 million), 

earnings before taxes were negative at EUR – 280.3 mil-

lion (2007: EUR – 235.1 million).

Result after taxes

After taking into account EUR 26.8 million in positive in-

come taxes (2007: tax income of EUR 22.1 million), the 

result after taxes from continuing operations for the year 

2008 was EUR – 253.5 million (2007: EUR – 213.0 million). 

The low tax rate in 2008 is attributable to the fact that 

a smaller amount of deferred tax assets for loss carry-

forwards was recognised. Even though a time limit is 

generally not set for domestic loss carryforwards, the 

restrictive criteria of the International Accounting Stand-

ards permit only limited recognition. Bear in mind to 

that Section 8 c of the German Corporate Income Tax 

Act, which was newly promulgated as part of the cor-

porate tax reform, has led to the pro rata elimination of 

approximately 39.0 percent of the existing tax loss car-

ryforwards of both Conergy AG and its directly affected 

domestic subsidiaries due to the direct change in share-

holders resulting from the capital increase.

Discontinued operations are shown as result after taxes. 

They reduced the result after taxes by EUR 53.1 million 

(2007: EUR 35.1 million). The increase in the loss from 

discontinued operations is mainly due to the sale of the 

business of Conergy Wind GmbH, which resulted in a 

one-off and essentially non-cash impact on discontin-

ued operations of approximately EUR 38.1 million and 

to the losses incurred from operations amounting to 

EUR 7.6 million. The losses incurred in connection with 
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the disposal essentially arise from writedowns on fixed 

and current assets. Including the results from discontin-

ued operations, the overall result after taxes was EUR 

– 306.6 million (2007: EUR – 248.1 million). Earnings per 

share from continued operations were EUR – 3.86 (2007: 

EUR – 6.50).

Business development by segment 
and region

Key figures by segment

Key figures by region

Overview

The Conergy Group boosted sales by almost 40.0 per-

cent to EUR 1,006.2 million in an increasingly diffi-

cult economic environment in the 2008 financial year, 

up from EUR 719.0 million the previous year. Business 

trends in both segments contributed to this outcome. 

While sales in the EPURON segment increased by 75.4 

percent to EUR 265.0 million (2007: EUR 151.1 million) 

year on year, sales in the Conergy PV segment rose by 

30.5 percent to EUR 741.2 million (2007: EUR 567.9 mil-

lion). The share of foreign sales in the Conergy Group’s 

total sales in 2008 also continued to rise year on year: 

The share of sales generated outside Germany amount-

ed to 70.7 percent in 2008, as against 53.0 percent in 

2007. This sales growth resulted largely from the imple-

mentation of major international PV projects in Spain 

and South Korea, particularly in the second quarter of 

2008. But the high rate of growth in Spain is also due 

to one-off effects, specifically the completion of the EI  

Calaverón solar power plant as well as the general in-

crease in capital expenditures by PV plant operators in 

Spain ahead of the expiry of attractive Spanish feed-in 

tariffs which was valid until 30 September 2008.

The largest sales growth was recorded in the “Rest of 

Europe” region, which boosted sales from EUR 249.2 

million to EUR 496.7 million (2007: EUR 247.5 million). 

This was mainly due to the above mentioned large-

scale photovoltaic projects in Spain, where sales more 

than doubled by EUR 194.7 million to EUR 346.0 million 

(2007: EUR 151.3 million). This means that Conergy gen-

erated almost 50.0 percent of consolidated sales in the 

region “Rest of Europe”.

Sales in the “Rest of world” region increased by EUR 

80.8 million to EUR 214.7 million (2007: 133.9 million). 

This sales growth is especially due to the construction 

Sales EBIT FTE

EUR million 2008 20071 2008 20071 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Conergy PV 741.2 567.9 – 87.4 – 185.0 1,445 2,009

EPURON 265.0 151.1 – 30.5 – 32.0 189 180

Reconciliation – – – 94.6 3.7 139 305

Continued Operations 1,006.2 719.0 – 212.5 – 213.3 1,773 2,494

Sales EBIT FTE

EUR million 2008 20071 2008 20071 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Germany 294.8 337.6 – 170.4 – 182.4 1,050 1,506

Rest of Europe 496.7 247.5 – 6.2 – 7.0 348 504

Rest of world 214.7 133.9 – 36.3 – 24.5 375 484

Reconciliation – – 0.4 0.6 – –

Continued Operations 1,006.2 719.0 – 212.5 – 213.3 1,773 2,494

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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of Asia’s largest solar farm in SinAn, South Korea, south-

west of the capital of Seoul.

In Germany, sales of the Conergy Group fell substantial-

ly by EUR 42.8 million to EUR 294.8 million (2007: EUR 

337.6 million). For one, this is mainly rooted in the devel-

opment of the worldwide PV market from a sellers’ to a 

buyers’ market and the resulting large decline in pric-

es for solar modules at the end of 2008 as well as in 

the fallout from the current financial market crisis, which 

has reduced capital spending and tightened standards 

in the finance market. For another, we were unable to 

make up for the sales shortfall especially in the fourth 

quarter because a smaller number of modules were allo-

cated to Germany in the first half of the year in favour of 

allocating them to major foreign projects.

Conergy PV

The Conergy PV segment succeeded in increasing 

its sales in 2008 by 30.5 percent year on year. Sales 

amounted to EUR 741.2 million (2007: EUR 567.9 million), 

which corresponds to an increase of EUR 173.3 million 

compared to 2007. The share of foreign sales rose once 

more to EUR 492.7 million (2007: EUR 292.9 million), 

thus accounting for 66.5 percent of the total sales of the 

Conergy PV segment (2007: 51.6 percent). This reflects 

the robust demand for Conergy’s components and 

complete systems in the field of photovoltaics, which 

was apparent until the fourth quarter. Sales were given 

a particular boost in the first nine months by the com-

mercial business, which generated sales of EUR 381.5 

(2007: EUR 251.1) million. Brisk demand in the “Rest of 

Europe” region, particularly in Spain, and on the other 

hand in the “Rest of the World” region, primarily in Ko-

rea, made a sizeable contribution to this sales growth.

Sales in Spain grew by EUR 60.5 million or 68.1 percent 

to EUR 149.4 million in 2008 (2007: EUR 88.9 million). 

This growth in sales was primarily driven by the attrac-

tive subsidies for photovoltaic systems offered by the 

Spanish government until the end of September 2008 

and the resulting increase in investments of photovoltaic 

system operations prior to the expiry of the regulations 

regarding feed-in tariffs. Conergy installed total module 

output of around 51 MWp in Spain. This basically con-

cerns major projects that the EPURON segment man-

aged – such as for example El Calaverón, Manzanaras, 

Herrera and Chinchilla – and whose external sales are 

recognised in the EPURON segment. Furthermore, in 

the Conergy PV segment the largest thin film installa-

tion in Andalucía with a total peak output of 0.9 MWp 

in Cuevas de Almanzora and Almería as well as a 1.4 

MWp solar farm with crystalline modules on the Ca-

nary Islands were recognised, among others. In October 

2008, the Spanish government approved the succes-

sor programme for its feed-in tariff law, which proved 

to be more positive than previously expected. Given the 

uncertainty regarding the feed-in tariff, third and fourth 

quarter sales in Spain shrank slightly but this was com-

pensated by the good sales development in the first 

half-year.

Construction of the largest PV plant in the South Korean 

city of SinAn (southwest of the country’s capital, Seoul) 

with a sales volume of approximately EUR 90.0 million 

was the main driver of the Conergy PV segment’s sales 

growth in the “Rest of world” region. Conergy had built 

the turnkey solar power plant having a total peak output 

of 19.6 MWp and brought it online in August 2008 on be-

half of Dongyang Engineering & Construction Corpora-

tion. Subsequently, Dongyang placed an additional or-

der with a sales volume of about EUR 20.0 million for the 

plant’s expansion to a total of 24 MWp; this construction 

work was completed by the end of 2008. Conergy PV 

thus generated sales of EUR 100.7 million in South Ko-

rea (2007: EUR 44.3 million), and more than doubling its 

sales year on year. Despite the positive sales develop-

ment, higher purchase costs due to currency changes 

in relation to the Korean project business, burdened the 

operating result.

France, Italy and Greece in particular contributed to 

sales growth in the Conergy PV segment in the “Rest of 

Europe” region. Conergy PV expanded its market posi-

tion in all three countries. The emerging French market 

posted better-than-average growth with a sales increase 

of EUR 8.6 million to EUR 25.7 million (2007: EUR 17.1 

million). In the summer of 2008, Conergy successfully 

completed a unit integrated into the roof of the shop-

ping centre in Saint Aunès, a town in the south of France 

five kilometres southwest of Montpellier. At more than 

1.1 MWp, this is the largest such installation in the whole 

of France. Over 5,400 modules were integrated into the 

12 wooden roofs of the car park using the Conergy Solar 

Delta in-roof mounting system. These not only protect 

the parked cars from rain and the hot sun; they also gen-

erate over 1.42 gigawatts of power per year in an envi-

ronmentally friendly manner. In Martillac near Bordeaux, 

the first sun-tracking PV project with 126 trackers and 

an output of 0.1 MWp became operational.

Sales in Italy almost doubled by EUR 30.5 million to 

EUR 63.3 million in 2008 (2007: EUR 32.8 million), pri-

marily boosted by the Italian wholesale business, which 

contributed EUR 56.0 million to this growth in sales. At 
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the same time, the two Italian offices in Vicenza were 

merged to consolidate the existing resources for the 

fast-growing Italian market in the third quarter of 2008.

At EUR 19.2 million, Conergy PV’s sales in both Greece 

and Cyprus more than doubled (2007: EUR 7.2 million). 

Here, the feed-in tariffs that were promulgated in 2006 

had an effect in the 2008 financial year.

In the United States, Conergy PV posted sales of EUR 

61.6 million, an increase of EUR 5.4 million or 9.6 per-

cent over the previous year (2007: EUR 56.2 million). 

This relatively moderate level of growth is rooted in the 

heterogeneous structure of measures aimed at pro-

moting renewables in the US market. The largest so-

lar electricity system on the East Coast of the United 

States with an output of 3.3 MWp and a sales volume 

of about EUR 12.5 million, which was completed in the 

fourth quarter 2008 on behalf an investor with a long-

term outlook, drove this growth. EPURON was responsi-

ble for the project development and the financing while 

Conergy in the US was responsible for planning and in-

stallation. The unit is equipped with 17,000 solar mod-

ules; it is located on a large landfill operated by a waste 

management company outside of Philadelphia whose 

total annual output suffices to provide energy to more 

than 400 households in Pennsylvania. This project dem-

onstrates that US energy suppliers have discovered that 

PV farms offer an alternative to conventional sources of 

energy. Already in January 2008, a 2-MWp PV unit was 

started up on the US Army base in Fort Carson, Colora-

do. The thin film photovoltaic plant with a sales volume 

of around USD 11.0 million, which was commissioned by 

the project developer 3 Phases Energy Services, LLC, 

was planned and installed turnkey. At this plant, a total 

of 27,588 thin film modules will produce 3,200 MWh of 

electricity annually, providing enough energy for some 

500 households.

Conergy PV’s sales in Germany declined by EUR 25.5 

million to EUR 248.5 million (2007: EUR 274.0 million) 

in the 2008 financial year. This was because a lower 

number of modules were allocated to domestic projects 

compared to major foreign projects, especially in the 

year’s first half, among other things, due to the adjust-

ment of the feed-in tariff in Spain at the end of Septem-

ber 2008 and the strong drop in prices for solar modules 

at the end of 2008. While sales fell in the first half of the 

2008 financial year, they climbed by 19.6 percent in the 

year’s second half compared to the previous compara-

tive period but we missed the planned sales target for 

2008 nonetheless. At EUR 248.5 million, sales fell short 

of expectations on the whole. Conergy Deutschland 

GmbH implemented several major PV projects in 2008. 

A thin film PV farm with a total peak output of 8.4 MWp 

and a sales volume of EUR 30.0 million was completed 

and connected to the public grid at year’s end in Tri-

er (in the state of Rhineland-Palatinate) after a mere six 

months of construction work. Overall more than 112,500 

thin film solar modules were installed on 25,000 square 

metres of open space. The construction of the 1.5-MWp 

solar farm in Suppingen, Baden-Wurttemberg, was al-

so successfully completed. In early 2008, various pho-

tovoltaic roof systems were realised in Germany, includ-

ing those for the Israeli embassy in Berlin and the newly 

constructed science centre in Kiel.

The Components division posted sales of EUR 10.0 mil-

lion with third parties, particularly in the third quarter of 

2008, through contract production in order to partially 

make up for the underutilisation of its existing capacity 

in Frankfurt (Oder).

In Saudi Arabia, Conergy prepared the ground for en-

tering the growing market for solar and wind energy in 

the Persian Gulf in December 2008. Conergy Asia-Pa-

cific was awarded the contract for building a 2-MWp so-

lar electricity system at a cost of EUR 11.3 million in Thu-

wal, a city located north of Jeddah, for King Abdullah 

University of Science and Technology (KAUST) in coop-

eration with a leading Saudi solar energy systems inte-

grator. The work includes two on-roof solar units with 

an output of 1 MWp each that are being installed on 

the roofs of the university’s north and south laborato-

ries. Conergy will budget the project under the syndicat-

ed contract and make all required system components 

available. The introduction of alternative energies could 

give a substantial boost to both the energy landscape 

and the country’s economic growth, given that its ener-

gy needs have been growing by about 5.0 percent each 

year.

EPURON

Sales in the EPURON Segment grew by EUR 113.9 mil-

lion or 75.4 percent year on year to EUR 265.0 million 

(2007: EUR 151.1 million). The major international photo-

voltaic projects that EPURON develops in Germany and 

Spain were the driving force behind this growth.

The completion of the photovoltaic project in El Calav-

erón in the sunny Spanish region of Castilla La Mancha 

was one of the milestones achieved in the 2008 finan-

cial year. The solar power plant has a total module out-

put of 21.1 MWp, which makes it currently one of the 

largest photovoltaic installations worldwide. In an ar-

ea larger than 100 football fields, Conergy engineers 
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have installed around 100,000 solar modules that were 

all produced in the solar factory in Frankfurt (Oder). 

EPURON financed this major project through European 

banks, with a British financial investor and two Span-

ish investors underwriting the equity. The El Calaverón 

project contributed approximately EUR 152 million to 

the Group’s consolidated sales in 2008.

The strong market growth in Spain is reflected in oth-

er photovoltaic projects that EPURON has completed in 

the south of the country in 2008. This includes the con-

struction and sale of the three solar farms Manzanaras, 

Herrera and Chinchilla, each of which has a total mod-

ule output of 2 MWp and which produce 12.1 million kil-

owatt hours of solar electricity annually. The Spanish 

projects have satisfied all requirements for power pro-

duced at the completed solar farms to be compensated 

in accordance with the high feed-in tariff of the Royal 

Decree 661 / 2007. EPURON realised projects with an in-

vestment volume of approximately EUR 198.0 million in 

2008 through its successful major project business.

In 2008, EPURON completed a solar project with an out-

put of 2 MWp in South Korea. The solar power plant is 

located on an exhibition site in the country’s southwest. 

This site draws up to two million visitors each year. The 

parking lots for the exhibition are situated on 4.7 hec-

tares of land; the PV modules were installed on steel 

rods that crisscross this open space. Hence this solar 

energy system simultaneously serves as a roof. The in-

stallation has an investment volume of some EUR 10.0 

million and was sold to the South Korean energy pro-

vider Samchully Co. Ltd. Conergy was responsible for 

planning and installing the unit while EPURON initiated 

the funding.

Furthermore, EPURON also laid the groundwork in 2008 

for achieving additional growth in the United States. 

EPURON posted sales of EUR 3.7 million for the first 

time in the US. A project with an output of 3.3 MWp 

on the East Coast of the United States which was real-

ised together with Conergy contributed to this growth. 

As previously described EPURON was responsible for 

the project development and financing, while planning 

and installation was carried out by Conergy in the USA. 

In addition EPURON realised a 1.1-MWp project on the 

West Cost of America.

In Germany, EPURON’s sales fell by 20.2 percent in 2008 

to EUR 46.3 million (2007: EUR 58.0 million). In Janu-

ary 2008, EPURON brought a PV farm with an output of 

4.8 MWp in the Bavarian town of Baar online, thus be-

coming one of the world’s ten largest developers of thin 

film solar farms. This trend continued throughout the re-

mainder of the year. In September, EPURON completed 

two additional thin film projects with a sales volume of 

EUR 31.7 million. In Neuhaus-Stetten, Baden-Wurttem-

berg, EPURON implemented the second-largest solar 

energy system in this federal state. Some 45,000 thin 

film modules have been installed there on an area span-

ning 100,000 square metres – providing a total output of 

3.3 MWp. Prior to this, a solar farm was completed in the 

municipality of Igling-Buchloe, Bavaria, with a total out-

put of around 5.8 MWp. Igling-Buchloe is the eighth thin 

film installation that EPURON has put into operation in 

Bavaria. This brings the total output of thin film installa-

tions constructed by EPURON in Germany to 28 MWp.

EPURON’s activities in biofuels expanded considera-

bly in 2008. Six biogas projects with a total output of 

8.8 MW were sold, including the third biogas project for 

the Mannheim-based energy provider, MVV Energie-

dienstleistungen. The Oehna biofuel plant with an out-

put of 0.5 MW will be erected in southern Brandenburg 

in early 2009. It will begin to generate environmentally 

friendly electricity from corn silage, pig slurry and solid 

cattle manure from 2009 on. Oehna already is the third 

biogas unit – after Vosshöhlen in Schleswig-Holstein 

and Karow in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, each 

with an output of 0.7 MW – that EPURON has sold to the 

subsidiary of MVV Energie AG, a listed company. This 

demonstrates that German energy suppliers are pursu-

ing a strategy of providing their customers with electric-

ity generated from biogas. In addition, EPURON suc-

ceeded in selling the largest biogas unit to date with 

an electrical output of 1.8 MW and a thermal output of 

1.5 MW to an investor in Bremerhaven. These biogas 

projects had an aggregate investment volume of ap-

proximately EUR 12.0 million in 2008. EPURON plans to 

launch German biogas projects in future as well. Given 

that the amended German Renewable Energy Sources 

Act makes projects up to 2 MW particularly profitable in 

2009, EPURON has acquired new projects in Northern 

Germany with a projected output of 10 MW overall. The 

sales channel will be expanded in coming years under 

a cooperation deal with a leading global seed produc-

tion company. As a result, EPURON gains access to an 

international sales network and as well as to the target 

group of farmers.

EPURON Asia reached a milestone in December 2008 

that transcends technologies. EPURON established the 

first “green” fund in the Asia-Pacific region jointly with 

GE Energy Financial Services. The Renewable Energy 

Trust Asia (RETA) will focus solely on operating renew-

able energy projects in the region – among them PV and 
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wind farms, biogas and biomass plants as well as small 

hydroelectric plants. RETA will run its projects mainly in 

the renewables markets in India and the ASEAN states, 

which are worth EUR 5.5 billion. The fund plans to im-

plement projects with a total output of about 200 MW 

and an investment volume of about EUR 200.0 million 

within five years. GE Energy Financial Services will be 

the main investor in the fund with an interest of 80.0 per-

cent. EPURON will hold the remaining 20.0 percent and 

manage the fund. It will also be responsible for project 

development, raising funds and procuring hardware as 

well as supervising construction. The projects will be 

managed by EPURON once they have been completed.

Assets and liabilities

Consolidated balance sheet (short version)

Structure of the balance sheet

Total assets of the Conergy Group fell by EUR 289.3 mil-

lion or 27.9 percent year on year to EUR 746.8 million (31 

December 2007: EUR 1,036.1 million).

Non-current assets

Non-current assets related to continuing operations 

rose from EUR 305.6 million as at 31 December 2007 

by EUR 14.1 million to EUR 319.7 million as at 31 De-

cember 2008. This development is particularly due to 

the increase of deferred assets, which amounted to EUR 

79.6 million, up by EUR 29.3 million from EUR 50.3 mil-

lion at the end of the 2007 financial year. After offset-

ting, they are largely due to deferred tax assets for tax 

loss carryforwards. In part, this increase was compen-

sated by the decline in the carrying amount of goodwill 

by EUR 3.2 million or 15.5 percent to EUR 17.5 million (31 

December 2007: EUR 20.7 million) and the decrease in 

intangible assets by EUR 8.3 million or 39.7 percent to 

EUR 12.6 million (31 December 2007: EUR 20.9 million). 

Writedowns related to the closing of two operations in 

Germany as well as the reclassification of goodwill as 

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Non-current assets 319.7 305.6

Current assets 426.7 706.3

Assets held for sale 0.4 24.2

Total current assets 427.1 730.5

Total assets 746.8 1,036.1

Total equity 196.8 125.2

Non-current borrowings 131.3 168.4

Current borrowings 414.8 726.3

Liabilities from assets held for sale 3.9 16.2

Total current borrowings 418.7 742.5

Total equity and liabilities 746.8 1,036.1

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Goodwill 17.5 20.7

Intangible assets 12.6 20.9

Property. plant and equipment 204.0 208.7

Financial assets 5.3 4.4

Other assets 0.7 0.6

Deferred tax assets 79.6 50.3

Non-current assets 319.7 305.6

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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discontinued operations mainly caused the decline in 

goodwill. The decline in intangible assets resulted for 

one from amortisation and for another from impair-

ment losses on capitalised development costs related 

to projects that will be discontinued. At the same time, 

property, plant and equipment fell by EUR 4.7 million to 

EUR 204.0 million (31 December 2007: EUR 208.7 mil-

lion).

Current assets

Current assets decreased by EUR 279.6 million or 39.6 

percent to EUR 426.7 million as at 31 December 2008, 

down from EUR 706.3 million as at 31 December 2007. 

Specifically, the reduction in inventories by EUR 100.0 

million to EUR 245.6 million (31 December 2007: EUR 

345.6 million) considerably contributed to this devel-

opment. The development of inventories goes hand in 

hand with a substantial reduction of trade receivables 

in the amount of EUR 93.8 million, or 43.7 percent, to 

EUR 120.9 million (31 December 2007: EUR 214.7 mil-

lion). The other current assets declined by EUR 50.8 mil-

lion to EUR 32.5 million (31 December 2007: EUR 83.3 

million). Cash and cash equivalents decreased by 55.8 

percent to EUR 27.7 million (31 December 2007: EUR 

62.7 million).

Activities in the areas of biomass, solar thermal energy 

and wind power installations are shown under discontin-

ued operations. Discontinued operations are no longer 

shown in individual balance sheet items but rather as a 

combined item under “non-current assets held for sale” 

and recognised in the corresponding liabilities and eq-

uity item of the balance sheet.

Total assets declined by EUR 289.3 million or 27.9 per-

cent to EUR 746.8 million (31 December 2007: EUR 

1,036.1 million) while equity increased by EUR 71.6 mil-

lion to EUR 196.8 million compared to the 2007 bal-

ance sheet date (31 December 2007: EUR 125.2 mil-

lion). The negative development of equity during the 

2008 financial year was attributable to the dip in earn-

ings, resulting in particular from the net finance loss and 

the losses from discontinued operations. The Group’s 

equity deteriorated substantially over the financial 

year just ended in this connection. In early December, 

Conergy AG executed a large capital increase pursu-

ant to a resolution of the General Shareholders’ Meet-

ing dated 28 August 2008 that was aimed at boosting 

its equity base and improving the structure of its bal-

ance sheet; the capital increase generated gross pro-

ceeds of around EUR 399.3 million. A total of 363 mil-

lion new no-par bearer shares with a pro-rata interest in 

capital of EUR 1.00 per share were issued at a subscrip-

tion price of EUR 1.10. As a result, the Company’s share 

capital rose from EUR 35.1 million by EUR 363.0 million 

to EUR 398.1 million. Transaction costs of EUR 32.6 mil-

lion related to the capital increase were taken directly to 

equity. Conergy AG used the proceeds from the capi-

tal increase to discharge financial liabilities, in particular 

the February 2008 bridge loan for EUR 240.0 million, as 

well as to continue its restructuring and support future 

growth in both 2009 and 2010. The equity ratio at the 

previous year’s reporting date was 12.1 percent and on 

31 December 2008 it was 26.4 percent.

Liabilities from the continued operations declined year 

on year by EUR 348.6 million or 39.0 percent to EUR 

546.1 million (31 December 2007: EUR 894.7 million).

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities as of 31 December 2008 were 

EUR 131.3 million, down EUR 37.1 million compared 

to the end of the 2007 reporting period (31 December 

2007: EUR 168.4 million). This development was essen-

tially due to the decrease in non-current borrowings 

by EUR 33.5 million to EUR 86.5 million (31 December 

2007: EUR 120.0 million) and in other non-current liabili-

ties by EUR 10.5 million to EUR 2.6 million (31 December 

2007: EUR 13.1 million), as well as the reduction in de-

ferred tax liabilities by EUR 10.6 million to EUR 10.1 mil-

lion (31 December 2007: EUR 20.7 million). This devel-

opment was partly offset by the increase in non-current 

provisions by EUR 17.5 million to EUR 32.1 million (31 

December 2007: EUR 14.6 million), which was caused by 

the higher provisions for service contracts.

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Inventories 245.6 345.6

Trade receivables 120.9 214.7

Financial assets 2.9 9.9

Other assets 29.6 73.4

Cash and cash equivalents 27.7 62.7

Current assets 426.7 706.3

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Provisions 32.1 14.6

Borrowings 86.5 120.0

Other liabilities 2.6 13.1

Deferred tax assets 10.1 20.7

Non-current liabilities 131.3 168.4

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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Current liabilities

Current liabilities were EUR 414.8 million as at 31 De-

cember 2008 (31 December 2007: EUR 726.3 million), a 

decrease of EUR 311.5 million or 42.9 percent compared 

to the previous year. This change stems for one from the 

significant decrease by EUR 171.2 million or 60.6 per-

cent to EUR 111.2 million in trade payables, down from 

EUR 282.4 million as at the end of 2007, and, for an-

other, from the strong reduction of current borrowings 

by EUR 118.1 million to EUR 230.7 million (31 December 

2007: EUR 348.8 million) as a result of the reduced utili-

sation of the syndicated loan and the repayment of bor-

rowings in the amount of EUR 37.5 million. At the same 

time, other current liabilities fell by EUR 27.8 million to 

EUR 58.8 million (31 December 2007: EUR 86.6 million). 

Current provisions increased by EUR 5.9 million to EUR 

12.0 million (31 December 2007: EUR 6.1 million). Cur-

rent income tax liabilities of EUR 2.1 million remained at 

the previous year’s level (31 December 2007: EUR 2.4 

million).

In the 2008 financial year, we succeeded in substantial-

ly reducing the amount of capital tied up in both receiv-

ables and inventories compared to the previous year. 

Relative to sales, working capital – a key financial indi-

cator for the Group – that is expressed as the total of 

inventories and trade receivables less trade payables 

relative to sales – fell from 38.7 percent as at the 2007 

reporting date to 25.4 percent as at 31 December 2008.

Cash flows

Consolidated cash flow statement (short version)

The cash flow statement describes the source and utili-

sation of the cash flows in the reporting period. Hence it 

is central to the assessment of the changes in the Com-

pany’s financial position.

Based on operating income of EUR – 212.5 million in 

the 2008 financial year (2007: EUR – 213.3 million), ad-

justed for non-cash items such as depreciation, amor-

tisation and impairment losses, changes in non-current 

provisions largely comprising provisions for warranties, 

product liability and guarantees as well as other non-

cash income and expenses such as, for instance, the 

net gain / loss from currency translation and the adjust-

ment of inventories and receivables, the result from op-

erating activities before changes in net working capital 

in the 2008 financial year improved substantially to EUR 

– 37.4 million compared to the previous year (2007: EUR 

– 98.6 million).

Although, at EUR – 131.8 million, the cash flow gener-

ated from operating activities related to continuing op-

erations in the 2008 financial year was clearly negative, 

it was EUR 36.7 million higher than the cash flow of EUR 

– 168.5 million generated in the previous year. This was 

essentially due to the reduction in inventories by EUR 

67.5 million, which compares to an increase in invento-

ries of EUR 222.4 million in 2007. The execution of major 

photovoltaics projects in Spain, particularly in the sec-

ond quarter of 2008, that had been in development in 

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Provisions 12.0 6.1

Current portion of non-current 
borrowings 37.5 30.0

Borrowings 193.2 318.8

Trade payables 111.2 282.4

Other liabilities 58.8 86.6

Current income tax liabilities 2.1 2.4

Current liabilities 414.8 726.3

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes

EUR million 2008 20071

Result from operating activities 
before changes in net working 
capital – 37.4 – 98.6

Cash generated from operating 
activities

	 continued operations – 131.8 – 168.5

	 discontinued operations – 29.1 – 20.2

Cash generated from operating 
activities (total) – 160.9 – 188.7

Net cash generated from 
investing activities – 21.2 – 194.5

Net cash generated from 
financing activities 146.4 421.5

Change in cash from 
operating activities (total) – 35.7 38.3

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period 63.7 25.6

Exchange rate changes 0.0 – 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period 28.0 63.7

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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2007 and were recognised in income in the 2008 finan-

cial year were the main factor driving the decrease in 

inventories. The decrease in trade receivables by EUR 

84.3 million was similar to the previous year (2007: EUR 

84.3 million). At the same time, there was a considerable 

decline in trade payables by EUR 171.2 million; they had 

risen by EUR 92.8 million just a year earlier. While the 

changes in other net assets and other non-cash trans-

actions in the amount of EUR – 78.1 million (previous 

year: EUR – 22.8 million) are amongst others due to the 

reduction in VAT liabilities, the change in corporate in-

come taxes by EUR 3.1 million (2007: EUR – 1.8 million) 

arises from tax refunds. A total of EUR – 131.8 million 

was used in the 2008 financial year for operating activi-

ties (2007: EUR – 168.5 million) – down EUR 36.7 million 

from the previous year.

The cash flow from operating activities related to dis-

continued operations – solar thermal, biomass and the 

manufacture of wind units – in the 2008 financial year 

was EUR – 29.1 million (2007: EUR – 20.2 million). This 

figure is combined in a separate item in the cash flow 

statement. Cash used for Group operating activities was 

EUR – 160.9 million, a substantial year-on-year improve-

ment over the previous year’s figure of EUR – 188.7 mil-

lion. Aside from the fact that operating income devel-

oped along a more positive trajectory, the main change 

from the previous year arose from the positive develop-

ment of working capital, which was substantially influ-

enced by the completion of major projects in Spain and 

South Korea, the streamlining of receivables manage-

ment, the improvement of collection processes, as well 

as the reduction in inventories, accounts receivable ag-

ing cycles and receivables outstanding. Particularly the 

EUR 171.2 million reduction in trade payables had an 

offsetting effect.

Net cash used for investing activities declined signifi-

cantly to EUR – 21.2 million in the 2008 financial year, 

down from EUR – 194.5 million in 2007. The large outflow 

of funds in the previous year stemmed from investments 

in our Frankfurt (Oder) plant. A net total of EUR 33.5 mil-

lion (2007: EUR 189.8 million) was used for investments 

in property, plant and equipment in 2008. Again, this 

mainly concerned investments in our Frankfurt (Oder) 

site. Note also that the investment payments in 2008 

include an investment grant of EUR 17.0 million, which 

the Company received in the second quarter. Contrast 

this with Group proceeds of EUR 10.3 million from the 

sale of four solar thermal companies in the first half of 

2008. The proceed from the sale of Bremerhaven-based 

Conergy Wind GmbH amounted to EUR 1.0 million.

In 2008, the Conergy Group generated a cash flow of 

EUR 146.4 million (2007: EUR 421.5 million) from financ-

ing activities. The capital increase in early December 

2008 generated a substantial inflow of funds. A total of 

363 million new no-par ordinary shares were issued at a 

subscription price of EUR 1.10 pursuant to the resolution 

of the General Shareholders’ Meeting dated 28 August 

2008, generating proceeds of around EUR 399.3 mil-

lion for the Conergy Group. Outflows in connection with 

the capital increase were EUR 32.6 million. Contrast this 

with net outflows of EUR 161.0 million (net inflow 2007: 

EUR 238.1 million) in connection with the repayment of 

borrowings under the syndicated loan as well as under 

the February 2008 bridge loan from Commerzbank AG 

and Dresdner Bank AG. This also includes outflows for 

discharging borrowings of EUR 37.5 million in connec-

tion with the partial repayment of a credit facility for the 

Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory. It also includes interest 

payments of EUR 59.3 million (2007: EUR 30.8 million). 

The change in cash and cash equivalents in the finan-

cial year just ended was EUR – 35.7 million, compared to 

EUR 38.3 million the previous year.

Cash and cash equivalents and net liabilities 

The Conergy Group had cash and cash equivalents of 

EUR 27.7 million as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 

2007: EUR 62.7 million). At the end of the 2008 financial 

year, borrowings were EUR 317.2 million, compared to 

EUR 468.8 million at the close of the 2007 financial year. 

This means that the Company succeeded in reducing its 

borrowings substantially by EUR 151.6 million in 2008 

compared to the previous year. The Group’s net liabili-

ties at the end of the 2008 financial year thus were EUR 

289.5 million compared to EUR 406.1 million in 2007. 

This brought the gearing ratio, i. e. the ratio of net fi-

nancial liabilities (borrowings less liquid funds) to equity 

down to 147.1 percent as at the balance sheet date (31 

December 2007: 324.4 percent).

Net liabilities

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Non-current borrowings 86.5 120.0

Current borrowings 230.7 348.8

Borrowings 317.2 468.8

	 Cash and cash equivalents 27.7 62.7

Net liabilities related to 
continued operations 289.5 406.1

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted; see notes
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In a deviation from the presentation in the consolidated 

balance sheet, the cash holdings shown in the cash flow 

statement as at 31 December 2008 contain EUR 0.3 mil-

lion in cash and cash equivalents attributable to discon-

tinued operations (31 December 2007: EUR 1.0 million).

To ensure sufficient operating liquidity, on 31 July 2007 

Conergy AG, EPURON GmbH, Conergy SolarMod-

ule GmbH & Co. KG and Conergy Deutschland GmbH 

closed a syndicated loan for a total of originally EUR 

600.0 million from 23 banks under the leadership of 

Commerzbank AG, Dresdner Bank AG and WestLB AG.

The loan is divided into two tranches and will provide 

funding for the construction of the production facili-

ty in Frankfurt (Oder) (Tranche A) as well as enable the 

Conergy Group to refinance its existing credit facilities 

and finance its working capital and guarantee require-

ments (Tranche B with a revolving facility of EUR 250.0 

million and a guarantee and documentary credit facil-

ity of EUR 200.0 million). Tranche A, amounting to EUR 

150.0 million, is to be repaid by 31 December 2011, in 

half-yearly installments starting on 30 June 2008. In this 

regard in 2008 EUR 37.5 million were settled as stated in 

the agreement. Tranche B, amounting to EUR 450.0 mil-

lion is due for total repayment on 31 July 2010, unless 

the banks approve an application for extending Tranche 

B’s term to 31 July 2011 or 31 July 2012, as the case 

may be. The syndicated loan was initially collateralised 

by pledging absolutely all interests in Conergy Solar

Module GmbH & Co. KG and its general partner Conergy 

SolarModule Verwaltungs GmbH. Liens were created for 

absolutely all interests in Conergy Vertriebs GmbH & Co. 

KG (which was merged with Conergy Deutschland 

GmbH effective 1 August 2008), Conergy Vertriebs Ver-

waltungs GmbH, EPURON GmbH and Conergy Deut-

schland GmbH during the negotiations on addition-

al loans above and beyond the syndicated loan in the 

light of the development of the Conergy Group’s finan-

cial situation at the end of 2007 in order to collateral-

ise the syndicated loan. In addition, the Conergy Group 

conveyed, pledged or assigned all material assets al-

ready serving as senior collateral for the bridge facility 

to the lenders of the syndicated loan and / or an entity 

holding the collateral in trust as junior collateral in con-

nection with the collateralisation of the bridge financing 

described below.

The individual tranches are subject to interest at a rate 

corresponding to the sum of the applicable margin, 

EURIBOR (or LIBOR in case of a foreign currency) for 

the interest period selected and the regulatory costs (in 

each case as defined in the loan agreement). The rel-

evant applicable margin is the prevailing margin at the 

time the contract was closed, which is either raised or 

lowered with respect to both tranches upon expiration 

of a stipulated period in accordance with the defined ra-

tio of consolidated net financial liabilities to consolidat-

ed EBITDA. The initial margin is 1.7 percent per annum 

for Tranche A and 1.55 percent per annum for Tranche 

B. The margin is raised or lowered in regards to both 

tranches upon expiration of a stipulated period in ac-

cordance with the defined ratio of consolidated net fi-

nancial liabilities to consolidated EBITDA. According-

ly, (i) the margin for Tranche A may be lowered to 0.65 

percent p. a. and raised to 1.95 percent p. a. and (ii) the 

margin for Tranche B may be lowered to 0.5 percent 

p. a. and raised to 1.8 percent p. a. The syndicated loan 

agreement also provides for an increase in the relevant 

applicable margin by 1.0 percent per annum if the debt-

or fails to make timely payments on amounts that are 

due and payable.

Under the loan agreement, Conergy is obligated to pay 

the customary loan commitment fee for any unused 

amounts under both tranches depending on the relevant 

applicable margin.

Conergy is also obligated – if it borrows funds on the 

capital market, sells assets and receives insurance pay-

ments – to use its net revenues for early repayment, in 

full, first of Tranche A and then of Tranche B, provided 

none of the exceptions set forth in the loan agreement 

intervene. However, the banking syndicate holding the 

loan has waived compliance with this obligation during 

the term of the bridge loan if the revenues are utilised 

to repay it.

The loan agreement contains requirements that have an 

impact on the Conergy Group’s ability to exercise dis-

cretion in operational terms. Conergy has undertaken 

thereunder to ensure that the ratio of consolidated net 

liabilities to consolidated EBITDA (in each case with and 

without contingent liabilities) does not exceed a specific 

figure and that the ratio of EBITDA to consolidated net 

interest expense does not fall below a specific figure. 

While the banks did waive compliance with the Finan-

cial Covenants for the 2008 and 2009 financial years, 

given the development of the Conergy Group’s financial 

situation at the end of 2007, Conergy as of the 31 March 

2010 will once again have to evidence compliance with 

financial indicators to be renegotiated as of 30 Septem-

ber 2009 based on the new capital structure and based 

on a business plan.

Certain other requirements do apply during the term 

of the agreement. Among other things, these require-

ments crimp the ability of the Conergy Group to provide 
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assets as collateral, sell assets, participate in joint ven-

tures, acquire additional companies or business units, 

incur additional financial liabilities, make loans, provide 

guarantees, incur leasing liabilities or undertake specific 

restructuring measures. Any noncompliance with these 

stipulations and the agreed financial covenants triggers 

an extraordinary right of termination on the lenders’ part 

(in some cases after expiry of a cure period), giving them 

the right to call the loan immediately. The lenders have 

other rights to terminate, for example, if covenants stip-

ulated provided under the loan agreement are not (or 

can not be) truthful, if a German or significant foreign 

subsidiary files for insolvency, if creditors institute ex-

ecution proceedings against Conergy for an amount in 

excess of EUR 5 million in each individual case, if Group 

companies whose total financial liabilities (of whatsoev-

er nature) are EUR 5 million or more default, or if credi-

tors of such financial liabilities are entitled to call these 

liabilities early due to the occurrence of a right to termi-

nate (whatever its nature).

Any change of control – i. e. a situation where an indi-

vidual or a group of people acting in concert with each 

other (pursuant to an agreement or by other means) gain 

control over the Company – would give each bank the 

individually exercisable right to terminate the loan for 

cause.

Conergy entered into a EUR 240.0 million bridge loan 

from Commerzbank AG and Dresdner Bank AG effective 

5 February 2008. The bridge facility’s initial term ended 

at the end of September 2008 but was extended to the 

end of December 2008. It served to plug the Company’s 

liquidity needs until the capital increase in December 

2008 and was repaid in early December 2008.

The requirements of the bridge loan corresponded to 

those of the syndicated loan, subject to the adjustments 

necessary for short-term interim financing in connection 

with a restructuring. Hence the bridge loan was divided 

into two revolving tranches that could be used to fund 

the Conergy Group’s operating liquidity needs pursuant 

to its liquidity targets.

The Conergy Group had conveyed, pledged or assigned 

all material assets as senior collateral to the lenders of 

the bridge facility and / or an entity holding the collateral 

in trust as well as to the parties to the syndicated loan 

agreement as junior collateral. The aforementioned col-

lateral, which was created for the syndicated loan prior 

to the closing of the bridge loan, does not serve to col-

lateralise the bridge loan; the latter was excluded from 

the collateral package.

The individual tranches in turn were subject to interest at 

a rate corresponding to the sum of the applicable mar-

gin, EURIBOR for the interest period selected and the 

regulatory costs (in each case as defined in the loan 

agreement). It is our view that this constitutes a custom-

ary interest rate.

Under the loan agreement, Conergy was also obligated 

to pay the customary loan commitment fee for any un-

used amounts under both tranches depending on the 

relevant applicable margin.

Conergy was obligated furthermore – if it sold assets 

and received insurance payments – to use its net re-

ceipts for purposes of early termination and repayment 

of Tranche A, provided none of the exceptions set forth 

in the loan agreement intervened.

While no obligations to comply with specific financial in-

dicators was stipulated for the interim financing, it ba-

sically imposed the same limitations on the Conergy 

Group’s operating business as the syndicated loan 

agreement. Given the crisis of Conergy AG however, the 

exceptions from the restrictions on the operating busi-

ness were tightened yet further compared to the syndi-

cated loan. Some of the thresholds that trigger a termi-

nation for cause were also tightened.

The capital increase that the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG had resolved on 

17 July 2008 was completed in early December 2008, 

generating gross proceeds of around EUR 399.3 mil-

lion for the Company. A total of 363 million new shares 

were issued at a subscription price of EUR 1.10. The new 

share capital is EUR 398,088,928. The subscription ra-

tio of the capital increase was approximately 49.5 per-

cent, which corresponds to roughly 179.6 million new 

shares. Dresdner Bank took over about 155 million new 

shares of the remaining unsubscribed shares and those 

for which the subscription right had been excluded. Oth-

er investors, notably Leemaster Ltd. and Athos Service 

GmbH, subscribed the remaining unsubscribed shares 

at the subscription price. Conergy AG used the pro-

ceeds from the capital increase to discharge financial 

liabilities, in particular the February 2008 bridge loan 

for EUR 240.0 million. The Financial Covenants under 

the syndicated loan have been waived yet again for the 

2009 financial year.
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Other

Non-financial performance  
indicators

The 2008 financial year was taken up by the implemen-

tation of the restructuring programme that had been 

launched at the end of 2007. We established non-finan-

cial performance indicators during the restructuring that 

help to restructure and realign the Conergy Group and 

close the gap to our competitors; it is our view that fi-

nancial performance indicators by themselves fail to ad-

equately capture all of a company’s strengths and weak-

nesses. These non-financial performance indicators are 

broken down into certain categories that we leverage in 

order to attain our restructuring goals, specifically: Em-

ployees as agents of success, corporate communica-

tions and the code of conduct; on the marketing side, 

they include extensive experience in project manage-

ment and project financing, the greatest possible inde-

pendence in terms of technology, engineering expertise 

and a broad, internationally diverse customer base.

Employees as agents of success

The restructuring and realignment of the Conergy Group 

would not have been possible absent the know-how, the 

creativity and the commitment of our employees and ex-

ecutives. Both staff and management must be integrat-

ed into all processes in order to facilitate the manage-

ment of change. It is precisely their identification with 

Conergy and their commitment to its goals that are de-

cisive to its success. Targeted off-the-job training aimed 

at enhancing the qualifications of employees and ex-

ecutives alike is thus central to the Company’s future 

performance. We have developed successor planning 

based on the identification of key functions with the aim 

of preparing high achievers already in the Company’s 

employ for subsequent leadership positions. This also 

helps to ensure that employees are capable of fulfilling 

job requirement profiles arising from the realignment 

and existing know-how can be secured and expanded 

further. At the same time, this serves to challenge and 

foster employees’ potential by giving them a lot of in-

dividual responsibility among other things. Internal per-

sonnel programmes as well as the annual employee de-

velopment review and dialogue support this process. 

We are also recruiting highly qualified and experienced 

professionals as necessary. Remuneration models that 

reward individual performance through variable, per-

formance-based compensation enhance employee mo-

tivation.

Corporate communications

We are engaged in intensive communications work, for 

open and transparent communication both internal and 

external serves to help our employees, customers, busi-

ness partners and investors regain their confidence in 

the Company following its crisis at the end of 2007.

Hence internal communications can be used to counter-

act employees’ uncertainty in the wake of the restructur-

ing process. We also initiated an internal employee sug-

gestion system in order to tap into employees’ ideas and 

experience in connection with the Group’s realignment 

and foster a dialogue between staff and top manage-

ment on issues related to the operating business. Spe-

cially established round tables between employees and 

executives as well as regular newsletters aimed at the 

Company’s workforce further enhance internal commu-

nications and transparency.

Credible external communications serve to restore the 

confidence of our customers, suppliers, business part-

ners and investors in the Company following its earn-

ings and liquidity crisis at the end of 2007. Creating con-

fidence is thus being defined as a corporate goal. The 

capital market participants were amongst others inter-

ested in the progress the Company had made in its re-

structuring programme. Conergy responded to these 

questions by instituting a dialogue characterised by 

openness and transparency. But it also sought out im-

portant investors for individual talks in connection with 

the planned capital increase.

Conergy’s customers are yet another important target 

group in our communications work because open infor-

mation and a strong brand positively enhance customer 

loyalty. We also aim to intensify our conversations and 

close business relationships with our wide and diversi-

fied customer base in order to lay the groundwork for 

enhancing our attractiveness and thus increasing cus-

tomer loyalty. Our profound market intelligence on the 

international PV market, our extensive references and 

our engineering expertise stand us in good stead in this 

connection.

Code of Conduct 

As early as in the 2007 financial year, the Management 

Board issued a company-wide Code of Conduct ap-

plicable to the employees of the Conergy Group that 

regulates relationships with business partners and 

government authorities; issues of confidentiality, in-

dependence and objectivity; as well as conflicts of in-

terest. This Code is the ethical foundation of all busi-

ness activities and describes the values, principles and 
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practices of the Conergy Group. In addition, the Code 

of Conduct describes the fundamental ethical and legal 

duties of the Conergy Group’s employees and corporate 

bodies as they conduct their business. Compliance with 

these standards is monitored by a Compliance Com-

mittee organised by the legal department. The Compli-

ance Committee works to ensure that absolutely every-

body in the Company abides by the same high ethical 

and legal standards. It is responsible for publicising the 

Code of Conduct and its aims among the Company’s 

employees, training them and ensuring compliance with 

the guidelines. At the same time, the Compliance Com-

mittee functions as a point of contact for our employ-

ees; it can be reached via separate telephone numbers 

specifically established for this purpose as well as by e-

mail. All compliance officers can also be contacted in-

dividually.

Extensive experience in project management and 

project financing

Since its founding, Conergy has executed major projects 

with more than 400 MW in renewables output (includ-

ing about 234 MW of wind power) nationally and inter-

nationally. In our view, this makes us one of the most ex-

perienced project developers in the field of regenerative 

energies. Conergy offers its customers the complete 

value chain from planning to construction to start-up. 

It believes that its comprehensive expertise in planning 

and implementing everything from smaller off-grid facili-

ties to special architectural solutions all the way to major 

multi-megawatt renewables farms gives it an important 

competitive advantage. And it possesses many years of 

experience and excellent contacts in project financing.

Greatest possible flexibility and independent 

technology

Conergy’s access to the different state-of-the-art tech-

nologies in photovoltaics – mono- and multicrystalline 

solar modules as well as thin film solar modules and so 

forth – allow it to be as independent as possible in tech-

nological terms. The fact that it is not dependent on a 

particular photovoltaics technology generally makes 

Conergy much less vulnerable to innovations in the PV 

sector. It is precisely this independence from specific 

technologies that enable it to cushion bottlenecks in the 

availability of many base components.

Extensive references and engineering expertise

The construction of a multitude of PV units both at home 

and abroad in the past ten years has given Conergy’s 

engineers a vast well of experience to draw from. These 

engineers plan and build small island facilities, electri-

fy remote regions, devise special architectural solutions 

and design multi-megawatt PV farms. They ensure the 

installations’ optimal operation over their entire useful 

life with the help of a far-flung installation and services 

network. Conergy’s experience with all system compo-

nents allows it to develop and implement optimally co-

ordinated systems. Even the tiniest efficiency gains per 

system can generate noticeable benefits for customers 

throughout the systems’ useful life in terms of both yield 

and value added. Conergy has executed a large number 

of important pilot projects based on excellent engineer-

ing work. References are an important factor in selling 

major projects and acquiring new customers. From the 

standpoint of customers and investors, a provider’s ex-

perience and references are highly significant because 

investments in photovoltaics can be considerable. The 

Company thus believes that its excellent reputation is 

pivotal to its success.

Broad and internationally diversified customer 

base, customer access and customer knowledge

Through the years, Conergy has consistently worked 

to internationalise its customer base in order to reduce 

any dependence on individual local markets, legislative 

models promoting renewables or individual customer 

groups. Acquisitions in recent years, increased partner-

ships and a local presence have catapulted Conergy in-

to the core photovoltaics markets. In future, it will fo-

cus even more fully on established attractive growth 

markets while pursuing its internationalisation. The 

Company’s insight into central customer groups in the 

B2C and B2B business as well as into financial inves-

tors and their respective expectations and needs are a 

central component in building economic success in the 

PV market, especially as it is changing from a sellers’ to 

a buyers’ market. Many years of working with a multi-

tude of customers in these segments have led to broad 

knowledge of the needs and expectations of these cus-

tomer groups, greatly facilitating services to these tar-

get groups while at the same time enhancing customer 

loyalty. Loyal, profitable customers are a strategic as-

set in buyers’ markets. The knowledge of the relevant 

customers is an important competitive advantage vis-

à-vis other or new competitors that are engaged in set-

ting up their own networks and evolving from upstream 

to downstream providers.



7777

Group  |  Internal Indicators  |  Global Economy  |  Assets, Liabilities, Cash Flows, P & L  |  Other  |  Share  |  Compensation  |  Supplementary Report  |  Risks & Opportunities  |  Anticipated Development

Research and development

Research

We currently do not have any significant research activi-

ties as such and do not plan to develop any such activi-

ties in the future. We are nonetheless cooperating with 

various institutes. This cooperation relates to the devel-

opment of inverters from 2005 to 2008 and, since the 

2007 financial year, production control systems for our 

production facility in Frankfurt (Oder).

Development

Conergy must be skilled in the development of products 

and components for photovoltaic systems in order to 

ensure an efficient interaction of major system compo-

nents within the photovoltaic systems. In that respect, 

at the Components division in Frankfurt (Oder) Conergy 

has skills in developing electronic components (invert-

ers and monitoring systems) and mounting systems.

Since financial year 2007, we have been continuous-

ly optimising silicon wafer, cell, and module production 

processes in Frankfurt (Oder) while also producing so-

lar cells and solar modules. We are thus also improv-

ing our products, chemical processes and production 

steps. The “Development” team develops new module 

types and it works to improve the interaction of mod-

ule components with films and frames to improve ef-

ficiency and optimise costs. The “Analysis” team con-

ducts long-term cycle tests (climate chamber, loads, 

and clean room tests) in the laboratory. The objective 

is to optimise the quality and efficiency of the manu-

factured products. This team also analyses the reasons 

for flaws and optimises chemical processes in the lab-

oratory. The “Technological Implementation” team im-

plements the requirements and findings of analyses in 

mass production and operational processes. This team 

pays particular attention to ensuring that parameters are 

followed and progressively improved in chemical and 

mechanical processes. At the same time, it promotes 

operational implementation of completed developments 

and provides feedback to the “Development” and “Anal-

ysis” teams.

Teams in Hamburg and Bad Vilbel, develop electronic 

components for PV systems. A main focus of the teams 

is to make continuous improvements in the efficiency of 

the inverters while at the same time reduce the cost of 

producing the devices. Development includes the devel-

opment of specific concepts and their implementation 

in components.

In the Components division, Conergy develops monitor-

ing systems for photovoltaic plants of all sizes as well 

as so called tracking systems. The task of the monitor-

ing systems is early detection of defects in the plant, in 

order to reduce lost earnings for the operators of pho-

tovoltaic plants. Conergy has developed the SunRead-

er monitoring system for smaller plants and the Smart-

Control monitoring system for larger plants. The quality 

of our products is backed by our Test and Quality As-

surance department, which is separate from our Devel-

opment department, as well as a modern development 

process. Tracking systems are used for optimal orienta-

tion of the photovoltaic system in relation to the sun. The 

tracking system that we have developed is the Conergy 

SolarOptimus. Finally, in the Components division, Con-

ergy develops mounting systems and module frames.

Disclosures related to acquisitions

The following disclosures contain the disclosures re-

lated to acquisitions in accordance with Section 315 

para. 4 German Commercial Code:

Summary of subscribed capital

The subscribed capital (share capital) of Conergy AG 

in the financial year just ended was increased by reso-

lution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 28 Au-

gust 2008 from EUR 35,088,928 by EUR 363,000,000 

to currently EUR 398,088,928. It is denominated in 

398,088,928 no-par bearer shares with a pro-rata in-

terest in capital of EUR 1.00 per no-par share. Each 

share grants identical rights and one vote at the General 

Shareholders’ Meeting. New shares are issued as bear-

er shares unless the General Shareholders’ Meeting re-

solves otherwise.

Limitations on voting rights

In connection with the execution of the cash capital in-

crease by EUR 363,000,000, Allianz SE, Munich, noti-

fied Conergy AG on its own behalf and for its subsid-

iaries, Allianz Finanzbeteiligungs GmbH, Munich, and 

Dresdner Bank AG, Frankfurt (Main), on 10 December 

2008 pursuant to Section 21 para. 1 German Securi-

ties Trading Act that its interest in the voting shares of 

Conergy AG on 1 December 2008 was initially 57.4 per-

cent (corresponding to 228,492,640 voting shares) and 

on 2 December 2008 38.99 percent (corresponding to 

155.231.704 voting shares). Dresdner Bank AG had sub-

scribed and taken over the new shares from the cash 

capital increase with the proviso that it would offer them 

for purchase to the Company’s shareholders by means 
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of an indirect subscription right in accordance with Sec-

tion 186 para. 5 German Stock Corporation Act. Allianz 

SE as well as its subsidiaries, Allianz Finanzbeteiligungs 

GmbH and Dresdner Bank AG, had been exempted 

from their obligations under Section 35 German Securi-

ties Acquisition and Takeover Act in regards to this share 

purchase by notice dated 11 November 2008 of the Fed-

eral Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) pursuant to 

Section 37 para. 1 in conjunction with Section 8 et seq. 

of the Offer Regulations of the German Securities Ac-

quisition and Takeover Act. The exemption was grant-

ed under the condition that Dresdner Bank AG not ex-

ercise the voting rights arising from its equity interest in 

the Company insofar as its interest in the voting shares 

does not reach or exceed the threshold of 30.0 percent 

of all voting shares. By notice dated 21 January 2009, 

BaFin also exempted Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft 

from its obligations under Section 35 German Securities 

Acquisition and Takeover Act in connection with its ac-

quisition of absolutely all shares of Dresdner Bank AG 

on 12 January 2009. This exemption too was granted 

with the proviso that Commerzbank AG not exercise the 

voting rights arising from its equity interest in Conergy 

AG, indirectly or directly, insofar as its interest in the vot-

ing shares of Conergy AG does not reach or exceed the 

threshold of 30.0 percent of all voting shares.

Equity interests in excess of 10.0 percent of the 

voting shares

As at the reporting date (31 December 2008), the follow-

ing direct and indirect equity interests in Conergy AG 

surpassed the 10.0 percent threshold of voting shares:

Athos Service GmbH, Munich, notified Conergy AG on 

16 December 2008 pursuant to Section 21 para. 1 Ger-

man Securities Trading Act that its interest in the voting 

shares of Conergy on 11 December 2008 fell below the 

threshold of 15.0 percent and subsequently was 14.95 

percent (corresponding to 59,514,296 shares out of a to-

tal of 398,088,928 voting shares).

Leemaster Ltd., Tortola, British Virgin Island, notified the 

Company on 3 December 2008 pursuant to Section 21 

para. 1 German Securities Trading Act that its interest in 

the voting shares of Conergy AG on 2 December 2008 

was 14.13 percent, corresponding to 56,253,001 shares 

out of a total of 398,088,928 voting shares in the Com-

pany.

At the same time, Dr. Otto Happel, Luzern, Switzerland, 

notified us on 3 December 2008 pursuant to Section 21 

para. 1 German Securities Trading Act that his interest in 

the voting shares of Conergy AG on 2 December 2008 

was 14.13 percent, corresponding to 56,253,001 shares 

out of a total of 398,088,928 voting shares in the Com-

pany. Pursuant to Section 22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 

German Securities Trading Act, all of Dr. Otto Happel’s 

voting shares are attributable to him via Leemaster Ltd., 

which he controls.

Further, Leemaster Ltd. notified us on 5 December 2008 

pursuant to Section 25 German Securities Trading Act 

that on 1 December 2008 it was directly holding finan-

cial instruments giving it the right to purchase 7,330,000 

voting shares out of a total of 398,088,928 voting shares 

and thus 1.84 percent of the shares in Conergy AG that 

entail voting rights. The right to purchase shares en-

tailing voting rights may be exercised at any time until 

30 June 2009. The financial instruments are held direct-

ly by Leemaster Ltd., which in turn is controlled by Dr. 

Otto Happel.

Allianz SE, Munich, notified us on 4 December 2008 

pursuant to Section 21 para. 1 German Securities Trad-

ing Act that its interest in the voting shares of Conergy 

AG on 2 December 2008 fell below the threshold of 

50.0 percent and was 38.99 percent at this date, cor-

responding to 155,231,704 voting shares. These voting 

shares are attributable to it in accordance with Section 

22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 German Securities Trading 

Act. The voting shares attributable to Allianz SE were 

held by the companies it controlled at the time, specif-

ically, Allianz Finanzbeteiligungs GmbH, Munich, and 

Dresdner Bank AG, Frankfurt (Main). Allianz SE notified 

us at the same time pursuant to Section 21 para. 1 in 

conjunction with Section 24 German Securities Trading 

Act that the interest of Allianz Finanzbeteiligungs Gm-

bH in the voting shares of the Company on 2 December 

2008 was 38.99 percent, corresponding to 155,227,788 

voting shares. These voting shares are attributable to 

Allianz Finanzbeteiligungs GmbH in accordance with 

Section 22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 German Securities 

Trading Act. The voting shares attributable to Allianz Fi-

nanzbeteiligungs GmbH were held via Dresdner Bank 

AG, which it controls. Dresdner Bank AG’s interest in 

the voting shares of Conergy AG on 2 December 2008 

was 38.99 percent, corresponding to 155,227,788 vot-

ing shares.

Conergy AG was notified of the following material 

changes after the reporting date (31 December 2008):

Allianz SE, Munich, notified us pursuant to Section 21 

para. 1 German Securities Trading Act et seq. in con-

junction with Section 24 German Securities Trading 

Act – in connection with the takeover of Dresdner Bank 

AG, Frankfurt (Main), by Commerzbank AG, Frankfurt 



7979

Group  |  Internal Indicators  |  Global Economy  |  Assets, Liabilities, Cash Flows, P & L  |  Other  |  Share  |  Compensation  |  Supplementary Report  |  Risks & Opportunities  |  Anticipated Development

(Main) – that on 12 January 2009 its interest in the voting 

shares of Conergy AG fell below the reporting thresh-

olds of 3.0, 5.0, 10.0, 15.0, 20.0, 25.0 and 30.0 percent 

in connection with the sale of Dresdner Bank AG to 

Commerzbank AG and was 0.001 percent at that date 

(3,916 voting shares). These voting shares are attribut-

able to the company under Section 22 para. 1 sentence 

1 no. 1. Allianz SE notified us at the same time pursuant 

to Section 21 para. 1 German Securities Trading Act in 

conjunction with Section 24 German Securities Trading 

Act that on that date the interest of Allianz Finanzbeteili-

gungs GmbH, Munich, in the voting shares of Conergy 

AG fell below the reporting thresholds of 3.0, 5.0, 10.0, 

15.0, 20.0, 25.0 and 30.0 percent and was 0 percent at 

that date.

Commerzbank AG, Frankfurt (Main), notified Conergy 

AG on 14 January 2009 pursuant to Section 21 para. 1 

German Securities Trading Act that its interest in the 

voting shares of Conergy AG on 12 January 2009 ex-

ceeded the reporting thresholds of 3.0, 5.0, 10.0, 15.0, 

20.0, 25.0 and 30.0 percent and was 37.01 percent (i. e. 

147,351,748 voting shares) at that date. These voting 

shares are attributable to Commerzbank AG under Sec-

tion 22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 and are held by Dresd-

ner Bank AG.

Appointment and dismissal of Management Board 

members; amendment of the Company’s Articles of 

Association

Under Article 6 para. 1 of Conergy’s Articles of Associa-

tion, its Management Board must comprise at least two 

members. Management Board members are always ap-

pointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board pursu-

ant to Section 84 and 85 German Stock Corporation Act 

in conjunction with Article 6 para. 1 Articles of Associa-

tion. For the rest, the Articles of Association do not con-

tain any deviations from statutory requirements.

Pursuant to Section 119 para. 1 no. 5 German Stock 

Corporation Act, the General Shareholders’ Meeting is 

charged with resolving amendments of the Articles of 

Association. Unless required otherwise by mandatory 

law or the Articles of Association, the resolutions of the 

General Shareholders’ Meeting are adopted by the sim-

ple majority of all votes cast and, to the extent that the 

law requires a majority of the capital, by the simple ma-

jority of the share capital represented; Section 179 Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act is applicable. The law pre-

scribes absolute majorities of three-fourths of the share 

capital present at the time the relevant resolutions are 

adopted in connection with certain amendments of the 

Company’s Articles of Association (e. g. amendment of 

its business purpose), capital measures subject to the 

exclusion of shareholders’ subscription right as well as 

certain other particularly significant items subject to for-

mal resolution. The Supervisory Board is authorised un-

der Article 22 of the Articles of Association to amend 

them to the extent that such modification affects solely 

the wording. It is also authorised under Article 5 para. 3 

Articles of Association to amend the relevant wording 

insofar as authorised capital has been utilised at the giv-

en time or upon expiry of the authorisation deadline.

Authority of the Management Board to issue shares

Pursuant to Article 5 para. 3 of the Articles of Associ-

ation, the Management Board is authorised, subject 

to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase 

the Company’s share capital until 10 June 2012, once 

or repeatedly, by a total of up to EUR 14,361,071 by is-

suing new no-par bearer shares in return for contribu-

tions in cash and / or in kind (“Authorised Capital 2007”). 

The shareholders must be granted a subscription right 

in connection with any capital increase in return for cash 

contributions.

The Management Board may exclude shareholders’ 

subscription right with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board in the following cases:

|| for fractional shares;

|| in connection with cash capital increases up to a to-

tal par value of EUR 3,508,892 or up to 10.0 percent 

of the share capital extant at the time the relevant 

authorisation to exclude shareholders’ subscrip-

tion right is first exercised – whichever is lower – if 

the issue price of the new shares is not substantially 

lower than the stock market price of the Company’s 

shares having the same class and structure at the 

time the issue price is fixed; and

|| in connection with in-kind capital increases.

The pro rata amount of the share capital attributable to 

the new or previously purchased treasury shares that 

were issued or sold since 28 August 2008 subject to 

simplified exclusion of shareholders’ subscription right 

pursuant to or in accordance with Section 186 para. 3 

sentence 4 German Stock Corporation Act as well as 

the pro rata amount of the share capital attributable to 

shares that may be subscribed under options and / or 

conversion rights issued since 28 August 2008 subject 

to simplified exclusion of shareholders’ subscription 

right in accordance with Section 186 para. 3 sentence 4 

German Stock Corporation Act shall be deducted from 

the maximum amount of EUR 3,508,892 or 10.0 percent 

of the share capital.
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The Management Board is authorised, furthermore, 

subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to de-

termine the other details of the capital increase, the ad-

ditional content of the rights embodied in the shares and 

the conditions of the share issue, in particular, to fix a 

date from which the newly issued no-par bearer shares 

shall participate in profits that is different from the date 

on which the contributions were made and, if necessary, 

to do so retroactively for the previous financial year.

Key agreements of the Company

A material financing agreement that gives the financing 

banks the right to terminate the agreement in the event 

of a change of control in accordance with its relevant 

provisions is a key agreement that will be affected by 

a change of control of Conergy AG. This concerns the 

EUR 600 million syndicated loan that was extended to 

the Company in July 2007 in the event a third-party in-

vestor takes over more than 50.0 percent of the share 

capital entitled to vote. All investors not known as exist-

ent major shareholders under the syndicated loan, in-

cluding Dr. Otto Happel, are deemed third-party inves-

tors as defined in the aforementioned agreements. A 

potential investor would be obligated to raise funds on 

its own if one of the lenders were to exercise its right 

to immediate termination and repayment of the amounts 

owed to it under the respective loan agreement in the 

event of such a change of control.

The employment contracts of individual members of the 

Management Board give those among them to whom 

such a provision applies the right to terminate their con-

tracts for cause in the event of a defined change of con-

trol of Conergy AG. Hence there is no guarantee in the 

event of a change of control that Conergy AG’s existing 

senior management would continue to be available to 

the Company.

The Conergy share

Regarding the development of Conergy’s share in the 

2008 financial year, we refer to pages 30 and 31 of this 

annual report.
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Compensation report for  
the Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board of 
Conergy AG

Please see the compensation report on pages 24– 29 

for disclosures regarding the compensation of both the 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board.

Events after the balance 
sheet date

On 23 December 2008, the Supervisory Board of 

Conergy AG appointed Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz to 

the Management Board effective 1 January 2009. He 

is responsible for Components, Purchasing and Supply 

Chain. Dr. von Zitzewitz, who has worked for Conergy 

SolarModule GmbH & Co. KG since 1 March 2008, and 

therefore continues to head the Components division 

which includes the development, production and mar-

keting of modules, inverters and mounting systems. He 

has taken over his new sphere of responsibility – Pur-

chasing and Supply Chain – from Philip von Schmeling 

who, in his capacity as Chief Sales Officer (CSO), will fo-

cus solely on Marketing and Sales.

The Supervisory Board members Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas 

J. Büchting, Alexander Rauschenbusch, Hans Johann 

Baptist Jetter and Andreas Rüter resigned from their po-

sitions effective 31 January 2009.

Upon application of the Company, by order of the 

Hamburg District Court dated 5 February 2009 Klaus-

Joachim Wolfgang Krauth, Norbert Schmelzle and Carl 

Ulrich Andreas de Maizière were appointed members of 

the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG until the end of 

the General Shareholders’ Meeting that is tasked with 

reviewing the 2008 financial year.

Carl Ulrich Andreas de Maizière has many years of ex-

perience in banking and served on Commerzbank AG’s 

management board for a long time. He is currently a 

partner in Doertenbach & Co GmbH, Frankfurt (Main), 

and holds seats on several supervisory boards. Klaus-

Joachim Wolfgang Krauth has extensive experience in 

finance and controlling as a result of his many years of 

professional activities in these areas, for instance as 

chief financial officer of Hexal AG. He is currently the 

Chief Financial Officer of the family office, Athos Serv-

ice GmbH. As managing director and / or management 

board member of various industrial companies, Norbert 

Schmelzle acquired a lot of know-how in regards to is-

sues of strategy as well as operational controlling of in-

ternational organisations, most recently as managing di-

rector of Kaefer Isoliertechnik GmbH in Bremen. He now 

works as a management consultant.

Due to the significant changes in the economic environ-

ment, particularly the very rapid swing from a seller’s 

to a buyer’s market, but also due to legal doubts which 

had emerged in the meantime over the enforceability 
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of at least some contractual provisions which were not 

in Conergy’s favour, Conergy entered into talks with 

MEMC a few weeks ago with the aim of renegotiating 

the agreed wafer supply contract.

Contrary to expectations, it has not yet been possible 

to bring these renegotiations to a conclusion. A basic 

agreement has been reached to amicably terminate the 

supply contract, providing that the prepayments of USD 

66 million which have already been made are retained 

and that a new supply contract with a term of one year 

is simultaneously concluded. However, the parties have 

not yet come to an agreement over a series of auxiliary 

conditions relating to such a rearrangement.

Should it not be possible to amicably terminate the sup-

ply contract in the near future, Conergy will take legal 

action challenging this supply contract on the basis of 

the results of a legal review which has been carried out.

Risk and opportunity report

Risk management

All entrepreneurial activity is inextricably bound to risks 

and rewards. This is why effective management of risks 

and opportunities is critical to success.

The Management Board of the Conergy Group has es-

tablished a management control system within group-

wide risk management for purposes of early detection, 

assessment and management of relevant risks and for 

purposes of fulfilling statutory requirements. It is an in-

tegral part of groupwide planning, managing and re-

porting processes. Risks are assessed based on both 

the probability of their occurring and the possible loss 

amount. New risks are analysed and included in risk 

management if they are relevant. Individually adjusted 

strategies and measures designed to avoid, reduce, or 

hedge risks are initiated. The Management Board and 

Corporate Risk Management, in collaboration with indi-

vidual risk owners designated as Group Risk Monitors, 

regularly assess and adjust the risk situation in addition 

to fulfilling their obligation to file ad-hoc releases in the 

event of new, relevant risks. The Company’s risk man-

agement system was and is subject to internal and ex-

ternal reviews.

The earnings of the Conergy Group deteriorated dra-

matically during the 2007 financial year, triggering an 

earnings and liquidity crisis at the close of 2007 that 

threatened the Company’s existence as a going con-

cern; the crisis was averted through capital measures 

for EUR 70.0 million in November 2007 and around EUR 

399.3 million in December 2008. The EUR 240.0 million 

bridge loan, which was granted in February 2008, was 

repaid using the proceeds of the December 2008 capi-

tal increase.

The Group posted a net loss of EUR – 306,6 million for 

the 2008 financial year, up from a net loss of EUR – 248.1 

million in the 2007 financial year.

The Group’s equity ratio rose to 26.4 percent follow-

ing the completion of the capital increase in December 

2008; previously, it had dropped from approximately 

12.1 percent at the end of 2007 to about 6.3 percent by 

30 June 2008.

Aside from preparing an appropriate restructuring and 

realignment concept and replacing almost all previ-

ous senior managers in finance and administration, the 

Management Board also refined the Company’s existing 
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risk management system and other core Group depart-

ments, on short notice, in order to be able to effectively 

counter developments in the future that led to the earn-

ings and liquidity crisis at the end of 2007. This refined 

system further integrates risk management into the 

Company’s business processes, ensuring, in particular, 

that it dovetails with Group Controlling and is made part 

and parcel of the project business. The risk overview is 

continuously updated based on internal and external 

sources and experience.

In Conergy’s view, the risk management system is a 

process that is adjusted on an ongoing basis to the 

Company’s structural and process organisation, mar-

kets and current developments, with the result that it is 

continuously improved. We will continue refining the risk 

management system in 2009.

The Management Board prepares budgets and fore-

casts for managing the Conergy Group. There were 

shortcomings in the accuracy of our forecasting and the 

planning process itself because we had failed to imple-

ment a fully integrated planning system before the earn-

ings and liquidity crisis occurred in November 2007 due 

to growth-related system weaknesses. These short-

comings will be eliminated as part of the restructur-

ing concept that the new Management Board has de-

veloped, especially by streamlining internal processes, 

aligning the IT structure and improving management 

tools. As a key step in this context, the implementation 

of SAP was successfully completed in Germany in Jan-

uary 2009. There is a possibility, therefore, that the ap-

propriate information regarding deviations from budg-

ets and other facts negatively affecting the Company’s 

business are not forwarded to Conergy’s management 

in due time through the controlling and reporting sys-

tems, especially before, during and, possibly, after the 

conclusion of these measures so that misallocations of 

resources cannot be fully precluded. Such misallocation 

could have a negative effect on Conergy’s assets, liabili-

ties, cash flows and profit or loss.

What follows is a description of the risks that could have 

considerable negative effects on the assets, liabilities, 

cash flows and profit or loss of the Conergy Group, its 

share price and our reputation. These are not neces-

sarily the only risks to which Conergy is exposed. Risks 

that are presently unknown to Conergy or that it deems 

insignificant at this time might also undermine its busi-

ness activities.

Material risks

Fallout of the crisis in the markets for capital and 

sales

Conergy’s business model presupposes functioning 

market mechanisms in its capital and sales markets. 

In the long term, systematic and / or structural disrup-

tions could substantially hamper the development of the 

Company’s business and lead to unforeseeable busi-

ness developments.

Both regional and global economic conditions influence 

Conergy’s industry. Considerable fluctuations and dis-

tortions buffeted the capital and credit markets in the 

2008 financial year. After two quarters of shrinking GDP, 

Germany – which, in its capacity as the core PV mar-

ket remains Conergy’s most important market – is of-

ficially in a recession. According to the November 2008 

update of the International Monetary Fund’s world eco-

nomic outlook, the global economy will be in a reces-

sion in 2009.

Substantial negative effects on Conergy’s assets, li-

abilities, cash flows and profit or loss that might even 

jeopardise the Company as a going concern as well as 

its ability to finalise project financing as well as to raise 

funds cannot be excluded if the fluctuations and dis-

tortions on the capital and financial markets remain in 

place owing to the financial market crisis – particularly in 

the markets that are crucial to Conergy – or if they were 

to trigger deflation.

The current economic situation is having an especially 

negative effect on Conergy’s ability to achieve individual 

restructuring targets, mainly in the following areas:

|| Sales volume

	 There is the possibility that customers might delay 

or cancel orders and projects due to their specif-

ic situation as a result of both the financial market 

crisis and the recession, and that the Company will 

be unable to acquire new customers in the numbers 

necessary for meeting unit sale targets. Indeed the 

renewable energy industry’s strong seasonal fluctu-

ations could intensify this effect.

 

|| Margin changes

	 The sales prices for PV modules are falling fast-

er than expected. Conergy now expects prices for 

modules to fall between 15.0 and 20.0 percent. 

However, even though declining sales prices do not 

necessarily have a negative impact on Conergy’s 

business model, they do entail the risk that the price 

degression of long-term delivery contracts might 
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not correspond to crumbling sales prices. Any in-

ability on Conergy’s part to adjust the procurement 

prices stipulated in delivery contracts as necessary 

would put the planned margin increases substan-

tially at risk. This applies especially to Conergy’s 

long-term wafer delivery contract with MEMC Elec-

tronic Materials, Inc., St. Peters, USA; the price de-

gression under this agreement is much slower than 

the price degression that currently seems possible 

in the markets. Please see the disclosures regard-

ing events after the balance sheet date for informa-

tion on the status of the contractual relationship with 

MEMC.

|| Project financing

	 Given the current situation in the markets for capital 

and sales, there is the risk that neither borrowings 

nor equity from Conergy’s customers for specific 

projects might be available as planned, for example, 

because customers have filed for bankruptcy. Other 

reasons include their inability to make capital avail-

able or unrealistic expectations as to yields. How-

ever, given the current situation in the markets for 

capital and sales, we cannot ensure that contractu-

ally stipulated funding would actually materialise. In 

turn, this could change or completely cancel con-

tractually stipulated projects, with the attendant ef-

fects on Conergy’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and 

profit or loss.

 

|| Working capital management, default risks

	 Conergy is creating inventories of PV modules, raw 

materials and consumables as well as of mount-

ing systems and inverters under long-term delivery 

contracts – and pursuant to conservative planning 

rooted in functional market mechanisms – in order 

to meet requirements under planned and projected 

sales. Conergy would be unable to use these asset 

inventories, or they might be subject to writedowns, 

if orders and projects are cancelled because of the 

current situation in the markets for capital and sales, 

as described above. Besides increasing the quanti-

ty of inventories, such a development might require 

valuation adjustments to inventories as part of work-

ing capital management or selling prices that are 

below cost.

	 There is also a greater risk that customers might no 

longer be able to fulfil their contractual payment ob-

ligations, given their own financial situation. In turn, 

this could lead to unplanned allowances for doubt-

ful accounts. Furthermore, we cannot always guar-

antee that Conergy would be able to retrieve the 

goods it delivered subject to reservation of title by 

enforcing its security interest because it is an inter-

national business and because goods are redeliv-

ered.

|| Fixed and intangible assets

	 Impairment losses might have to be recognised on 

intangible assets – but also on significant items of 

property, plant and equipment such as the produc-

tion plant in Frankfurt (Oder) – pursuant to statutory 

accounting standards if fair values fall below carry-

ing amounts. This could happen if sales are lower 

than planned due to the ongoing crisis on the mar-

kets for capital and sales. This crisis thus intensifies 

the risk that Conergy’s assets, liabilities and profit or 

loss might be substantially affected by accounting 

losses on tangible assets as well as immaterial as-

sets.

If the earnings and liquidity of Conergy were to deterio-

rate as a result of the aforementioned factors, the pro-

ceeds from the December 2008 capital increase that 

were earmarked for the restructuring might be used up 

for other purposes and hence make it impossible for the 

Company to attain significant additional restructuring 

targets. In turn, this could threaten Conergy as a going 

concern.

Successful restructuring

The capital increase completed in December 2008 was 

a material component of the comprehensive restructur-

ing programme that was launched at the end of the 2007 

financial year with the aim of overcoming the Compa-

ny’s earnings and liquidity crisis. The restructuring pro-

gramme has not yet been completed although a multi-

tude of actions had already been executed by the end of 

the financial year just ended. As described above, the 

crisis in the finance and sales markets may also mate-

rially affect the achievement of open restructuring ob-

jectives.

The measures not yet completed specifically include:

|| sustained improvement of margins by realigning the 

Company’s distribution policies with an international 

focus on high-growth and high-margin market seg-

ments and markets; 

|| further reducing the Company’s high dependence 

on suppliers of PV modules by focusing on reliable 

strategic suppliers;

|| improving the margin potential by changing the 

Company’s product mix;

|| further personnel and non-personnel cost 
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reductions via personnel reductions, service con-

solidation, process optimisation and appropriate 

cost management and cost control strategies;

|| lowering the amount of tied-up capital by improving 

the Company’s working capital management (une-

quivocal assignment of responsibilities for receiv-

ables and receivables management, improvement 

of dunning processes as well as reduction in inven-

tories and accounts receivable aging, both of which 

remain high, as well as reduction in the high number 

of outstanding receivables);

|| further improving the Company’s management 

through uniform and efficient IT structures as well 

as reducing the complexity of intragroup relations;

|| further expanding the network of domestic sales &  

distribution partners;

|| cash-neutral financing of large-scale projects in the 

project business; and 

|| further implementation of groupwide management, 

control and incentive systems commensurate with 

the Company’s new responsibility structures and 

core key performance indicators (such as return on 

capital employed).

Successful execution of the restructuring programme 

will give rise to the following risks, in particular:

|| failure to achieve capacity utilisation targets in our 

Frankfurt (Oder) factory, also with respect to our 

considerable purchase commitments under a wafer 

delivery contract with MEMC Electronic Materials, 

Inc., St. Peters, Missouri, USA;

|| failure to achieve the planned process optimisations 

and / or to ensure that the PV modules produced 

possess the requisite quality and competitiveness;

|| loss of important employees;

|| unavailability of high-quality PV modules and pre-

products at adequate prices;

|| missing the margin improvement targets, also in 

light of the expected price pressures in the photo-

voltaic segment;

|| additional liquidity needs in connection with 

projects;

|| failure to meet the planned cost targets;

|| failure of planned divestments or failure to achieve 

targeted sales already considered in the financial 

planning;

|| timely improvement of the IT environment, control-

ling as well as risk and liquidity management; and

|| inability to adequately execute required measures 

or contractual agreements with suppliers for legal or 

other reasons.

The reliability of contractual partners in supplying pur-

chased products and services may also suffer as a re-

sult of the tight situation on the capital and sales mar-

kets. There is also the risk that Conergy’s tight finances 

might preclude the Company from obtaining any loans 

at all for marketing its existing projects and developing 

new ones in its project business (EPURON segment) or 

limit it to insufficient amounts. Any inability on Conergy’s 

part to substantially improve its profitability will cause 

its losses to eat into the funds it raised through the capi-

tal increase, further impairing its balance sheet, finan-

cial strength and profitability.

The restructuring also brings the risk of voluntary res-

ignations by important employees. Conergy might miss 

business objectives if it were unable to find adequate 

substitutes for such employees in a timely manner. 

There is also the possibility that employees leaving the 

Company might compete with it; this could have a neg-

ative impact on both Conergy’s business relationships 

and its cash flows and profit or loss.

Given the fact that the crisis in the finance and sales 

markets has now also reached the renewables markets 

and hence photovoltaics too – Conergy’s core busi-

ness – the Company’s Management Board has initiated 

a worldwide project aimed at assessing the fallout from 

the situation in the finance and sales markets in coop-

eration with external experts. The initial findings of these 

analyses are anticipated for the first quarter of 2009.

There is no guarantee nonetheless that we will be able 

to continue successfully implementing the restructuring, 

given the global economy’s current climate.

Conergy could be threatened as a going concern if the 

restructuring measures are unsuccessful in economic 

terms.

Terms and conditions of the syndicated loan 

agreement

Effective 31 July 2007, Conergy closed a syndicated 

loan agreement with 23 banks under the leadership of 

Commerzbank AG, Dresdner Bank AG and WestLB AG 

for a total two-tranche loan volume of EUR 600.0 mil-

lion. This loan agreement contains extensive disclosure 

requirements and the obligation to comply with specif-

ic financial indicators (“Financial Covenants”). Conergy 

has undertaken thereunder not to exceed a specific ra-

tio of consolidated net liabilities to consolidated EBIT-

DA (in each case with and without contingent liabili-

ties) and not to fall below a specific ratio of EBITDA to 
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consolidated net interest expense; these ratios are re-

defined each quarter. The banks did waive compli-

ance with the Financial Covenants for financial years 

2008 and 2009, given the development of the Conergy 

Group’s financial situation at the end of 2007. Compli-

ance with the new financial ratios to be negotiated by 30 

September 2009 based on the new capital structure and 

a new business plan must, again, be established on 31 

March 2010. Any noncompliance with these newly ne-

gotiated financial indicators or the Financial Covenants 

that have been adopted triggers the lenders’ right to ter-

minate for cause, with the result that they are authorised 

to call the loan immediately. The lenders also have other 

termination rights.

We can not preclude that compliance with our obliga-

tions under both the syndicated loan will have a negative 

impact on Conergy’s business activities, for instance 

because the Company must forgo or postpone invest-

ments, divestments, disposals or acquisitions, thus un-

dercutting its competitiveness. Any failure by Conergy 

to comply with the Financial Covenants under the afore-

mentioned loan agreements and to cure any breach 

thereof or any refusal by the relevant lenders to waive 

compliance with the relevant requirements gives rise to 

contractually stipulated grounds for termination author-

ising the lenders, among other things, to call all liabilities 

under the relevant loan immediately and to foreclose on 

the collateral.

Availability and procurement prices of preproducts

Silicon ingots or silicon wafers, which Conergy AG turns 

into PV modules at its Frankfurt (Oder) factory, are a 

preproduct that is key to the Company’s business. In-

sufficient deliveries of silicon wafers would prevent us 

from fully or adequately utilising both the existing and 

the planned production capacities in Frankfurt (Oder) 

and thus from attaining the targeted and required econ-

omies of scale, with the result that our production costs 

would exceed those of competitors with better ca-

pacity utilisation. Moreover, this could also undermine 

Conergy’s ability to make deliveries to the buyers of its 

products. Conergy will be unable – absent sufficient 

supplies of silicon wafers from existing and / or future 

suppliers – to manufacture, process and sell photovolta-

ic modules in the necessary quantities. Any failure on 

the part of Conergy to satisfy its delivery obligations vis-

à-vis buyers would trigger fines and claims for damag-

es. In October 2007, Conergy AG entered into a ten-year 

delivery contract with MEMC, subject to annual volume 

increases and at market terms prevailing at the time, 

with the aim of securing the quantities of silicon wafers 

it needs. Since then Conergy’s realignment has made it 

necessary to adjust the contractually stipulated delivery 

volume. The agreement with MEMC was modified in Ju-

ly 2008. Please see the disclosures regarding events af-

ter the balance sheet date for information on the status 

of the contractual relationship with MEMC.

In this context, the price risk is a significant risk to 

Conergy’s profitability. This risk results, specifically, 

from the fact that the agreement with MEMC for the de-

livery of silicon wafers provides for an (annually declin-

ing) fixed price that is determined on the basis of the 

wattage that can be produced. The contract does not 

provide for any additional options to adjust or renego-

tiate prices in keeping with market developments. This 

applies particularly in the event of a dramatic drop in 

the price for silicon wafers, a development that Conergy 

continues to anticipate. Then there is the risk that 

Conergy might be unable to manufacture its products 

at competitive costs. In addition, the Company’s assets, 

liabilities and profit or loss could be affected if the sili-

con wafers that it has already accepted or continues to 

contract for, as well as any goods that it has already or 

might still manufacture using these wafers, might have 

to be written down due to the dramatic drop in sales 

prices. This is why the contract with MEMC had to be re-

negotiated again if Conergy was to achieve the positive 

operating performance it has envisioned. Please see the 

disclosures regarding events after the balance sheet 

date for information on the status of the contractual re-

lationship with MEMC.

Such a risk also exists for all other procurement con-

tracts, for instance those for PV modules or compo-

nents.

Although the scope of our contract with MEMC was 

substantially reduced in mid-2008, there is the risk for 

one that MEMC might not fulfil its delivery obligations 

at all, in full, on time or with the requisite technical qual-

ity. This applies all the more as the contract gives MEMC 

the right to make up for delivery shortfalls in the follow-

ing years.

Furthermore, given the possibility that the ongoing de-

velopment of silicon-based solar cells will increasing-

ly go in the direction of monocrystalline silicon wafers, 

Conergy’s production might be exposed to the risk that 

the deliveries stipulated with MEMC are currently lim-

ited to multicrystalline silicon wafers. Any failure on 

Conergy’s part to meet its current contractual payment 

obligations toward MEMC – apart from the existing pay-

ment terms – would incur considerable interest on ar-

rears.
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Finally, any transport-related breakage is Conergy’s 

responsibility under the contract because it bears the 

transportation risk.

Under its contract with MEMC, the Company is also ob-

ligated to make substantial payments to a “Refundable 

Capacity Reservation Deposit” during the entire life of 

the agreement. These deposits are already tying up sig-

nificant amounts of cash in the contract’s first years, 

which can cause problems for Conergy, especially giv-

en its weak liquidity. Please see the disclosures regard-

ing events after the balance sheet date for information 

on the status of the contractual relationship with MEMC.

Production plant in Frankfurt (Oder)

Conergy invested approximately EUR 250.0 million to 

establish in Frankfurt (Oder) one of the world’s most 

state-of-the-art production plants for PV modules. The 

value chain in Frankfurt (Oder) entails the cutting of in-

gots into silicon wafers, turning silicon wafers into solar 

cells and processing the latter into PV modules. Operat-

ing the production plant in Frankfurt (Oder) gives rise to 

risks especially in the following areas:

The Frankfurt (Oder) plant was originally scheduled to 

be fully operational in January 2008. A variety of fac-

tors (bottlenecks in commodity supplies, IT control and 

testing procedures related to the ramp-up of production 

that were more extensive than planned, delays in the de-

livery and start-up of certain equipment and a strong fo-

cus of production on high-yield mass operations) made 

it impossible to maintain the schedule, however.

At the end of the financial year, ten of the 24 wafer saws 

were fully operational. Currently one of the four cell lines 

is operating and production is possible on all five mod-

ule lines (as of March 2009). Nonetheless, there is the 

possibility of further delays. Conergy runs the risk of in-

curring higher than expected costs for ramping up the 

remaining production lines in Frankfurt (Oder).

There is no guarantee that module production in Frank-

furt (Oder) will develop as planned and that the invest-

ment will pay off as expected. Conergy has been unable 

to date to fully utilise the factory’s installed production 

capacity. The Frankfurt (Oder) plant has built up consid-

erable capacities in order to be able to cut silicon blocks 

into wafers once the blocks are delivered. The sawing 

capacities set aside for the quantities to be delivered by 

MEMC may not be utilised at all times because our con-

tract with MEMC gives it the right but not the obliga-

tion to deliver silicon blocks. In order to utilise the plant’s 

unused capacities, silicon blocks are cut into wafers for 

other solar companies.

The Frankfurt (Oder) production plant is based on an in-

tegrated approach. The fact that it covers the entire val-

ue chain from the processing of silicon wafers into so-

lar cells to the production of PV modules also means 

that technological progress on one level must be repli-

cated on all other levels of the value chain for the inte-

grated approach to be maintained. This is why Conergy 

is working hard to bring about sustained efficiency 

gains in production. Excellent results have already been 

achieved in terms of increasing both production yields 

and efficiencies in Frankfurt (Oder). But the underutili-

sation of existing capacities has limited further optimi-

sations to date.

Raw material and component supplies

Conergy depends on its suppliers for different raw ma-

terials and high-quality components such as solar 

cells and modules, silicon wafers, silane gas, alumini-

um, glass, foil as well as steel in the required quantities 

and at fixed times. The long-term delivery contract with 

MEMC has covered a portion of our wafer supply since 

the third quarter of 2008 and will do so entirely in later 

years. Please see the disclosures regarding events af-

ter the balance sheet date for information on the status 

of the contractual relationship with MEMC. For the most 

part, all other preproducts and materials are covered by 

general agreements (subject to extension options) with 

several providers in some cases. Nonetheless, even 

when Conergy’s suppliers have undertaken to make 

the requisite deliveries to Conergy in the long term, this 

does not guarantee that these deliveries will be made in 

full, on time as well as at the stipulated quality and at the 

market prices prevailing at that time. There is no guar-

antee – if MEMC or another supplier does not fulfil its 

delivery contract at all or only in part or not in time, or if 

MEMC does not exercise its discretion in ways that meet 

Conergy’s requirements or if the silicon wafers delivered 

do not possess the quality owing under the contract – 

that Conergy would be able on short notice to procure 

the required silicon wafers from other suppliers in suffi-

cient quantities and at the required quality as well as at 

a reasonable price and in due time. Insufficient deliver-

ies of the materials required for the production process 

would make it impossible for Conergy to utilise its pro-

duction capacities, thus undermining its own ability to 

make deliveries. The availability of these materials at ad-

equate prices thus is pivotal to Conergy’s assets, liabili-

ties, cash flows and profit or loss. Rising material prices 

would also have a negative effect on Conergy’s assets, 
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liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss if Conergy can 

not pass these price increases on to its customers due 

to market developments and demand levels.

Promotion of photovoltaic and wind energy

Conergy’s business is highly dependent on government 

measures aimed at promoting photovoltaics and wind 

power (especially in Germany, Spain, the USA, France, 

Italy and Greece). Photovoltaics – the core of Conergy’s 

activities – would not be viable for customers in many 

markets absent statutory promotional measures be-

cause the cost of generating electricity using PV still 

exceeds both attainable market prices and the cost of 

generating electricity from conventional sources (e. g. 

nuclear power, coal, gas) by a significant margin, nor 

does the Company expect this to change in the medi-

um term despite the current situation on the capital and 

sales markets. The same applies, though to a lesser ex-

tent, to generating electricity from wind power. It is in-

deed possible that state subsidies for electricity from 

renewable energies will continue to decline in future 

or even be eliminated in the medium or long term. This 

would have significantly adverse effects on the Compa-

ny’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss. This 

is also true given possible EU initiatives regarding pan-

European changes in the promotion of renewable ener-

gies aimed at replacing the current national compensa-

tion schemes.

Additional fields of risk

Industry-specific risks

Photovoltaics competes with other processes for gen-

erating power from conventional and renewable sources 

of energy such as wind power, bioenergy and geother-

mal energy as well as CSP (“Concentrated Solar Pow-

er”). The market position of these sources of energy 

could surpass that of photovoltaics for technical, eco-

nomic, regulatory or other reasons – for example, if they 

are subsidised at higher rates – further undermining the 

development of photovoltaics. Consequently, this could 

cause investments in photovoltaics to dry up in whole or 

in part or, at a minimum, to decline by a substantial mar-

gin, in turn triggering a strong downturn in the demand 

for Conergy’s products and services.

The Company expects energy from conventional sourc-

es to continue to become more scarce and more ex-

pensive or at least maintain the status quo; in future the 

prices for conventional energy might fall again, however, 

causing the demand for renewable energy to decline if it 

is still much more expensive than conventional energy.

Conergy expects rising numbers of solar companies to 

go public, given the increasing competition in this sec-

tor that is being fuelled by both the positive statutory 

environment and the ongoing professionalisation of the 

PV industry. This trend and the increasing number of 

suppliers in technologies that are relevant for Conergy 

could further intensify price pressures, lowering the 

growth rate of Conergy’s sales.

Conergy’s business is also influenced by general eco-

nomic developments; as a result of the continued glo-

bal economic downturn or a possible continued and / or 

prolonged recession, the demand for its products and 

services might therefore decline precisely in those mar-

kets that are material to the Company.

Furthermore, changing demand for products and serv-

ices – for example, if the reputation of silicon-based or 

thin film products were to suffer – could cause margins 

to tighten or earnings to fall.

Conergy’s ability to install and maintain solar and wind 

energy systems also depends on the given climate and 

weather. Storms or frost can delay installation work, 

strong rain or snow can block vehicle access to con-

struction sites and an unexpected onset of winter can 

make it necessary to suspend transports altogether. In-

clement weather can also make it impossible to install 

units in due time, in turn increasing costs due to the re-

sulting delays.
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Nevertheless, Conergy expects laws promoting renew-

ables projects to be expanded to an ever-increasing 

number of regions and range of technologies. Moreover, 

market incentive programmes should create additional 

demand for regenerative energy systems. Conergy is 

essentially focusing on high-margin markets in growth 

regions with attractive subsidy programmes, given the 

Group’s realignment as a provider in the photovoltaics 

market.

Research and development

There is the risk that existing or new competitors might 

launch alternative products or technologies that are 

more economical, of a higher quality or more attrac-

tive for other reasons than Conergy’s products, improve 

their current products and technologies in such a way, 

or obtain exclusive rights to new technologies, effective-

ly blocking Conergy’s access to them.

There is also the risk that Conergy’s products might be 

unable to comply with existing or future certification re-

quirements both nationally and internationally.

The ability to adjust the product and services portfolio 

on an ongoing basis to current trends, developments 

and customer needs in individual markets is an impor-

tant component in the Group’s future success. Our re-

search and development projects serve to continuous-

ly improve our product portfolio, thus responding to the 

market’s steadily rising requirements.

Conergy performs regular analyses of markets, custom-

ers and competitors in order to make certain that it does 

not miss trends and developments in individual markets 

and applies the findings to the development and sale of 

its products and projects.

Legal risks

Conergy might be exposed to risk factors when work-

ing outside Germany that can not be influenced at all or 

readily. In particular, this includes foreign exchange con-

trols, limits on trade, insufficiently developed and / or de-

fined legal and administrative systems, war or terrorism.

Between 1999 and 2005, voltwerk AG (our former project 

development company and the precursor to EPURON 

GmbH) offered investors the possibility to profit from 

photovoltaics by means of public limited partnerships. 

voltwerk AG prepared prospectuses for the operat-

ing companies with the aim of generating equity in the 

form of limited partners’ capital contributions. The sale 

prospectuses of voltwerk AG were usually prepared in 

accordance with the “Principles of Proper Assessment 

of Prospectuses for Public Offerings” (IDW S 4), a stand-

ard promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 

in Deutschland (IDW – Institute of Public Auditors) and 

reviewed by an auditor based on this standard. Never-

theless, we can not preclude that claims for damages 

might be brought against EPURON GmbH in its capac-

ity as the successor company and thus under its liability 

for these prospectuses due to inaccurate or incomplete 

disclosures in voltwerk’s sale prospectuses.

Furthermore, the business of Conergy AG generally en-

tails the risk that customers might sue due to defects 

in our products, plants, or services, be it in connection 

with entire installations or individual components.

On 4 February 2008, a lawsuit was served on SunTech-

nics GmbH, a precursor of Conergy Deutschland GmbH. 

The claimant (a customer of SunTechnics GmbH, to-

day’s Conergy Deutschland GmbH) is bringing a claim 

for repayment of more than EUR 4.0 million in consid-

eration paid to SunTechnics for the delivery and con-

struction of a photovoltaic unit and announcing claims 

for damages in excess of EUR 5.0 million. The claimant 

bases its claims on defects related to the construction 

of the PV unit. Currently both parties are related in talks 

regarding amicable settlement of the disputes.

In a total of 15 claims filed between October and De-

cember 2008, several claimants are seeking damag-

es totalling EUR 3.5 million from the Company for their 

own rights or for rights assigned based essentially on 

incorrect capital market informations in connection with 

the Company’s revision of sales and profit forecasts for 

2007 on 25 October 2007. The Company is essentially 

contesting the claimants’ claims.

Product and production risks

While the services that Conergy offers and the products 

that it manufactures must satisfy highest quality require-

ments, quality defects can never be ruled out, no mat-

ter what precautions are taken. Any failure on the part of 

Conergy’s products to satisfy the requirements stipulat-

ed with the customer can result in the loss of such cus-

tomer and thus in the loss of sales as well as give rise 

to supplementary claims (particularly under warranties). 

Given Conergy’s long-term production and service con-

tracts, such quality-related risks could also jeopardise 

the profitability of its production and services.
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As far as self-produced products are concerned, these 

potential risks are lowered through quality management 

that is integrated into production. In the 2007 financial 

year, quality standards in the plants were improved such 

that production facilities of the Conergy Group – for ex-

ample, its plant for producing aluminium frames for so-

lar modules – were certified under ISO 9001. Additional 

certifications of other production facilities, such as the 

solar factory in Frankfurt (Oder), will probably follow in 

2009.

The quality of the units that Conergy sells is largely con-

tingent on the quality of the (pre)products used. Defec-

tive performance or sales of counterfeit goods by sup-

pliers could make it impossible for Conergy to provide 

its own contractual services, in turn triggering claims 

under warranties or product liability. Conergy is thus 

particularly dependent on the quality of the products 

that are delivered to it. This also applies to those com-

ponents that the suppliers develop in cooperation with 

Conergy and / or that are produced for Conergy under 

construction contracts.

Although Conergy generally has a right of recourse 

against its suppliers if its customers bring claims under 

warranty and for damages due to defective (pre)prod-

ucts, given the prevailing market environment its claims 

can not be enforced in every case nor can all related 

contracts be reversed.

Conergy counters these risks with a new standardised 

purchasing and product control process that serves 

to verify both performance and quality. The Company 

limits guarantee risks by stipulating guarantees with its 

suppliers essentially in accordance with the agreements 

it makes with its customers. Provisions have been rec-

ognised to meet future and known claims under warran-

ties.

Business interruptions can not be precluded despite the 

fact that we use high standards of technology and se-

curity in the construction, operation and maintenance 

of Conergy’s production facilities. There have also been 

acts of sabotage and vandalism against Conergy’s pro-

duction facilities in the past. These risks are compound-

ed by the fact that in all these cases people, third-party 

property and / or the environment might be harmed, in 

turn triggering considerable financial costs, even crimi-

nal liability.

Conergy is subject to a large number of constantly 

changing and increasingly challenging regulations re-

garding environment and health protections. These 

requirements have already sparked a need for capital 

investments in the past and the Company anticipates 

expending substantial funds in future as well in order 

to fulfil all applicable statutory requirements. This ap-

plies, in particular, in connection with the expansion of 

Conergy’s production facilities or whenever applicable 

requirements are substantially tightened. Nor can we 

preclude that producing and / or transporting liquid sub-

stances that are hazardous to water might be limited in 

future by means of statutory or regulatory requirements 

in light of the risk they pose to the environment.

In building, modifying and operating its plants, Conergy 

is dependent on public permits, particularly permissions 

granted by the authorities under the German Federal Im-

missions Control Act (Bundes-Immissionsschutzges-

etz), relevant state building codes and laws concerning 

water and waterways (Wasserrecht).

The Conergy Group engages in proactive insurance 

management in order to cover all significant risks. This 

comprises property, business interruption, liability and 

transport insurance policies as well as insurance poli-

cies that cover losses of goods and buildings. How-

ever, certain risks are excluded under these insurance 

policies. In particular, possible warranty obligations 

(e. g., for series defects) are not completely covered by 

insurance.

Protecting its industrial property rights, especially its 

know-how, is of major significance to Conergy. Any loss 

of know-how can limit Conergy’s ability to profit from 

innovative technological developments. Moreover, in-

sufficient protection of its know-how could also lead 

to a reduction in future income if other players were to 

succeed in marketing or manufacturing products using 

processes similar to those that Conergy developed. This 

could adversely affect Conergy’s competitive position.

Project risks 

Risks specific to the project business arise from the 

need for comprehensive prefinancing as well as the 

projects’ very large order volume. Difficulties and de-

lays in carrying out these projects could harm Conergy’s 

reputation and give rise to substantial damages payable 

to the projects’ principals under the Company’s liability 

as well as to loss of sales and liquidity shortfalls. Imple-

menting its project business also exposes the Conergy 

Group companies to the customary risks of a general 

contractor. Conergy regularly stipulates fixed prices for 

fixed performance in its project business. Any planning 

or budgeting mistakes in connection with a project as 
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well as any defective or delayed execution could pre-

clude carrying out the project in question such that it is 

profitable or at least covers our cost. Finally, Conergy 

also provides advance services as part of its project de-

velopment work that are not remunerated if the given 

project fails.

EPURON enters into general agreements with banks 

and investors in order to hedge its financing risk. For 

example, the Company concluded a general agreement 

with the Macquarie Capital Group, a leading bank and 

finance / investment firm that is based in Australia and 

New Zealand, for the development, financing and con-

struction of Australia’s largest wind project. EPURON al-

so acquires interests in investment companies – such 

as the Renewable Energy Trust Asia (RETA) it founded 

jointly with General Electric that has a targeted invest-

ment volume of about EUR 200.0 million over five years 

– and plans other funding ventures of this and a similar 

nature.

Every project undergoes a fixed planning and deci-

sion-making process in order to ensure that all param-

eters critical to its success have been considered in the 

project selection process.

In addition, we already issued a directive for EPURON’s 

project management in the 2007 financial year, which 

establishes binding guidelines with respect to process-

es, decision making and controlling during individual 

project phases.

Personnel risks

It is conceivable that the restructuring process and the 

uncertainty it may spark among Conergy’s employees 

will increasingly cause members of the Management 

Board and its executive management to terminate their 

contracts. There is also the risk that senior managers 

might not be available. Given that Conergy’s success 

is largely dependent on its senior managers, particu-

larly the members of its Management Board and its ex-

ecutive management, it is crucial that Conergy ensures 

executive loyalty and recruit additional highly qualified 

personnel – especially for the Conergy Group’s signif-

icant subsidiaries. Conergy might fall behind its com-

petitors if it is unable – say, because its earnings and 

liquidity crisis has harmed its reputation – to recruit ex-

perienced professionals as needed in future and to find 

adequate replacements for experienced staff who might 

leave the Company.

In order to counteract the risk of voluntary resignations 

by employees in positions pivotal to the Company, it 

has launched a broad retention programme that entails 

identifying staff in key functions who possess the know-

how that is critical to Conergy’s continued development 

and matching them to different incentive systems. There 

is no guarantee nevertheless that employees in areas 

important to the Company’s business will actually stay 

and, if they do not, that Conergy will be able to make up 

for such resignations on short notice and without affect-

ing its business.

The Company’s growth was both strong and rapid, 

causing it to raise the number of employees from 1,403 

to 2,756 (including discontinued operations) in the 2007 

financial year. It also had to hire many relatively young 

employees with little experience, given the tight labour 

market. As a result, our existing personnel structure and 

our employees’ in 2007 and parts of 2008 failed to ful-

ly satisfy the requirements of the Company’s business 

model; hence there is an urgent need for adjustments 

and / or reinforcements on all levels.

We have developed successor planning based on the 

identification of key functions with the aim of prepar-

ing high achievers already in the Company’s employ for 

subsequent leadership positions. This also helps to en-

sure that employees are capable of fulfilling job require-

ment profiles arising from the realignment. Internal per-

sonnel programmes support the process.

In future Conergy might be exposed to a greater number 

of business interruptions, strikes or other labour dis-

putes, particularly against the backdrop of the person-

nel reductions that occurred in the 2008 financial year. 

The Company is keen on achieving an understanding 

with its staff and has been communicating personnel 

decisions as transparently and consistently as possible.

The first ever elections to the Works Council at both 

Conergy AG and SunTechnics GmbH (today: Conergy 

Deutschland GmbH) took place in June 2008. The Works 

Councils were constituted in early July 2008. Therefore, 

Conergy AG and Conergy Deutschland GmbH will have 

to observe the statutory rights of the respective Works 

Councils to participate in future decision-making. This 

could delay the execution of necessary operational 

changes and thus cause the affected company to incur 

greater costs.

The members of the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG 

were elected by the shareholders. An expert opinion 

has come to the conclusion that Conergy AG normal-

ly has fewer than 500 employees and thus that these 
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employees do not have a co-determination right on the 

Supervisory Board pursuant to Section 1 para. 1 no. 1 

of the German One-Third Co-Participation Act (Drittel-

beteiligungsgesetz). The Company assumes therefore 

that its Supervisory Board need not have employee rep-

resentatives comprising one-third of its members.

Information technology risks

Ensuring smooth operations requires efficient and con-

tinuous data processing systems given that Conergy’s 

operations (e. g. production, sales, logistics, controlling 

and accounting) are largely computerised. Using defec-

tive or obsolete systems for too long can have as much 

of an adverse effect as introducing new systems.

Conergy shifted its central server to an external serv-

ice provider in 2007 in order to minimise relevant risks 

of loss. This ensures that the IT infrastructure is main-

tained at a high standard at all times and that all require-

ments regarding both the security and the availability of 

data have been satisfied. In order to improve transpar-

ency within the Company, a project for the integration of 

SAP as an ERP system was included in the existing IT 

environment and a release change of the software used 

in addition to SAP (Microsoft Dynamics NAV – Navision) 

was made based on a current version. The implemen-

tation of SAP in Germany was successfully completed 

according to plan in January 2009. Further systems are 

scheduled for implementation in 2009 to 2010. It cannot 

be precluded that these systems cannot be implement-

ed as planned or later than planned or not at all. Further-

more, application errors might increase in the start-up 

phase in spite of intensive training and the coordination 

of work processes due to the introduction of new IT sys-

tems; additional quality assurance and error correction 

could lead to delays and shifts in schedules. Conergy’s 

IT security was defective in the past and its emergen-

cy planning was insufficient. The Company has taken 

measures aimed at largely eliminating the shortcomings 

regarding access rights, authentication and master da-

ta management. Backup systems were updated at the 

time the Company’s computer centres were outsourced 

and the emergency protocols have been revised as well.

The Conergy Group’s ERP systems are highly hetero-

geneous and partly obsolete and its levels of process 

standardisation are very low due to the Company’s in-

tensive and much too rapid expansion strategy – ac-

quisitions, numerous market entries, establishment of 

module production – in turn hampering controlling and 

reporting functions. Measures such as the introduc-

tion of a new ERP system with corresponding control-

ling functions (which was successfully completed in 

Germany in January 2009), tight liquidity management, 

revisions of the risk management process and central-

isation of working capital management were launched 

during the restructuring. Particularly the introduction of 

the new ERP system entails large one-off costs and ad-

ministrative expenses. A Measure Control Office (MCO) 

established specifically for this purpose monitors the 

implementation of individual restructuring measures 

and adjusts them as necessary. Nevertheless, given 

the rapidly changing situation on the capital and sales 

markets there is a possibility that the appropriate in-

formation regarding deviations from budgets and other 

facts negatively affecting the Company’s business are 

not forwarded to Conergy’s management in due time 

through the controlling and reporting systems, espe-

cially before, during and, possibly, after the conclusion 

of these measures so that misallocations of resources 

cannot be fully precluded.
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Financial risks

Liquidity risks

Please see the section entitled “Terms and conditions of 

the syndicated loan agreement” on page 73 in regards 

to the material earnings and liquidity risks arising from 

the syndicated loan agreement.

Conergy’s loan agreements contain change of control 

provisions. Any change of control – i. e. a situation where 

an individual or a group of people acting in concert 

with each other (pursuant to an agreement or by oth-

er means) gain control over the Company – would give 

each bank the individually exercisable right to terminate 

the loan for cause. The Company’s ability to manoeuvre 

would be eliminated if the loan were to be called imme-

diately and would probably lead to its insolvency.

Based on the insights gained with respect to the liquid-

ity situation from groupwide financial planning tools, we 

now utilise liquidity planning that covers a period of 13 

weeks and is rolled over from week to week as well as 

quarterly update of the planning that covers 12 months. 

The introduction of refined controlling tools and IT sys-

tems will support the planning process; in Germany, the 

introduction of SAP was completed as planned in Janu-

ary 2009.

According to the Company’s planning and based on 

the existing credit lines and guarantees, the liquidity of 

Conergy AG and the Group is ensured in both the short 

and medium term mainly through cash inflows from op-

erating activities.

In the event of substantial shortfalls in sales and earn-

ings targets as well as in the cash inflows from operat-

ing activities – e. g. due to the fallout of the crisis in the 

markets for capital and sales and / or any failure of the 

restructuring measures to produce economic success-

es, as set forth in the section entitled “Material risks” – 

both the Company’s and the Group’s existence as a go-

ing concern might be jeopardised if they are unable to 

offset the relevant effects through other actions.

Interest rate and currency risks

A large part of the Conergy Group’s purchasing and 

sales volume in the 2008 financial year was effected 

in various currencies – in particular, euros, the US dol-

lar, the Japanese yen and the South Korean won. The 

Company is thus exposed to substantial currency risks. 

Conergy was unable to execute significant interest rate 

hedges in 2008 due to its tight earnings and liquid-

ity, nor does the capital increase that was completed 

in December 2008 make such hedges possible at this 

time. The Company is currently conducting negotiations 

aimed at allowing it to execute interest rate hedges as 

soon as possible.

There is the possibility that the Company might not be 

able to hedge foreign exchange risks at all or not in the 

desired scope in future either, or that the hedging instru-

ments used might not fully achieve the desired effect. 

The extensive use of loans also exposes Conergy to in-

terest rate fluctuations.

Usually, the Corporate Treasury department hedges 

both interest rate and currency risks in close collabora-

tion with the operating units using hedges that involve 

derivative financial instruments as set out in the Com-

pany’s “Treasury Guideline”. Treasury also hedges cur-

rency and interest rate risks related to the project busi-

ness, as necessary. Furthermore, the Conergy Group 

optimises its currency risks by pushing natural hedging 

measures – i. e. by matching cash outflows under deliv-

ery contracts with cash inflows from external sales in 

the same currency. Interest rate swaps and options are 

the primary means of hedging interest rate risks.

Sales of Conergy’s products and services are contin-

gent on the willingness of its current and potential cus-

tomers to make investments. This willingness to invest 

in turn hinges on the growth of demand for photovolta-

ic units. Grid-connected PV units are often financed 

through extensive borrowings. This applies to both small 

and medium-sized units that are installed by individuals, 

SMEs or government authorities as well as to major PV 

plants that are acquired by investors. Low interest rates 

in recent years and hence low borrowing costs have had 

a positive effect on the profitability of photovoltaic units, 

stimulating the demand for solar electricity systems that 

is already being fed by statutory subsidies. Given oth-

erwise unchanged general conditions, any increase in 

interest rates would raise borrowing costs and thus re-

duce the profitability of photovoltaic units, undermin-

ing demand for them. Restrictions on the availability of 

credit particularly in consequence of the current crisis 

on the financial and sales markets and higher expecta-

tions of investors as regards their return on investment 

could also depress the number of PV units that are in-

stalled.

Conergy largely finances its operations by means of 

loans with variable interest rates. Restrictions on the 

availability of credit – for example due to the cautious at-

titude that both banks and other financial intermediaries 

have adopted due to the current situation on the capital 

and sales markets – could make it difficult for Conergy 
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to obtain loans as needed for its operations. Additional-

ly, any increase in the benchmark interest rate stipulated 

for Conergy’s extant loans would increase the Compa-

ny’s interest expense.

But the Company’s project business, which it operates 

through the EPURON Group, is also closely linked to de-

velopments in the capital markets and thus depends on 

current interest rates. Rising interest rates or the banks’ 

growing unwillingness to provide loans would make 

project financing more expensive or even cause it to fail 

because EPURON’s customers tend to finance through 

borrowing, in particular for major PV plants; the resulting 

effects on demand for EPURON’s projects or its attain-

able margins would be highly detrimental. This is why 

EPURON is intensifying its quest for alternative fund-

ing options such as for example the Renewable Energy 

Trust Asia (RETA), which it established jointly with Gen-

eral Electric; the planned investment volume over five 

years is approximately EUR 200.0 million.

Risks related to corporate acquisitions

Conergy also fuelled its growth by acquiring small own-

er-led companies in particular. However, integrating 

such companies frequently is a difficult and lengthy 

process because they rarely follow IFRS accounting 

rules and usually use IT systems that are difficult to in-

tegrate – even in bookkeeping and accounting – and 

their corporate cultures experience major upheavals in 

the wake of being integrated into a publicly listed Group. 

Nor is it possible to preclude that mistakes will be made 

in audits of such companies at the time they or stakes 

therein are acquired. Indeed, this was one of several 

factors that contributed to Conergy’s earnings and li-

quidity crisis.

It is conceivable that the Conergy Group will continue 

to acquire companies in future. Conergy plans to ex-

ercise due care in preparing, reviewing, acquiring and 

integrating all such acquisitions. Nonetheless, acquisi-

tions do give rise to an entrepreneurial risk that is not in-

considerable and can have significant ramifications for 

the Company’s earnings and continued existence as a 

going concern.

Default risks

Default risks from trade or financial receivables entail 

the risk that the receivables are paid late, not in full or 

not at all.

Customers wanting to do business with the Conergy 

Group are subject to various credit checks. In addition, 

the Company’s central working capital management 

continuously monitors all outstanding receivables. Busi-

ness with major customers is subject to separate credit 

monitoring in connection with the Group’s central work-

ing capital management as part of receivables manage-

ment.

There is no guarantee nonetheless – especially against 

the backdrop of the current situation on the capital and 

sales markets as well as the process of consolidation 

among suppliers – that the Company will actually be 

able to collect receivables. It is also becoming increas-

ingly difficult to obtain receivables coverage from credit 

insurers.

Risks related to the utilisation of government 

subsidies

Conergy Group companies have received public sub-

sidies in the past. These subsidies are subject to spe-

cific requirements and strict controls aimed at verifying 

whether or not the standards for public subsidies have 

been met. Any noncompliance with the requirements 

carries the risk that the subsidies might have to be re-

paid. We can not preclude that the modified plans or po-

litical changes in connection with Conergy’s factory in 

Frankfurt (Oder) or parts of this factory or other Group 

companies will entail a greater cut than expected in the 

subsidies made available to Conergy and that the Com-

pany might face repayment demands by the authorities, 

especially on grounds that it did not comply with the re-

quirements.

Conergy plans to continue applying for government 

subsidies in future. Whether or not subsidies are grant-

ed is usually at the discretion of the public sector en-

tity or authority making the grant subject to the avail-

ability of budgeted funds. Grants are frequent, provided 

the relevant budget has earmarked funds for a specif-

ic programme and provided all requirements are met. 

But there are no options for obtaining and claiming 

subsidies by recourse to the courts.

For further details regarding financial risks, please see 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Tax risks

Conergy and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to 

routine government tax audits. The Group’s foreign 

businesses are also subject to similar tax audits. The 

most recent tax audit of the Company in Germany con-

cerned corporate income, municipal trade and value-

added taxes in the 2000 to 2003 assessment periods. 
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Tax assessments for the following years are subject to 

subsequent audits and thus can be changed, particular-

ly in the wake of a comprehensive tax audit.

The tax authorities have decided to eliminate a total of 

about EUR 7.8 million in loss carryforwards for Conergy 

AG, EPURON GmbH and SunTechnics GmbH (today: 

Conergy Deutschland GmbH) as a result of the com-

prehensive tax audit of the 2000 to 2003 assessment 

periods. EPURON GmbH and SunTechnics GmbH have 

already received revised tax assessments but both 

companies have appealed them. Conergy has not yet 

recognised any provisions for the taxes expected to be 

owed pursuant to the comprehensive tax audit because 

internal and external experts alike believe that Conergy 

stands a good chance of winning its appeals.

Conergy and the tax authorities are disputing addi-

tional albeit monetarily less significant issues in con-

nection with the comprehensive tax audit, namely the 

treatment of the costs related to the IPO, which was ini-

tially planned for 2001. Future comprehensive tax audits 

might also trigger demands for additional payments giv-

en the complexity of the tax law.

As at 31 December 2008, the Company has deferred tax 

assets of EUR 79.5 million (31 December 2007: EUR 50.3 

million) primarily from tax loss carryforwards. Conergy 

assumes that these tax loss carryforwards will be availa-

ble for offsetting against future sales before they expire. 

These deferred tax assets will have to be written down if 

the underlying loss carryforwards can not be used in the 

foreseeable future. Substantial portions of the tax loss 

carryforwards from previous years have been eliminated 

for tax reasons due to the changed shareholder struc-

ture following the completion of the capital increase in 

December 2008. While Conergy expects to be able to 

carry its existing losses forward to new account, its as-

sets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss would be 

negatively affected if it can not do so.

Supplemental tax claims for past periods or the elimi-

nation of the loss carryforwards could considerably in-

crease Conergy’s future tax burden. In addition, chang-

es in the tax law, such as the recently introduced interest 

deduction ceiling, which severely limits the tax deduct-

ibility of interest payments, could also raise the Com-

pany’s taxes.

Conergy works closely with internal and external experts 

in order to arrive at reliable and predictable assess-

ments of its tax risks and reduce possible tax burdens 

by taking appropriate action and decisions.

Risks from joint ventures

Conergy’s ability to fully exploit the strategic potential 

of the regions and markets on which it plans to focus its 

expansion in years to come could be undermined by its 

inability to bring about agreements with existing or fu-

ture regional partners regarding strategy and its execu-

tion and / or if its joint venture partners do not perform in 

the stipulated scope, at competitive prices or at the de-

sired quality. Both could impair Conergy’s ability to suc-

cessfully translate its strategies into practice.

Sharing know-how with partners in the context of joint 

ventures carries the risk that Conergy will incur a net 

loss of know-how. This is because the know-how trans-

ferred can no longer be protected once Conergy sepa-

rates from a given joint venture partner. In turn this could 

spark heightened competition for commodities, pre-

products or customers.

Risks from potential noncompliance with 

requirements applicable to listed companies

The Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) re-

quested information regarding the publication of the ad 

hoc release dated 25 October 2007 in connection with 

the publication of the interim report as at 30 June 2007 

as well as regarding the correction of the sales and 

earnings forecasts for 2007; Conergy AG has provided 

the relevant information. There are no indications at the 

present time that the Company breached its disclosure 

obligations under capital market laws.

Management risks

Conergy operates in the world’s most important solar 

markets. The Company generally pursues its business 

through subsidiaries whose managing directors are giv-

en extensive decision-making authority in order to be 

able to act and react autonomously in proximity to the 

relevant market. Hence Conergy’s corporate structure 

ensures that its strategic units are run by entrepreneurs 

within corporate confines.

These executives are committed to responsible man-

agement. Nevertheless, given the responsibility and 

latitude that is granted to these executives, the risk of 

abuse can not be fully precluded despite fully developed 

and multi-stage review and controlling mechanisms.

Directors & Officers insurance policies (D & O insurance) 

that provide for suitable deductibles as defined in the 

German Corporate Governance Code have been pur-

chased on behalf of all Group companies’ Management 

and Supervisory Board members as well as executives 
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for the purpose of hedging the risk of liability claims 

against the Group’s management.

Other risks

Just as other companies, Conergy too is exposed to 

risks arising from potential radical changes in the po-

litical, legal and social environment. Likewise, possible 

terror attacks or natural disasters theoretically pose a 

risk to the Company’s net assets, financial position and 

profit or loss.

Conergy is exposed to the risk of competitors or others 

engaging in industrial espionage given its highly visible 

activities in an attractive market with a promising future 

and its own high-tech production facility in Frankfurt 

(Oder). This concerns process and production know-

how as well as any other proprietary know-how. Theo-

retically this could also jeopardise the Company’s as-

sets, liabilities, cash flows and profit.

The Conergy Group’s current market capitalisation 

makes the Company a potential target for a takeover by 

a competitor or vulture company. In that case, the Group 

could be taken over or broken up.

Opportunities

Aside from resulting in the risks described above, the 

relevant scenarios can also give rise to opportunities. As 

a result of the restructuring process that it already initi-

ated in early 2008, the Conergy Group is positioning it-

self primarily as a downstream provider in the PV mar-

ket while maintaining its access to upstream know-how 

through its Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory and voltwerk 

electronics GmbH in Hamburg, which manufactures 

electronic components as tracking systems, connection 

boxes as well as string and central inverters.

The Management Board believes that this process could 

engender at least the following opportunities that might 

have a positive effect on the Company’s sales, earnings 

or liquidity. Note that the opportunities described below 

may not bear fruit at all or in full and that the occurrence 

of one or more of the aforementioned risks might make 

it partly or wholly impossible to tap into the positive ef-

fects of these opportunities.

Increased profitability of PV units

Falling prices for solar energy systems due to low-price 

modules and other system components can lead to a 

noticeable reduction in the cost of investments in PV 

units per kWp of installed output. If the reduction in sys-

tems prices were to noticeably outpace any renewed 

amendment of laws promoting renewables – existing 

promotions being the same – the profitability of PV units 

in certain markets might noticeably improve, provided 

current interest rates are cut and reasonable refinancing 

options are available. If this development were to occur 

simultaneously with the availability of sufficient funds, 

PV units could be turned into attractive and secure in-

vestment options for end customers and investors alike.

Rising demand momentum 

The demand for systems in the end customer market is 

also subject to the elasticity of demand, a factor that 

has not been adequately analysed to date in regards to 

PV systems. Any decline in systems prices could con-

ceivably have a substantial impact on the demand for 

photovoltaics units. High price elasticity could sub-

stantially stimulate demand, in turn tightening supplies. 

There is no doubt that lower investment costs per kWp 

and alternative investment options would attract many 

more customer groups and turn PV systems into a re-

ality for everybody in the core photovoltaics markets. 

Given this backdrop, there is the chance that yet anoth-

er sharp drop in systems prices could cause demand 

to soar, provided price elasticity remains high. This al-

so depends on customers’ confidence in the future, the 

stability of their own financial situation as well as their 

access to adequate own funds and / or funding options.

Renewables as an increasingly attractive separate 

asset class 

The uncertainty in the capital markets as well as the 

experience of the recent past have unsettled many in-

vestors. By definition, alternative energy projects (pho-

tovoltaics, wind- and bio plants etc.) offer considera-

ble advantages in these times. In terms of intake and 

offtake, PV projects have largely been secured by a 

statutory framework in stable countries or markets that 

protects them against external effects such as com-

modities prices, interest rate trends etc. As a result, in-

vestments in renewables projects and funds might be-

come even more popular than has been the case to 

date, which would greatly stimulate demand among ma-

jor investors for suitable projects and installations. This 

could have a positive effect on the Company’s assets, li-

abilities, cash flows and profit or loss.
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Shift from providers’ to buyers’ market earlier than 

predicted

The photovoltaic market is increasingly developing from 

a provider’s to a buyer’s market. This can increase the 

profitability of the downstream segment in comparison 

to the upstream segment, which is currently enjoying 

very high rates of return. The fact that many providers 

are pushing the build-up and expansion of silicon ca-

pacities has resulted in a larger supply of silicon in the 

market. This could enable Conergy to purchase increas-

ing quantities of silicon and silicon-based preproducts 

at substantially lower prices than before and could pos-

sibly attain full capacity utilisation at its Frankfurt (Oder) 

plant sooner than previously expected.

The development described above could cause profit 

trends to shift to the benefit of downstream manufactur-

ers, in turn greatly benefiting Conergy in its capacity as 

a strong downstream player. This could have a positive 

effect on Conergy’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and 

profit or loss.

Early grid parity

Providing certain assumptions are true, conventional 

market studies forecast grid parity for key countries by 

the middle of the next decade. More recent analyses, 

such as those conducted by Goldman Sachs and McK-

insey Quarterly present some of these scenarios. In fact, 

grid parity could occur earlier than anticipated if elec-

tricity prices continue to rise in countries such as Ita-

ly or Spain or US states that boast high levels of solar 

radiation, such as California, or even in Germany. Early 

grid parity would have a positive effect on consumer de-

mand for photovoltaic systems and installations, which 

could benefit Conergy. Retail customers would be pre-

sented with a choice as to the provenance of their grid 

power. This would increase the number of projects and 

individual demand as well as boost demand for pho-

tovoltaic system components in general, which in turn 

would also have a positive effect on Conergy’s earnings 

as a supplier of photovoltaic systems.

Positive US market development

For the US market the company expects a noticeable 

change in the energy policies in the near future. The US 

stimulus package (the so-called American Recovery 

and Reinvestment Act) that President Barack Obama 

signed into law on 17 February 2009 contains several 

provisions that could spur growth in the solar industry 

yet again. According to one of the more notable provi-

sions, up to 30.0 percent of the cost of solar projects 

will be directly reimbursed under the Renewable Energy 

Grant Program irrespective of tax liabilities; this pro-

gramme will be in place for two years. Moreover, loans 

for financing renewables projects will be guaranteed at 

the federal level. This provision could increase banks’ 

willingness to finance projects in the renewables indus-

try. And the possibility of obtaining grants for solar ener-

gy at the level of individual states in addition to the fed-

eral programme will also help to foster growth. The US 

Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA) thus expects 

installed solar output to double in 2009.

Conergy will be able to benefit from the expected posi-

tive development of the market, given both its presence 

in the US market and its references. This could have 

a positive effect on Conergy’s assets, liabilities, cash 

flows and profit or loss.

Early breakthrough of Concentrated Solar Power 

(CSP)

A breakthrough in CSP technology could occur earlier 

than expected. In Spain, government funding for CSP 

projects is already in place. The Conergy Group is rep-

resented in Spain by the EPURON segment. Although 

EPURON currently has relatively few projects utilising 

CSP, it is gaining experience in this field. Should CSP 

technology experience a significant economic break-

through within the project environment, EPURON will 

further expand its commitments in this area. EPURON 

will thereby benefit from the experience it has already 

gained in the field. This could have a positive effect on 

Conergy’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or 

loss. At the same time, this could result in a decline in 

the demand for PV installations.

New markets

Trends in new Eastern European markets such as the 

Czech Republic or Bulgaria as well as in other markets 

could stimulate demand for PV systems and thus benefit 

Conergy if mechanisms aimed at promoting renewables 

remain sufficiently stable and clear procedural rules are 

in place. This could have a positive effect on Conergy’s 

assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss.



Conergy AG * Annual Report 2008

9898

Report of anticipated  
development

Global economic developments

Economic experts differ on the depth and duration of 

the current recession, pointing out that it is exceptional-

ly difficult at present to make any forecasts. While some 

of them believe that the economy will recover as ear-

ly as by the middle of 2009, others think that the situa-

tion will not begin to improve until 2010. Yet all of them 

concur that the international financial crisis will sap the 

economic development of individual countries in 2009. 

To what extent the actions that individual countries have 

taken will have a positive effect is not clear at this point.

In Germany, the government expects the economy to 

shrink by 2.25 percent in 2009 and exports to decline 

by 8.9 percent. The Institute for World Economy expects 

GDP in the euro zone to fall by 2.7 percent and that of 

the United Kingdom by 2.3 percent. Its forecast for the 

United States of America calls for a 1.0 percent decline 

in growth. The Japanese economy is also expected to 

decline by 1.5 percent in 2009.

Prime rates are expected to continue to fall through-

out 2009. It is anticipated that both the European Cen-

tral Bank and the Bank of England will cut their prime 

rates to 0 percent as has already happened in the Unit-

ed States.

Emerging countries in Central and Eastern Europe as 

well as in Asia will be unable to escape the ramifica-

tions of the global economic downturn given their de-

pendence on the industrialised countries. While the 

sharp economic downturn in the industrialised coun-

tries has caused exports to drop dramatically, declin-

ing commodities prices have reduced profits from ex-

ports. These countries’ previous growth momentum will 

be greatly dampened in 2009, and demand will weaken.

Development of the industry 

Silicon – one of the solar industry’s most important pre-

products – was in extremely short supply in recent years, 

leading to extensive investments in the expansion of ca-

pacity worldwide. This extensive expansion has greatly 

increased the availability of modules and their preprod-

ucts since the middle of 2008. Market analysts had al-

ready anticipated this development and believe that it 

will have a positive impact on demand in different mar-

kets. But the solar industry will not be able to escape 

the fallout of the worldwide financial and economic cri-

sis, which will substantially affect its growth prospects 

in the near term. While most studies assume that the PV 

market’s outlook for growth remains good in the long 

term, there is a wide difference of opinion with respect 

to its near-term prospects. These forecasts range from 

dampened growth to stagnating growth all the way to a 

contracting market. A multitude of factors that are im-

possible to predict at this time will shape market trends 

in 2009. Indeed market development might be weak in 

the short term even though many indicators are pointing 

to favourable conditions for the solar industry in the me-

dium to long term.

Outlook

It is difficult to predict how long the current downturn of 

the global economy and the crisis in the financial mar-

kets will continue. As a result, forecasts regarding the 

development of Conergy AG are highly uncertain. This 

makes it all the more difficult at the present time to pre-

dict the future development of the Company with any 

precision. The Management Board expects the situa-

tion to become clearer as the year progresses and plans 

therefore to provide its outlook for the Company’s devel-

opment at a later date.

However it can already be seen that following a diffi-

cult fourth quarter, which was burdened by the finan-

cial crisis and the recession in particular, January and 

February continued to be influenced by the same fac-

tors. On the other hand, there was some improvement in 

business in March, but the comparatively poor preced-

ing months could not be compensated. Accordingly, the 

Management Board does not assume that it will be able 

to maintain sales this year on the same level as in 2008. 

This is also caused by a change in the business model 

of Epuron, which will lead to lower sales but at the same 

time to higher gross margins.
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EUR million Note 2008 20071

Sales 8 1,006.2 719.0

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress – 22.0 71.4

Cost of materials – 858.2 – 689.5

Gross profit 126.0 100.9

Personnel costs 9 – 113.5 – 112.3

Other own work capitalised 7.5 11.6

Other operating income 10 34.8 15.9

Other operating expenses 11 – 231.5 – 179.3

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) – 176.7 – 163.2

Depreciation and amortisation 12 – 35.8 – 50.1

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) – 212.5 – 213.3

Finance income 3.6 11.1

Finance costs – 71.4 – 32.9

Net finance income 14 – 67.8 – 21.8

Earnings before taxes (EBT)2 – 280.3 – 235.1

Income taxes 15 26.8 22.1

Result after taxes from continued operations – 253.5 – 213.0

Result after taxes from discontinued operations 6 – 53.1 – 35.1

Result after taxes – 306.6 – 248.1

Thereof attributable to:

	 Shareholders of Conergy AG (Group profit or loss) – 305.3 – 247.6

	 Minority shareholders – 1.3 – 0.5

Earnings per share (in EUR) 16

	 Basic – 4.67 – 7.57

	 Diluted – 4.67 – 7.57

Earnings per share (in EUR) from continued operations 16

	 Basic – 3.86 – 6.50

	 Diluted – 3.86 – 6.50

Consolidated income statement of the Conergy Group

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
2	 Corresponds to earnings from ordinary activities
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EUR million Note 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Non-current assets

Goodwill 17 17.5 20.7

Intangible assets 17 12.6 20.9

Property, plant and equipment 18 204.0 208.7

Financial assets 19 5.3 4.4

Other assets 20 0.7 0.6

Deferred tax assets 15 79.6 50.3

 319.7 305.6

Current assets

Inventories 21 245.6 345.6

Trade receivables 22 120.9 214.7

Financial assets 19 2.9 9.9

Other assets 20 29.6 73.4

Cash and cash equivalents 25 27.7 62.7

 426.7 706.3

Assets held for sale 6 0.4 24.2

427.1 730.5

Total assets 746.8 1.036.1

Equity attributable to the shareholders of Conergy AG

Share capital 398.1 35.1

Capital reserve 321.8 307.2

Other provisions – 522.5 – 217.8

 197.4 124.5

Non-controlling interests – 0.6 0.7

Total equity 26 196.8 125.2

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 27 32.1 14.6

Borrowings 29 86.5 120.0

Other liabilities 31 2.6 13.1

Deferred tax liabilities 15 10.1 20.7

131.3 168.4

Current liabilities

Provisions 27 12.0 6.1

Current portion of non-current borrowings 29 37.5 30.0

Borrowings 29 193.2 318.8

Trade payables 30 111.2 282.4

Other liabilities 31 58.8 86.6

Current income tax liabilities 15 2.1 2.4

414.8 726.3

 

Liabilities from assets held for sale 6 3.9 16.2

418.7 742.5

Total equity and liabilities 746.8 1.036.1

Consolidated balance sheet of the Conergy Group

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
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EUR million Note 2008 20071

Operating result from continued operations – 212.5 – 213.3

Depreciation and amortisation 35.8 50.1

Change in non-current provisions 17.6 12.2

Other non-cash income (–) / expenses (+) 121.6 51.8

Gains (–) / losses (+) from disposal of fixed assets 0.1 0.6

Result from operating activities before changes in net working capital – 37.4 – 98.6

Increase (–) / decrease (+) in inventories 67.5 – 222.4

Increase (–) / decrease (+) in trade receivables 84.3 84.3

Increase (–) / decrease (+) in trade payables – 171.2 92.8

Change in other net assets / Other non-cash items – 78.1 – 22.8

Income taxes paid (–) / received (+) 3.1 – 1.8

Cash generated from operating activities, continued operations – 131.8 – 168.5

Cash generated from operating activities, discontinued operations 6 – 29.1 – 20.2

Cash generated from operating activities (total) 32 – 160.9 – 188.7

Cash receipts from disposal of property, plant and equipment and other assets 1.0 8.7

Cash payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets – 34.5 – 198.5

Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash acquired – 0.3 – 9.5

Cash receipts from the sale of subsidies 11.3 –

Other cash payments for investments in financial assets – 0.8 – 2.2

Interest received 2.1 7.0

Net cash generated from investing activities (total) 32 – 21.2 – 194.5

Cash receipts from issuance of share capital 399.3 220.0

Cash payments in connection with the acquisition of equity – 32.6 – 2.5

Cash receipts from borrowings 116.5 508.1

Cash payments for repayment of borrowings – 277.5 – 270.0

Interest paid – 59.3 – 30.8

Cash payments for dividends – – 3.3

Net cash generated from financing activities (total) 32 146.4 421.5

Change in cash from operating activities (total) – 35.7 38.3

Cash and cash equivalents as of 01.01. 63.7 25.6

Change from exchange rate changes – – 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31.12. 25 28.0 63.7

	 Thereof cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 0.3 1.0

Consolidated cash flow statement of the Conergy Group

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted



107

Income statement  |  Balance sheet  |  Cash flow statement  |  Statement of changes in equity  |  Notes  |  Responsibility statement  |  Auditor’s report

Equity attributable to the shareholders of Conergy AG

Other provisions

Retained earnings
Cumulative other 

comprehensive income

EUR million
Share 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Other 
retained 
earnings

Cumula-
tive net 

income /
loss for the 

periods
Currency 
changes

Cash flow 
Hedges Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

As of 01.01.2007 30.0 94.9 43.6 – 12.3 0.2 – 6.1 150.2 1.3 151.4

Change in equity not 
recognised in profit or loss – – – – – – – – –

Cash flow hedges – – – – – – – – –

Exchange differences from the translation 
of foreign subsidiaries – – – – 1.6 – 1.6 – 1.6

Taxes on items recognised directly in 
equity – – – – – – – – –

Transfer recognised in profit or loss – – – – – 6.1 6.1 – 6.1

30.0 94.9 43.6 – 12.3 1.8 –  157.9 1.3 159.2

Other changes – – – – – – – – 0.1 – 0.1

Capital contributions 5.1 212.4 – – – – 217.5 – 217.5

Dividend payments – – – – 3.3 – – – 3.3 – – 3.3

Transfers to / withdrawals from reserves – – 0.1 – 1.5 1.5 – – – 0.1 – – 0.1

Change in equity recognised in profit 
or loss – – – – – – – – –

Result after taxes – – – – 247.6 – – – 247.6 – 0.5 – 248.1

As of 31.12.2007 / 01.01.2008 35.1 307.2 42.1 – 261.7 1.8 – 124.5 0.7 125.2

Change in equity not recognised in 
profit or loss – – – – – – – – –

Cash flow hedges – – – – – – – – –

Exchange differences from the translation 
of foreign subsidiaries – – – – 0.6 – 0.6 – 0.6

Taxes on items recognised directly in 
equity – 10.8 – – – – 10.8 – 10.8

Transfer recognised in profit or loss – – – – – – – – –

35.1 318.0 42.1 – 261.7 2.4 – 135.9 0.7 136.6

Other changes – – – – – – – – –

Capital contributions 363.0 3.81 – – – – 366.8 – 366.8

Dividend payments – – – – – – – – –

Transfers to / withdrawals from reserves – – – – – – – – –

Change in equity recognised in profit 
or loss – – – – – – – – –

Result after taxes – – – – 305.3 – – – 305.3 – 1.3 – 306.6

As of 31.12.2008 398.1 321.8 42.1 – 567.0 2.4 – 197.4 – 0.6 196.8

Statement of changes in equity of the Conergy Group

1	 incl. costs for the capital increase in the amount of EUR 32.6 million
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements of 
the Conergy Group

1.	 Key figures by segment and region

Segments Conergy PV EPURON Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

External sales 741.2 567.9 265.0 151.1 – – 1,006.2 719.0

Intersegment sales 179.6 107.6 0.8 1.7 – 180.4 – 109.3 –  – 

Segment sales (total) 920.8 675.5 265.8 152.8 – 180.4 – 109.3 1,006.2 719.0

Other operating income 48.4 11.0 16.7 5.4 – 30.3 – 0.5 34.8 15.9

Segment result (EBIT) – 87.4 – 185.0 – 30.5 – 32.0 – 94.6 3.7 – 212.5 – 213.3

Depreciation / amortisation / impairment 
losses – 29.2 – 46.5 – 3.6 – 8.0 – 3.0 4.4 – 35.8 – 50.1

	 thereof impairment losses – 9.6 – 34.7  – 2.1  – 5.4  – –  – 11.7 – 40.2 

Employees FTE1 (as of 31.12.) 1,445 2,009 189 180 139 305 1,773 2,494

Segments Conergy PV EPURON Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Segment assets 982.5 1,136.5 336.0 396.6 – 572.1 – 521.2 746.4 1,011.9

Segment liabilities 519.4 705.2 292.9 343.8 – 266.2 – 154.3 546.1 894.7

Segment investments 32.5 196.7 2.0 8.7 – – 34.5 205.3

1	 Full time equivalents

1	 Full time equivalents

Regions Germany Rest of Europe Rest of world Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

External sales 294.8 337.6 496.7 247.5 214.7 133.9 – – 1,006.2 719.0

Intersegment sales 367.7 303.3 1.0 5.0 7.8 4.8 – 376.5 – 313.1 – –

Segment sales (total) 662.5 640.9 497.7 252.5 222.5 138.7 – 376.5 – 313.1 1,006.2 719.0

Segment result (EBIT) – 170.4 – 182.4 – 6.2 – 7.0 – 36.3 – 24.5 0.4 0.6 – 212.5 – 213.3

Regions Germany Rest of Europe Rest of world Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Segment assets 984.3 918.7 594.7 413.7 79.6 96.6 – 912.2 – 417.1 746.4 1,011.9

Segment investments 30.4 192.4 1.6 10.3 2.5 2.6 – – 34.5 205.3

Employees FTE1 (as of 31.12.) 1,050 1,506 348 504 375 484 – – 1,773 2,494
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Segments Conergy PV EPURON Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

External sales 741.2 567.9 265.0 151.1 – – 1,006.2 719.0

Intersegment sales 179.6 107.6 0.8 1.7 – 180.4 – 109.3 –  – 

Segment sales (total) 920.8 675.5 265.8 152.8 – 180.4 – 109.3 1,006.2 719.0

Other operating income 48.4 11.0 16.7 5.4 – 30.3 – 0.5 34.8 15.9

Segment result (EBIT) – 87.4 – 185.0 – 30.5 – 32.0 – 94.6 3.7 – 212.5 – 213.3

Depreciation / amortisation / impairment 
losses – 29.2 – 46.5 – 3.6 – 8.0 – 3.0 4.4 – 35.8 – 50.1

	 thereof impairment losses – 9.6 – 34.7  – 2.1  – 5.4  – –  – 11.7 – 40.2 

Employees FTE1 (as of 31.12.) 1,445 2,009 189 180 139 305 1,773 2,494

Segments Conergy PV EPURON Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Segment assets 982.5 1,136.5 336.0 396.6 – 572.1 – 521.2 746.4 1,011.9

Segment liabilities 519.4 705.2 292.9 343.8 – 266.2 – 154.3 546.1 894.7

Segment investments 32.5 196.7 2.0 8.7 – – 34.5 205.3

Regions Germany Rest of Europe Rest of world Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

External sales 294.8 337.6 496.7 247.5 214.7 133.9 – – 1,006.2 719.0

Intersegment sales 367.7 303.3 1.0 5.0 7.8 4.8 – 376.5 – 313.1 – –

Segment sales (total) 662.5 640.9 497.7 252.5 222.5 138.7 – 376.5 – 313.1 1,006.2 719.0

Segment result (EBIT) – 170.4 – 182.4 – 6.2 – 7.0 – 36.3 – 24.5 0.4 0.6 – 212.5 – 213.3

Regions Germany Rest of Europe Rest of world Reconciliation Continued operations

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Segment assets 984.3 918.7 594.7 413.7 79.6 96.6 – 912.2 – 417.1 746.4 1,011.9

Segment investments 30.4 192.4 1.6 10.3 2.5 2.6 – – 34.5 205.3

Employees FTE1 (as of 31.12.) 1,050 1,506 348 504 375 484 – – 1,773 2,494
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2.	G eneral comments

Conergy AG (hereinafter also referred to as “Conergy” or 

the “Company”) along with its subsidiaries (the “Conergy 

Group”) is an integrated systems supplier in the field of 

renewable energies. The Conergy Group develops, pro-

duces and sells plants and plant components for renew-

ables. In addition, Conergy is also a market leader in the 

field of project development and structured finance for 

major renewable energies projects.

Conergy is a listed German stock corporation. Its shares 

are traded on the Frankfurt (Main) Stock Exchange in 

Deutsche Börse’s Prime Standard, which is subject to 

additional listing requirements. The Company, which is 

registered with the Commercial Registry of the Hamburg 

Local Court under the number HRB 77717, has its head-

quarters at Anckelmannsplatz 1, 20537 Hamburg, Ger-

many. Its consolidated financial statements are availa-

ble at the Company’s seat and / or are published in the 

electronic Federal Gazette.

On 20 April 2009, the Management Board of Conergy 

released the Company’s consolidated financial state-

ments for purposes of submitting them to its Supervi-

sory Board (release for publication). The consolidated fi-

nancial statements were submitted to the Supervisory 

Board’s Audit Committee on 20 April 2009; they were 

approved by the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 20 

April 2009. Under German law, the consolidated finan-

cial statements according to IFRS may be changed only 

in exceptional cases and subject to the approval of the 

Supervisory Board.

Conergy is obligated under Section 315 a German Com-

mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) to prepare consol-

idated financial statements in accordance with the In-

ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 

applied within the European Union, as well as a man-

agement report.

3.	 Key accounting policies

Accounting principles

Conergy prepared its consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with the IFRS of the International Ac-

counting Standards Board (IASB), London, as applica-

ble within the EU, and the additionally applicable pro-

visions of Section 315 a para. 1 German Commercial 

Code.

All requirements under the standards and interpreta-

tions adopted by the EU that had to be applied at 31 

December 2008 were satisfied in full. There were no 

changes in the periods presented to the consolidated 

accounting principles underlying recognition and meas-

urement as well as the explanations and disclosures 

related to the IFRS consolidated financial statements. 

Recognition and measurement methods correspond to 

the methods applied a year ago unless indicated other-

wise. The annual financial statements of the consolidat-

ed companies are based on consistent and uniform ac-

counting principles and methods.

In order to make the presentation more precise, items 

in the consolidated balance sheet and in the consoli-

dated income statement were combined and explained 

as necessary in these notes. The income statement is 

structured according to the nature of expense format. 

Assets and liabilities are classified as non-current (for 

maturities of more than one year) and current (for matu-

rities of less than one year). Deferred taxes are generally 

treated as non-current.

We distinguish between continuing and discontinued 

operations in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current As-

sets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Dis-

continued operations are combined in the balance 

sheet, the income statement and the cash flow state-

ment as separate line items. Unless stated otherwise, 

the disclosures in the notes concern the Company’s 

continuing operations. Discontinued operations are de-

scribed in note 6.

Conergy’s financial year corresponds to the calen-

dar year. Its annual financial statements are general-

ly prepared using the historical cost system. This does 

not apply, however, to derivative financial instruments, 

which are measured at fair value.

All amounts, including those related to the previous 

year, are stated in millions of euros (EUR million) un-

less indicated otherwise. All figures were commercially 

rounded to one decimal place. The percentage changes 
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given in both the text and the tables were also commer-

cially rounded to one decimal place.

The following new standards and interpretations had to 

be applied for the first time to annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2008:

|| IAS 39 und IFRS 7 (Amendments), Reclassifica-

tion of Financial Instruments

	 This amendment permits reclassifying certain finan-

cial instruments out of the fair value through profit 

and loss category into other categories that provide 

for measurement at amortised cost along with im-

pairment tests. These amendments shall be applied 

retroactively to 1 July 2008. In November 2008, the 

IASB adopted another amendment to clarify the re-

classification’s retroactive application, the amend-

ment’s effective date and the transition. Conergy’s 

portfolio does not contain any financial instruments 

that qualify for reclassification.

In addition, the following interpretations also had to be 

applied to the 2008 financial year for the first time but 

they did not give rise to any changes in the Conergy 

Group’s recognition and measurement methods:

|| IFRIC 11, IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Trans-

actions (1 March 2007)

|| IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements (1 Jan-

uary 2008)

|| IFRIC 14, IAS 19: The Limit on a Defined Benefit As-

set, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Inter-

action (1 January 2008)

With the exception of IFRIC 12, all IFRS / IAS and inter-

pretations to be applied for the first time in the 2008 fi-

nancial year had already been adopted by the EU at the 

time Conergy’s consolidated financial statements were 

released.

The following revised and new standards and interpreta-

tions, which had taken effect by the time the annual fi-

nancial statements were prepared, must be applied for 

the first time in subsequent financial years:

|| IFRS 1 und IAS 27 (Amendment), Cost of an In-

vestment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity 

or Associate (1 January 2009)

	 This amendment concerns specific rules aimed at 

simplifying both the first-time preparation of IFRS 

consolidated financial statements and the deter-

mination of the cost of investments in subsidiaries, 

jointly controlled entities and associates in separate 

single-entity financial statements and thus does not 

affect Conergy’s consolidated financial statements.

|| IFRS 2 (Amendment), Vesting Conditions and 

Cancellations (1 January 2009)

	 The revision of this standard clarifies the delinea-

tion of exercise conditions and other conditions in 

share-based payment arrangements. Pursuant to 

the revision of IFRS 2, performance conditions shall 

be the sole criterion governing exercise terms. The 

Conergy Group currently does not expect the first-

time application of this standard to have a material 

impact on the Group’s assets, liabilities, cash flows 

and profit or loss.

|| IFRS 3 rev. 2008 Business Combination and IAS 

27 (Amendment) Consolidated and Separate Fi-

nancial Statements (1 July 2009)

	 Material changes under the revised standard con-

cern the option also to measure non-controlling in-

terests at fair value in future. In addition, acquisi-

tion-related costs may no longer be included in the 

acquisition cost but must normally be expensed in-

stead. Qualified components of the acquisition cost 

must be recognised at the acquisition-date fair val-

ue while subsequent changes in estimates must be 

recognised in income. Acquisitions of non-control-

ling interests and disposals of ownership interests 

that do not result in a loss of control must be ac-

counted for as equity transactions pursuant to IAS 

27 rev. 2008. The Conergy Group is currently re-

viewing the possible effects on future business 

combinations and the presentation of the consoli-

dated financial statements.

|| IFRS 8 Operating Segments (1 January 2009)

	 This new segment reporting standard requires ap-

plying the management approach to future segment 

reporting. Accordingly, both the identification of op-

erating segments and the data related to those seg-

ments must be based on the information manage-

ment uses to manage the Company. The Conergy 

Group is currently reviewing the possible effects the 

changes could have on segment reporting.

|| IAS 1 (Amendment), A Revised Presentation 

(1 January 2009)

	 Revised IAS 1 basically provides for a change in the 

recognition of changes in equity. Under this revised 

version, all changes in equity not arising from trans-

actions with equity holders shall be recognised in 

the statement of comprehensive income. The com-

ponents of income may be shown either in a single 
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statement of comprehensive income or in a separate 

income statement. In future, solely the changes in 

equity arising from transactions with equity holders 

acting in their capacity as such shall be presented 

in the statement of changes in equity. The Conergy 

Group is currently reviewing how this amendment 

will affect the presentation of its assets, liabilities, 

cash flows and profit or loss.

|| IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing Costs (1 Janu-

ary 2009)

	 This revision of IAS 23 eliminates the currently avail-

able option to choose between capitalising and ex-

pensing borrowing costs related to the acquisition 

or production of qualifying assets and to permit 

capitalisation as the sole option in future. Conergy 

does not believe that this change will have a material 

impact on its consolidated financial statements be-

cause it already applies the alternative method per-

mitted under IAS 23.

|| IAS 32 rev. 2008 Financial Instruments: Presenta-

tion (1 January 2009)

	 The revision of IAS 32, which was adopted in Feb-

ruary 2008, requires the issuer to classify certain fi-

nancial instruments that the holder can put back to 

the issuer as equity. To date, these financial instru-

ments had to be treated as liabilities. The Conergy 

Group is currently reviewing what effects the appli-

cation of this interpretation could have on its assets, 

liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss.

|| IAS 39 (Amendment), Eligible Hedged Items  

(1 July 2009)

	 In July 2008, the IASB published an amendment to 

IAS 39 that clarifies under which conditions or for 

which risks hedge accounting may be applied to 

specific components of a change in fair value or a 

change in cash flow hedges. The Conergy Group 

currently does not expect these amendments to 

have a material impact on its assets, liabilities, cash 

flows and profit or loss.

|| Various improvements to IFRSs (1 January 2009)

	 In May 2008, the IASB published its Improvements 

to IFRSs that provide for a total of 35 amendments 

to 20 standards. The most important of these con-

cern

__ the classification of assets and liabilities held by 

a subsidiary as available for sale if shares in the 

subsidiary are for sale and if such sale will result 

in a loss of control (IFRS 5);

__ the recognition of gains on disposals of certain 

items of property, plant and equipment held for 

rental as revenue and costs or cost of materi-

als (IAS 16);

__ the initial fair value measurement of government 

loans subject to below-market interest rates 

(IAS 20);

__ the disclosure of the assumptions and meas-

urement parameters used in determining the fair 

value as the recoverable amount in connection 

with an impairment test based on the discount-

ed cash flow model (IAS 36);

__ the expensing of advertising and promotion-

al activities at the time the entity has a right to 

access the relevant goods or has received the 

services (IAS 38);

__ the classification of property being construct-

ed or developed as a financial investment if it is 

intended for future use as investment property 

(IAS 40);

__ the distinction between curtailments and nega-

tive past service costs (IAS 19);

__ the clarification that short-term employee bene-

fits are those that arise shortly after the relevant 

service has been rendered (IAS 19); and

__ the clarification that the amount written down 

and up in the event of an impairment and its 

subsequent reversal shall not be allocated to the 

assets underlying the investment. (IAS 28).

	 The majority of the changes must be applied for the 

first time to financial years beginning on or after 1 

January 2009. The Conergy Group is currently re-

viewing what effects individual amendments could 

have on its assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or 

loss.

The following interpretations that are not relevant to the 

Conergy Group were also published:

|| IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (1 July 

2008);

|| IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real 

Estate (1 January 2009);

|| IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 

Entity (1 October 2008);

|| IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Own-

ers (1 July 2009);

|| IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customer (1 Ju-

ly 2009).

With the exception of IFRS 3 / IAS 27, IAS 39, Eligible 

Hedge Items, IFRIC 15, 16, 17 and 18, these revised 

and new standards and interpretations had not yet been 

adopted by the EU by the time the Company’s annual 
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financial statements were completed. No voluntary early 

application of the standards and interpretations already 

adopted was made.

Consolidation principles

All significant subsidiaries are included in the consoli-

dated financial statements. The Conergy Group does 

not have any significant joint ventures or associated 

companies.

Subsidiaries

All companies (including special purpose entities), 

whose financial and business policies are controlled by 

the Conergy Group, are considered subsidiaries. As a 

rule, an ownership interest of more than 50 percent of 

the voting shares entails control. Currently exercisable 

or convertible potential voting shares are considered in 

any assessment of whether or not an enterprise holds a 

controlling interest. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 

from the date on which control is transferred to the con-

trolling group entity and deconsolidated at the time the 

control ends.

A significant portion of EPURON’s business is main-

ly transacted through long-term project development. 

Project development encompasses both the planning 

for and the technical execution of energy farms, as well 

as marketing them to investors that invest in project 

companies established specifically for project devel-

opment from a certain point in time. While the first two 

phases of project development and funding constitute 

EPURON’s actual core competence, the construction 

of the unit in the subsequent three phases – engineer-

ing, procurement and construction, jointly also referred 

to as “EPC” – is provided with the help of subcontrac-

tors, which – in the case of photovoltaic – generally are 

Conergy Group companies. Several IFRS standards ap-

ply to the accounting treatment of major projects. For 

example, IAS 27 concerns the presentation of a par-

ent / subsidiary relationship subject to the special rules 

in SIC 12 for special purpose entities. According to 

these rules, a partial profit from services rendered to 

the project companies must be eliminated in the consol-

idated financial statements if the relationship between 

Conergy and the project company is one of parent to 

subsidiary.

It is Conergy’s view that the measurement of project 

companies must be based – in legal terms (IAS 27) as 

well as in terms of their economic risks and rewards (SIC 

12) – on whether or not they are controlled by the Com-

pany as at the balance sheet date and thus must be in-

cluded in its consolidated financial statements. This 

requires weighing all aspects of the relationship in con-

nection with the question which party enjoys the ma-

jority of the benefits or the question how the majority 

of opportunities and risks are distributed under SIC 12. 

Hence the opportunities arising from the realisation of 

a project are considered in relation to the risks; in turn, 

this requires weighing the question which party bene-

fits from or incurs the majority of the opportunities and 

risks arising from the project’s realisation and at what 

point in time it does so. Risks from legislative changes 

and performance that falls short of targets shall also be 

considered. It is Conergy’s view that the project compa-

ny’s banks and other creditors shall also be included in 

the analysis of opportunities and risks. In particular, the 

criterion of equity distribution among the project com-

panies may be decisive to the transfer of opportunities 

and risks. In this regard, placement of the entire target-

ed partnership share volume by the project companies, 

which are generally constituted as limited partnerships, 

is a material indicator that such a transfer of opportuni-

ties and risks has occurred.

When weighing opportunities and risks, measuring them 

based on monetary performance criteria and weighting 

each criterion with a probability of occurrence, it is nec-

essary therefore to examine in each individual case who 

benefits from and incurs the majority of the opportuni-

ties and risks, and when. The Company believes that 

this assessment shall be effected in accordance with in-

dividual contractual requirements, taking historical data 

into account. If Conergy no longer controls the project 

company, contracts providing for the planning and con-

struction of solar or wind energy installations in accord-

ance with customer specifications are accounted for as 

construction contracts pursuant to IAS 11 (Construction 

Contracts).

The goods and services that the Conergy Group deliv-

ers and renders to the relevant project company dur-

ing the period the latter is controlled by the former do 

not lead to the recognition of sales but instead are treat-

ed merely as work in progress that increases invento-

ries. Upon deconsolidation, i. e. at the time at which the 

project company is no longer controlled by Conergy, a 

reduction in inventories is matched by the correspond-

ing increase in receivables and the recognition of reve-

nue. In contrast, the treatment follows the PoC method, 

i. e. IAS 11, if goods and services are delivered and ren-

dered to an already deconsolidated project company.
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An acquired subsidiary is accounted for using the pur-

chase method under IFRS 3 by offsetting the cost of 

the ownership interest against the pro rata remeas-

ured equity of the subsidiary. Accordingly, the cost of 

the ownership interest corresponds to the fair value of 

the assets acquired, the equity instruments issued and 

the liabilities created or assumed at the transaction date 

plus the costs directly attributable to the acquisition. On 

initial consolidation, identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities that were acquired in connection 

with a business combination are recognised at their ac-

quisition-date fair value, irrespective of the scope of the 

non-controlling interests. Goodwill is recognised if the 

acquisition cost of the ownership interest exceeds the 

pro rata net assets measured at fair value. It is not am-

ortised but subject to an annual impairment test instead. 

Any excess of the acquired subsidiary’s pro rata net as-

sets that have been measured at fair value over the ac-

quisition cost is recognised directly in income.

Intragroup profits and losses, sales, expenses, and in-

come as well as receivables and payables between 

the consolidated companies are eliminated. Unreal-

ised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

indicates an impairment of the assets transferred. De-

ferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised pursuant 

to IAS 12 in the event of consolidation measures that 

are recognised to profit or loss. The accounting policies 

used by subsidiaries were adjusted as necessary to the 

Conergy Group’s uniform accounting methods.

Acquisition and sale of non-controlling interests

The Company treats transactions with non-controlling 

interests (NCI) as transactions with third parties. Dis-

posals of an ownership interest in a subsidiary that do 

not result in a loss of control thus generate a gain or loss 

on disposal that is recognised in the Group’s net profit 

or loss for the period. Acquisitions of NCIs in subsidiar-

ies lead to the recognition of goodwill corresponding to 

the difference between the cost of the ownership inter-

est and the corresponding carrying amount of the ac-

quired pro rata net assets of the subsidiary.

Associated companies

Companies over which the Group generally exercis-

es a significant influence based on its ownership inter-

est of between 20 percent and 50 percent are account-

ed for using the equity method. Just as in the previous 

year, Conergy AG did not have such shareholdings as of 

31 December 2008.
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Companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements

Besides Conergy AG as the parent company, the con-

solidated financial statements also comprise 23 domes-

tic and 44 foreign subsidiaries. Pursuant to Section 313 

para. 2 and para. 4 German Commercial Code, the re-

quired disclosures regarding shareholdings are submit-

ted and announced in the electronic Federal Gazette in 

a separate register along with the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report. In the 

2008 financial year, the following changes occurred with 

respect to the companies included in Conergy’s consol-

idated financial statements:

Sixteen companies were no longer included in consoli-

dation in the 2008 financial year as a result of mergers 

or disposals.

The following table lists the significant subsidiaries in-

cluded in consolidation:

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Number of fully consolidated 
subsidiaries Germany Abroad Total Total

As of 01.01. 27 56 83 68

Additions through acquisition – – – 6

Additions through formation – – – 16

Disposals from sale 1 5 6 –

Other disposals 3 7 10 7

As of 31.12. 23 44 67 83

Domicile

Percentage 
of shares 

owned

Germany

Conergy Deutschland GmbH Hamburg (Germany) 100 %

EPURON GmbH Hamburg (Germany) 100 %

Conergy SolarModule 
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt (Oder) 
(Germany) 100 %

Rest of Europe

Conergy Italia S.p.a. Vicenza (Italy) 100 %

SUNTECHNICS SISTEMAS 
DE ENERGIA, SLU Madrid (Spain) 100 %

EPURON Spain SLU Madrid (Spain) 100 %

EPURON S.A.R.L. Paris (France) 100 %

Rest of world

Conergy Inc. Santa Fe (USA) 100 %

Conergy Ltd. Seoul (South Korea) 100 %



Conergy AG * Annual Report 2008

116

The number of project companies existent as of 31 De-

cember 2008 developed as follows during the financial 

year:

A total of 71 out of the 368 project companies were 

consolidated as of 31 December 2008. The remaining 

project companies were not consolidated given their 

insignificance to the assets, liabilities, cash flows and 

profit or loss of the Conergy Group.

See note 6 with respect to the changes arising from ac-

quisitions and disposals by sales.

Conergy Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg, and Conergy 

SolarModule GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt (Oder), utilise 

the exemption rules pursuant to Section 264 para. 3 and 

Section 264b of the German Commercial Code (exemp-

tion from the preparation, auditing and disclosure of an-

nual financial statements).

The following companies were not included in the con-

solidated financial statements for reasons of materiality:

Their total sales, profit or loss and equity is less than 

one percent of the Group’s consolidated sales, profit or 

loss and equity.

Currency translation

All receivables and liabilities in a currency other than the 

functional currency are recognised in the single-entity 

financial statements of the Group companies at the re-

porting-date exchange rate regardless of whether or not 

they are hedged through foreign exchange contracts. 

Foreign currency translation differences arising from the 

measurement of foreign currency positions are recog-

nised in income. Derivatives are recognised at fair value. 

The functional currency of the Conergy Group compa-

nies corresponds to the relevant local currency because 

they run their businesses independently in financial, 

economic and organisational terms.

Assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are 

translated into euros both at the start and end of the 

year using the relevant end of period exchange rate 

while all changes during the year as well as expenses 

and income are translated into euros at average annu-

al exchange rates. Equity components are translated 

at historical rates at the time they are deemed to have 

been acquired from the Group’s viewpoint.

The differences relative to the translation at end of pe-

riod exchange rates are recognised separately as “cur-

rency changes” as equity element and in the other com-

prehensive income as well as in the tables in the notes. 

Differences from currency translation previously recog-

nised in equity while a Group company was consolidat-

ed are reversed to income at the time the relevant entity 

is deconsolidated.

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Number of project companies Germany Abroad Total

As of 01.01. 228 214 442 397

Additions through acquisition – – – –

Additions through formation 2 12 14 59

Disposals from sale 21 26 47 14

Other disposals 4 37 41 –

As of 31.12. 205 163 368 442

	 thereof consolidated 36 35 71 113

Subsidiaries Domicile

Share
holding

in percent

Lunepower GmbH Germany 50.0

EOS Energy Management E.P.E. Greece 99.0

EPURON Yenilenebilir Enerji 
Türkei Turkey 100.0

EPURON Asia Pacific Investment 
Management pte. ltd. Singapore 100.0
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The following significant exchange rates were material 

to currency translation:

Accounting policies

Intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets with a determinable useful 

life are recognised at cost, less pro rata straight-line am-

ortisation based on their estimated useful life. The loss 

of value or wear and tear is recognised in the income 

statement under amortisation and depreciation of intan-

gible assets and property, plant and equipment. Impair-

ment losses are recognised to the extent necessary.

The following useful lives were applied to the amortisa-

tion of intangible assets:

Intangible assets whose estimated useful life can not 

be determined are not subject to amortisation; an an-

nual impairment test is conducted instead. The Conergy 

Group does not possess such assets.

Development costs are capitalised if it is sufficiently 

probable that the development activity will lead to future 

inflows of funds that cover not only current costs but 

also the respective development costs. Directly attrib-

utable personnel costs and related are only recognised 

at the time the technical and economic feasibility of the 

project can be demonstrated and the costs can be reli-

ably assessed.

Conergy monitors and manages its development 

projects based on close project management, which 

makes it possible to determine, on the basis of mile-

stones achieved, whether or not current development 

costs are eligible for capitalisation. Development costs 

arising before all requirements applicable to capitalisa-

tion have been satisfied are expensed in the year they 

are incurred.

All capitalised development costs are subjected to an 

impairment test at least once a year and more often if 

certain indications of impairment are present until the 

relevant development project has been completed. Fol-

lowing the project’s completion, they are subject to 

straight-line depreciation based on their estimated use-

ful life from the completion date. An impairment loss on 

the intangible assets is recognised if there is any indica-

tion of impairment and if the recoverable amount is less 

than the amortised cost. The loss of value or wear and 

tear is recognised in the income statement under amor-

tisation and depreciation of intangible assets and prop-

erty, plant and equipment.

Pursuant to IAS 38.54, research costs are expensed in 

the period in which they are incurred. An insignificant 

amount of research costs were expensed in the 2008 fi-

nancial year.

Goodwill

The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the value 

of the Group’s pro rata share in the acquired net assets 

– which arises from the remeasurement of the assets 

acquired and the liabilities assumed in connection with 

the business combination – is recognised as goodwill. 

In subsequent periods, goodwill is recognised at cost 

less cumulative impairment losses. Reversals of impair-

ment losses in periods after the balance sheet date are 

not recognised.

Closing rate Average exchange rate

1 EUR 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 2008 2007

USD (USA) 1.39 1.47 1.47 1.37

AUD (Australia) 2.03 1.68 1.74 1.63

JPY (Japan) 126.14 164.93 152.45 161.25

KRW (South Korea) 1,839.13 1,377.46 1,606.09 1,276.03

Useful life

Industrial property rights 4 – 20 years

Capitalised development costs 5 years

Software 3 – 5 years
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Goodwill is not subject to amortisation; instead, it is 

tested for impairment at least once a year and more of-

ten if certain indications of impairment are present. To 

this end, the goodwill is allocated to those cash gen-

erating units at the acquisition date that are expected 

to benefit from the business combination. The Conergy 

Group’s strategic units (subsidiaries) that are classified 

as reporting units under the operating segments are al-

ways defined as the cash generating unit for purposes 

of testing goodwill for impairment.

Upon disposal of a business unit of a cash generating 

unit to which goodwill was allocated, the goodwill at-

tributable to such departing business unit is treated as a 

disposal and thus recognised in income from disposals. 

The disposal value is always determined at the ratio of 

the value of the business unit being sold to the value of 

the entire cash generating unit.

If the impairment of the cash generating unit exceeds 

the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to it, then 

the excess impairment loss must be recognised by writ-

ing down the carrying amounts of the assets allocated 

to the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is de-

fined as the value in use or the realisable value, which-

ever is greater. It is determined using the discounted 

cash flow method based on planned future cash flows 

that are discounted using a weighted average of the 

cost of capital. These calculations are based on detailed 

plans for the next three annual periods of the type that 

are also used for internal purposes. Thereafter, the net 

present value (NPV) is determined based on sustained 

income achievable on average in the form of a perpetual 

yield discounted by one percent for growth.

The discount rate reflects the capital costs. Capital 

costs are calculated as the weighted average of the eq-

uity and borrowing costs, their share in total capital be-

ing the decisive factor. Equity costs correspond to the 

yields our shareholders expect us to generate. The bor-

rowing costs used reflect the terms and conditions that 

govern the Company’s long-term financing. An interest 

rate of 9.89 percent is utilised to discount the estimated 

series of payments.

Goodwill capitalised on acquisition is allocated among 

the Conergy Group’s cash generating units under the 

operating segments.

The following schedule provides a summary of the 

goodwill classified according to segments and regions:

An impairment loss of EUR 0.9 million was recognised 

on existing goodwill as a result of the impairment test 

that was conducted during the financial year.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost 

less pro-rata straight-line depreciation over their esti-

mated useful life. The cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment comprises its purchase price, including 

all directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to a 

location and working condition for purposes of its in-

tended use.

Subsequent purchase or production costs are recog-

nised as part of the cost of the respective asset or as a 

separate asset if it is probable that the Company will de-

rive economic benefits from such subsequent costs and 

if they can be reliably estimated. Ongoing maintenance 

costs are recognised as an expense when they arise.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is es-

sentially based on the following planned useful lives:

2008

EUR million Conergy PV EPURON Total

Germany 1.2 0.2 1.4

Rest of Europe 6.5 – 6.5

Rest of world 8.8 0.8 9.6

16.5 1.0 17.5

2007

EUR million Conergy PV EPURON Total

Germany 2.9 – 2.9

Rest of Europe 9.6 – 9.6

Rest of world 7.6 0.6 8.2

20.1 0.6 20.7

Useful life

Machinery and tools 3 – 20 years

Motor vehicles 5 – 6 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 4 – 10 years

IT equipment 3 – 5 years
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The carrying amounts and the useful lives of items of 

property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the given 

balance sheet date and adjusted as necessary. An im-

pairment loss on the items of property, plant and equip-

ment is recognised if there is any indication of impair-

ment and if the recoverable amount is less than the 

amortised cost. Corresponding write-ups are made if 

the reasons for the impairment no longer exist. The loss 

of value or wear and tear is recognised in the income 

statement under amortisation and depreciation of intan-

gible assets and property, plant and equipment.

If the property, plant or equipment is disposed of or 

scrapped, then any gain or loss arising on its disposal is 

recognised in the income statement.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally recognised as expenses 

in the period in which they have incurred. Using the al-

lowed alternative treatment under IAS 23.11 (Borrowing 

Costs), directly attributable borrowing costs are shown 

as part of the costs if the relevant asset is considered 

a qualifying asset. Financing costs not directly attribut-

able to the assets are included in the costs of the manu-

factured or acquired asset on a pro-rated basis. In the 

financial year just ended, EUR 70.3 million in borrow-

ing costs (previous year: EUR 28.1 million) were recog-

nised as an expense. In contrast to the previous year, no 

borrowing costs were recognised in the reporting period 

(previous year: EUR 3.8 million).

Leases

Pursuant to IAS 17, leases must be classified as finance 

leases or operating leases. This classification is essen-

tially contingent on who has the significant risks and re-

wards of the leased property. Conergy AG is the lessee 

in all leases maintained by the Conergy Group.

Assets utilised under operating leases are not capital-

ised. The material portion of the benefit and risk from 

the leased property remains with the lessor. Payments 

made under an operating lease are recognised in the 

income statement for the relevant period as they are 

incurred.

A finance lease is a lease where essentially all risks and 

rewards arising from ownership of an asset are trans-

ferred to the lessee. Assets subject to finance leases are 

recognised at the lower of the fair value or the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments 

to be made must be divided into principal and inter-

est. The resulting leasing liability is shown under the 

borrowings and is subject to a fixed interest rate. The 

interest element of the lease payment is recognised in 

net finance income. Depreciation is taken based on the 

useful life of the leased assets or the lease term, which-

ever is shorter.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is an agreement simultaneously 

giving rise to a financial asset in one company and a fi-

nancial liability or an equity instrument in another com-

pany. In particular, financial assets include cash and 

cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans and receiv-

ables, investments held to maturity as well as original 

and derivative financial assets held for trading. Finan-

cial liabilities always give rise to a claim for repayment 

in cash or by means of another financial asset. In par-

ticular, this includes bonds and other securitised liabili-

ties, liabilities to banks, liabilities under finance leases, 

borrower’s note loans and derivative financial liabilities. 

Financial instruments are always recognised as soon as 

Conergy becomes a party to the terms governing the fi-

nancial instrument. The settlement date, i. e. the date on 

which the asset is delivered to or by Conergy, is rele-

vant to both initial recognition and derecognition of pur-

chases or sales made at market rates. As a rule, finan-

cial assets and financial liabilities are not offset; they are 

offset only if there is a right to set off the amounts at 

the present time and if there is a plan to settle on a net 

basis.

Financial assets

Financial assets are divided into the following catego-

ries:

|| Financial assets measured at fair value to profit and 

loss,

|| Held-to-maturity investments,

|| Loans and receivables,

|| Available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification depends on the reason for purchasing 

a given financial asset.

Financial assets measured at fair value to profit 

and loss

For one, this comprises financial assets held for trading 

and, for another, financial assets designated on initial 

recognition as financial assets measured at fair value to 

profit and loss. Derivative financial assets must be allo-

cated to this category unless they are treated as hedg-

ing transactions (see note 19).
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Money market funds and other listed securities are cat-

egorised as held for trading, recognised as at the con-

tract date and measured at their fair value on both initial 

recognition and subsequent measurements. Transac-

tion and other additional costs as well as gains and 

losses on subsequent measurements at fair value are 

posted to other operating income or other operating ex-

penses. The fair value of shares in funds corresponds 

to the market price that is determined on each market 

trading day and to the offering price of other securities.

Held-to-maturity investments

This concerns non-derivative financial assets with fixed 

or determinable payments and fixed maturities, which 

the enterprise wants and can hold to maturity. They are 

recognised at amortised cost. Conergy’s portfolios cur-

rently do not contain any significant financial assets of 

this nature.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial as-

sets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted on any active market. On initial recognition, they 

are recognised at their fair value as at the contract date 

plus transaction costs directly attributable to the pur-

chase of the financial asset. Subsequent measurements 

are made at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. This includes, in particular, trade receivables as 

well as other financial assets.

If the recoverability of receivables is doubtful, an impair-

ment is recognised on the basis of the difference be-

tween the carrying amount of the respective receivables 

and the present value of the expected future cash flows, 

discounted at the initial effective interest rate. A flat rate 

method is used in connection with insignificant receiv-

ables.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative fi-

nancial assets that are classified as such or not allo-

cated to any of the foregoing categories. On initial rec-

ognition, they are recognised at their fair value plus 

transaction costs directly attributable to the purchase of 

the financial asset. Subsequent measurements are ex-

ecuted at fair value and unrealised gains and losses are 

recognised directly in other provisions under equity. The 

Conergy Group did not have any material inventories of 

such financial assets at the balance sheet date.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset if contractual 

rights to cash flows from the financial asset expire or if 

all significant risks and rewards arising from ownership 

of the financial asset were transferred to a third party.

If the Conergy Group does not transfer essentially all 

risks and rewards arising from ownership, nor retains 

and continues to control the right to dispose of the 

transferred asset, then both its remaining share in the 

asset and a corresponding liability equivalent to the 

amounts that might have to be paid are recognised. In 

cases where the Group essentially retains all risks and 

rewards arising from ownership of a transferred financial 

asset, it must continue to recognise the financial asset 

as well as a secured loan for the consideration received.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge

accounting

Derivative financial instruments are recognised as at the 

contract date and measured at fair value, both at the 

time they are posted and thereafter. Any resulting trans-

action costs are expensed as at time they arise. Recog-

nition of any changes in value is contingent on whether 

or not there is a hedging relationship and which hedging 

relationship is concerned.

Both the hedging relationship and the Company’s risk 

management objectives and strategies are formally des-

ignated and documented with respect to the hedge at 

its inception. The documentation contains the determi-

nation of the hedging instrument, the underlying trans-

action or the transaction being hedged as well as the 

type of risk hedged and a description of how Conergy 

determines the effectiveness of the hedging instrument 

when offsetting risks from changes in the fair values 

of or cash flows from the hedged underlying transac-

tion. Such hedging relationships are considered highly 

effective in offsetting risks from fair value or cash flow 

changes. Continuous assessments are made to deter-

mine whether or not they actually were highly effective 

during the entire reporting period for which the hedging 

relationship was designated.

The Conergy Group utilises hedging relationships solely 

to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate risks from 

firm commitments or highly probable transactions. Ex-

change rate risks related to firm commitments are treat-

ed as cash flow hedges or fair value hedges, depending 

on the hedging relationship.
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As in the previous year, the Company as of 31 Decem-

ber 2008 held no derivative financial instruments for the 

purpose of hedging currency risks.

The effective portion of the change in the fair value of 

the hedging instrument is recognised in a separate item 

in equity.

All amounts recognised in equity are transferred to the 

income statement in the period during which the hedged 

transaction has an impact on the profit or loss for the 

period, e. g. at the time hedged financial income or ex-

penses are recognised or an expected sale is executed. 

If a hedge results in the recognition of a non-financial 

asset or a non-financial liability, then the amounts rec-

ognised in equity are allocated to the cost of the non-fi-

nancial asset or non-financial liability as of the acquisi-

tion date.

These cash flow hedges are derecognised upon expi-

ration, disposal, termination, or exercise of the hedg-

ing instrument. This also applies if the conditions requir-

ing hedge accounting no longer exist or if the (intended) 

transaction underlying the requirement is no longer ex-

pected to occur. All gains or losses from subsequent fair 

value measurements of derivatives not designated as 

hedges are recognised in income.

The market value of interest rate swaps follows from the 

discounting of expected future cash flows over the re-

sidual maturity of the contract based on current market 

rates or interest rate curves.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments with 

residual maturities of less than twelve months are rec-

ognised in current financial assets or financial liabili-

ties whereas those with residual maturities of more than 

twelve months are recognised in non-current financial 

assets or financial liabilities. Derivative financial instru-

ments held for trading are always treated as current as-

sets.

Inventories

Inventories are recognised at the lower of cost or net 

realisable value. The first-in, first-out (FIFO) method is 

used to determine the cost of raw materials, consuma-

bles and merchandise. The cost of completed work and 

work in progress comprises expenses directly attribut-

able to the manufacturing process (direct production 

costs) as well as appropriate portions of general over-

heads related to manufacturing. The presumably realis-

able proceeds from a sale less any costs incurred until 

such sale is the realisable selling price.

Construction contracts

Contracts providing for the planning, design, production 

and assembly of complex solar or wind energy instal-

lations in accordance with customer specifications are 

accounted for as construction contracts pursuant to IAS 

11 Construction Contracts.

The percentage of completion (PoC) to be recognised 

is determined as follows: In case of major projects, the 

percentage of completion is always determined on the 

basis of the completion of predefined project segments 

(milestone method). The milestones are defined in coor-

dination with the responsible engineers based on con-

struction and production processes. Revenue and par-

tial profits are recognised depending on the degree of 

completion. Profits are recognised only if the result of 

the contract work can be reliably estimated. If not, reve-

nue in amount of the contract costs is recognised.

In case of small and medium orders, the percentage of 

completion is always determined by the ratio of the cost 

incurred to the projected total cost (cost-to-cost meth-

od). The contract costs incurred – which encompass 

the directly attributable costs of labour and materials as 

well as both production-related overhead costs and es-

timated costs for follow-up work and warranties – are 

recognised as sales based on the pro rata share of the 

revenue corresponding to the estimated stage of com-

pletion. Losses from construction contracts are immedi-

ately recognised in full in the financial year during which 

the losses become apparent, irrespective of the stage of 

completion achieved.

The construction contracts are shown in trade receiv-

ables or payables. Contract work is recognised as trade 

receivables to the extent that in individual cases the cu-

mulative performance (order costs and income) is higher 

than the payments received on invoices for partial deliv-

eries. Any negative balance remaining after deduction of 

the advances is recognised in trade payables as a liabil-

ity from construction contracts.

The goods and services that the Conergy Group deliv-

ers and renders to the relevant project company dur-

ing the period the latter is controlled by the former do 

not lead to the recognition of sales but instead are treat-

ed merely as work in progress that increases invento-

ries. Upon deconsolidation, i. e. at the time at which the 

project company is no longer controlled by Conergy, a 

reduction in inventories is matched by the correspond-

ing increase in receivables and the recognition of reve-

nue. In contrast, the treatment follows the PoC method, 

i. e. IAS 11, if goods and services are delivered and ren-

dered to an already deconsolidated project company.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, sight deposits 

and financial assets that can be converted into cash and 

cash equivalents at any time and are subject to only mi-

nor fluctuations in value.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for 

sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified 

as held for sale and recognised at the lower of the car-

rying amount or fair value less disposal costs if the re-

spective carrying amount will be realised largely from 

a disposal transaction and not from ongoing use. Such 

assets are no longer amortised. If the carrying amount 

of the non-current assets and asset groups held for sale 

exceeds their fair value less disposal costs, then an im-

pairment loss corresponding to the difference must be 

recognised. The previously recognised impairment loss 

must be reversed if the fair value less disposal costs in-

creases at a later date. Such a write-up must be limited 

to the impairment loss previously recognised for the rel-

evant assets.

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations (see note 6) concern business 

units that were disposed of or are being classified as 

held-for-sale and (a) represent a separate, material divi-

sion or geographic segment; (b) are an integral part of 

an individual, coordinated plan to dispose of a separate, 

material division or geographic segment; or (c) consti-

tute a subsidiary acquired solely for resale purposes.

Equity

The Company’s no-par bearer shares must be classified 

as equity. Costs incurred in connection with the issuing 

of new shares are recognised directly in equity once re-

lated taxes have been offset, reducing the issuing pro-

ceeds.

Treasury shares purchased by Conergy AG itself or by 

one of its subsidiaries are deducted directly from equi-

ty. Costs arising from the acquisition of treasury shares 

are added to the consideration paid once related taxes 

have been offset. The consideration received in connec-

tion with the issuing of new shares less related after-tax 

costs is recognised in equity. No gain or loss is generat-

ed by the purchase or issuance of treasury shares.

Borrowings

On initial recognition, borrowings are measured at their 

fair value, which normally corresponds to the amount of 

funds received. In subsequent periods, borrowings are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. Subsequently, every difference between the is-

sue amount less transaction costs and the repayment 

amount are recognised in the income statement under 

net finance income over the relevant term of the loan us-

ing the effective interest method. The effective interest 

rate is the interest rate where estimated future in- and 

outflows related to the borrowings are discounted ex-

actly to the issue amount over the expected term of the 

loan.

A financial liability is derecognised upon satisfaction, 

termination, or expiration of the underlying obligation.

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. 

They are recognised if the Group currently has a legal 

or constructive obligation toward third parties and if it is 

probable that settling the obligation will lead to an out-

flow of resources and if the amount of the provision can 

be reliably determined.

Other provisions are measured in accordance with IAS 

37 using the best estimate of the scope of the obliga-

tion. In each case, this amount is the most likely for indi-

vidual risks. Provisions with a residual maturity of more 

than one year are discounted at an interest rate appro-

priate to both the risk and the maturity.

Provisions for other risks from sales and procurement 

basically relate to imminent losses from executory con-

tracts. Conergy measures provisions for expected loss-

es at the lower of the expected cost upon fulfillment of 

the contract and the cost upon termination of the con-

tract.

A provision for restructuring expenses is recognised if 

the Group has prepared a detailed formal restructuring 

plan which, in turn, has raised a valid expectation in the 

minds of the affected individuals that the restructuring 

measures will be executed, and starts to implement the 

plan or announces its material components. Solely the 

direct expenditures arising from the restructuring are 

considered in the measurement of a restructuring pro-

vision. Hence this only concerns amounts arising from 

the restructuring that are not associated with the Com-

pany’s continuing operations.
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Deferred taxes

Using the liabilities method, deferred tax assets and li-

abilities are recognised for all temporary differences be-

tween the tax basis of the assets / liabilities and their 

carrying amounts in the IFRS financial statements. De-

ferred tax assets for temporary differences as well as for 

tax loss carryforwards are recognised at the amount at 

which it is probable that the temporary difference or the 

tax losses not yet used can be offset against future tax-

able income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured in ac-

cordance with both the tax rates and tax regulations 

that were applicable at the balance sheet date of the re-

spective countries or have essentially been adopted into 

law and that are expected to apply at the time the de-

ferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is 

settled. A tax rate of 31.5 percent applies to the German 

Group companies; aside from the uniform corporate in-

come tax rate and the solidarity surtax, this rate also in-

cludes the average trade tax rate.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising 

from past events, the existence of which will only be 

confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of un-

certain future events, or current obligations arising from 

past events that are unlikely to result in an outflow of re-

sources or the amount of which can not be measured 

with sufficient reliability. Pursuant to IAS 37, contingent 

liabilities are generally not recognised.

Recognition of revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the considera-

tion received or receivable. Bonuses, cash discounts, or 

rebates reduce revenue.

Conergy recognises revenue from the sale of goods 

at the time the significant risks and rewards of owner-

ship to the goods have been transferred to the buyer, 

the amount of the revenue can be reliably determined 

and if it is probable that economic benefits associated 

with the transaction will flow to the Company as well as 

if the costs incurred or to be incurred in connection with 

the sale can be reliably determined. No revenue is rec-

ognised if there are significant risks in connection with 

receipt of the consideration or a possible return of the 

goods.

Revenue from service contracts is recognised in ac-

cordance with the stage of completion. Consideration 

for services that is included in the price of the product 

sold is recognised at the ratio of its share in the total 

service attributable to the product sold, based on past 

trends regarding the services provided in connection 

with products sold. Revenue from contracts settled on 

the basis of time or materials are recognised at the con-

tractually stipulated rates for hours worked and costs 

directly incurred. Income in connection with construc-

tion contracts is recognised according to the stage of 

completion, provided all requirements under IAS 11 

have been met, particularly when the revenue, total cost 

and stage of completion can be reliably measured. For 

further details, please see the disclosures in the section 

discussing construction contracts.

Employee benefits

Postemployment benefits

The Group’s pension plan largely is a defined contri-

bution plan. This means that Conergy makes statutory, 

contractual, or voluntary contributions to statutory and 

private pension insurance entities. Conergy AG does not 

have any other material payment obligations above and 

beyond these contributions. The contributions are rec-

ognised as at the due date in the income statement un-

der the item, personnel expenses. Prepayments of con-

tributions are recognised as assets to the extent that 

there is a right to repayment or reduction of future pay-

ments.

Share-based payments

Conergy maintains a share-based payment system for 

individual members of its Management Board based on 

stock appreciation rights on shares of Conergy AG.

The share-based payment programme based on stock 

appreciation rights embodied in phantom stock options 

has a term of three years overall starting 17 Novem-

ber 2007. These phantom options are divided into three 

tranches with terms of one, two and three years. Three 

exercise dates have been set; on each date, a third of 

the Phantom Stock Options granted can be exercised. 

After three years, all of the Phantom Stock Options are 

exercisable. Unexercised options may be carried over to 

the next two tranches.

The share-based compensation programme in the form 

of stock appreciation rights has a term of three years 

starting 1 September 2008. These stock appreciation 

rights were divided into two tranches of 50 percent 

each. The first tranche may be exercised at the earliest 

upon expiration of a waiting period of six months, and 

the second tranche at the earliest upon expiration of a 

waiting period of one year and six months from 1 Sep-

tember 2008. Furthermore, the exercisability of stock 
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appreciation rights is also tied to the positive devel-

opment of Conergy AG’s share price. The first tranche 

may be exercised only if and as soon as the Company’s 

share exceeds the price previously fixed as the base 

price by at least 10 percent, at the earliest, on the thirti-

eth trading day at the Frankfurt (Main) Stock Exchange 

prior to expiration of the waiting period of the stock ap-

preciation rights and no later than prior to the expiration 

of the overall maturity. The second tranche may only be 

exercised if the share price exceeds the base price by at 

least 20 percent under the same conditions. Any exer-

cise of the stock appreciation rights is ineffective absent 

the fulfillment of these performance targets. Stock ap-

preciation rights must be exercised no later than by the 

stock’s final maturity; if not, they will be forfeited out-

right without compensation.

All work obtained in return for the options is recognised 

in personnel costs. The expense to be recognised is cal-

culated based on the fair value of the options at the bal-

ance sheet date, multiplied by the best estimate of the 

number of options exercisable at the end of the serv-

ice period. The fair value of the options is determined at 

every balance sheet date on the basis of option pricing 

models. All market conditions that are tied to the exer-

cise flow into the calculation of the fair value. Howev-

er, exercise conditions are not considered at the time 

the fair value of the options is determined but instead at 

the time the number of exercisable options is estimat-

ed. The amount to be expensed thus determined is dis-

tributed over the service period. A liability correspond-

ing to the expense incurred is recognised because the 

options entail a cash settlement. Adjustments resulting 

from changes in the estimates of the number of exercis-

able options or changes in their fair values are recog-

nised in income in the period during which the estimate 

was changed by adjusting the liability item accordingly.

Government grants

Government grants received in connection with invest-

ments in property, plant and equipment are deducted 

from the cost of the asset in accordance with IAS 20.24 

Government Grants Related to Assets and result in a 

commensurate reduction in depreciation in the subse-

quent period.

4.	A ssumptions and exercise in 
judgment

Management’s material margin in judgment

Application of the aforementioned accounting principles 

requires the Management Board to assess facts, per-

form estimates and make assumptions with respect to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that can-

not be readily determined from other sources. Both the 

estimates and their underlying assumptions are based 

on past experience as well as on other factors deemed 

to be relevant. Actual results may vary from these esti-

mates, however. This also applies to contracts that raise 

the question whether they should be treated as deriva-

tives or as pending transactions. The assumptions un-

derlying the estimates are regularly reviewed. Chang-

es in the estimates that occur in a specific period are 

considered solely in that period; if the change concerns 

both the current and subsequent reporting periods, then 

it is considered in all relevant periods.

Management wishes to point out that future events fre-

quently deviate from forecasts and that estimates fre-

quently require routine adjustments.

We also assume that geopolitical conditions will remain 

stable. This assessment is also based on the underlying 

assumption that the problems resulting from the inter-

national financial crisis will not continue to intensify dra-

matically. The international financial crisis that was trig-

gered by developments gone awry in the US mortgage 

market has already had an impact on macroeconomic 

developments, especially in the United States and oth-

er industrialised countries. The financial sector is ex-

pected to have negative reverberations throughout the 

goods and services markets in 2009 as well. The risk of 

an even deeper and prolonged recession will increase if 

the economic and financial policies that have been put 

in place to date fail to restore confidence in the financial 

market. In that case, the banks’ liquidity problems will 

continue to constrict lending, investments will fall even 

further and higher unemployment as well as declining 

consumption will further crimp economic expectations.

In this connection, please also see the disclosures in the 

risk report of Conergy Group’s management report.

Estimates and assumptions

Below is a description of the judgment the Management 

Board exercised in decisions concerning the application 

of the Company’s accounting principles which, in turn, 

raised issues of the amount to be recognised in the an-

nual financial statements for the year just ended. The 
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following provides a summary of key forward-looking 

assumptions as well as the other main causes for uncer-

tainties in estimates at the balance sheet date which can 

trigger a considerable risk that the assets and liabilities 

recognised might have to be adjusted during the subse-

quent financial year.

|| Construction contracts

	 The business of Conergy PV and EPURON is based 

in part on customer-specific construction contracts. 

In these cases, revenue is recognised pursuant to 

the percentage of completion method (PoC). Under 

this method, the assessment of the stage of com-

pletion, total contract costs, total revenues and con-

tract risks substantially affect both the amount of 

revenue that is recognised and pro rata earnings. 

Changes in planned costs and the profitability of 

the individual construction contracts lead to modi-

fications of the estimates that are recognised in the 

period during which they occur. As of 31 December 

2008, EUR 11.3 million (previous year: EUR 100.5 

million) in receivables from construction contracts 

were recognised in trade receivables.

|| Impairment of goodwill

	 The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least 

once a year (see note 12). This requires estimating 

the value in use of those cash generating units to 

which the goodwill has been allocated. The Group 

must estimate the expected future cash flows from 

the cash generating unit in order to estimate the val-

ue in use and, furthermore, select a reasonable dis-

count rate in order to determine the present value of 

these cash flows. As of 31 December 2008, the car-

rying amount of the goodwill was EUR 17.5 million 

(previous year: EUR 20.7 million).

|| Development costs

	 The Group reviews the carrying amount of capital-

ised development costs at least once a year. The 

Management Board usually bases amortisation of 

capitalised development costs on a useful life of five 

years. In addition, the probable economic benefit 

of the development is determined by estimating the 

values in use of the cash generating units to which 

the capitalised development costs were allocated. 

Costs related to past development activities that 

have become obsolete are written down. The Group 

capitalised EUR 1.2 million (previous year: EUR 14.2 

million) in additions to development costs as of 31 

December 2008. A total of EUR 7.2 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 9.1 million) in capitalised develop-

ment costs from previous years were written down 

in the financial year just ended due to technical 

adjustments and the restructuring decisions that 

were made.

|| Impairment of assets

	 The Group must assess at every reporting date 

whether there is any indication that the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment 

or an intangible asset might be impaired. If so, the 

recoverable amount of the relevant asset is esti-

mated. The recoverable amount corresponds to the 

higher of the fair value less disposal costs and the 

value in use. The value in use is determined based 

on the discounted future cash flows of the relevant 

asset. Estimating the discounted future cash flows 

entails making material assumptions, especially 

with respect to future selling prices and volumes as 

well as to the cost of the discounting rates. As of 31 

December 2008, the carrying amount of the Compa-

ny’s property, plant and equipment – which essen-

tially concerns the Frankfurt (Oder) production site 

– was EUR 204.0 million (previous year: EUR 208.7 

million).

|| Assets held for sale

	 Assets slated for disposal require determinations as 

to whether they can be sold in their current condi-

tion and whether their sale is highly probable. If this 

is the case, then the assets and the related liabilities 

must be measured and recognised as assets held 

for sale or as liabilities related to assets held for sale.

|| Income taxes

	 Corporate income taxes must be estimated for eve-

ry tax jurisdiction where the Group engages in busi-

ness activities. This entails calculating the expected 

actual income tax for each taxpayer and the tempo-

rary differences from the divergent treatment of spe-

cific balance sheet items in the IFRS consolidated 

financial statements and the tax accounts. Tempo-

rary differences, if any, generally lead to the recog-

nition of tax assets and tax liabilities in the con-

solidated financial statements. Management must 

make assessments in calculating current and de-

ferred taxes. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 

the extent that it is probable that they can be used. 

Whether deferred tax assets are used depends 

on the Group’s ability to earn sufficient taxable in-

come under the relevant tax type and jurisdiction, 

if necessary, taking into account statutory limits on 

the maximum periods allowed for tax loss carryfor-

wards. Various factors must be considered to as-

sess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be 

used in future, such as, for instance, past earnings, 

operational plans, tax loss carryforward periods 



Conergy AG * Annual Report 2008

126

and tax planning strategies. Any difference between 

actual results and these estimates or any need to 

adjust these estimates in future periods could have 

negative effects on the Company’s assets, liabilities, 

cash flows and profit or loss. The deferred tax as-

sets previously recognised must be written down to 

profit and loss if they are impaired. As of 31 Decem-

ber 2008, recognised tax loss carryforwards for cor-

porate income and municipal trade tax purposes, 

respectively, were EUR 213.6 million and EUR 140.0 

million (previous year: EUR 160.0 million and EUR 

96.0 million, respectively). No deferred tax assets 

were recognised for tax loss carryforwards of EUR 

139.4 million (previous year: EUR 140.7 million) in 

corporate income taxes and EUR 137.1 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 153.0 million) in municipal trade tax 

because it is unlikely that the tax loss carryforwards 

can be utilised within the framework of the Compa-

ny’s medium-term, tax-related earnings planning. 

These loss carryforwards can essentially be utilised 

for an unlimited period of time.

	 As a result of the capital increase carried out in De-

cember 2008, Dresdner Bank AG has become a di-

rect equity owner, holding 38.99 percent of Conergy 

AG’s share capital.

	 Due to the direct change in shareholders as a re-

sult of the capital increase, which led to Dresdner 

Bank holding equity in excess of 25 percent, appli-

cation of Section 8c German Corporate Income Tax 

Act – which was newly promulgated as part of the 

business tax reform and is effective from 2008 – we 

expect, at the level of Conergy AG and its indirect-

ly affected domestic subsidiaries, 38.99 percent of 

both existing tax loss carryforwards as of 31 De-

cember 2007 (corresponding to EUR 74.1 million and 

EUR 49.3 million, respectively, in corporate income 

and municipal trade tax loss carryforwards) and pro 

rata losses incurred in 2008.

	 Additional indirect or direct acquisitions of equity in-

terests in the share capital of Conergy AG may result 

in the renewed application of Section 8 c German 

Corporate Income Tax Act and hence the addition-

al elimination of tax loss carryforwards after the re-

porting date. For further details we refer to note 15.

|| Provisions

	 The determination of provisions for warranties and 

litigation substantially depends on assessments. 

Recognition and measurement of provisions and 

the amount of contingent liabilities related to pend-

ing litigation or other outstanding claims under set-

tlement, mediation, arbitral, or statutory proceed-

ings and other contingent liabilities are substantially 

tied to assessments. Hence any assessment of the 

likelihood that pending litigation will be success-

ful or give rise to a liability, or any quantification of 

the possible amount of the payment obligation, de-

pends on the evaluation of the given situation. Provi-

sions are recognised for liabilities if losses are antic-

ipated from pending transactions, a loss is probable 

and such loss can be reliably determined. Owing to 

the uncertainties arising from such assessments, 

actual losses might deviate from the initial estimates 

and thus from the amount of the provision. Moreo-

ver, determining provisions for taxes, environmen-

tal liabilities and legal risks requires substantial es-

timates that can change over time as a result of new 

information. The Company avails itself of internal ex-

perts as well as of the services of external advisors 

to obtain new information. Changes in estimates can 

have a substantial impact on future profits or losses.

|| Estimate of the fair value of financial assets and  

liabilities

	 The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that 

were recognised in the balance sheet at amortised 

cost or the fair value were determined as follows:

	 The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with 

standard maturities and conditions that are traded 

in active liquid markets is determined by reference 

to the listed market prices. The fair value of other 

financial assets and liabilities (excluding derivative 

financial instruments) is determined in accordance 

with generally accepted measurement methods 

based on discounted cash flow analyses using pric-

es achieved in observable current market transac-

tions. The fair value of derivative instruments is cal-

culated based on listed prices. Absent such prices, 

discounted cash flow analyses are applied to deriv-

atives without optional components using the cor-

responding interest rate curves applicable to the in-

struments’ maturity and option pricing models are 

applied to derivatives with optional components. 

These estimates, including the methods used, can 

influence the fair value determination.
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5.	M anagement of financial risks

Financial risk factors

The international nature of the Conergy Group’s activ-

ities and its financing exposes it to a variety of finan-

cial risks, in particular, market, credit and liquidity risks. 

Its groupwide risk management focuses on the unfore-

seeability of developments in the financial markets and 

aims to minimise their potentially negative impact on the 

Group’s cash flows.

Financial risks are managed by the Corporate Treas-

ury department in accordance with the Management 

Board’s groupwide guidelines. Corporate Treasury iden-

tifies, measures and hedges financial risks in close col-

laboration with the Conergy Group’s operating units. 

A front office system that enables daily analyses of all 

open interest and currency risks and that can perform 

simulations of worst case scenarios is available to our 

employees in this connection. Maximum amounts that 

greatly limit the risk from hedging transactions are de-

fined as part of interest and currency risk management. 

The Management Board provides risk management 

guidelines and precepts for specific divisions in con-

nection with, for example, currency risks, interest rate 

risks and credit risks as well as the utilisation of deriv-

ative and non-derivative financial instruments. In addi-

tion, solely derivative financial instruments that can be 

mapped and measured in the risk management sys-

tem are used for hedging purposes. Both the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board are regularly ap-

prised of the financial risk factors to which the Group is 

exposed. The Company’s internal auditing department 

verifies compliance with these guidelines.

Even after the capital increase carried out in December 

2008, the Company can not engage in currency hedging 

at the present time due to its tight earnings and finan-

cial position; Conergy plans to resume currency hedg-

ing transactions as soon as possible.

In this connection, please see the disclosures in the risk 

report of Conergy’s Group management report.

Market risks

Currency risks

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks due to 

the international nature of its business.

Currency risks on the one hand arise from the fact that 

a number of the Group’s consolidated companies report 

their figures in currencies other than the euro, which 

means that Conergy has to convert the relevant items 

into euro when preparing its consolidated financial 

statements (“translation risk”). On the other hand, cur-

rency risks can also arise if revenue of a certain member 

of the Conergy Group is achieved in currencies different 

from those of the associated costs (“transaction risk”). A 

considerable portion of these transactions are settled in 

US dollars (USD), Japanese yen (JPY) and South Kore-

an won (KRW). The risks from US dollars and Japanese 

yen stem mainly from long-term procurement contracts 

in the relevant currency, pursuant to which the Conergy 

Group has undertaken to accept goods against pay-

ment in US dollars or Japanese yen. Changes in the re-

spective currency relations can intensify or counteract 

fluctuations in commodities prices. A decline in the val-

ue of the euro vis-à-vis the US dollar or the Japanese 

yen can have a negative impact on Conergy’s gross 

profit margin. Unfavourable conditions (notably rising 

commodities prices due to the rising US dollar or Jap-

anese yen) can trigger additional expenses in the pro-

curement of raw materials in the short term, in turn sub-

stantially affecting Conergy’s earnings and liquidity. The 

risk from South Korean won arises mainly from transac-

tions with local subsidiaries that receive payment in won 

and subsequently exchange them for US dollars. Deliv-

ery and procurement contracts with extended payment 

terms such as for example the MEMC contract give rise 

to translation risks as well as transaction risks that can-

not be hedged. The sales and earnings of the Conergy 

Group might thus be affected by fluctuations in the rela-

tive value of the Company’s main currencies.

Even after the capital increase carried out in December 

2008, the Company can not engage in currency hedging 

at the present time due to its tight earnings and finan-

cial position; Conergy plans to resume currency hedg-

ing transactions as soon as possible.

Usually, the Corporate Treasury department hedges 

both interest rate and currency risks in close collabora-

tion with the operating units using hedges that involve 

derivative financial instruments as set out in the Com-

pany’s “Treasury Guideline”. Treasury also hedges cur-

rency and interest rate risks related to the project busi-

ness, as necessary. Furthermore, the Conergy Group 
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optimises its currency risks by pushing natural hedging 

measures – i. e. by matching cash outflows under deliv-

ery contracts with cash inflows from external revenue in 

the same currency.

IFRS 7 requires a sensitivity analysis, which examines 

the effects of hypothetical changes in foreign exchange 

rates at the balance sheet date on the Group’s assets, 

liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss. The effects of 

hypothetical changes in foreign exchange rates on the 

translation risk are not subject to IFRS 7. A hypotheti-

cal negative five percent change in foreign exchange 

rates was used to determine the sensitivities, positing 

a simultaneous gain in all currencies against the euro 

based on each currency’s year-end exchange rate. The 

hypothetical loss from derivatives and original financial 

instruments as of 31 December 2008 would have been 

EUR 7.7 million. Of this amount, EUR 0.3 million relate to 

the Australian dollar and EUR 7.4 million to the US dol-

lar. There were no effects on equity because no deriva-

tives were used as of 31 December 2008 to hedge an-

ticipated exposures to risk from planned transactions in 

foreign currencies.

Interest rate risks

Risks from changes in interest rates arise from interest 

rate fluctuations due to market conditions. Such fluctua-

tions give rise to changes in the interest expense relat-

ed to liabilities subject to variable interest rates and to 

changes in the fair value related to liabilities subject to 

fixed interest rates. The aim is to minimise the future risk 

of fluctuating interest expenses.

Currently, all financial liabilities under the syndicat-

ed loan dated 31 July 2007 are subject to variable in-

terest rates. All financial liabilities in the 2008 financial 

year were structured in euros. The Conergy Group is ex-

posed to additional interest rate risks in connection with 

EPURON’s project business. Here, Corporate Treas-

ury’s responsibility is to monitor current interest rate 

trends and adjust the interest portfolio as necessary. 

This entails monitoring all critical interest rate curves in 

order to be able to react to short-term changes or shifts 

in the relevant interest rate curve as well, focusing main-

ly on the United States and Europe. Corporate Treasury 

develops additional short, medium and long-term inter-

est rate forecasts to this end and subsequently aligns 

the relevant hedging strategies to these forecasts. Pri-

marily interest rate derivatives – in particular, interest 

rate swaps and interest rate options – are used to imple-

ment these hedges.

Six fixed-rate swaps were entered into for variable inter-

est rate loans to hedge rising interest rates. Five fixed-

rate swaps (of EUR 22.5 million each), including redemp-

tion for securing the term loan, and one fixed-rate swap 

for EUR 100 million were entered into to hedge the inter-

est rate risk from the Company’s revolving facility. No 

interest rate risk arises because changes in the value of 

both the loans and the hedging transaction due to inter-

est rates offset each other almost entirely during the pe-

riod presented in the income statement

Liquidity risks 

The Conergy Group’s failed strategy of expanding ag-

gressively into new technologies, value added stages 

as well as geographic markets and simultaneously ac-

quiring new companies had a substantial impact on the 

Group’s assets, liabilities, cash flows and profit or loss, 

sparking an earnings and liquidity crisis.

Groupwide financial planning tools are intended to en-

sure early detection of the Company’s complex liquid-

ity situation resulting from the execution of corporate 

processes related to strategy and planning. Based on 

the insights gained with respect to the liquidity situation 

from groupwide financial planning tools, we now uti-

lise liquidity planning that covers a period of 13 weeks 

and is rolled over from week to week as well as monthly 

planning that covers 12 months and is regularly updated 

and adjusted. These planning systems include all con-

solidated companies. Enhanced controlling tools and IT 

systems will be used to support the planning process.

To ensure sufficient liquidity, on 31 July 2007 Conergy 

negotiated a revolving credit facility and an originally 

EUR 600 million syndicated loan with fixed terms of, re-

spectively, three and four and a half years. The loan is 

divided into two tranches and will provide funding for 

the construction of the production facility in Frankfurt 

(Oder) (Tranche A) as well as enable the Conergy Group 

to refinance its existing credit facilities and finance its 

working capital and guarantee requirements (Tranche B 

with a revolving facility of EUR 250.0 million and a guar-

antee and documentary credit facility of EUR 200.0 mil-

lion). Tranche A, amounting to EUR 150.0 million, is to be 

repaid by 31 December 2011, in half-yearly installments 

starting on 30 June 2008. In this regard in 2008 EUR 37.5 

million were repaid as agreed upon. Tranche B, amount-

ing to EUR 450.0 million is due for total repayment on 

31 July 2010, unless the banks approve an application 

for extending Tranche B’s term to 31 July 2011 or 31 

July 2012, as the case may be. The Group’s financing 

needs are also being covered by recourse to a variety of 
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financial market instruments (including overnight money 

and term deposits) as well as bilateral loans.

The originally EUR 600 million syndicated loan requires 

compliance with specific liquidity and capital structure 

ratios (“Financial Covenants”). Non-compliance with 

these Financial Covenants gives the lenders the right to 

terminate the loan for cause. As of the end of Septem-

ber 2007, Conergy failed to abide by the Financial Cov-

enants stipulated in the syndicated loan. In talks with 

the banks, the banks waived the assertion of rights aris-

ing from breach of the Covenants as of 30 September 

2007 and 31 December 2007. Given the development 

of Conergy’s earnings and liquidity, prestigious banks 

granted the Company additional liquidity of EUR 240 

million at the beginning of February 2008 by means of 

further interim financing. The bridge facility’s initial term 

ended at the end of September 2008 but was extended 

to the end of December 2008. It served to plug the Com-

pany’s liquidity needs until the capital increase in De-

cember 2008 and was repaid in early December 2008.

The Financial Covenants for the syndicated loan were 

suspended for the 2008 and 2009 financial years. The 

parties intend to agree new Covenants for the years af-

ter 2009 in due time. Compliance with the new financial 

ratios to be negotiated by 30 September 2009 based on 

the new capital structure and a new business plan must, 

again, be established on 31 March 2010.

The following table shows the sum total of the contrac-

tually stipulated undiscounted payments on interest and 

principal in connection with the financial liabilities and 

derivative financial instruments, broken down by matu-

rities:

EUR million up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than  

5 years

As of 31.12.2008

Borrowings 224.9 86.5 –

Derivative financial instruments 5.8 – –

Trade payables 111.2 – –

Leasing liabilities 11.3 25.1 21.1

As of 31.12.2007

Borrowings 335.4 120.0 –

Derivative financial instruments 13.2 – –

Trade payables 282.4 – –

Leasing liabilities 11.1 29.0 1.0
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The variable interest payments related to the liabilities 

were determined based on the interest rates last ap-

plied prior to 31 December 2008. Foreign currency hold-

ings were converted at the reporting date exchange 

rate. Changes in cash flows can arise, in particular, from 

changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, 

prepayments, extensions as well as new financing ob-

tained in future.

Credit risks 

Credit risks from trade receivables or financial assets 

arise when one party fails to honour its obligations, in 

whole or in part, and can result in the loss of cash or 

income. Such risks generally arise up to the carrying 

amounts of the financial assets recognised in the bal-

ance sheet (see note 19).

As a rule, all customers wanting to do business with 

the Conergy Group are subject to credit checks. The 

Group’s central department responsible for the manage-

ment of working capital will monitor receivables balanc-

es on an ongoing basis with the aim of ensuring that the 

Group is not exposed to significant credit risks. These 

measures notwithstanding, non-payment risks can nev-

er be fully precluded. Business with major customers is 

subject to separate credit monitoring in connection with 

the Group’s central working capital management as part 

of receivables management. However, relative to the 

Group’s entire risk exposure from default risks, the re-

ceivables from these counterparties are not so large as 

to create extraordinary concentrations of risk.

Risks arising from the capital structure

In addition to bringing about a sustained increase in the 

enterprise value, managing the finances of the Conergy 

Group is also aimed at maintaining an adequate capital 

structure. Gearing thus serves as an additional financial 

ratio in our management control system. It is defined as 

the ratio of net liabilities (borrowings less liquid funds) 

to equity. Repaying borrowings as well as boosting the 

equity base through retained earnings and / or capital 

increases serve as controlling instruments. We aim to 

achieve a gearing of 100.0 percent in the medium term, 

i. e. a 1:1 ratio of equity to net financial liabilities. The in-

crease in equity following the capital increase and the 

simultaneous decrease in net financial liabilities clearly 

improved gearing year on year. Gearing developed as 

follows: 

Net liabilities

As before, it is our foremost economic goal in the 2009 

financial year to improve the key performance indicators 

EBITDA, EBIT, working capital and gearing. 

31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Borrowings EUR million 317.2 468.7

Liquid funds EUR million 27.7 62.7

Net liabilities EUR million 289.5 406.0

Equity EUR million 196.8 125.2

Gearing in percent 147.1 324.3

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
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6.	 Changes in the consolidated 
group

Acquisitions

On 30 May 2008, Conergy AG purchased 16.8 percent 

of the shares in Conergy Inc., Alberta, Canada, at a pur-

chase price of EUR 0.3 million, increasing its total equity 

interest in this company to 96.8 percent. No other acqui-

sitions were made in the financial year just ended.

Discontinued operations

The discontinued operations include the solar ther-

mal business unit and the biomass business unit. The 

Conergy Group has disposed of its thermal activities in 

Belgium, the Netherlands and Austria in the first quar-

ter of 2008. The sale also included the Belgian entity 

Conergy bvba, domiciled in Lille, Belgium. Conergy also 

disposed of Redenko bv, a company that is domiciled in 

the Dutch city of Breda and sells heat pumps and dis-

trict heating systems to its regional customers. Conergy 

GmbH domiciled in Althofen, Austria, and SunTechnics 

Energy Systems nv domiciled in Lille, Belgium, were also 

sold. The incoming payment from the sale of these enti-

ties totaled EUR 10.3 million. In addition, the Company’s 

Management Board resolved in the second quarter of 

2008 to stop manufacturing wind turbines. This affects 

Conergy Wind GmbH domiciled in Bremerhaven; effec-

tive 30 June 2008, the company was thus also treated 

as a discontinued operation. The sale of the business of 

Conergy Wind GmbH agreed and announced on 9 Sep-

tember 2008 by Conergy AG and Warburg Pincus was 

completed in October 2008. In this context Conergy ac-

crued EUR 1.0 million. The development, financing and 

implementation of wind energy projects will be contin-

ued in the EPURON segment.

By resolution of the Management Board in December 

2008, the solar thermal business of Conergy GmbH in 

Switzerland and the heat pump manufacturing busi-

ness of Conergy Wärmepumpen GmbH in Güstrow are 

treated as continuing operations in the Conergy PV seg-

ment and no longer as discontinued operations. The rel-

evant previous year’s figures were adjusted to reflect the 

aforementioned adjustments during the financial year in 

regards to discontinued operations. Validation changes 

were not necessary in this case.

Non-current assets and related liabilities slated for dis-

posal are categorised as follows:

Write-downs of EUR 38.1 million to the lower fair values 

less disposal costs were taken on the assets. They are 

contained in the net income for the year from discontin-

ued operations.

The net income from discontinued operations is as fol-

lows: 

The increase in the loss from discontinued operations is 

mainly due to the sale of the business of Conergy Wind 

GmbH, which resulted in a one-off and essentially non-

cash impact on discontinued operations of approxi-

mately EUR 38.1 million and to the losses incurred from 

operations amounting to EUR 7.6 million, both of which 

had a material effect on the assets, liabilities, cash flows 

and profit or loss of the Conergy Group.

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.20071

Assets

Goodwill –  – 

Intangible assets – 3.1

Property, plant and equipment  – 3.8

Inventories – 9.2

Other current assets  0.1 7.1

Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 1.0

0.4 24.2

Liabilities

Borrowings – 0.5

Trade payables 2.3 6.4

Other liabilities 1.6 9.3

3.9 16.2

EUR million 2008 20071

Sales 1.2 29.4

Expenses – 55.2 – 62.9

Result before taxes from 
discontinued operations – 54.0 – 33.5

Income taxes  0.9 – 1.6

Result after taxes from 
discontinued operations – 53.1 – 35.1

	 Thereof valuation gains / losses 
	 from value adjustments of assets 
	 and liabilities – 38.1 – 16.2

	 Current profits / losses – – 

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
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The losses related to the disposal essentially result from 

depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on 

non-current and current assets.

Discontinued operations account for the following net 

cash flows: 

The previous year’s figures were adjusted such that they 

contain all operations that were discontinued at the bal-

ance sheet date.

7.	S egment disclosures

Segment reporting was prepared in accordance with 

IAS 14 (Segment Reporting). Individual consolidated 

data are reported by business units in keeping with the 

Group’s internal reporting and organisational structure. 

Segment reporting aims to lend greater transparency to 

both the performance and the assets of the Group’s in-

dividual divisions or regions (see note 1).

The segment table solely shows the Company’s contin-

uing operations. Comments on its discontinued opera-

tions are contained in note 6.

Primary segment reporting is based on the organisa-

tional structure of the Conergy Group. The Group differ-

entiates among the following segments:

Primary segments: Divisions

As of 31 December 2008, the Conergy Group was man-

aged via two divisions operating internationally that will 

be discussed separately given their economic features, 

type of customer relationships and the characteristics of 

their sales organisation.

These divisions engage in the following activities:

Segment classification was changed relative to the pre-

vious year’s consolidated financial statements due to 

the Company’s strategic realignment. The Company’s 

activities are managed by means of the two divisions, 

Components and Sales & Systems, which comprise the 

Photovoltaics segment, and by the EPURON segment. 

The Components division includes all production ac-

tivities. The Sales & Systems division bundles the previ-

ous activities of Conergy and SunTechnis. The EPURON 

segment entails the development and financing of major 

projects. The segment table solely shows the Compa-

ny’s continuing operations. Comments on its discontin-

ued operations are contained in note 6. Previous year’s 

figures were adjusted accordingly.

Intersegment sales include the sales from transactions 

between segments. The transfer prices for intraGroup 

sales are determined at arm’s length.

During reconciliation, intraGroup items are eliminated 

and income, expenses, assets and liabilities not direct-

ly attributable to the segments are disclosed. This in-

cludes, in particular, the activities of the Group holding 

company, the financial liabilities and financial assets as 

well as the cash and cash equivalents and the deferred 

and current income tax assets and liabilities.

Secondary segmentation: Geographically

This segmentation is based on a geographic classifica-

tion. Germany, Europe and Rest of the World, were cat-

egorised as regions to this end.

Division Activities

Conergy PV In its Conergy PV segment, Conergy develops, pro-
duces and markets solar cells, solar modules, module 
frames, and mounting systems. Conergy also develops 
electronic components in this segment.

 EPURON In its EPURON segment, Conergy develops, finances, 
implements and operates major renewables projects 
worldwide via the EPURON Group companies.

EUR million 2008 20071

Cash flow from operating activities – 29.1 – 20.2

Cash flow from investing activities – – 4.5

Cash flow from financing activities – –

Cash flow from discontinued 
operations – 29.1 – 24.7

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
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Disclosures and comments 
on the income statement

8.	S ales

Sales are comprised of the following:

The 2007 sales of EUR 719 million is EUR 13.5 million 

higher than reported in the 2007 annual report due to 

the reclassification of discontinued operations. For fur-

ther details on the changes in the consolidated group, 

please see the comments in note 6.

Sales of EUR 190.6 million (previous year: EUR 237.2 

million) were recognised on a total of 42 settled projects 

(previous year: 49 projects). Sales of EUR 33.9 million 

(previous year: EUR 37.8 million) was recognised using 

the PoC method.

9.	P ersonnel costs

The wages and salaries include bonuses of EUR 14.3 

million (previous year: EUR 11.8 million) and termination 

benefits of EUR 3.4 million (previous year: EUR 2.3 mil-

lion).

10.	O ther operating income

The other operating income is comprised of the follow-

ing:

The income from the reversal of provisions mainly con-

cerns the reversal of unused provisions recognised in 

the 2007 financial year that had been recognised in con-

nection with restructuring measures and guarantee risks 

related to the project business. The write-ups of receiv-

ables contain payments received for receivables previ-

ously written down. 

The other operating income also encompasses a multi-

tude of numerically minor individual items related to the 

Group’s 68 consolidated companies.

11.	O ther operating expenses

The other operating expenses are comprised of the fol-

lowing:

The expenses for bad debt allowances essentially result 

from the correction of a receivable in the amount of EUR 

42.1 million from MEMC Electronic Materials, Inc. Please 

see the disclosures regarding events after the balance 

sheet date for information on the status of the contrac-

tual relationship with MEMC. The remaining writedowns 

were due to a lack of creditworthiness on the part of 

customers. This development was caused for one by 

EUR million 2008 2007

Sales from the sale of goods 683.0 419.7

Sales from services rendered 289.3 261.5

Services realised under construction 
contracts (PoC) 33.9 37.8

1,006.2 719.0

EUR million 2008 2007

Wages and salaries  – 98.7 – 96.0

Social security costs – 14.8 – 16.3

– 113.5 – 112.3

EUR million 2008 2007

Currency changes 11.7 11.5

Deconsolidation income 6.1 4.2

Income from the disposal of 
non-current assets 7.7 0.2

Other operating income 9.3 –

34.8 15.9

EUR million 2008 2007

Bad debt allowance – 54.4 – 28.2

Currency changes – 41.6 – 18.6

Legal and consulting expenses – 33.3 – 21.9

Rental and lease contracts – 17.0 – 11.8

Warranty costs – 10.4 – 14.6

Distribution costs – 9.6 – 20.3

Production-related expenses – 7.5 – 7.9

Other personnel costs – 7.2 – 11.1

Other operating expenses – 50.5 – 44.9

– 231.5 – 179.3
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problems in individual projects and for another by the 

general deterioration in the economic environment; tak-

en together, these factors have had a negative effect on 

the profitability of the Conergy Group’s projects.

Conergy is employing numerous consultants who work 

in finance (banks), the law, restructuring, auditing and 

consulting who support and guide the Company in the 

restructuring process. In 2008, the consultancy fees in-

curred by the Conergy Group amounted to approx. EUR 

33.3 million (EUR 21.9 million in the previous year).

Other personnel costs relate primarily to expenses for 

contract and temporary workers.

The cost of sales contain travel and advertising costs.

The other operating expenses include expenses of EUR 

20.2 million from the measurement of contracts.

Other operating expenses in 2008 also contain expens-

es for maintenance and gas, electricity and water EUR 

7.8 million (previous year: EUR 3.0 million); communi-

cations and office equipment EUR 4.5 million (previous 

year: EUR 5.1 million); cars and other vehicles EUR 3.5 

million (previous year: EUR 3.5 million); as well as insur-

ance, contributions, fees and other charges EUR 3.2 

million (previous year: EUR 3.0 million).

Other operating costs encompass a multitude of numer-

ically minor individual items related to the Group’s 68 

consolidated companies.

 

12.	A mortisation and depreciation 
of intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of 

property, plant and equipment is comprised of the fol-

lowing:

For further details on the adjustments to goodwill, 

please see the comments in note 4.

The previous year’s impairment losses on property, 

plant and equipment concern assets at the Frankfurt 

(Oder) production facility.

EUR million 2008 2007

Impairment of goodwill – 0.9 – 21.8

Impairment of own development 
services – 7.3 – 9.1

Impairment of other intangible 
assets and of property, plant and 
equipment – 3.5 – 9.3

Depreciation and amortisation – 24.1 – 9.9

– 35.8 – 50.1
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13.	N et gains and losses from  
financial instruments

Net gains and losses are influenced by fair value chang-

es recognised to profit or loss, impairment losses, ad-

justing events recognised to profit or loss, changes in 

foreign exchange rates, as well as derecognitions, and 

are recognised in other operating income / expenses.

Net profit or loss by measurement category

A total of EUR 9.6 million in losses from loans and re-

ceivables (previous year: EUR 28.2 million) result from 

the adjustments as well as from write-downs on trade 

receivables.

The net losses of EUR 8.0 million (previous year: EUR 

11.3 million) from financial instruments held for trading 

essentially comprise the result of the measurement of 

the derivative financial instruments.

The net loss of EUR 9.1 million (previous year: net gains 

EUR 2.8 million) from financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost essentially resulted from currency trans-

lation.

14.	N et finance income

Net finance income is comprised of the following ele-

ments:

The net finance loss of the Conergy Group is essentially 

the result of the Company’s high net borrowing. This is 

substantially due to the two-tranche syndicated loan for 

originally EUR 600 million (tranche A for EUR 450 million 

and tranche B for EUR 150 million) as well as the bridge 

loan for EUR 240.0 million stipulated in early February 

2008, which was repaid in early December 2008 as part 

of the capital increase.

Net finance income contains net loss of EUR – 6.9 mil-

lion (previous year: net gains of EUR 2.5 million) from fi-

nancial instruments recognised in profit or loss at fair 

value.

No interest income from impaired financial assets was 

recognised during the reporting period.

EUR million 2008 2007

Finance income 3.6 11.1

Finance costs – 71.4 – 32.9

– 67.8 – 21.8

Thereof financial instruments 
in measurement categories pursu-
ant to IAS 39

	 Loans and receivables – 3.2 2.7

	 Financial investments held 
	 to maturity – 0.0

	 Available-for-sale financial 
	 assets – –

	 Borrowing measured at 
	 amortised cost – 60.8 – 28.1

– 64.0 – 25.3

EUR million 2008 2007

Loans and receivables – 9.6 – 28.2

Financial investments held to 
maturity – –

Available-for-sale financial assets – –

Financial instruments held for 
trading – 8.0 – 11.3

Borrowings measured at amortised 
cost – 9.1 2.8

– 26.7 – 36.7
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15.	I ncome taxes

Income taxes comprise taxes paid and owed on income 

and earnings, as well as the deferred tax assets and li-

abilities recognised by the Group. The income taxes 

shown include:

The following table shows the reconciliation of tax ex-

pense expected on the basis of the IFRS earnings be-

fore taxes (EBT) with actual tax expense:

A corporate income tax rate of 15 percent and a solidar-

ity surcharge of 5.5 percent on the corporate income tax 

rate, as well as trade tax rates between 12 percent and 

19 percent, are applied to domestic tax calculations in 

accordance with applicable taxation rates. Foreign in-

come taxes are calculated on the basis of the laws and 

regulations applicable in the respective countries.

The following income tax rates apply in the various 

countries: 30 percent in Spain; 25 percent in Austria; 

33.3 percent in France; 38.8 percent in the USA; 30 per-

cent in Australia; 31.4 percent in Italy; and 23.3 percent 

in Switzerland.

EUR million 2008 2007

Current income taxes – 3.2 – 2.9

Deferred income taxes 30.0 25.0

26.8 22.1

EUR million 2008 2007

Result before taxes from continued operations – 280.3 – 235.1

Result before taxes from discontinued operations – 54.0 – 33.5

Earnings before taxes (total) – 334.3 – 268.6

Theoretical income tax rate for the Company in percent 31.5 40.4

Expected tax income (+) / expense (–) 105.3 108.5

Effects of tax rate changes in future years 1.0 – 17.5

Municipal trade tax additions / deductions – 5.6 – 1.2

Effects of previous years’ taxes recognised in the financial year 1.4 2.7

Effects due to tax rates deviating from the theoretical income tax rate – 0.5 2.0

Effects of non-taxable income – 16.0 2.6

Permanent effects – 3.7 – 9.9

Effects of non-deductible expenses – 2.1 – 1.7

Effects of non-recognition and subsequent recognition of deferred tax assets – 53.8 – 59.6

Effects of the elimination of tax loss carryforwards – 19.8 –

Effects of the adjustment of tax loss carryforwards 15.6 –

Other differences 5.9 – 5.4

Current income taxes (total) 27.7 20.5

Effective income tax rate in percent 8.3 7.6

	 thereof current income taxes from discontinued operations 0.9 – 1.6

Effective income tax from continued operations 26.8 22.1

Effective income tax rate in percent 9.6 9.4
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Deferred taxes recognised in the balance sheet stem 

from the following temporary differences:

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset at the lev-

el of individual Group companies and within tax units if 

there is a right to offset actual tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and if the deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are due from or to the same tax authority.

The Company’s total allowable corporate income and 

municipal trade tax loss carryforwards at the balance 

sheet date were EUR 213.6 million and EUR 140.0 mil-

lion, respectively (previous year: EUR 160.0 million and 

EUR 96.0 million, respectively). Deferred tax assets 

were recognised for these carryforwards because it is 

probable that the Group will have sufficient taxable tem-

porary differences; in turn, these will give rise to taxable 

income to which these loss carryforwards can be ap-

plied before they expire. In the 2009 financial year, tax 

measures related to the restructuring of the Company’s 

activities such as for instance the transfer of subsidiar-

ies’ activities will be considered if they permit the use of 

tax loss carryforwards. The utilization of the recognised 

tax loss carryforwards is as follows:

No deferred tax assets were recognised for corporate 

income tax and municipal trade tax loss carryforwards 

of EUR 139.4 million and EUR 137.1 million (previous 

year: EUR 140.7 million and EUR 153.0 million). The utili-

zation of unrecognised tax loss carryforwards is as fol-

lows:

Due to the direct change in shareholders as a result of 

the capital increase, which led to Dresdner Bank hold-

ing equity in excess of 25 percent, application of Sec-

tion 8 c German Corporate Income Tax Act – which was 

newly promulgated as part of the business tax reform 

and is effective from 2008 – we expect, at the level of 

Conergy AG and its indirectly affected domestic subsid-

iaries, 38.99 percent of both existing tax loss carryfor-

wards as of 31 December 2007 (corresponding to EUR 

74.1 million and EUR 49.3 million, respectively, in corpo-

rate income and municipal trade tax loss carryforwards) 

and pro rata losses incurred in 2008. The corporate and 

municipal trade tax loss carryforwards as at 31 Decem-

ber 2008 no longer contain the tax loss carryforwards 

that were eliminated.

Due to Commerzbank AG’s takeover and integration of 

Dresdner Bank AG, Section 8 German Corporate In-

come Tax Act will be applied yet again in 2009.

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

EUR million 2008 2007 2008 2007

Intangible assets 32.8 0.1 1.5 4.1

Property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.7 0.5 0.3

Receivables and other financial assets 0.4 5.8 4.3 3.4

Inventories 37.8 – – 14.7

Provisions 6.1 1.1 0.4 0.8

Other liabilities 3.2 0.5 40.2 26.7

Trade payables 0.4 25.4 27.5 0.7

Capitalised tax loss carryforwards 63.0 46.7 – –

143.9 80.3 74.4 50.7

Netting 64.3 30.0 64.3 30.0

Deferred taxes recognised 79.6 50.3 10.1 20.7

EUR million 2008 2007

Up to 1 year – 19.7

1 to 5 years 17.8 8.6

More than 5 years 335.8 227.7

353.6 256.0

EUR million 2008 2007

Up to 1 year 0.9 2.5

1 to 5 years 0.6 0.3

More than 5 years 275.0 290.9

276.5 293.7
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Deferred tax liabilities of EUR 42.7 million (previous year: 

EUR 55.5 million) for taxes on subsidiaries’ retained 

earnings, which would trigger actual tax payments if 

they were distributed, were not recognised. If deferred 

tax assets or liabilities were recognised for these timing 

differences, only the withholding tax rate applicable in 

the given case would apply, if necessary taking the Ger-

man tax rate of five percent for dividends paid into ac-

count. There is no plan to pay out the retained profits.

16.	E arnings per share

Under the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktienge

setz), dividends eligible for distribution are calculated 

based on the unappropriated surplus pursuant to the 

annual financial statements of Conergy AG that were 

prepared in accordance with the German Commercial 

Code.

Given Conergy AG’s net loss of EUR – 138.6 million as of 

31 December 2007, the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

resolved on 28 August 2008 not to distribute any divi-

dend for the 2007 financial year. The annual deficit pur-

suant to the annual financial statements of Conergy AG 

as of 31 December 2008 was EUR – 240.1 million.

Conergy’s Management Board und Supervisory Board 

propose to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting not to pay 

any divident for the 2008 financial year.

2008 2007

Result from continued operations applicable to shareholders of Conergy AG in EUR million – 252.2 – 212.5

Result applicable to shareholders of Conergy AG in EUR million – 305.3 – 247.6

Adjustment of results for finance costs for diluting instruments in EUR million –  – 

Adjusted result from continued operations in EUR million – 252.2 – 212.5

Adjusted result applicable to shareholders of Conergy AG in EUR million – 305.3 – 247.6

Weighted average number of shares issued 65.338.928 32,699,203

Potential effect of diluting instruments (number) –  –

Adjusted average number of no-par shares issued 65.338.928 32,699,203

Basic earnings per share 
	 from continued operations in EUR – 3.86 – 6.50

	 from discontinued operations in EUR – 0.81 – 1.07

Earnings per share applicable to the shareholders of Conergy AG in EUR – 4.67 – 7.57

Diluted earnings per share
	 from continued operations in EUR – 3.86 – 6.50

	 from discontinued operations in EUR – 0.81 – 1.07

Earnings per share applicable to the shareholders of Conergy AG in EUR – 4.67 – 7.57
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Disclosures and comments 
on the consolidated balance 
sheet

17.	I ntangible assets and goodwill

The line item “reclassification to current assets” shows 

the relevant disposals of the assets attributable to dis-

continued operations pursuant to IFRS 5.

EUR million Goodwill

Industrial 
property 

rights
Development 

services

Other intan-
gible assets 

and advance 
payments 

made Total

As of 01.01.2007

Cost 29.4 12.6 13.0 0.3 55.3

Cumulative amortisation and impairment losses – – 2.3 – 1.9 – – 4.2

Net carrying amount 29.4 10.3 11.1 0.3 51.1

Development in 2007

Net carrying amount as of 01.01.2007 29.4 10.3 11.1 0.3 51.1

Currency changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 0.0

Acquisitions 12.9 – – – 12.9

Investments 6.9 4.0 14.2 4.5 29.6

Disposals – 0.6 – 2.8 – 2.8 – – 6.2

Reclassification to current assets – 6.1 – 3.2 – 2.7 – – 12.0

Amortisation – – 2.1 – 0.8 – – 2.9

Impairment losses – 21.8 – – 9.1 – – 30.9

Reclassifications 0.0 0.7 – – 0.8 – 0.1

Net carrying amount as of 31.12.2007 20.7 6.9 9.9 4.0 41.5

As of 31.12.2007

Cost 51.1 13.8 21.8 4.0 90.7

Cumulative amortisation and impairment losses – 30.4 – 6.9 – 11.9 0.0 – 49.2

Net carrying amount 20.7 6.9 9.9 4.0 41.5

Development in 2008

Net carrying amount as of 01.01.2008 20.7 6.9 9.9 4.0 41.5

Currency changes – 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0

Acquisitions 0.3 – – – 0.3

Investments 2.1 4.8 1.2 3.1 11.2

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reclassification to current assets – 4.5 – – – – 4.5

Amortisation – – 4.2 – 0.8 – 2.4 – 7.4

Impairment losses – 0.9 – 3.0 – 7.3 – – 11.2

Reclassifications 0.0 – 0.9 – 1.0 0.1

Net carrying amount as of 31.12.2008 17.5 3.6 3.1 5.8 30.0

As of 31.12.2008

Cost 47.8 10.9 23.6 7.1 89.4

Cumulative amortisation and impairment losses – 30.3 – 7.3 – 20.5 – 1.3 – 59.4

Net carrying amount 17.5 3.6 3.1 5.8 30.0
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18.	P roperty, plant and equipment

The line item “reclassification to current assets” shows 

the relevant disposals of the assets attributable to dis-

continued operations pursuant to IFRS 5.

EUR million
Land and 
buildings Machinery

Other plant 
and  

equipment

Advance 
payments 
made and 

assets under 
construction Total

As of 01.01.2007

Cost 5.2 3.3 12.4 47.3 68.2

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses – 0.5 – 0.9 – 3.6 – – 5.0

Net carrying amount 4.7 2.4 8.8 47.3 63.2

Development in 2007

Net carrying amount as of 01.01.2007 4.7 2.4 8.8 47.3 63.2

Currency changes – 0.0 – 0.1 – – 0.1

Acquisitions – 0.0 0.1 – 0.1

Investments 49.9 102.4 8.1 15.3 175.7

Disposals – – 0.3 – 1.3 – 8.2 – 9.8

Reclassification to current assets – 1.8 – 1.3 – 0.2 – 0.9 – 4.2

Depreciation – 0.2 – 3.0 – 3.2 – 0.6 – 7.0

Impairment losses – – – – 9.3 – 9.3

Reclassifications – 1.4 0.2 – 1.5 0.1

Net carrying amount as of 31.12.2007 52.6 101.6 12.4 42.1 208.7

As of 31.12.2007

Acquisition and production cost 52.9 105.0 17.4 51.4 226.7

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses – 0.3 – 3.4 – 5.0 – 9.3 – 18.0

Net carrying amount 52.6 101.6 12.4 42.1 208.7

Development in 2008

Net carrying amount as of 01.01.2008 52.6 101.6 12.4 42.1 208.7

Currency changes 0.0 – 0.1 – 0.3 0.0 – 0.4

Investments 8.5 0.1 0.0 14.7 23.3

Disposals – – – 0.1 – – 0.1

Reclassification to current assets – 8.6 – 1.5 – 0.1 – – 10.2

Depreciation – 1.6 – 11.7 – 3.4 – – 16.7

Impairment losses – – – 0.5 – – 0.5

Reclassifications 19.0 – 0.4 4.4 – 23.1 – 0.1

Net carrying amount as of 31.12.2008 69.9 88.0 12.4 33.7 204.0

As of 31.12.2008

Acquisition and production cost 73.4 104.3 21.0 43.0 241.7

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses – 3.5 – 16.3 – 8.6 – 9.3 – 37.7

Net carrying amount 69.9 88.0 12.4 33.7 204.0
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19.	F inancial assets

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets 

subject to different classes and measurement catego-

ries follow from the overview below:

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and cur-

rent financial assets largely have short residual lives. 

Hence the carrying amounts correspond to the fair val-

ues at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of non-current financial assets with re-

sidual lives of more than one year corresponds to the 

present value of the payments related to these assets, 

taking current interest rate parameters into account.

EUR million
Loans and 

receivables

Financial 
instruments 

held for 
trading

Derivatives 
with a  

hedging 
relationship

Financial 
investments 

held to 
maturity

Carrying 
amount Fair value

As of 31.12.2007

Assets

Non-current financial assets 4.4 – – – 4.4 4.4

Trade receivables 214.7 – – – 214.7 214.7

Current financial assets 9.5 0.4 – – 9.9 9.9

Cash and cash equivalents 62.7 – – – 62.7 62.7

291.3 0.4 – – 291.7 291.7

As of 31.12.2008

Assets

Non-current financial assets 5.3 – – – 5.3 5.3

Trade receivables 120.9 – – – 120.9 120.9

Current financial assets 2.9 – – – 2.9 2.9

Cash and cash equivalents 27.7 – – – 27.7 27.7

156.8 – – – 156.8 156.8
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20.	O ther assets

EUR 21.2 million (previous year: EUR 44.4 million) in re-

ceivables from the tax authority primarily concern input 

VAT receivables and are due within one year.

Other assets in the amount of EUR 7.5 million (previous 

year: EUR 21.3 million) comprise a multitude of numer-

ically minor individual items related to the Group’s 68 

consolidated companies.

21.	I nventories

In 2008, the following inventories were recognised at 

their lower fair values net of distribution expenses:

Cost of materials increased in the 2008 financial year 

due to impairment losses on inventories amounting to 

EUR 30.4 million (previous year: EUR 12.0 million).

22.	T rade receivables

Most trade receivables have short residual lives. Hence 

their carrying amounts correspond to the fair value at 

the balance sheet date.

The item, trade receivables, also contains the contracts 

recognised pursuant to the percentage of completion 

method under IAS 11. This item comprises the contract 

costs accrued at the reporting date and the profits from 

the relevant order, pro-rated according to the stage of 

completion. Advances received on the contracts recog-

nised were deducted. Orders resulting in a net loss were 

considered in connection with a lossfree measurement.

Receivables from construction contracts developed as 

follows year on year:

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Accrued contract costs 58.7 105.0

Contract gains realised pro-rata 
incl. carryforward effect 12.7 18.5

Less recognised contract losses – –

Less advance payments received – 60.1 – 23.0

11.3 100.5

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Other assets 30.3 74.0

Thereof

	 Receivables from the tax office 21.2 44.4

	 Prepaid expenses 0.8 7.7

	 Other current assets 7.5 21.3

	 Non-current 0.7 0.6

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Raw materials and consumables 26.8 26.2

Work in progress 60.6 53.9

Finished goods 144.4 228.2

Advance payments made 13.8 37.3

245.6 345.6

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Raw materials and consumables

Carrying amount before impairment 29.4 27.8

Less impairment – 2.6 – 1.6

Carrying amount 26.8 26.2

Work in progress

Carrying amount before impairment 61.5 54.3

Less impairment – 0.9 – 0.4

Carrying amount 60.6 53.9

Finished goods

Carrying amount before impairment 171.3 238.2

Less impairment – 26.9 – 10.0

Carrying amount 144.4 228.2

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Trade receivables before impairment 
losses 131.8 234.1

Less impairment losses – 10.9 – 19.4

Trade receivables 120.9 214.7

Thereof 

	 Receivables from production 
	 contracts 71.4 123.5

	 Advance payments received – 60.1 – 23.0

	 Non-current – –

11.3 100.5
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As of 31 December 2008, EUR 63.1 million (previous 

year: EUR 48.5 million) in trade receivables were due but 

not impaired because they represented claims against 

customers that had never defaulted in the past. The ag-

ing structure of the trade receivables that are due but 

not impaired was recognised as follows:

The following impairment losses were recognised in the 

reporting year:

Specific and global valuation allowances are recognised 

in the income statement under other operating expens-

es while reversals are recognised under other operating 

income. Additions do not include the bad debt allow-

ance in the amount of EUR 42.1 million related to MEMC 

Electronic Materials, Inc.

The fair value of the trade receivables at the balance 

sheet date constitutes the maximum exposure to lend-

ing risks at such date.

23.	S ubsidies received

During the 2008 reporting period, Conergy Group com-

panies received a total of EUR 24.1 million in non-reim-

bursable government grants and supplements (actual 

inflow of funds). In addition, Conergy also obtained bind-

ing promises of subsidies for a total of EUR 24.7 million 

(subsidy notifications) in 2008. Government subsidies 

are tied to specific projects subject to certain require-

ments and conditions. For instance, Conergy is obligat-

ed to leave subsidised assets in the subsidised plant 

for a period of five years (from the project’s completion 

date) and / or to guarantee jobs for specific plants during 

the same period. During the period presented and un-

til the time the consolidated financial statements were 

prepared, these requirements had been met; Conergy 

expects these requirements to be met in future as well.

The following subsidies were disbursed in the reporting 

period:

The subsidies and supplements were granted in con-

nection with the construction of a factory in Frankfurt 

(Oder), the construction of offices in Zweibrücken as 

well as with the expansion of the existing production fa-

cility in Rangsdorf.

EUR million 2008 2007

As of 01.01. 19.4 1.2

Currency changes 0.4 –

Additions 12.3 28.2

Use – 13.5 – 0.3

Reversals – 7.7 – 0.2

Disposal – – 9.5

Reclassification to current assets – –

As of 31.12. 10.9 19.4

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Trade receivables 120.9 214.7

Thereof

	 Neither impaired nor past due as 
	 of the balance sheet date 57.8 166.2

	 Not impaired as of the balance 
	 sheet date and past due within 
	 the following periods:

	 Less than 1 month 34.9 23.0

	 Between 1 and 2 months 3.7 8.4

	 Between 2 and 3 months 7.1 7.8

	 Between 3 and 6 months 9.0 8.9

	 Between 6 and 12 months 6.1 0.1

	 More than 12 months 2.3 0.3

63.1 48.5
EUR million 2008 2007

Investment subsidy 2.0 3.2

Investment grants 22.1 6.9

24.1 10.1
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24.	D erivative financial instruments

The Group held the following derivative financial instru-

ments at the balance sheet date:

The negative market value of the interest rate swaps has 

been recognised as a liability.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments at 

the balance sheet date constitutes the Company’s max-

imum exposure to lending risks at such date.

25.	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include checks, cash on 

hand and bank credit balances. As a rule, this item also 

contains financial instruments with initial maturities of 

up to three months. In a deviation from the presentation 

in the consolidated balance sheet, the cash holdings 

shown in the cash flow statement as of 31 December 

2008 contain EUR 0.3 million in cash and cash equiva-

lents attributable to discontinued operations.

26.	E quity

The individual components of equity as well as their de-

velopment in 2007 and 2008 follow from the statement 

of changes in equity of the Conergy Group.

Share capital

The subscribed capital (share capital) of Conergy AG in 

the financial year just ended was increased by resolu-

tion of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 28 August 

2008 from EUR 35,088,928.00 by EUR 363,000,000.00 

to currently EUR 398,088,928.00. It is denominated in 

398,088,928 no-par bearer shares with a pro-rata in-

terest in capital of EUR 1.00 per no-par share. Each 

share grants identical rights and one vote at the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting. New shares are issued as bear-

er shares unless the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting re-

solves otherwise.

Number of shares

As of 01.01.2008 35,088,928

Addition from capital increase 363,000,000

Repurchase of own shares –

Disposal through sale of treasury shares –

As of 31.12.2008 398,088,928

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

EUR million Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swaps 
Fair value recognised in profit or loss – – 5.8 0.3 0.1

Forward foreign exchange contracts 
Fair value recognised in equity – – – –

Forward foreign exchange contracts
Fair value recognised in profit or loss – – – – 13.1

– – 5.8 0.3 – 13.2

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Cash on hand / checks 2.1 0.4

Bank balances 25.6 62.3

27.7 62.7

	 thereof deposited in special 
	 accounts – 1.0
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The Management Board is authorised, subject to the 

approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the 

Company’s share capital until 10 June 2012, once or re-

peatedly, by a total of up to EUR 14,361,071 by issuing 

new no-par value shares in return for contributions in 

cash and / or in kind (“2007 Authorised Capital”) and to 

exclude shareholders’ subscription rights with the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board.

On 11 June 2007, the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

authorised Conergy AG to purchase treasury shares 

representing up to 10 percent of its share capital. This 

authorisation was effective until 10 December 2008. The 

treasury shares can be purchased, at the discretion of 

Conergy AG, on the stock exchange, or by means of a 

public purchase offer sent to all shareholders or a pub-

lic notice to submit such an offer or by means of a pub-

lic offer sent to all shareholders to exchange their shares 

for shares in a listed company as defined in Section 3 

para. 2 German Stock Corporation Act or a public notice 

to submit such an offer. The Management Board was al-

so authorised to sell and / or use shares of Conergy AG 

– which Conergy AG purchases in accordance with the 

foregoing authorisation – on the stock exchange or by 

means of an offer to all shareholders for all other statu-

tory purposes.

The Management Board, subject to the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, decides on the exercise of the au-

thorisation to purchase treasury shares and the latter’s 

subsequent use. The Company did not make use of the 

authorisation to purchase treasury shares in the finan-

cial year just ended.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the excess of the issue 

price over the par value of the Conergy shares issued. It 

is not normally available to the shareholders for distribu-

tion. In addition, the excess of the amounts paid or re-

ceived in connection with the buyback or sale of treas-

ury shares over their par value is also recognised in this 

item.

After deducting the capital acquisition cost plus the 

related tax, the capital reserves climbed by EUR 14.6 

million to EUR 321.8 million (previous year: EUR 307.2 

million) as a result of the capital increases during the re-

porting period.

Other reserves

Aside from appropriations from cumulative prior-period 

net income / losses, the expense and income items to be 

recognised directly in equity from the fair value meas-

urement of the available-for-sale financial instruments, 

the effective portion of changes in the value of hedg-

ing instruments in a cash flow hedge and the reconcil-

ing items from currency translation are also recognised 

in other reserves. The cumulative prior-period net in-

come / losses contain the undistributed net income gen-

erated by both Conergy and the consolidated compa-

nies that were not allocated to capital reserves.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are held in Conergy Mexico S. 

de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico), Conergy Services Ost GmbH 

(Germany), SunTechnics Energy Systems EPE (Greece), 

Forturon S.r.l. (Italy) and Compagnie des Énergies Re-

nouvelables S.A.R.L. (France).
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27.	P rovisions

The provisions developed as follows in the financial 

year:

Provisions for warranties were recognised for expected 

follow-up work in connection with major projects previ-

ously concluded and warranties under statutory product 

warranties for the Company’s own products.

The line item, “reclassification to current liabilities”, 

shows the relevant disposals of the liabilities attributa-

ble to discontinued operations pursuant to IFRS 5.

Obligations to personnel, such as, for example, charges 

for variable and individual one-off payments, vacation 

claims as well as other personnel costs are recognised 

under other liabilities.

28.	S tock options programme

Effective 15 November 2007, one member of the Man-

agement Board (previous year: two members of the 

Management Board) was permitted to participate in a 

sharebased payment system based on a stock appre-

ciation right (Phantom Stock Options). These phantom 

options are divided into three tranches with terms of 

one, two and three years. In each case, they may be ex-

ercised within a fixed time window of 21 days in the first 

quarter of the financial year that follows the expiration of 

the service period. Unexercised options may be carried 

over to the next scheduled tranche.

At the time the Phantom Stock Options are exercised, 

Conergy AG is obligated to pay the difference between 

the base price that is fixed at the inception of the stock 

option programme and the volume-weighted average 

share price during the last 85 trading days prior to the 

end of the relevant service period. The difference will be 

increased or decreased by 10 to 20 percent depending 

on the development of Conergy’s share relative to the 

Öko-Dax reference index.

EUR million Warranties Restructuring
Legal  

disputes Other Total

	

As of 01.01.2008 14.6 3.0 2.3 0.7 20.7

	 thereof non-current 14.6 – – – 14.6

Change in the basis of consolidation – – – – –

Addition 11.4 6.5 2.5 14.5 34.9

Use – 4.6 – 2.5 – 1.5 – 0.6 – 9.2

Reversal – 1.5 – 0.5 – 0.2 – 0.1 – 2.3

Reclassification to current liabilities – – – – –

Currency changes – – – – –

As of 31.12.2008 19.9 6.5 3.1 14.6 44.1

	 thereof non-current 19.9 – – 12.2 32.1
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The following table shows the change in the Phantom 

Stock Options outstanding and their weighted average 

exercise prices:

None of the 84,000 Phantom Stock Options outstanding 

were exercised up to 31 December 2008.

The options outstanding at the end of the reporting pe-

riod have the following maturities and exercise prices:

The fair values of the Phantom Stock Options were de-

termined using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model, 

subject to the following measurement parameters:

The fair values of the options outstanding at the balance 

sheet date were as follows:

2008 2007

Number

Weighted average 
exercise price 

EUR Number

Weighted average 
exercise price

EUR

	

As of 01.01. 168,000 – – –

Granted – – 168,000 –

Forfeited – – – –

Exercised – – – –

Expired 84,0001 – – –

As of 31.12. 84,000 – 168,000 –

Exercise 
price
EUR

2008 
shares

2007 
shares

Maturity date 14.11.2009 – 56,000 112,000

Maturity date 14.11.2010 – 28,000 56,000

As of 31.12. – 84,000 168,000

2008

Risk-free interest rate (term dependent) in percent 3.9 – 4.0

Dividend yield in percent 0.0

Volatility of the Conergy AG share (historical, 252 
days) in percent 150.0

Beta factor of the Conergy AG in relation to the 
Öko-Dax 1.1

Number as of 
31.12.2008

shares

Intrinsic value 
per option 

(= payment 
amount)  

EUR

Fair value per 
option 

EUR

Payment 
obligation 

TEUR

Provision as 
of 31.12.2008 

TEUR

	 	

Tranche 2007 84,000 – 0.15 – 8

1	 Due to the resignation of a Board member
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Income of EUR 0.2 million (previous year: EUR 0.2 mil-

lion) was recognised under personnel costs in connec-

tion with this stock option programme for the financial 

year just ended. Regarding the options granted, please 

also see note 3.

Another member of the Management Board was invited 

to participate in stock appreciation rights (SAR) in 2008.

The stock appreciation rights are divided into tranche 

1 (with a waiting period ending on 1 March 2009) and 

tranche 2 (with a waiting period ending on 1 March 

2010). Stock appreciation rights are options which, in 

this case, entitle the owner to a claim against Conergy 

AG for payment in cash of an amount corresponding to 

the difference between the share price of Conergy AG 

and the base price (call option).

The exercise price is EUR 1.27 pursuant to the condi-

tions of the stock appreciation rights. Because the rel-

evant share price at the exercise date may not exceed 

EUR 16.27, the ability of the stock appreciation rights 

to go up is capped, thus reducing their value. The set-

tlement profile of a call option that places a cap on the 

option’s upward potential may be structured by selling 

a call option for an exercise price that equals the max-

imum share price at the time the stock appreciation 

rights are exercised (cap), also referred to as a short call 

option.

The essential parameters of the stock appreciation 

rights are as follows:

Due to the cap on their upward potential, the value of 

stock appreciation rights thus consists of the value of a 

long call option with an exercise price of EUR 1.27 less 

the value of a short call option with an exercise price of 

EUR 16.27.

The Black Scholes Option Pricing Model was used to 

measure the options.

The historical volatility of Conergy’s share was used to 

determine volatility because the implicit volatility shown 

by Bloomberg is calculated using short-term options. 

The measurement of the stock appreciation rights was 

based on their historical volatility over a period of 680 

days in order to take into account that the stock appre-

ciation rights still had a remaining term of approximately 

680 trading days as of 31 December 2008 – assuming 

that they will be held for the maximum term and will be 

exercised at maturity on 1 September 2011.

Parameters 1 Tranche 2 Tranche

Measurement date 31.12.2008 31.12.2008

Long call option

	

Type of option Call option Call option

Base price Conergy AG Conergy AG

Expiry 01.09.2011 01.09.2011

End of waiting period 01.03.2009 01.03.2010

Share price in EUR 1.08 1.27

Exercise price in EUR 1.27 1.27

Interest rate in percent 2.96 2.96

Volatility in percent 108.04 108.04

Dividend yield in percent 0.00 0.00

Option price in EUR 0.655 0.655

	

	

Short call option

	

Type of option Call option Call option

Base price Conergy AG Conergy AG

Expiry 01.09.2011 01.09.2011

End of waiting period 01.03.2009 01.03.2010

Share price in EUR 1.08 1.27

Exercise price in EUR 16.27 16.27

Interest rate in percent 2.96 2.96

Volatility in percent 108.04 108.04

Dividend yield in percent 0.00 0.00

Option price in EUR 0.161 0.161
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The aggregate value for tranche 1 and 2 as of 31 De-

cember 2008 is EUR 0.3 million.

A cost of TEUR 33 was recognised under personnel 

costs in connection with this stock option programme 

for the financial year just ended.

29.	B orrowings

Both the carrying amounts and the fair values of the fi-

nancial assets allocated to different classes and meas-

urement categories follow from the overview below:

SAR measurement Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Gesamt

	

Option price at exercise price  
EUR 1.27 Call option Call option –

Option price at exercise price  
EUR 16.27 Conergy AG Conergy AG –

SAR value in EUR 0.495 0.495 –

Number of SARs granted 300,000 300,000 –

Value per tranche in EUR 148,363 148,363 296,726

EUR million

Borrowings 
measured at 

amortised cost

Derivatives with 
a hedging 

relationship
Liabilities held 

for trading
Carrying 
amount Fair value

As of 31.12.2007

Liabilities 	

Non-current borrowings 120.0 – – 120.0 120.0

Current portion of non-current borrowings 30.0 – – 30.0 30.0

Current borrowings 305.5 – 13.2 318.7 318.7

Trade payables 282.4 – – 282.4 282.4

737.9 – 13.2 751.1 751.1

As of 31.12.2008

Liabilities 	

Non-current borrowings 86.5 – – 86.5 86.5

Current portion of non-current borrowings 37.5 – – 37.5 37.5

Current borrowings 187.4 – 5.8 193.2 193.2

Trade payables 111.2 – – 111.2 111.2

422.6 – 5.8 428.4 428.4
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Trade payables as well as current financial liabili-

ties generally have short residual lives. Their carrying 

amounts thus correspond to their fair values.

The fair value of non-current borrowings with a residual 

life of more than one year corresponds to the present 

value of the payments related to the liabilities based on 

current interest rate parameters.

The nominal and carrying amounts of liabilities to banks 

subject to variable and fixed interest rates are in the fol-

lowing currencies:

The maturities of liabilities to banks subject to variable 

and fixed interest rates are as follows:

Conergy’s interests in several fully consolidated subsid-

iaries were pledged as security for the loan liabilities.

The syndicated loan agreement for originally EUR 600.0 

million that was signed in 2007 is comprised as follows:

The loan is divided into two tranches and will provide 

funding for the construction of the production facili-

ty in Frankfurt (Oder) (Tranche A) as well as enable the 

Conergy Group to refinance its existing credit facilities 

and finance its working capital and guarantee require-

ments (Tranche B with a revolving facility of EUR 250.0 

million and a guarantee and documentary credit facil-

ity of EUR 200.0 million). Tranche A, amounting to EUR 

150.0 million, is to be repaid by 31 December 2011, in 

half-yearly installments starting on 30 June 2008. In this 

regard in 2008 EUR 37.5 million were settled as agreed 

upon. Tranche B, amounting to EUR 450.0 million is due 

for total repayment on 31 July 2010, unless the banks  

approve an application for extending Tranche B’s term 

to 31 July 2011 or 31 July 2012, as the case may be. The 

syndicated loan was initially collateralised by pledg-

ing absolutely all interests in Conergy SolarModule 

GmbH & Co. KG and its general partner Conergy Solar-

Module Verwaltungs GmbH. Liens were created for ab-

solutely all interests in Conergy Vertriebs GmbH & Co. 

KG (which was merged with Conergy Deutschland Gm-

bH effective 1 August 2008), Conergy Vertriebs Verwal-

tungs GmbH, EPURON GmbH and Conergy Deutsch-

land GmbH during the negotiations on additional loans 

above and beyond the syndicated loan in the light of the 

development of the Conergy Group’s financial situation 

at the end of 2007 in order to collateralise the syndi-

cated loan. In addition, the Conergy Group conveyed, 

pledged or assigned all material assets already serving 

as senior collateral for the bridge facility to the lenders 

of the syndicated loan and / or an entity holding the col-

lateral in trust as junior collateral in connection with the 

31.12.2008 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Nominal 
value  

EUR million

Effective
interest rate

percent

Carrying 
amount

EUR million

Carrying 
amount

EUR million

	

Liabilities to banks 311.4 8.31 311.4 455.4

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Total liabilities 
subject to variable 

interest rates
EUR million

Total liabilities 
subject to fixed

interest rates
EUR million

Weighted interest 
rate (fixed-

interest loan)  
percent

Total liabilities 
subject to variable 

interest rates
EUR million

Total liabilities 
subject to fixed

interest rates 
EUR million

	 	

Up to 1 year 224.9 – – 335.4 –

1 to 5 years 86.5 – – 120.0 –

More than 5 years – – – – –

Carrying amount total 311.4 – – 455.4 –

Fair values 311.4 – – 455.4 –
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collateralisation of the bridge financing described be-

low.

The individual tranches are subject to interest at a rate 

corresponding to the sum of the applicable margin, 

EURIBOR (or LIBOR in case of a foreign currency) for 

the interest period selected and the regulatory costs (in 

each case as defined in the loan agreement). The rel-

evant applicable margin is the prevailing margin at the 

time the contract was closed, which is either raised or 

lowered with respect to both tranches upon expiration 

of a stipulated period in accordance with the defined ra-

tio of consolidated net financial liabilities to consolidat-

ed EBITDA. The initial margin is 1.70 percent per annum 

for tranche A and 1.55 percent per annum for tranche 

B. The margin is raised or lowered in regards to both 

tranches upon expiration of a stipulated period in ac-

cordance with the defined ratio of consolidated net fi-

nancial liabilities to consolidated EBITDA. According-

ly, (i) the margin for tranche A may be lowered to 0.65 

percent p. a. and raised to 1.95 percent p. a. and (ii) the 

margin for tranche B may be lowered to 0.50 percent 

p. a. and raised to 1.80 percent p. a. The syndicated loan 

agreement also provides for an increase in the relevant 

applicable margin by 1.0 percent per annum if the debt-

or fails to make timely payments on amounts that are 

due and payable.

Under the loan agreement, Conergy is obligated to pay 

the customary loan commitment fee for any unused 

amounts under both tranches depending on the relevant 

applicable margin.

Conergy is also obligated – if it borrows funds on the 

capital market, sells assets and receives insurance pay-

ments – to use its net revenues for early repayment, in 

full, first of tranche A and then of tranche B, provided 

none of the exceptions set forth in the loan agreement 

intervene. However, the banking syndicate holding the 

loan has waived compliance with this obligation during 

the term of the bridge loan if the revenues are utilised 

to repay it.

The loan agreement contains requirements that have an 

impact on the Conergy Group’s ability to exercise dis-

cretion in operational terms. Conergy has undertaken 

thereunder to ensure that the ratio of consolidated net 

liabilities to consolidated EBITDA (in each case with and 

without contingent liabilities) does not exceed a specific 

figure and that the ratio of EBITDA to consolidated net 

interest expense does not fall below a specific figure. 

While the banks did waive compliance with the Finan-

cial Covenants for the 2008 and 2009 financial years, 

given the development of the Conergy Group’s financial 

situation at the end of 2007, Conergy as of the 31 March 

2010 will once again have to evidence compliance with 

financial indicators to be renegotiated as of 30 Septem-

ber 2009 based on the new capital structure and based 

on a business plan.

Certain other requirements do apply during the term of 

the agreement. Among other things, these requirements 

crimp the ability of the Conergy Group to provide as-

sets as collateral, sell assets, participate in joint ven-

tures, acquire additional companies or business units, 

incur additional financial liabilities, make loans, provide 

guarantees, incur leasing liabilities or undertake specific 

restructuring measures. Any noncompliance with these 

stipulations and the agreed financial covenants triggers 

an extraordinary right of termination on the lenders’ part 

(in some cases after expiry of a cure period), giving them 

the right to call the loan immediately. The lenders have 

other rights to terminate, for example, if covenants stipu-

lated provided under the loan agreement are not (or can 

not be) truthful, if a German or significant foreign sub-

sidiary files for insolvency, if creditors institute execution 

proceedings against Conergy for an amount in excess 

of EUR 5.0 million in each individual case, if Group com-

panies whose total financial liabilities (of whatsoever na-

ture) are EUR 5.0 million or more default, or if creditors 

of such financial liabilities are entitled to call these liabil-

ities early due to the occurrence of a right to terminate 

(whatever its nature).

Any change of control – i. e. a situation where an indi-

vidual or a group of people acting in concert with each 

other (pursuant to an agreement or by other means) gain 

control over the Company – would give each bank the 

individually exercisable right to terminate the loan for 

cause.

Conergy entered into a EUR 240.0 million bridge loan 

from Commerzbank AG and Dresdner Bank AG effective 

5 February 2008. The bridge facility’s initial term ended 

at the end of September 2008 but was extended to the 

end of December 2008. It served to plug the Company’s 

liquidity needs until the capital increase in December 

2008 and was repaid in early December 2008.
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30.	T rade payables

Trade payables generally have short residual lives. The 

carrying amounts essentially correspond to the fair val-

ues of these liabilities.

31.	O ther liabilities

Liabilities arising from salary or wage settlement for em-

ployees include, among others, obligations to person-

nel, such as, for example, charges for variable and in-

dividual one-off payments, vacation claims as well as 

other personnel costs.

An amount of EUR 7.0 million (previous year: EUR 18.2 

million) in liabilities to the tax authority primarily con-

cerns VAT liabilities due within one year.

Liabilities of EUR 1.7 million (previous year: EUR 7.6 mil-

lion) related to the acquisitions mostly have a residual 

life of less than one year.

The remaining other liabilities in the amount of EUR 25.7 

million (previous year: EUR 43.5 million) cover a multi-

tude of elements in subsidiaries, each of which by itself 

is immaterial.

Other disclosures

32.	I n- and outflow of cash and 
cash equivalents

The cash flow statement shows the changes in the 

Group’s cash and cash equivalents resulting from the 

in- and outflow of funds during the financial year. The 

cash flow statement was prepared in accordance with 

the requirements of IAS 7. Cash flows are allocated to 

three areas: operating activities, investing activities and 

financing activities.

The indirect method is used to show cash flows related 

to operating activities such that the surplus cash flows 

from operating activities are determined by adding all 

non-cash expenses and subtracting all non-cash in-

come from operating income related to continuing op-

erations (EBIT). The cash flow related to investing and 

financing activities is determined directly on the basis of 

in- and outflows.

Under IFRS 5, cash flows from operating, investing and 

financing activities must be disclosed separately ac-

cording to continuing and discontinued operations. 

Cash flows related to investing and financing activities in 

connection with discontinued operations are separately 

disclosed in note 6.

Operating activities

Based on operating income of EUR – 212.5 million in the 

2008 financial year (2007: EUR – 213.3 million), adjusted 

for non-cash items such as depreciation, amortisation 

and impairment losses, changes in non-current provi-

sions largely comprising provisions for warranties, prod-

uct liability and guarantees as well as other non-cash 

income and expenses such as, for instance, portions of 

the net gain / loss from currency translation, the result 

from operating activities before changes in net working 

capital in the 2008 financial year improved to EUR – 37,4 

million compared to the previous year (2007: EUR – 98.6 

million.

Although, at EUR – 131.8 million, the cash flow gener-

ated from operating activities related to continuing op-

erations in the 2008 financial year was clearly negative, 

it was EUR 36.7 million higher than the cash flow of EUR 

– 168.5 million generated in the previous year. This was 

essentially due to the reduction in inventories by EUR 

67.5 million, which compares to an increase in invento-

ries of EUR 222.4 million in 2007. The execution of ma-

jor photovoltaics projects in Spain, particularly in the 

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Trade payables 111.2 282.4

Thereof

	 Advance payments received 11.6 67.7

11.6 67.7

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Other liabilities 61.4 99.7

Thereof

	 Liabilities arising from salary or 
	 wage settlement for employees 13.7 13.2

	 Accrued expenses 10.0 11.1

	 Liabilities to the tax office 7.0 18.2

	 Deferred income 2.0 5.0

	 Purchase price liabilities in 
	 connection with the acquisition 
	 of companies 1.7 7.6

	 Liabilities related to social 
	 security 1.3 1.1

	 Miscellaneous other liabilities 25.7 43.5

	 Non-current 2.6 13.1
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second quarter of 2008, that had been in development 

in 2007 and were recognised in income in the 2008 fi-

nancial year were the main factor driving the decrease 

in inventories. While trade receivables declined by EUR 

84.3 million, the same as last year (2007: EUR 84.3 mil-

lion), there was a considerable reduction in trade paya-

bles by EUR 171.2 million; they had risen by EUR 92.8 

million just a year earlier. The changes in other net as-

sets and other non-cash transactions in the amount of 

EUR – 78.1 million (2007: EUR – 22.8 million) stem from 

the reduction in VAT liabilities among other things. The 

change in corporate income taxes by EUR 3.1 million 

(2007: EUR – 1.8 million) arises from tax refunds. A to-

tal of EUR – 131.8 million was used in the 2008 finan-

cial year for operating activities – down EUR 36.7 million 

from the 2007 financial year (2007: EUR 168.5 million).

The cash flow from operating activities related to dis-

continued operations – solar thermal, biomass and the 

manufacture of wind units – in the 2008 financial year 

was EUR – 29.1 million (2007: EUR – 20.2 million). This 

figure is combined in a separate item in the cash flow 

statement. Cash used for Group operating activities was 

EUR – 160.9 million, a substantial year-on-year improve-

ment over the previous year’s figure of EUR – 188.7 mil-

lion. Aside from the fact that operating income devel-

oped along a more positive trajectory, the main change 

from the previous year arose from the positive develop-

ment of working capital, which was substantially influ-

enced by the completion of major projects in Spain and 

South Korea, the streamlining of receivables manage-

ment, the improvement of collection processes, as well 

as the reduction in inventories, accounts receivable ag-

ing cycles and receivables outstanding. Particularly the 

EUR 171.2 million reduction in trade payables had an 

offsetting effect.

Investing activities

Net cash used for investing activities declined signifi-

cantly to EUR – 21.2 million in the 2008 financial year, 

down from EUR – 194.5 million in 2007. The large outflow 

of funds in the previous year stemmed from investments 

in our Frankfurt (Oder) plant. A net total of EUR 33.5 mil-

lion (2007: EUR 189.8 million) were invested in prop-

erty, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets 

in 2008. Again, this mainly concerned investments in 

our Frankfurt (Oder) site. Note also that the investment 

payments in 2008 include an investment grant of EUR 

17.0 million, which the Company received in the sec-

ond quarter of 2008. Contrast this with Group proceeds 

of EUR 10.3 million from the sale of four solar thermal 

companies in the first half of 2008. The proceed from 

the sale of Bremerhaven-based Conergy Wind GmbH 

amounted to EUR 1.0 million. 

Financing activities

In 2008, the Conergy Group generated a cash flow of 

EUR 146.4 million (2007: EUR 421.5 million) from financ-

ing activities. The capital increase in early December 

2008 gave rise to a substantial inflow of funds. A total of 

363 million new no-par ordinary shares were issued at 

a subscription price of EUR 1.10 pursuant to the resolu-

tion of the General Shareholders’ Meeting dated 28 Au-

gust 2008, generating gross proceeds of EUR 399.3 mil-

lion for the Conergy Group. Outflows in connection with 

the capital increase were EUR 32.6 million. Contrast this 

with net outflows of EUR 161.0 million (inflows in 2007: 

EUR 238.1 million) in connection with the repayment of 

borrowings under the syndicated loan as well as under 

the February 2008 bridge loan from Commerzbank AG 

and Dresdner Bank AG. This also includes outflows for 

discharging borrowings of EUR 37.5 million in connec-

tion with the partial repayment of a credit facility for the 

Frankfurt (Oder) solar factory. It also includes interest 

payments of EUR 59.3 million (2007: EUR 30.8 million). 

The change in cash and cash equivalents in the finan-

cial year just ended was EUR – 35.7 million, compared to 

EUR 38.3 million the previous year.
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33.	 Contingent liabilities and other 
financial liabilities

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities concern potential future events, 

the occurrence of which would give rise to an obligation. 

As of the reporting date, these are considered improb-

able yet they can not be precluded.

Conergy has assumed a total of EUR 129.7 million in 

bank guarantees and documentary credits as part of the 

syndicated credit facility. The Company also had liabili-

ties to other banks from EUR 36.3 million in drawdowns 

from bilateral guarantee facilities.

Conergy also provides warranties for its products and 

is exposed to guarantee risks. Appropriate provisions 

were recognised (see note 27) to the extent that pay-

ment obligations are expected to arise from the guar-

antees issued.

Rental and lease contracts

The Group essentially maintains operating leases for of-

fices and passenger cars. These leases have terms of 

one month to nine years and do not contain specific ex-

tension or purchase options. The monthly lease pay-

ments are recognised on a straight-line basis in the in-

come statement under other operating expenses (see 

note 11).

Conergy has the following obligations under existent 

long-term rentals and lease contracts:

Purchase commitment and obligations to accept 

goods

Conergy has undertaken to purchase solar wafers and 

solar modules from suppliers. These contracts have 

terms of between one and ten years. The Company’s 

obligations to accept goods essentially arise from a de-

livery contract between MEMC Electronic Material, Inc. 

and Conergy AG. In this connection, Conergy AG en-

tered into a ten-year delivery contract with MEMC in Oc-

tober 2007 for the purpose of securing the quantities of 

silicon it needs in the long term. Since then Conergy’s 

realignment has made it necessary to adjust the 

contractually stipulated delivery volume. The agreement 

with MEMC was modified accordingly in July 2008. As 

part of this adjustment, the contract’s sales volume over 

its ten-year term was reduced from USD 7 to 8 billion to 

USD 3.5 billion to USD 4 billion (in each case not count-

ing the Refundable Capacity Reservation Deposit). The 

agreement provides for an annual increase in Conergy’s 

obligation to accept goods at previously fixed, dur-

ing the time period declining prices based in their in-

itial point on currently high levels. While it serves to 

secure long-term supplies of silicon wafers, the agree-

ment also makes the Conergy Group highly dependent 

on MEMC. However, the purchase obligations Conergy 

entered into from 2011 onward require a minimum pro-

duction (and sales) of solar modules that is significantly 

higher than the Company’s current production capacity. 

Under its contract with MEMC, the Company is also ob-

ligated to make substantial payments to a “Refundable 

Capacity Reservation Deposit” during the entire life of 

the agreement. In the first two years of the agreement, 

prepayments are to be made that total USD 94.9 mil-

lion, of which USD 66.0 million have already been paid 

to MEMC. As agreed upon a refund of USD 31.6 mil-

lion on this amount is to be granted in the second half 

year of 2009. MEMC is supposed to repay 96 percent of 

the Refundable Capacity Reservation Deposits to Con-

ergy over the term of the agreement. But the amount 

may be offset against MEMC’s open receivables if Con-

ergy defaults or fails to perform. Please see the disclo-

sures regarding events after the balance sheet date for 

information on the status of the contractual relationship 

with MEMC. 

Conergy has the following obligations under existent 

long-term purchasing agreements:

Repurchase obligations

Conergy Services GmbH has undertaken vis-à-vis oper-

ators to repurchase installations under the relevant sale 

and assignment agreements. This will give rise to total 

financial obligations of EUR 5.9 million (previous year: 

EUR 5.9 million). However, these repurchase obligations 

must be fulfilled from 2023 at the earliest.

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Up to 1 year 245.2 192.9

1 to 5 years 1,392.9 2,042.0

More than 5 years 1,750.2 4,617.0

3,388.3 6,851.9

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Up to 1 year 15.1 11.1

1 to 5 years 28.8 29.0

More than 5 years 0.1 1.0

44.0 41.1
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Other

There are also annual financial obligations of EUR 1.3 

million for a term of 99 years in connection with the 

land at the production sites in Rangsdorf and Frankfurt 

(Oder). These properties carry hereditary building rights.

Conergy has the following obligations under existent 

lease and hereditary building right contracts:

EUR million 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Up to 1 year 2.5 2.5

1 to 5 years 5.4 11.7

More than 5 years 123.8 124.0

131.7 138.2
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34.	R elated parties

The related parties of the Conergy Group include the 

members of its Management Board and Supervisory 

Board as well as members of subsidiaries’ bodies, in 

each case including their close relatives. Related par-

ties also include those companies upon which members 

of the Company’s Management Board or Superviso-

ry Board or their close relatives can exercise a signifi-

cant influence or in which they hold a significant voting 

share. Furthermore, related parties include companies 

with which the Company forms a Group or in which it 

holds a share that enables it to significantly influence 

the business policies of the investee, as well as major 

shareholders of the Company and its Group companies.

The Conergy Group maintains several business rela-

tionships with related parties, which, in the Company’s 

opinion, were handled at market terms.

In accordance with Section 105 para. 2 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG), Mr. Dieter Ammer was 

appointed acting Chairman of the Management Board 

of Conergy AG on 16 November 2007. On 17 July 2008, 

Mr. Dieter Ammer was appointed regular Chairman of 

the Management Board effective 1 August 2008. On 

17 July 2008, he declared his resignation from his po-

sition of Chairman of the Supervisory Board effective 

31 July 2008, which had been temporarily suspended 

at that time. Dieter Ammer waived his entitled Super-

visory Board compensation while serving on the Man-

agement Board. On 11 December 2007, Conergy AG 

entered into an agreement with AMMER!PARTNERS 

GmbH, Hamburg, a company controlled by Mr. Dieter 

Ammer in his capacity as its shareholder and Manag-

ing Director, according to which AMMER!PARTNERS 

GmbH provides certain services to Conergy AG, spe-

cifically (i) assistance / secretarial services, (ii) provi-

sion of a company car, (iii) office organisation services 

and (iv) further services as required and to the extent 

possible, for the duration of Mr. Dieter Ammer’s serv-

ice as acting Chairman of the Management Board, i. e. 

from 16 November 2007 to 31 July 2008. Conergy AG 

reimbursed AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH for the provi-

sion of these services plus statutory VAT based on evi-

denced costs. These reimbursements may not exceed 

a monthly maximum of EUR 30,000.00 plus VAT. The 

claims of AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH were accounted 

for and settled by the end of August 2008. A total of EUR 

219,536.84 including VAT was paid in this connection.

On 5 September 2008, Conergy AG as lessor en-

tered into a sublease with AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH, 

Hamburg, as lessee for various offices with a total area 

of 205.95 square metres as well as for two parking spac-

es in the Berliner Bogen office building at Anckelmanns-

platz 1, 20537 Hamburg. Conergy AG itself rents the 

offices, which are located at its registered office, that 

are the subject of the lease and has received author-

isation to sublet them from the head lessor and own-

er, XXL Berliner Bogen GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg. The 

sublease began on 15 September 2008 and will run un-

til 14 March 2010. The subtenancy will be extended un-

til 14 March 2011 providing neither party to the contract 

objects to the extension in writing before 14 Septem-

ber 2009. The right to terminate the contract for conven-

ience is excluded. The monthly rent to be paid amounts 

to EUR 14.00 per square metres for the offices and EUR 

93.00 for each of the parking spaces plus service charg-

es and maintenance costs as well as VAT. The parties 

have agreed on stepped rent comprising an annual rent 

increase of EUR 0.50 per square metres for the office 

space and EUR 3.00 per parking space. The total cost 

to be borne by AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH is currently 

EUR 4,607.81 per month.

Under a redemption agreement signed on 5 Septem-

ber 2008, Conergy AG will transfer ownership of var-

ious pieces of office furniture in the offices rented by 

AMMER!PARTNERS GmbH to AMMER!PARTNERS Gm-

bH in return for compensation of EUR 4,601.73 (gross).

Mr. Dieter Ammer is the majority shareholder of Tri-

um Investment (TriVest), Pty Ltd, Murrayfield, Preto-

ria (South Africa). TriVest is a private equity company. 

A subsidiary of TriVest, the Sol Square Pty Ltd., Mur-

rayfield Pretoria (South Africa), is engaged in the field of 

renewable energies, among others. TriVest and its sub-

sidiary have maintained a business relationship with the 

Conergy Group since July 2007, which essentially is in 

the early stages of contract negotiation. The company 

obtained solar modules and batteries at a price of about 

EUR 5,000 in March 2008 from SunTechnics Energy 

Systems Pvt. Ltd., India (a subsidiary of Conergy AG) for 

this purpose. TriVest also maintains a business relation-

ship with Conergy AG’s Australian subsidiary. By letter 

dated 12 June 2008, TriVest ordered 80 180-litre tanks 

as well as 80 collectors from Conergy Pty Ltd. Austral-

ia for the operation of solar thermal units at a total price 

of AUD 129,760, taking a prepayment of approximate-

ly AUD 5,000 into account. Conergy itself is not active 

in South Africa. By written order dated 2 August 2008, 

TriVest’s subsidiary named Sol Square, Pty Ltd., Mur-

rayfield, Pretoria, South Africa, ordered a variety of ar-

ticles for solar thermal units, including 1,191 flat plate 

collectors, for a total of EUR 350,000 from Conergy AG, 
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Conergy Ltd. Cyprus and Conergy España SL. Conergy 

AG and Conergy Ltd. Cyprus confirmed the order on 

27 August 2008 and 1 September 2008, respective-

ly. Conergy España SL’s confirmation was issued on 8 

September 2008. All of these orders have been fulfilled 

in the meantime and the companies received the pay-

ments owed to them under the contracts in December 

2008.

Mr. Hans Johann Baptist Jetter was appointed to the 

Supervisory Board on 28 August 2008. Mr. Jetter is the 

Managing Director and sole shareholder of JB Jetter 

Consultants Limited, St. Peter Port, Channel Islands. On 

18 April 2008, Conergy AG and JB Jetter Consultants 

Limited entered into a written consulting agreement that 

became effective retroactively as of 15 April 2008. Ac-

cording to the agreement, JB Jetter Consultants Limit-

ed shall provide to Conergy AG certain consulting serv-

ices related to the capital market in connection with the 

capital increase carried out in December 2008. For suc-

cessful consulting services, which in any case require 

the successful implementation of the capital increase, 

JB Jetter Consultants Limited shall receive (i) a success 

fee of EUR 1.0 million and (ii) an additional discretion-

ary fee of EUR 1.0 million if the Company’s overall re-

financing is successful. Furthermore, Conergy is ob-

ligated to reimburse JB Jetter Consultants Limited all 

expenses required for providing the services. Given Mr. 

Jetter’s election to the Supervisory Board, effective 28 

August 2008 the agreement was amended to meet the 

requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act and 

related regulations applicable to agreements with Su-

pervisory Board members. In this context, the contrac-

tual obligations of Mr. Jetter in particular were defined in 

more detail in order to distinguish them from the general 

obligations of Supervisory Board members. Under this 

contract, JB Jetter Consultants Limited received a pay-

ment of EUR 1.0 million plus reimbursement of outlays 

totalling EUR 45,620.25 on 18 December 2008.

Mr. Hans-Martin Rüter was the Company’s Chairman of 

the Management Board until 15 November 2007. He is 

the brother of Andreas Rüter, who during the reporting 

period is a member of the Supervisory Board of Conergy 

AG. On 14 November 2007, the Company entered into 

a consulting agreement with Mr. Rüter, which became 

effective 1 December 2007 and ran until 31 July 2008. 

Under the agreement, Mr. Rüter shall advise the Com-

pany in matters of its business strategy and in the mar-

keting of renewable energies. In addition, Mr. Rüter also 

helped the Company maintain relationships with mate-

rial investors and suppliers, subject to coordination with 

Conergy AG’s CEO. Mr. Rüter was paid a flat fee of EUR 

26,666.67 per month plus VAT for his activities under the 

contract, on the assumption that his consulting work 

would require up to three days per week on average.

Dresdner Bank AG – in its capacity as one of the syndi-

cate’s lead managing banks – subscribed and took over 

the new shares from the cash capital increase in De-

cember 2008 with the proviso that it would offer them 

to the Company’s shareholders in accordance with Sec-

tion 186 para. 5 German Stock Corporation Act for pur-

chase by means of an indirect subscription right and 

offer any unsubscribed new shares under the subscrip-

tion offer to institutional investors in a private placement 

subject to specified conditions. Given the number of 

unsubscribed new shares, the total interest of Dresdn-

er Bank AG in the Company’s voting shares has been 

38.99 percent since 2 December 2008.

On 31 July 2007 Conergy AG, EPURON GmbH, Conergy 

SolarModule GmbH & Co. KG and Conergy Deutschland 

GmbH closed a syndicated loan for a total of EUR 600.0 

million from 23 banks under the leadership of Commerz-

bank AG, Dresdner Bank AG and WestLB AG. For more 

details, see note 29.

Dresdner Bank AG provides banking services to 

Conergy as well as to its subsidiaries, Conergy Deutsch

land GmbH and EPURON GmbH, in connection with 

their ordinary activities.

In addition, the Company and its French subsidiaries, 

Conergy S.A.S. and EPURON S.A.R.L., have entered in-

to a general Automated Common Concentration Inter-

national Service agreement with Dresdner Bank AG and 

BNP Paribas Bank SA. Under this agreement, all bal-

ances in the respective subaccounts are transferred to 

the main account of Conergy AG in order to even out its 

cash flow.

Furthermore, Conergy AG and its Spanish subsidiaries 

– Conergy España SLU, SunTechnics Sistemas de En-

ergía SLU, Sun Technics Instalaciones y Mantenimien-

to S.L. and EPURON Spain SLU – have entered into a 

general Dresdner Cash Concentrating agreement with 

Dresdner Bank AG. Under this cash concentrating pro-

cedure, all balances in the respective subaccounts are 

transferred to the main account of Conergy AG in order 

to even out its cash flow.

These transactions are executed in connection with 

the companies’ ordinary activities at prevailing market 

terms.
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The compensation report in this annual report sum-

marises the standards applicable to the determination 

of the compensation paid to Conergy’s Management 

Board. It also describes the standards applicable to the 

compensation paid to its Supervisory Board pursuant 

to the disclosures under Section 314 para. 1 no. 6 a sen-

tence 5 through 9 German Commercial Code.

Total compensation paid to the Management Board was 

TEUR 2.667 (previous year: TEUR 2.987). Conergy’s 

Management Board is comprised of the following indi-

viduals, whose compensation is allocated as follows:

The compensation of the Management Board under 

IFRS does not include the fair value of the newly grant-

ed share-based payments; it only includes the share-

based payments earned in the current year plus the 

changes in the value of claims under share-based pay-

ments not yet made.

TEUR
Dieter 

Ammer
Pepyn R. 
Dinandt1

Nikolaus 
Krane

Philip von 
Schmeling

Dr. Jörg 
Spiekerkötter Total

	

Fixed annual compensation 395 200 240 180 500 1,515

Compensation in kind / other  
benefits 10 2 14 19 11 56

Non-performance-based
compensation 405 202 254 199 511 1,571

Short-term variable compensation 300 233 – – 200 733

Directly paid compensation 705 435 254 199 711 2,304

Fair value of newly granted share-
based payment (SAR) 297 – – – – 297

Total compensation according 
to HGB 1,002 435 254 199 711 2,601

Long-term variable compensation 
(benefits vested in the current year) 33 – – – – 33

Change in value of existing benefits – – – – – 70 – 70

Share-based payment 33 – – – – 70 – 37

Total directly paid compensation 705 435 254 199 711 2,304

Long-term variable compensation 
(benefits vested in the current year) 33 – – – – 33

Change in value of existing benefits – – – – – 70 – 70

Total compensation according 
to IFRS 738 435 254 199 641 2,267

1	 Member of the Management Board until 17 March 2008; resigned from the Board on 
30 April 2008.
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Conergy’s Supervisory Board in 2008 comprised of the 

following individuals, whose compensation is allocated 

as follows:

The remuneration for the Supervisory Board in the pre-

vious year was TEUR 146.

As of 31 December 2008 no loans were granted to mem-

bers of the Management Board and / or the Supervisory 

Board.

35.	N umber of employees

The Group had 1,779 employees (expressed in full time 

equivalents), including managing directors and Manage-

ment Board members, as of 31 December 2008 (previ-

ous year: 2,756). Of these, 1,773 (previous year: 2,494) 

were employed in the Company’s continuing operations 

as of 31 December 2008.

The average number of employees (expressed in full 

time equivalents) of the companies included in the con-

solidated financial statements was:

Adjusted be the average number of employees from the 

discontinued operations, on average 1,954 employees 

(previous year: 2,090) were employed in the Company 

during the year 2008.

36.	A uditing fees

The following fees for the auditor of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements were expensed the 2008 financial 

year:

These fees primarily include the fees for the audit and 

the attestation of the consolidated financial statements, 

the review of the interim statements as well as for the 

audit of the annual financial statements of Conergy and 

its significant domestic subsidiaries.

EUR million 2008 2007

Audits of financial statements 0.7 0.5

Tax consultancy services 0.0 0.1

Other services 0.1 0.2

0.8 0.8

2008 20071

Germany 1,208 1,317

Europe 432 463

Rest of world 405 434

2,045 2,214

Thereof

	 Production 366 225

	 Administrative / technical area 1,679 1,989

2,045 2,214

TEUR
Fixed com-

pensation

Committee 
compensa-

tion

Variable 
compensa-

tion Total

	

Eckhard Spoerr (Chairman since November 2007) 41 8 – 49

Alexander Rauschenbusch (Deputy Chairman) 25 8 – 33

Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas J. Büchting 17 – – 17

Oswald Metzger 17 4 – 21

Andreas Rüter 17 5 – 22

Hans Johann Baptist Jetter (since 28 August 2008) 6 – – 6

123 25 – 148

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted
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37.	D eclaration of compliance

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board is-

sued the Declaration of Compliance in accordance with 

Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act and 

made this declaration available to its shareholders on 

the Company’s website.

38.	E vents after the balance sheet 
date

On 23 December 2008, the Supervisory Board of 

Conergy AG appointed Dr. Andreas von Zitzewitz to the 

Management Board effective 1 January 2009. He is re-

sponsible for Production, Purchasing and Supply Chain 

as well as the Components division. Dr. von Zitzewitz, 

who has worked for Conergy SolarModule GmbH since 

1 March 2008, previously managed the Components di-

vision which includes the development, production and 

marketing of modules, inverters and mounting systems. 

He has taken over his new sphere of responsibility – Pur-

chasing and Supply Chain – from Philip von Schmeling 

who, in his capacity as Chief Sales Officer (CSO), will 

focus solely on Marketing and Sales, an area that is be-

coming increasingly important to Conergy.

The Supervisory Board members Dr. Dr. h. c. Andreas 

J. Büchting, Alexander Rauschenbusch, Hans Johann 

Baptist Jetter and Andreas Rüter resigned from their po-

sitions effective 31 January 2009.

Upon application of the Company, by order of the 

Hamburg District Court dated 5 February 2009 Klaus-

Joachim Wolfgang Krauth, Norbert Schmelzle and Carl 

Ulrich Andreas de Maizière were appointed members of 

the Supervisory Board of Conergy AG until the end of 

the General Shareholders’ Meeting that is tasked with 

reviewing the 2008 financial year.

Carl Ulrich Andreas de Maizière has many years of ex-

perience in banking and served on Commerzbank AG’s 

management board for a long time. He is currently a 

partner in Doertenbach & Co GmbH, Frankfurt (Main), 

and holds seats on several supervisory boards. Klaus-

Joachim Wolfgang Krauth has extensive experience in 

finance and controlling as a result of his many years of 

professional activities in these areas, for instance as 

chief financial officer of Hexal AG. He is currently the 

Chief Financial Officer of the family office, Athos Serv-

ice GmbH. As managing director and / or management 

board member of various industrial companies, Nor-

bert Schmelzle acquired a lot of know-how in regards 

to issues of strategy as well as operational controlling of 

international organisations, most recently as managing 

director of Kaefer Isoliertechnik GmbH in Bremen. He 

now works as a management consultant.

Due to the significant changes in the economic envi-

ronment, particularly the very rapid swing from a sell-

er’s to a buyer’s market, but also due to legal doubts 

which had emerged in the meantime over the enforcea-

bility of at least some contractual provisions which were 

not in Conergy’s favour, Conergy entered into talks with 

MEMC a few weeks ago with the aim of renegotiating 

the agreed wafer supply contract.

Contrary to expectations, it has not yet been possible 

to bring these renegotiations to a conclusion. A basic 

agreement has been reached to amicably terminate the 

supply contract, providing that the prepayments of USD 

66 million which have already been made are retained 

and that a new supply contract with a term of one year 

is simultaneously concluded. However, the parties have 

not yet come to an agreement over a series of auxiliary 

conditions relating to such a rearrangement.

Should it not be possible to amicably terminate the sup-

ply contract in the near future, Conergy will take legal 

action challenging this supply contract on the basis of 

the results of a legal review which has been carried out.

Hamburg, Germany, 20 April 2009

Conergy Aktiengesellschaft

The Management Board
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Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 

the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated fi-

nancial statements give a true and fair view of the as-

sets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 

Group, and the Group management report includes a 

fair review of the development and performance of the 

business and the position of the Group, together with a 

description of the principal opportunities and risks as-

sociated with the expected development of the Group.

Hamburg, Germany, 20 April 2009

Conergy Aktiengesellschaft

The Management Board
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Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial state-

ments prepared by Conergy AG, Hamburg, compris-

ing the consolidated income statement, the consolidat-

ed balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, 

statements of changes in equity, and the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements – and the group man-

agement report for the business year from 1 January to 

31 December 2008. The preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report 

in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pur-

suant to § 315 a Abs. 1 HGB are the responsibility of the 

company’s legal representatives. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the group management report based on 

our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with § 317 HGB (“German 

Commercial Code”) and German generally accepted 

standards for the audit of financial statements prom-

ulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

such that misstatements materially affecting the pres-

entation of the net assets, financial position and results 

of operations in the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 

framework and in the group management report are 

detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of 

the business activities and the economic and legal en-

vironment of the Group and expectations as to possi-

ble misstatements are taken into account in the deter-

mination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the 

accounting-related internal control system and the evi-

dence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements and the group management report 

are examined primarily on a test basis within the frame-

work of the audit. The audit includes assessing the an-

nual financial statements of those entities included in 

consolidation, the determination of entities to be includ-

ed in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 

principles used and significant estimates made by man-

agement, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report. We believe that our audit provides 

a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the 

consolidated financial statements of Conergy AG, Ham-

burg, comply with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, the ad-

ditional requirements of German commercial law pursu-

ant to § 315 a Abs. 1 HGB, and give a true and fair view 

of the net assets, financial position and results of op-

erations of the Group in accordance with these require-

ments. The group management report is consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements and as a whole 

provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and 

suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future 

development.

Without qualifying this opinion, we draw attention to the 

statements of management board in the Group man-

agement report. There it is stated in the “Risk and Op-

portunity Report” under “Financial risks / Liquidity risks” 

that both the Company’s and the Group’s existence as 

a going concern is jeopardised if sales, income and the 

cash flows from operations should fall significantly be-

low planning and this cannot be offset through other ac-

tions. According to the Company’s planning the liquidity 

of the Company and the Group is ensured beyond 2009 

through cash flows 

Hamburg, Germany, 20 April 2009

Deloitte & Touche GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(Ohlsen)	 (ppa. Arlitt)

Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüferin
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Glossary

Ambient heat

By using a heat pump, energy is drained 

from the soil or from the outside air.

CO2

Carbon dioxide.

Control unit

Microprocessor-controlled unit for con-

trolling solar thermal system functions.

Drain-Back

A technology that drains the collector to 

prevent it from damage when the temper-

ature is too hot or too cold.

ECJ

European Court of Justice. 

EEG

German Act on Granting Priority to Re-

newable Energies (Erneuerbare-Ene

rgien-Gesetz). 

Efficiency

In energy conversion processes, efficien-

cy is defined as the ratio of useful energy 

produced to energy or power used.

Full Time Equivalents (FTE)

The number of full-time employees calcu-

lated by converting part-time employees 

to full-time employees.

Grid-connected systems

Photovoltaic systems connected to a 

public energy supply network.

Grid operator

Electrical utility that operates power grids 

for the general supply of electricity.

Heat pumps

Heat pumps utilise the energy present in 

the outside air, water or soil to generate 

warmth for heating.

Inverter

Solar modules generate direct current 

(DC), and inverters are used to convert 

DC into AC (alternating current). This ena-

bles the electricity generated from solar 

energy to be utilised by end users at 230 

volts AC or to be fed into the public grid. 

Central inverters are used in large sys-

tems, and string inverters in small sys-

tems.

Kilowatt (kW)

1,000 Watt. Unit of power used to meas-

ure the capacity of solar energy systems.

Kilowatt hour (kWh)

Unit of energy. Electricity consumption 

is stated in kilowatt hours. 1 kWh = 1,000 

watts over a period of one hour.

kW

Abbreviation of “kilowatt”.

kWh

Abbreviation of “kilowatt hour”.

kWp

Abbreviation of “peak kilowatt”.

Large-scale system

Photovoltaic power plant with a rated 

output of over 100 kWp.

Liquidity risk

Risk of being unable to meet current or 

future payment obligations in due time or 

in the full amount.

Megawatt (MW)

Unit of energy: 1 MW = 1,000 kW.

Megawatt hour (MWh)

Unit of energy. Electricity consumption is 

stated in megawatt hours. 1 MWh = 1,000 

kilowatts or 1,000,000 watts over a peri-

od of one hour.

Module

Connected cells. See also “Photovoltaic 

module”.

MW

Abbreviation of “megawatt”.

MWh

Abbreviation of “megawatt hour”.

MWp

Abbreviation of “peak megawatt”.

Peak kilowatt (kp)

Unit used to measure the standardised 

power output (rated output) of solar cells 

and photovoltaic modules. The rated out-

put of the module reflects the output pro-

duced under special testing conditions 

that do not correspond to normal con-

ditions. The testing conditions serve to 

standardise and compare solar cells and 

modules. The testing conditions are at 25 

°C module temperature and 1,000 W / m2 

solar radiation (STC conditions; STC 

stands for standard test conditions).

Peak Megawatt (MWp)

1,000 peak kilowatts = 1 peak megawatt.

Peak watt (Wp)

Unit used to measure the standardised 

power output (nominal output) of solar 

cells and photovoltaic modules. 1,000 

peak watts = 1 peak kilowatt.

Photovoltaic module

A solar or photovoltaic module is made 

up of several connected solar cells that 

are sandwiched between two glass or 

plastic panes to make them weather-

proof. In the most common cells (crys-

talline silicon cells) voltage lies at about 

0.5 volts. To achieve voltages that can be 

better exploited, solar cells are connect-

ed to each other in a solar module. Solar 

modules are usually mounted in a frame 

on a roof or on a mounting system. 
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Photovoltaics

Photovoltaics involves the conversion 

of radiation, primarily solar radiation, in-

to electrical power, and has been used 

to supply energy since 1958 (initially to 

satellites). The name is a combination of 

the Greek word for light, or “photo”, and 

“Volta”, after Alessandro Volta, the pio-

neer of electricity.

Photovoltaic system

System (power plant) for generating elec-

trical power from solar energy. Direct 

current generated by photovoltaic mod-

ules can be used to run motors or charge 

batteries, for example. If it is fed into the 

public supply grid or used for the oper-

ation of common electric loaders, an in-

verter is required to convert direct cur-

rent to alternating current.

Primary energy consumption

Primary energy consumption, abbrevi-

ated PEC, indicates how much energy 

can be used in an economy to render 

all energy related services such as pro-

duction, heating, moving, electronic data 

processing, telecommunication or light-

ing. It is also the total amount of energy 

supplied to an economy. Sources of en-

ergy in use to date mainly include oil, gas, 

coal, brown coal, nuclear power, hydro-

power and wind energy.

Pump componentry

Components of a solar thermal system. 

Connection between flat collector and 

storage unit controlling the conducting of 

heat between these components.

Renewable Energy

Renewable energy, or sometimes called 

regenerative energy, refers to the supply 

of energy from sustainable sources that 

are either regenerated or – based on hu-

man standards – are inexhaustible. Re-

newable energy is largely tapped in the 

form of biomass, solar energy, hydro-

power and wind energy.

Silicon

Raw material for the production of so-

lar cells. Silicon accounts for about 25.8 

percent of the weight of the earth’s crust, 

which makes it the second most com-

mon chemical element after oxygen.

Solar cell

Solar cells are a photovoltaic applica-

tion that convert light (usually sunlight) 

into direct current by exploiting the pho-

tovoltaic effect. The photons being emit-

ted generate an electric voltage which, by 

connecting an electric loader, allow elec-

tricity to flow to the solar cell.

Solar collector

In solar collectors, heat conducting ma-

terials are heated by the sun, providing 

energy for the production of warm water, 

for instance for heating systems.

Solar collector (flat collector)

A solar collector is a device for collect-

ing heat. It absorbs the warmth of the sun 

and utilises the absorbed heat relatively 

efficiently to heat a heat-conductor which 

is usually liquid. 

Solar cooling

The use of the sun’s energy to cool build-

ings or devices.

Solar energy systems

Photovoltaic systems and solar thermal 

systems.

Solar thermal

Heat generation from sunlight, particular-

ly for the purpose of heating water. 

Stand-alone system

Solar energy system that does not feed 

power into the grid, but instead provides 

electricity locally at a particular site.

Storage unit

Serves to store energy collected by a flat 

collector.

SunCheck

Measurement and documentation sys-

tem developed by Conergy for the instal-

lation and maintenance of photovoltaic 

systems. 

SunReader

Device developed by Conergy to monitor 

photovoltaic systems.

Tracker

Mounting system enabling solar mod-

ules to track the sun, which increases the 

amount of solar electricity gained.

W

Abbreviation of “watt”, a unit of power.

Wafer

Silicon disc used to manufacture solar 

cells.

Watt (W)

Unit of power with which the output of 

photovoltaic systems can be precisely 

measured.

Wp

Abbreviation of “watt peak”.
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Disclaimer

This Annual Report contains forward-looking state-

ments and information – that is, statements related to 

future, not past, events. These statements may be iden-

tified by words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “in-

tends”, “plans”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “will” or 

words of similar meaning. Such statements are based 

on our current expectations and certain assumptions, 

and are, therefore, subject to certain risks and uncer-

tainties.

A variety of factors, many of which are beyond 

Conergy’s control, affect its operations, performance, 

business strategy and results and could cause the ac-

tual results, performance or achievements of Conergy to 

be materially different from any future results, perform-

ance or achievements that may be expressed or implied 

by such forward-looking statements. For us, particu-

lar uncertainties arise, among others, from changes in 

general economic and business conditions, changes in 

currency exchange rates and interest rates, introduction 

of competing products or technologies by other com-

panies, lack of acceptance of new products or services 

by customers targeted by Conergy, changes in business 

strategy and various other factors.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties ma-

terialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incor-

rect, actual results may vary materially from those de-

scribed in the relevant forward-looking statement as 

expected, anticipated, intended, planned, believed, 

sought, estimated or projected. Conergy does not in-

tend or assume any obligation to update or revise these 

forward-looking statements in light of developments 

which differ from those anticipated.
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Christoph Marx
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Fax:	 +49 / 40 / 271 42-1639

E-mail: investor@conergy.com
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29 April 2009

Publication of the 2008 financial statements

Financial statements press conference, Frankfurt (Main)

Analyst conference, Frankfurt (Main)

14 May 2009

Publication of the interim report first quarter 2009

10 June 2009

General Shareholders’ Meeting, Hamburg

13 August 2009

Publication of the interim report first half 2009

12 November 2009

Publication of the interim report third quarter 2009



Conergy AG

Anckelmannsplatz 1

20537 Hamburg

Germany

www.conergy.de


	GB08_090428_Pt01_ENG.pdf
	GB08_090428_Pt02_ENG.pdf

